
Tentative Agenda 
Glenwood City Council Meeting 

January 14, 2025 
Located at City Hall at 5 N. Vine St. ~7:00pm 

 
Council Meeting - 7:00 p.m. 

1. Pledge Allegiance 
 

2. Call to order/roll call 
 

3. Consent agenda - All items listed under the consent agenda will be enacted by one motion.  There will be no separate 
discussion on these items unless a request is made prior to the time Council votes on the motion: 

a. Agenda 
b. Abstract of Claims #13 
c. Minutes from December 17, 2024  

d. Approve Dollar General #6216 Class B Liquor 
License Renewal 

 

4. Allow visitors to address council 
Visitors may address the Council at this time; however, comments will be limited to 3 minutes. As per Iowa’s Open Meetings 
Law, Council can only listen during public comments and cannot take any action on items that are not posted on the agenda. 
Council may take issues under advisement and if needed refer them to a department head, Mayor’s committee, or add them to 
a future agenda. 

5. Oath of Office - City Administrator 
6. Eagle Engineering -  

a. Approval to Obtain Proposal for Geotechnical Analysis for Pool Assessment. 
b. Sharp Street (Myrtle to Locust) - Authorization to Prepare Plans and Specifications 

7. Departmental Reports 
a. Painter – Library 
b. Collins – Cemetery 
c. Mattox – Park   
d. Clark-Public Works    

i. Motion to Approve Preconstruction Agreement and Cooperative Agreement with Iowa 
Department of Transportation for Project DHS-706-0(018)--7H-65 (Glenwood Resource 
Center Highway 34 Corridor Access) 

ii. Opening Bids for a New Pick Up  
iii. Motion to Approve Bid for new Vehicle  

e. Johansen – Police Dept 
i. Presentation of Badges - Family of Max Hammer 

ii. Resolution 3701 - Honoring Former City Employee Max Hammer 
iii. Motion to Approve Promotion of Officer Zarate from Police Officer I to Police Officer II 

with Pay Rate Increase per Union Contract to $28.35 
iv. Motion to Approve a Conditional Offer with a Potential Start Date of April, 9th 2025 as a 

Police Officer 1 with Pay Rate of 25.58 per Union Contract. 
f. Gray – Fire & Rescue/ Code Enforcement 
g. Kolf – Administration 

 

8. Motion to Approve Tobacco License Change for: Tobacco and Vape Store Effective January 1, 
2025 

9. Motion to Approve Resolution 3698 - Resolution Setting Salaries and/or Benefits for Certain 
Employees of the City of Glenwood, Iowa 

10. Public Hearing- Regarding City of Glenwood to Enter Into a Copier Lease 
a. Call to Order of Public Hearing. 
b. Recognition of Publication: Notice of Public Hearing published on January 1, 2025, in The 

Opinion-Tribune.  
c. City Clerk Report of any Written Statements or Objections Filed at City Hall. 
d. Mayor Chair Call for Objections, Statements, and/or Exhibits for Council Consideration. 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1JLVIjpZbX2c58USpCVkJbeIoAPND_eph/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1C88MO5SOyL6A-lnvxwE0ffdOHEvR7Xjo/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1mmWGCusKz3CXXOLTaYfviiMAdpg1luOP/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1s6X9CG6s1ZQ5kMOpf4zO6OGIx-8RGWWZ/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/14xL-kl1sYiPdAxuI69ZUVtucEfIgyD0P/view?usp=drivehttps://drive.google.com/file/d/14xL-kl1sYiPdAxuI69ZUVtucEfIgyD0P/view?usp=drive_link_link


e. Adjournment of Public Hearing. 
11. Motion to Approve Resolution 3699 - Resolution approving and authorizing a General Fund 

Copier Lease Agreement with lease payments thereunder in a principal amount not to exceed 
$40,000  

12. Public Hearing-Land Development Ordinance 
a. Call to Order of Public Hearing. 
b. Recognition of Publication: Notice of Public Hearing published on January 1, 2025, in The 

Opinion-Tribune.  
c. City Clerk Report of any Written Statements or Objections Filed at City Hall. 
d. Mayor Chair Call for Objections, Statements, and/or Exhibits for Council Consideration. 
e. Adjournment of Public Hearing. 

 
13. Public Hearing-Final Plat Oak Ridge Phase II 

a. Call to Order of Public Hearing. 
b. Recognition of Publication: Notice of Public Hearing published on January 1, 2025, in The 

Opinion-Tribune.  
c. City Clerk Report of any Written Statements or Objections Filed at City Hall. 
d. Mayor Chair Call for Objections, Statements, and/or Exhibits for Council Consideration. 
e. Adjournment of Public Hearing. 

14. Motion to Approve Resolution 3700 - Resolution Approving Oak Ridge Park Phase II Subdivision 
Final Plat 

15. Community Development Block Grant-Disaster Recovery Projects 
a. Motion to Approve the Following Pass Through CDBG Funds:  

i. GAX 49 - Arbor Hills -19-DRH-018 in the Amount of $75,181.92 
ii. GAX 50 - Arbor Hills -19-DRH-018 in the Amount of $384,001.36 

iii. GAX 51 - Arbor Hills -19-DRH-018 in the Amount of $113,093.35 
b. Motion to authorize Mayor, Mayor Pro Tempore, and City Administrator as alternate signatories 

on projects: 
i. 19-DRH-001 

ii. 19-DRH-003 
iii. 19-DRH-008  
iv. 19-DRH-018 

16. Community Development Block Grant-Downtown Revitalization 
a. Motion to Approve Payment of Southwest Iowa Planning Council Invoice Number 1455-16 in 

the Amount of $711.00 
17. Mayor’s Report  

a. Mayoral Proclamation Naming January as Fire Fighter Cancer Awareness Month 
b. 2025 Committee Appointments  

18. Council Member Report 
19. Motion to Adjourn 

 

Order of agenda at discretion of Mayor 
For hearing assistance contact City Hall seven business days prior to the meeting date. 

PLEASE NOTE New Streaming Address: https://www.youtube.com/@CityofGlenwoodIA 
 

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1XQ9waNFndxomQh72L2AkOHGHiBIsAHVK/edit?usp=drive_link&ouid=105463064375502945117&rtpof=true&sd=true
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1VZmzLj6Fi0VFnV_v8GyHA_Sf92-OFDMd/view?usp=drive_link
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1xe32eeiMVpAROj0Fm3CjYjGRls1cBR6C/edit?usp=drive_link&ouid=105463064375502945117&rtpof=true&sd=true
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1rwVTflEZJktu0y7QvroKAZy2A87Y-ju5/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/190GPu_sXwlumJuBTQ6JGn8DIGYvRJKgs/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1NCqfFJYxEpxjqIUWJC2e3NzxDEZIddkF/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/15Fg25Vc4PkzYrefddaptdL2lQoBGYztv/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1DwvEW1SpTTKhocusgQXxogRn4Mst9sj7/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1CYBgSY-cBcfgmpK36nejoKE5K_dKdupY/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1g-4vbmr5YG9qOfsgV81qZYmzGKnAbMBU/view?usp=drive_link
https://www.youtube.com/@CityofGlenwoodIA


Tue Jan 14, 2025  9:23 AM CLAIMS REPORT Page     1
                                              Vendor Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202 Payroll Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202
                                                                                                                                                        

                                                                                                          VENDOR            CHECK         
                     VENDOR NAME                    REFERENCE                               AMOUNT         TOTAL     CHECK#  DATE         
                                                                                                                                      

                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     GENERAL                                                                                                          
                     LIABILITIES                                                                                                      
                     FED/FICA TAX PAYMENT           FED/FICA TAX                         11,229.95                 1291785 12/19/24   
                     FED/FICA TAX PAYMENT           FED/FICA TAX                         12,248.76                 1291788  1/09/25   
                     FED/FICA TAX PAYMENT           FED/FICA TAX                          6,352.84     29,831.55   1291791  1/10/25   
                     TREASURER, STATE OF IOWA       STATE TAX                             1,757.20                 1291786 12/19/24   
                     TREASURER, STATE OF IOWA       STATE TAX                             1,991.55                 1291789  1/09/25   
                     TREASURER, STATE OF IOWA       STATE TAX                               629.22      4,377.97   1291792  1/10/25   
                     IPERS                          IPERS                                10,267.07                 1291787 12/19/24   
                     IPERS                          IPERS                                10,924.06                 1291790  1/09/25   
                     IPERS                          IPERS - PROTECT                       4,723.63     25,914.76   1291793  1/10/25   
                     NE CHILD SUPPORT PAYMENT CNTR  CHILDSUPPORTDED                                     1,010.00     82828  1/10/25   
                     CITY OF GLENWOOD               HEALTH INS                            2,401.54                   82800 12/26/24   
                     CITY OF GLENWOOD               HEALTH INS                            2,564.58                   82827  1/09/25   
                     CITY OF GLENWOOD               HEALTH INS                              862.45      5,828.57     82829  1/10/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               050  LIABILITIES TOTAL                                  66,962.85                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     POLICE                                                                                                           
                     ADVANCED GRAPHIX INC           DECALS FOR DURANGO AND TAHOE                        1,195.00     82845  1/14/25   
                     BEST FINISH AUTO SERVICE       DEXOS OIL CHANGE                                      196.00     82850  1/14/25   
                     FIRESPRING                     SEARCH WARRANT RECOVER SHEET                           50.87     82853  1/14/25   
                     E-SCHEDULE                     OPERATING SUPPLIES POLICE                             858.33     82855  1/14/25   
                     COUNTRY TIRE                   OIL & FILTER, TIRE PATCH                              172.95     82861  1/14/25   
                     PETTY CASH                     TOBACCO COMPLIANCE CHECKS                             150.00     82799 12/20/24   
                     GREAT PLAINS UNIFORMS          VESTS                                               1,139.78     82862  1/14/25   
                     JOE DESIGNER INC               GOLF CART PERMIT STICKERS 1-15                         78.00     82866  1/14/25   
                     JONES AUTOMOTIVE, INC          SOLENOID/CHARGE RELAY                                 224.34     82868  1/14/25   
                     MIDAMERICAN ENERGY             ELECTRIC SERVICE - POLICE                              71.07     82878  1/14/25   
                     SAM'S CLUB                     TOTES                                                  15.43     82825  1/07/25   
                     SEVERN PEST MANAGEMENT         PEST CONTROL                                           37.50     82888  1/14/25   
                     STANARD & ASSOCIATES           LAW ENFORCE FORMS                                      46.50     82889  1/14/25   
                     US CELLULAR                    PHONE                                                 499.79     82816 12/31/24   
                     CENTURYLINK                    PHONES                                                240.26     82811 12/31/24   
                     VISA                           R FRIEZE RETENTION SEMINAR                            504.00     82818 12/31/24   
                     VISA                           LUNCH/FED BLDG IN LINCOLN                              44.24     82819 12/31/24   
                     VISA                           OFFICE SUPPLIES                                       351.10     82820 12/31/24   
                     WEX BANK                       FUEL - POLICE                         2,083.90                 1291794  1/14/25   
                     WEX BANK                       FUEL - POLICE                         2,259.68      4,343.58   1291795  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               110  POLICE TOTAL                                       10,218.74                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     FIRE                                                                                                             
                     BLACK HILLS ENERGY             GAS SERVICE                                           918.65     82810 12/31/24   
                     AUTO VALUE                     TRAN FILTER KIT/PM ATF QT                             120.35     82847  1/14/25   
                     DIVE RESCUE INTERNATIONAL      FORCE 6 RESCUE OPS PFD                              1,033.39     82854  1/14/25   
                     EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SYSTEM       REFUND M SCHOENING                                    165.60     82859  1/14/25   
                     JENNIE ED HOSPITAL PHARMACY    PHARMACEUTICALS                                       567.68     82865  1/14/25   
                     KTS TRANSPORTATION LLC         TRANSFER CASE/ASSEMBLY                              4,570.62     82869  1/14/25   
                     LIFEMED SAFETY INC             PREVENTATIVE MAINTENANCE                              475.00     82871  1/14/25   
                     LIFE ASSIST                    CHESTSEAL/CATH/MICCLAVE/O2REG                         881.64     82872  1/14/25   
                     MATHESON TRI-GAS, INC          O2                                                    361.91     82874  1/14/25   
                     MIDAMERICAN ENERGY             ELECTRIC SERVICE - FIRE                               303.60     82878  1/14/25   
                     NEXUS TECH SOLUTIONS           INTERNET SERVICE & SERVICES                           146.72     82881  1/14/25   
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      

APCLAIRP 04.22.22  City of Glenwood IA                                                  OPER: NAG



Tue Jan 14, 2025  9:23 AM CLAIMS REPORT Page     2
                                              Vendor Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202 Payroll Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202
                                                                                                                                                        

                                                                                                          VENDOR            CHECK         
                     VENDOR NAME                    REFERENCE                               AMOUNT         TOTAL     CHECK#  DATE         
                                                                                                                                      

                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     PAPER TIGER                    SHREDDING - FD                                         23.33     82883  1/14/25   
                     PCC AMBULANCE BILLING SERVICE  BILLING FOR AMBULANCE - JULY                        3,176.09     82884  1/14/25   
                     MACQUEEN EQUIPMENT             ANNUAL SERVICES                                     2,969.80     82887  1/14/25   
                     STERICYCLE, INC                STERI-SAFE                                            105.46     82890  1/14/25   
                     TELEFLEX LLC                   45MM NEEDLES                                          370.00     82891  1/14/25   
                     ULINE                          BATTERIES/SOAP/ERASER                                 537.39     82893  1/14/25   
                     US CELLULAR                    BROADBAND                                             294.14     82816 12/31/24   
                     UNITED HEALTHCARE INSURANCE    REFUND OVERPAYMENT                                  2,098.10     82895  1/14/25   
                     CENTURYLINK                    PHONES                                                196.52     82811 12/31/24   
                     WEX BANK                       FUEL - FD                             1,558.19                 1291794  1/14/25   
                     WEX BANK                       FUEL - FD                             1,484.71      3,042.90   1291795  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               150  FIRE TOTAL                                         22,358.89                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     SANITATION                                                                                                       
                     PAPILLION SANITATION           TRASH SERVICE - PARK                                  593.27     82897  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               290  SANITATION TOTAL                                      593.27                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     LIBRARY                                                                                                          
                     CITY OF GLENWOOD               HEALTH INS                              225.00                   82800 12/26/24   
                     CITY OF GLENWOOD               HEALTH INS                              225.00        450.00     82827  1/09/25   
                     BLACK HILLS ENERGY             GAS SERVICE                                           215.60     82830  1/09/25   
                     BAKER & TAYLOR                 BOOKS                                   207.97                    1487  1/09/25   
                     BAKER & TAYLOR                 BOOKS                                   421.60        629.57     82831  1/09/25   
                     CAPITAL BUSINESS SYS                                                                 196.28     82832  1/09/25   
                     CAPITAL BUSINESS SYSTEMS       CANON COPIER/PRINTER                                  153.93     82833  1/09/25   
                     CENTER POINT PUBLISHING        LARGE PRINT BOOKS                                     197.76      1488  1/09/25   
                     E-SCHEDULE                     OPERATING SUPPLIES LIB                                858.33     82855  1/14/25   
                     MIDWEST TAPE, LLC              HOOPLA                                                537.76     82834  1/09/25   
                     J Q OFFICE                     KYOCERAS                                               97.02     82835  1/09/25   
                     SPARTAN STORES, LLC            FOOD FOR PROGRAMMING                                  108.83      1489  1/09/25   
                     MEDIACOM                                                                             275.90     82836  1/09/25   
                     MIDAMERICAN ENERGY (LIB)       ELECTRIC SERVICE                                      205.02     82837  1/09/25   
                     OPINION TRIBUNE                JOB AD                                                135.60     82838  1/09/25   
                     ORKIN                          PEST CONTROL                                           89.00     82839  1/09/25   
                     OXEN TECHNOLOGY                COMPUTER MAINTENANCE                                  549.00     82840  1/09/25   
                     PAPER TIGER                    SHREDDING - LIB                                        23.33     82883  1/14/25   
                     QUALITY CARE CLEANING          CLEANING SERVICES                                   1,060.00     82841  1/09/25   
                     QUILL                          CLEANING SUPPLIES/THUMB DRIVES                        221.32     82842  1/09/25   
                     RACHEL RING                    COMPUTER RECYCLING                                    124.00     82843  1/09/25   
                     US CELLULAR                    PHONE                                                  47.39     82816 12/31/24   
                     VISA                           NOVEL EFFECT                             49.99                    1490  1/09/25   
                     VISA                           WEBSITE                                 117.33        167.32     82844  1/09/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               410  LIBRARY TOTAL                                       6,342.96                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     AMPITHEATER                                                                                                      
                     MIDAMERICAN ENERGY             ELECTRIC SERVICE - AMPH                                58.44     82878  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               420  AMPITHEATER TOTAL                                      58.44                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      

APCLAIRP 04.22.22  City of Glenwood IA                                                  OPER: NAG



Tue Jan 14, 2025  9:23 AM CLAIMS REPORT Page     3
                                              Vendor Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202 Payroll Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202
                                                                                                                                                        

                                                                                                          VENDOR            CHECK         
                     VENDOR NAME                    REFERENCE                               AMOUNT         TOTAL     CHECK#  DATE         
                                                                                                                                      

                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     PARK                                                                                                             
                     BLACK HILLS ENERGY             GAS SERVICE                                           135.41     82810 12/31/24   
                     E-SCHEDULE                     OPERATING SUPPLIES PARK                               858.33     82855  1/14/25   
                     MIDAMERICAN ENERGY             ELECTRIC SERVICE - PARK                               731.52     82878  1/14/25   
                     US CELLULAR                    PHONE                                                  99.64     82816 12/31/24   
                     WEX BANK                       FUEL - PARK                              54.75                 1291794  1/14/25   
                     WEX BANK                       FUEL - PARK                              53.35        108.10   1291795  1/14/25   
                     PAPILLION SANITATION                                                                 118.00-    82897  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               430  PARK TOTAL                                          1,815.00                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     RECREATION                                                                                                       
                     DIAMOND LIME                   LIME/FREIGHT                                          804.92     82812 12/31/24   
                     EAGLE ENGINEERING              KEG CREEK BRIDGE REVIEW                             3,584.25     82856  1/14/25   
                     LINKON LOGS PORTABLES          PORT TOILETS                                          115.00     82873  1/14/25   
                     MIDAMERICAN ENERGY             ELECTRIC SERVICE - REC                                113.36     82878  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               440  RECREATION TOTAL                                    4,617.53                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     CEMETERY                                                                                                         
                     IPERS                                                                                         1291787 12/19/24   
                     BLACK HILLS ENERGY             GAS SERVICE                                             8.95     82810 12/31/24   
                     BOMGAARS                       HELMET/MIG WIRE                                       156.08     82851  1/14/25   
                     E-SCHEDULE                     OPERATING SUPPLIES CEMETERY                           858.33     82855  1/14/25   
                     GLENWOOD FEED AND INDUSTRIAL   SALT                                                   71.25     82860  1/14/25   
                     LDI                            POST HOLE DIGGER                      1,800.00                   82814 12/31/24   
                     LDI                            QUICK HITCH                             550.00      2,350.00     82870  1/14/25   
                     MIDAMERICAN ENERGY             ELECTRIC SERVICE - CEM                                 32.27     82878  1/14/25   
                     NAPA AUTO PARTS (CEM)          OIL & FILTER AND BELT                                 112.35     82880  1/14/25   
                     US CELLULAR                    PHONE                                                  92.72     82816 12/31/24   
                     UPHOFF OUTDOOR POWER, LLC      AIR FILTER/BELTS/BRACKET                              190.83     82894  1/14/25   
                     CENTURYLINK                    PHONES                                                 82.03     82811 12/31/24   
                     VERMEER IOWA & NORTHERN MO     BALANCE OF KIT PLUS LATE CHRG                          63.11     82896  1/14/25   
                     VISA                           OHM LINEAR TAPER ROTARY                                 9.99     82820 12/31/24   
                     WEX BANK                       FUEL - CEM                              222.38                 1291794  1/14/25   
                     WEX BANK                       FUEL - CEM                              121.83        344.21   1291795  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               450  CEMETERY TOTAL                                      4,372.12                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     ADMINISTRATION                                                                                                   
                     BLACK HILLS ENERGY             GAS SERVICE                                           265.44     82810 12/31/24   
                     E-SCHEDULE                     OPERATING SUPPLIES ADMIN                              858.34     82855  1/14/25   
                     EGIS TECHNOLOGIES              TECH SUPPORT                            236.00                   82813 12/31/24   
                     EGIS TECHNOLOGIES              MONITORING AND SUPPORT                  260.00        496.00     82857  1/14/25   
                     GLENWOOD STATE BANK            SAFE DEP 100400920                                     55.00     82824  1/07/25   
                     MITCHELL KOLF                  Moving Exp Employment Cont.                         8,000.00     82823  1/03/25   
                     MIDAMERICAN ENERGY             ELECTRIC SERVICE - ADMIN                              464.68     82878  1/14/25   
                     OPINION TRIBUNE                12.30GW CO MTG                                        455.06     82882  1/14/25   
                     PAPER TIGER                    SHREDDING - ADMIN                                      23.34     82883  1/14/25   
                     SAM'S CLUB                     CITY ADMIN RECEPTION/LUNCHON                          176.63     82825  1/07/25   
                     SEVERN PEST MANAGEMENT         PEST CONTROL                                           37.50     82888  1/14/25   
                     US CELLULAR                    PHONE                                                  47.39     82816 12/31/24   
                     VISA                           MAPA MEETING                                           15.00     82817 12/31/24   
                     VISA                           GOOGLE                                                330.90     82819 12/31/24   
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      

APCLAIRP 04.22.22  City of Glenwood IA                                                  OPER: NAG



Tue Jan 14, 2025  9:23 AM CLAIMS REPORT Page     4
                                              Vendor Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202 Payroll Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202
                                                                                                                                                        

                                                                                                          VENDOR            CHECK         
                     VENDOR NAME                    REFERENCE                               AMOUNT         TOTAL     CHECK#  DATE         
                                                                                                                                      

                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     WESTERN IOWA NETWORKS          PHONE/BROADBAND                                       348.33     82821 12/31/24   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               620  ADMINISTRATION TOTAL                               11,573.61                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     TORT LIABILITY                                                                                                   
                     IOWA MUNICIPALITIES WORKERS    INSTALL 7                                           3,466.00     82864  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               660  TORT LIABILITY TOTAL                                3,466.00                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               001  GENERAL TOTAL                                     132,379.41                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     AQUATIC CENTER                                                                                                   
                     POOL                                                                                                             
                     EAGLE ENGINEERING              POOL ISSUES                                         1,057.25     82856  1/14/25   
                     MIDAMERICAN ENERGY             ELECTRIC SERVICE - POOL                               238.97     82878  1/14/25   
                     SEVERN PEST MANAGEMENT         PEST CONTROL                                           40.00     82888  1/14/25   
                     WESTERN IOWA NETWORKS          PHONES                                                 32.28     82821 12/31/24   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               445  POOL TOTAL                                          1,368.50                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               002  AQUATIC CENTER TOTAL                                1,368.50                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     ARPA                                                                                                             
                     ARPA FUNDS                                                                                                       
                     CDW GOVERNMENT INC             DELL COMPUTER - CITY ADMIN                            969.08     82801 12/23/24   
                     DIAMOND LIME                   LIME/FREIGHT                                        2,762.08     82812 12/31/24   
                     ELAN CITY, INC                 RADAR SPEED SIGN X 3                                9,350.00     82802 12/23/24   
                     LDI                            POST HOLE DIGGER                                    1,000.00     82814 12/31/24   
                     VISA                           MONITORS                                              425.48     82818 12/31/24   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               135  ARPA FUNDS TOTAL                                   14,506.64                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               005  ARPA TOTAL                                         14,506.64                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     ROAD USE TAX                                                                                                     
                     LIABILITIES                                                                                                      
                     FED/FICA TAX PAYMENT           FED/FICA TAX                          3,032.80                 1291785 12/19/24   
                     FED/FICA TAX PAYMENT           FED/FICA TAX                          3,032.80      6,065.60   1291788  1/09/25   
                     TREASURER, STATE OF IOWA       STATE TAX                               504.39                 1291786 12/19/24   
                     TREASURER, STATE OF IOWA       STATE TAX                               504.39      1,008.78   1291789  1/09/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               050  LIABILITIES TOTAL                                   7,074.38                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     STREET                                                                                                           
                     BLACK HILLS ENERGY             GAS SERVICE                                           543.39     82810 12/31/24   
                     QLT                            EXTENSION BELL                                          7.35     82846  1/14/25   
                     AUTO VALUE/ARNOLD MOTOR        HVY DUTY COMM SERVICE                                 753.67     82848  1/14/25   
                     BOMGAARS                       CLOTHING & BOOTS                                      455.10     82851  1/14/25   
                     COMPASS UTILITY LLC            PREP/SAWCUT/ASPHALT                                18,406.54     82852  1/14/25   
                     E-SCHEDULE                     OPERATING SUPPLIES RUT                                858.34     82855  1/14/25   
                     EAGLE ENGINEERING              MEALS AND MILEAGE                                     342.89     82856  1/14/25   
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      

APCLAIRP 04.22.22  City of Glenwood IA                                                  OPER: NAG



Tue Jan 14, 2025  9:23 AM CLAIMS REPORT Page     5
                                              Vendor Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202 Payroll Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202
                                                                                                                                                        

                                                                                                          VENDOR            CHECK         
                     VENDOR NAME                    REFERENCE                               AMOUNT         TOTAL     CHECK#  DATE         
                                                                                                                                      

                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     LYMAN-RICHEY CORPORATION       SAND FOR SNOW REMOVAL                               3,260.80     82875  1/14/25   
                     MENARDS                        REPAIR BROKEN BARRICADES                              154.53     82876  1/14/25   
                     MICHAEL TODD & CO, INC.        CHAIN HOOKS/MARKING PAINT                           1,255.39     82877  1/14/25   
                     MIDAMERICAN ENERGY             ELECTRIC SERVICE - RUT STR LGT                      3,138.86     82878  1/14/25   
                     NAPA AUTO PARTS                SERVICE TREE CHIPPER                                   23.56     82879  1/14/25   
                     US CELLULAR                    PHONE                                                 165.72     82816 12/31/24   
                     CENTURYLINK                    PHONES                                                 67.03     82811 12/31/24   
                     WESTERN ENGINEERING CO INC     PAY APP 7 LOCUST ST,SHARP,HAZE                     22,920.71     82826  1/07/25   
                     WEX BANK                       FUEL = RUT                            1,204.90                 1291794  1/14/25   
                     WEX BANK                       FUEL - RUT                              398.36      1,603.26   1291795  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               210  STREET TOTAL                                       53,957.14                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               110  ROAD USE TAX TOTAL                                 61,031.52                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     EMPLOYEE BENEFITS                                                                                                
                     POLICE                                                                                                           
                     ERIC JOHANSEN                  DED REIMBURSE - E JOHANSEN                          1,907.65     82867  1/14/25   
                     PRINCIPAL LIFE INS CO          VISION                                                252.03     82815 12/31/24   
                     RICHARD RIX                    DED REIMBURSE O RIX                                 2,500.00     82886  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               110  POLICE TOTAL                                        4,659.68                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     FIRE                                                                                                             
                     PRINCIPAL LIFE INS CO          LIFE AND AD&D                                         150.94     82815 12/31/24   
                     TRUENORTH COMPANIES, LC        VOL FD INSURANCE                                      250.00     82892  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               150  FIRE TOTAL                                            400.94                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     STREET                                                                                                           
                     PRINCIPAL LIFE INS CO          VISION                                                148.02     82815 12/31/24   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               210  STREET TOTAL                                          148.02                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     LIBRARY                                                                                                          
                     PRINCIPAL LIFE INS CO          VISION                                                134.84     82815 12/31/24   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               410  LIBRARY TOTAL                                         134.84                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     PARK                                                                                                             
                     PRINCIPAL LIFE INS CO          VISION                                                 59.91     82815 12/31/24   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               430  PARK TOTAL                                             59.91                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     CEMETERY                                                                                                         
                     PRINCIPAL LIFE INS CO          LIFE AND AD&D                                          11.23     82815 12/31/24   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               450  CEMETERY TOTAL                                         11.23                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     ADMINISTRATION                                                                                                   
                     PRINCIPAL LIFE INS CO          VISION                                                 85.98     82815 12/31/24   
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      

APCLAIRP 04.22.22  City of Glenwood IA                                                  OPER: NAG



Tue Jan 14, 2025  9:23 AM CLAIMS REPORT Page     6
                                              Vendor Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202 Payroll Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202
                                                                                                                                                        

                                                                                                          VENDOR            CHECK         
                     VENDOR NAME                    REFERENCE                               AMOUNT         TOTAL     CHECK#  DATE         
                                                                                                                                      

                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               620  ADMINISTRATION TOTAL                                   85.98                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               112  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS TOTAL                             5,500.60                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     LOST-SPECIAL REVENUE                                                                                             
                     RECREATION                                                                                                       
                     ELEVATE ROOFING                ROOF REPAIRS                                        1,942.93     82858  1/14/25   
                     HOUSERS AC AND HEATING         TRANE RTU #5 MALFUNCTION                              280.00     82863  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               440  RECREATION TOTAL                                    2,222.93                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               121  LOST-SPECIAL REVENUE TOTAL                          2,222.93                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     DEBT SERVICE                                                                                                     
                     DEBT SERVICE                                                                                                     
                     GLENWOOD STATE BANK            Loan 297761105 INST Payment                           147.14     82822  1/03/25   
                     PFM FINANCIAL ADVISORS, LLC    GO 2015B CORP PURPOSE FEES                            500.00     82885  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               710  DEBT SERVICE TOTAL                                    647.14                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               200  DEBT SERVICE TOTAL                                    647.14                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     CDBG HOUSING GRANT                                                                                               
                     CDBG HOUSING PROJECTS                                                                                            
                     JIM & MONICA HUGHES            CDBG PASS THROUGH FUNDS                         1,654,999.25     82849  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               140  CDBG HOUSING PROJECTS TOTAL                     1,654,999.25                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               311  CDBG HOUSING GRANT TOTAL                        1,654,999.25                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     2024 GO BOND                                                                                                     
                     STREET                                                                                                           
                     EAGLE ENGINEERING              DESIGN ENGINEERING                                 13,528.85     82856  1/14/25   
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               210  STREET TOTAL                                       13,528.85                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                               316  2024 GO BOND TOTAL                                 13,528.85                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                   ==============                     
                                                    Accounts Payable Total                          1,886,184.84                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                     Payroll Checks                                                                                                   
                     ------------------------------                                                                                   
                                               001  GENERAL                                            39,408.99                      
                                               110  ROAD USE TAX                                        7,934.85                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      

APCLAIRP 04.22.22  City of Glenwood IA                                                  OPER: NAG



Tue Jan 14, 2025  9:23 AM CLAIMS REPORT Page     7
                                              Vendor Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202 Payroll Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202
                                                                                                                                                        

                                                                                                          VENDOR            CHECK         
                     VENDOR NAME                    REFERENCE                               AMOUNT         TOTAL     CHECK#  DATE         
                                                                                                                                      

                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                                    Total Paid On: 12/19/24                            47,343.84                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                               001  GENERAL                                            42,861.01                      
                                               110  ROAD USE TAX                                        7,934.85                      
                                               112  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS                                     183.19                      
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                                    Total Paid On:  1/09/25                            50,979.05                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                               001  GENERAL                                            22,019.50                      
                                                                                                   --------------                     
                                                    Total Paid On:  1/10/25                            22,019.50                      
                                                                                                   ==============                     
                                                    Total Payroll Paid                                120,342.39                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                   ==============                     
                                                    Report Total                                    2,006,527.23                      
                                                                                                   ==============                     
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      

APCLAIRP 04.22.22  City of Glenwood IA                                                  OPER: NAG



Tue Jan 14, 2025  9:23 AM CLAIMS REPORT Page     8
                                              CLAIMS FUND SUMMARY Payroll Checks: 12/18/2024- 1/14/202
                                                                                                                                                        

                                                                                                                                          
                                                   FUND  NAME                                   AMOUNT                                    
                                                                                                                                      

                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                   001   GENERAL                            236,668.91                                
                                                   002   AQUATIC CENTER                       1,368.50                                
                                                   005   ARPA                                14,506.64                                
                                                   110   ROAD USE TAX                        76,901.22                                
                                                   112   EMPLOYEE BENEFITS                    5,683.79                                
                                                   121   LOST-SPECIAL REVENUE                 2,222.93                                
                                                   200   DEBT SERVICE                           647.14                                
                                                   311   CDBG HOUSING GRANT               1,654,999.25                                
                                                   316   2024 GO BOND                        13,528.85                                
                                                         ------------------------------- -------------                                
                                                         TOTAL FUNDS                      2,006,527.23                                
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                      

APCLAIRP 04.22.22  City of Glenwood IA                                                  OPER: NAG



December 17th, 2024 Minutes 
Committee Meeting  

Glenwood City Council met for committee meetings on Tuesday, December 17, 2024 at 6:00 pm in Council 
Chambers prior to the City Council meeting. Mayor Angela Winquist called the meeting to order with the following 
present Council Members: Mike Lines, Christina Duran, Laurie Smithers, Natalie McEwen, & Donnie Kates. City 
employees: Fire Chief Gray, Joe George, Dannielle Arnold, Nancy Godfrey, Guests: Holly Jackson, Tracy Bolte, 
Alex Reese, and Vincent France 
Committee meetings are open to the public and for discussion only, no action is taken, but a quorum is usually 
present. Action, if any, will be taken during the Council Meeting following the committee meetings or at another 
scheduled council meeting 
 

Copier Lease Agreement 
- Vincent France from Capital Business Systems, Inc. provided information for leasing Canon printers. 63 

month contract at $295 for lease and $102 for service/labor per month. Up to 15% annual uplift in contract 
every 12 months. Encrypted Hard drive and DOD compliant. 

- Alex Reese from Access Systems offers a  60 month contract with locked down rates at $415 for lease and 
$151.48 service per month.for Sharp printers. 

- A Public Hearing is necessary for Council to approve the provider.   
 

Public Administration-  
Holly Jackson/Planning and Zoning Board 

- Discussed the work done to update planning and zoning ordinances, to address zoning ordinances 
for what types of properties are allowed based on the zoning map, definitions to identify items 
such as accessory structures, state daycare tiers, and tiny homes. 

- Discussed how a comprehensive plan needs to be updated and match city ordinances. 
 

City Council Minutes 
Glenwood City Council met in regular session on Tuesday, December 17, 2024, at 7:01 pm in Council Chambers. 
Mayor Angela Winquist called the meeting to order with the following present Council Members: Mike Lines, 
Natalie McEwen, Christina Duran,  Donnie Kates & Laurie Smithers. City employees: Fire Chief Gray, Police 
Captain Kirk Worcester, Joe George, Dannielle Arnold, Nancy Godfrey, Jamey Clark, Tara Painter Guests: Hannah 
Neilson, Kristian Nielsen, Maddie Seike, Lauren Culp, Christy Culp, Todd Culp, Brad Oliver. 
 

The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 
 

Motion Smithers/2nd Kates to approve the Consent Agenda as printed: Tentative Agenda, Abstract of Claims, 
Minutes from December 3, 2024, Designate Opinion Tribune as the Official Newspaper for City of Glenwood in 
2025, Amended Minutes from November 19, 2024, Approval for Kwik Shop #541-LE0002076 Class E Retail 
Alcohol License. Roll Call: Ayes-5 Nays-0 Motion Carried   
 

Presentations by Christina Duran to the winners of the Art Banner Competition. The winners were Maddie Seike, 
Lauren Culp, Cindy Morkel and Hannah Nielsen. Each winner will take home $100 in Chamber Bucks and a Banner 
of their art work. 
 

Departmental Reports 
 

Painter-Library-The State Library is getting rid of the Library’s email as of May 1st 2025, Painter asked the council 
if they would like the library on city email. She bought a domain name. Should she need to use it she is ready to go.   
 

Park-George-There was an incident where a vehicle slid off the road and hit a sign near the park entrance. 
 

Director Clark for Public Works-Street crew spent 5 hours clearing the roads during Friday night’s ice storm. 
 

CaptainWorcester- Police Department-5 arrests since last council meeting and 181 calls for service.  
Motion McEwen/2nd Smithers to Approve the Purchase of Drone Equipment in an amount not to exceed $1,500 
using $1,050 in Donated Funds; Roll Call: Ayes-5 Nays-0 Motion Carried     
 

Fire Chief Gray-60 calls of service since last meeting, 12 during Friday’s ice storm. The utility truck sustained 
damage when a vehicle slid into it and no damage to the ambulance on Friday night. Fire department was awarded 
an Iowa DNR grant of $3,698 for wild land equipment and an American Brawn Charity grant of $1,116 for rescue 
vests. 



 
George-Administration-Discussed the completion of the bridge project across Keg Creek that remains unfinished. A 
review of the project funding shows additional funds were expended than had previous been anticipated at the start 
of the project. The City has received an additional $200,000 in grant funding from the Iowa Department of 
Transportation with remaining projects expecting to cost around $625,000.                                                                                                 
 

Motion Lines/2nd Duran motioned to authorize City Administrator to expend remaining $2,725.03 from American 
Rescue Plan Funds before they expire at the end of the year on Eligible Expenditures; Roll Call: Ayes-5 Nays-0  
Motion Carried   
 

FY2026 Budget Calendar-A timeline for the budget process was provided to Council. The FY2026 budget must be 
finalized and submitted to the Iowa Department of Management and county auditor by the end of April.  
 

Motion Smithers/2nd McEwen to Approve Resolution 3695-Revising the City’s Policies and Procedures Manual; 
Roll Call: Ayes-5 Nays-0  Motion Carried. The Union Handbook states that the employee benefit can go up in cost 
the Policy and Procedures Manual states it will.     
 

Motion McEwen/2nd Lines to Approve George to Choose Dissemination Agreement with D.A. Davidson & Co.or 
PFM Relating to Continuing Disclosure to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board following further 
research;Roll Call: Ayes-5 Nays-0 Motion Carried 
 

Motion Kates/2nd McEwen to Approve Resolution 3696-Setting the Date of Public Hearing to Consider the Final 
Plat for Oak Ridge Park Subdivision Phase II; Roll Call: Ayes-5 Nays-0 Motion Carried 
 

Motion Duran/Kates to Approve Tabling the Purchase of a Replacement Boiler Room Pump Proposal for Mills 
County YMCA in the Amount of $2,750.25. Roll Call: Ayes-5 Nays-0 Motion Carried 
 

Committee Reports 
 

Land Development Ordinance-McEwen gave an overview of Holly Jacksons’s presentation. Holly Jackson and 
Tracey Bolte presented a recommendation from the Planning and Zoning Commission with an amended land 
development ordinance for Council consideration and adoption. 
 

Motion McEwen/2nd Smithers to Set the Date for a Public Hearing to Consider the Adoption of an Amended Land 
Development Ordinance on January 14, 2025; Roll Call: Ayes-5 Nays-0 Motion Carried 
 

Motion Lines/2nd Kates to Approve Resolution 3697-Setting the Date of a Public Hearing to Consider a General 
Fund Copier Lease Agreement with Lease Payment Thereunder in a Principal Amount not to Exceed $40,000.; Roll 
Call: Ayes-5 Nays-0 Motion Carried 
 

MotionMcEwen/2nd Kates to Approve the Following Pass Through CDBG Funds: GAX 48-Arbor 
Hills-19-DRH-018 in the Amount of $430,679.91; Roll Call: Ayes-5 Nays-0 Motion Carried 
 

Motion Smithers/2nd Duran to Authorize City Administrator to Submit Letter of Support to Iowa Economic 
Development Authority Relating to a Request to Increase the Budget for 19-DRH-018 (Arbor Hills) in the Amount 
of $118,833.00; Roll Call: Ayes-5 Nays-0 Motion Carried 
 

Community Development Block Grant Downtown Revitalization Project 
Motion Smithers/2nd Duran to Approve the Payment of Southwest Iowa Planning Council Invoice 1455-15; Roll 
Call: Ayes-5 Nays-0 Motion Carried 
 

Motion Kates/2nd Lines to Approve Mayor’s Recommendation to Appoint Vanessa Covington to the Glenwood 
Park Board for a 3-year Term ending January 1, 2028; Roll Call: Ayes-5 Nays-0 Motion Carried 
 

Motion Smithers/2nd McEwen to adjourn the meeting at 8:26pm; Ayes-5  Nays-0 Meeting Adjourned.   
 
           ______________________________ 
             Angela Winquist, Mayor  

Attest:                                                                                                            
 
________________________________ 



Dannielle Arnold, City Clerk 





 

2024-16-094_Glenwood 
 

 

      
COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 

FOR U.S. 34 CORRIDOR MANAGEMENT 
 

County                 Mills                                           
City                      Glenwood                               
Project No.           DHS-706-0(018)--7H-65                              
Agreement No.     2024-16-094 
Staff Action No. 

 
This Agreement is entered into by and between the Iowa Department of Transportation, hereinafter 
designated the “DOT”, and the city of Glenwood, hereinafter designated the “CITY”, as follows; 

 
WHEREAS, the purpose of this Agreement is to define parameters for transportation management, access 
management, land-use and development characteristics along the U.S. 34 corridor within the limits 
defined. 

 
WHEREAS, the designated corridor extends along U.S. 34 from its intersection with Levi Road (Milepost 8.4) 
to its intersection with Kidd Road (Milepost 10.1) for a total length of approximately 1.70 miles. 

 
WHEREAS, the purpose of this Agreement is to establish guidelines that promote safe and efficient traffic 
flow and enhance and sustain economic development along the corridor. The CITY shall use this Agreement 
as a tool for managing economic development along the U.S. 34 corridor. The DOT shall use this Agreement 
to facilitate the permit review process for improvements identified and constructed with DOT Project Number 
DHS-706-0(018)--7H-65. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED as follows: 

 
1)  GENERAL STANDARD FOR MANAGEMENT OF THE U.S. 34 CORRIDOR 

 
A.  OPERATIONS 

 
i. Full Movement Access Locations (non-signalized; newly constructed roadway connections for 

Levi Road and 240th Street, and the existing connection for Kidd Road, see Exhibit A): These 
access locations will be subject to future operational restrictions, based on mainline capacity and 
land use. Traffic impact analysis may be required for all Type “A” and “B” access permits. 

 
B.  PLANNING 

 
i. U.S. 34 is an Expressway through Glenwood. U.S. 34 will remain an access-controlled facility 

administered by the DOT. 
 

ii. Existing access connections may be required to have appropriate acceleration and deceleration 
lanes, tapers, and other appropriate geometric features to ensure that the impacts of the adjoining 
development to the U.S. 34 corridor are addressed. Fully directional access connections may 
also include appropriate left-turn storage where necessary. Additional access control may be 
obtained where necessary. 

 
iii. Corner Clearance/Intersection Influence Area: At all public road intersections, the functional area 

of those intersections shall be maintained per the Access Control Rules. No additional access 
shall be allowed within the functional areas. The area extends both upstream and downstream 
from the physical intersection areas and includes the public cross street. 

 



 

2024-16-094_Glenwood 
 

iv. Access control shall be maintained for a minimum distance of 150 feet, 300 feet preferred, from 
the near edge of the traveled way of the primary highway. This is needed to provide sufficient 
space for lane changes and turn lane storage, within the proposed entrance for traffic entering the 
site, to prevent spill-back onto the abutting primary highway (U.S. 34).  

 
 v. Should U.S. 34 be improved along the designated corridor, public road access allowed by this 

agreement shall continue unless a change is agreed to by the CITY and DOT. 
 
 
2)  GENERAL PARAMETERS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THE U.S. 34 CORRIDOR 

MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT 
 

A. Unless otherwise terminated according to Section 2.B., the agreement shall continue and remain in 
effect after the adoption of this Agreement. 
 

B. This Agreement may be terminated prior to its normal expiration date by mutual agreement of the 
parties. If either party desires to terminate this Agreement, written notice shall be provided to the 
other party of its desire to terminate no less than ninety (90) days prior to its desired termination 
date. Written acceptance of the termination by both parties is required prior to the termination. 
During the pendency of these negotiations, this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.  

 
C. It is understood that this Agreement may be appended or amended by the written agreement of all 

signatory parties. 
 

D. It is further understood that this Agreement and all contracts entered into under the provisions of this 
Agreement are binding upon the DOT and the CITY as defined herein. 

 
E.  The CITY agrees to review and consider changes to zoning ordinances, subdivision ordinances, 

and/or additional ordinances/resolutions as may be required to abide by the terms of this Agreement. 
 

F.  The DOT and CITY, as defined herein, will meet on an annual basis to review and evaluate this 
Agreement. The DOT will coordinate the annual meeting by determining the date and location 
along with gathering input from the CITY for preparation of the agenda. 

 
G.  In accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Acts of 1964 and Iowa Code Chapter 216, and 

associated subsequent nondiscrimination laws, regulations, and executive orders, the CITY shall not 
discriminate against any person on the basis of race, color, creed, age, sex, sexual orientation, 
gender identity, national origin, religion, pregnancy, or disability. 

 
H.  If any part of this agreement is found to be void and unenforceable then the remaining provisions of 

this agreement shall remain in effect. 
 

I.   This agreement is not assignable without the prior written consent of the DOT. 
 

J. It is the intent of both (all) parties that no third-party beneficiaries be created by this Agreement. 
 

K. In case of a dispute concerning the terms of this agreement, the parties shall submit the matter to 
arbitration pursuant to Iowa Code Chapter 679A. Either party has the right to submit the matter to 
arbitration after ten (10) days notice to the other party of their intent to seek arbitration. The written 
notice must include a precise statement of the disputed question. The DOT and CITY agree to be 
bound by the decision of the appointed arbitrator. Neither party may seek any remedy with the State 
or Federal courts absent exhaustion of the provisions of this paragraph for arbitration. 

 
L.  No new legal or administrative entity is created by this Agreement. 
 
M.  No property will be jointly held as part of this Agreement. 



 

2024-16-094_Glenwood 
 

 
N.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create joint or several liability of a party hereto for   

the acts, omissions or obligations of the other party. Each party shall be liable only for its own acts  
and the parties shall have such rights of indemnity and contribution among themselves with respect 
to this Agreement and the undertakings hereunder as shall be permitted by law and consistent with 
the provisions of this Agreement.    

 
O.   This Agreement, as well as the unaffected provisions of any previous agreement(s), addendum(s), 

and/or amendment(s); represents the entire Agreement between the DOT and CITY regarding this 
project. All previously executed agreements will remain in effect except as amended herein. Any 
subsequent change or modification to the terms of this Agreement will be in the form of a duly 
executed amendment to this document. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed Agreement No. 2024-16-094 as of the 
date shown opposite its signature below: 

 
 
 
 
 
CITY OF GLENWOOD: 

 

 
 
By:   Date:   , 20   . 

Title: Mayor 
 
I,   , certify that I am the Clerk of the CITY, and that 

 
  , who signed said Agreement for and on behalf of the 

CITY, was duly authorized to execute the same on the        day of                         , 20   . 

Signed    
            City Clerk of Glenwood, Iowa 

 
 
 
 
 
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION: 

 
 
 
 
By:   Date  , 20  . 

Scott Schram, P.E., PhD  
District Engineer  
District 4 



 

2024-16-094_Glenwood 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                     EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 
 
 

 



                                                                                  Resolution  3701 

Resolution Honoring the Service of Max Hammer 

WHEREAS, Max Hammer was a lifelong resident of Glenwood, graduating from 
Glenwood High School in 1949, and dedicated his life to service within the City and community 
of Glenwood; and 

WHEREAS, Max Hammer honorably served in the United States Air Force from 1950 to 
1954, rising to the rank of Airman First Class (A1C) and earning the National Defense Service 
Medal and the Good Conduct Medal for his exemplary service; and 

WHEREAS, Max Hammer joined the Glenwood Police Department on May 6, 1975, 
and served with distinction until his retirement on September 30, 1993, rising to the rank of 
Police Lieutenant; and  

WHEREAS, Max Hammer played a pivotal role in drug and alcohol enforcement in 
Glenwood, dedicating himself to educating and influencing generations of Glenwood’s youth to 
make responsible choices regarding drug and alcohol use; and 

WHEREAS, Max Hammer contributed to the safety and well-being of Glenwood’s 
citizens through his service with the Glenwood Volunteer Fire Department from September 1971 
to January 1997, culminating in his tenure as Fire Chief from 1996 to 1997; and 

WHEREAS, Max Hammer’s lifelong dedication to public service, law enforcement, and 
fire safety left an indelible mark on the City of Glenwood and its citizens; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of 
Glenwood, Iowa honors and expresses its profound gratitude for the extraordinary service of 
Max Hammer to the City and community of Glenwood;  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City of Glenwood extends its heartfelt thanks 
to the Hammer family for their unwavering support and dedication, which enabled Max Hammer 
to fulfill his remarkable legacy of public service. 

Adopted this 14th day of January, 2025 by the City Council of the City of Glenwood, Iowa. 

 

 ________________________ 

Attest:      Angela Winquist, Mayor 

 

________________________ 

Dannielle Arnold, City Clerk 







 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Proposed Solution for 

 
 

David Richwine 
Copier Sales - Account Executive 

(515) 978-8186 

drichwine@accesssystems.com 

 



 

 

Company Profile 
 

Access Systems is a privately held technology company serving businesses across the Midwest. 
Our commitment to innovation, exceptional service, and 
unmatched expertise has positioned us as a leader in 
delivering cutting-edge solutions to meet evolving business 
needs. 

Access Systems proudly serves businesses across Iowa, 
Minnesota, Nebraska, South Dakota, Wisconsin, Illinois, Missouri, 
Kansas, and Oklahoma. With a wide geographical reach, we 
are well-positioned to meet the diverse needs of our clients. 

Since all of Access’s key leaders are native Midwesterners, we 
understand your business and market.  

At Access Systems, our mission is simple yet ambitious: to 
empower businesses with the technology they need to succeed in an ever-changing world. We are 
committed to delivering innovative solutions, integrity, and excellence with a customer-centric 
focus. 

 

 

 

We are consistently recognized for our exceptional services, products, and culture, both within our 
industry and beyond. These accolades underscore our dedication to innovation, quality, and 
customer satisfaction. We have been recognized by many organizations such as Top Workplaces, 
CRN, Better Business Bureau, Microsoft, ENX, AICPA, and many more. 

  

 

As a privately held company with a remarkable growth 
trajectory, Access Systems is dedicated to driving 
innovation, delivering top-tier technology solutions, and 
surpassing customer expectations. We provide many of 
the industry’s best software with a proven track record of 
success and a commitment to excellence. With in-house 
certified experts, integration has never been simpler. 
Access Systems is ready to partner with you to reimagine 
your technology landscape and provide true technology 
integration long into the future.   

 



 

 

 Why Access Systems? 
From receiving awards on a national level to achieving some of the most sought-after credentials 
in the industry, Access Systems sets itself apart from the competition. In the world of ever-
changing technology, organizations want to work with a company that has high-quality solutions 
and a reputation to back it up. This mindset of excellence has led to a 97% customer retention 
rating and some of the most tenured talent in the industry.  

Our Managed Print Program benefits include: 

 

 
 

At Access Systems we don’t believe in just-in-time inventory. We over-stock supplies and parts to 
ensure our clients have the timeliest service when they need it. We also provide a 96% Uptime 
Guarantee. 
 
We have partnered with the top manufacturers to bring our clients the best products.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Executive Summary 
We have prepared this executive summary based on the recommendations provided by 
City of Glenwood employees. The purpose of this executive summary is to provide detail 
and options for the executive leadership at City of Glenwood regarding the current and 
future print environment. 

Currently City of Glenwood spends approximately $630.88 per month for equipment and 
service on 7 devices throughout the organization. Additionally, City of Glenwood currently 
produces: 

• An average of 9,363 copier pages of B&W per month 
• An average of 3,120 printer pages of B&W per month 
• An average of 2,463 pages of Color per month 

 

Make/Model 
Serial 

Number 
Tag # Location Department 

Mono 
Volume 

Color 
Volume 

Canon 
Imagerunner 
Advance Dx 

C3826i 

  Library Front Desk 2,923 788 
 

Kyocera Ecosys 
M3655idn 

R4P9734705  Fire 
Department 

Fire 
Department 

1,740 0 

Kyocera Ecosys 
P3155dn 

  library Upstairs 1,676 0 

Kyocera Ecosys 
P3155dn 

  library Downstairs 1,425 0 

Sharp MX-B350P 9F001011 45316   19 0 
Sharp MX3071 95073170 46376 City Hall Font Desk 3,654 1,588 
Sharp MX3071 95073180 46377 City Hall Downstairs 1,046 675 

 

  



 

 

Proposed Solution 
 

QTY Make/Model Location Description 

1 Sharp BP-70C31 City Upstairs 31 PPM B&W / 31 PPM Full-Color Workgroup Document 
System 

   50-sheet Staple Inner Finisher 
   Stand/3 x 550-sheet Paper Drawers 
   3-Hole Punch Unit 
1 Sharp BP-70C31 City Downstairs 31 PPM B&W / 31 PPM Full-Color Workgroup Document 

System 
   Stand/1 x 550-sheet Paper Drawer 
   50-sheet Staple Inner Finisher 
   Fax Expansion Kit 
1 Sharp BP-70C31 Library 31 PPM B&W / 31 PPM Full-Color Workgroup Document 

System 
   Stand/1 x 550-sheet Paper Drawer 
   Center Exit Tray 
1 Sharp BPB540WR Fire Department 40 PPM Desktop Monochrome Multi-Function Document 

System 
2 Sharp MX-B468P Library 46 PPM Desktop Monochrome Printer 
   Marknet N8372  

Please see attached brochure or specification sheet for more details.  

 
UP TO $5,234  IN BUYOUT CONSIDERATIONS AND SHIPPING FOR OTHER VENDORS TO BE AVAILABLE  

Lease Service Term 
$415 $151.48 60 

Included with Service Program: 
All parts, labor, toner, training, and service calls. 
Automatic toner reads and toner replenishment. 
90+ certified technicians with parts and supplies in their vehicles for a 96%+ uptime guarantee. 
Customized billing to include but not limited to locations, billing codes, and departments. 
Quarterly invoicing of overages. 
All service will be provided at locked rates for the entirety of the 60 months. 
• 9,500 B&W Copier pages included. Overages billed at $0.0038 per page.  
• 2,500 Color Copier pages included. Overages billed at $0.034 per page. 
• 3,100 B&W Printer pages included. Overages billed at $0.0098 per page.  

 
 



 
 

 

Thank You 
 
It has been a privilege to work with you. We hope you choose 
to continue to build a strong partnership with Access Systems 

through our dedicated service and exceptional products. 
 

Check us out on: 

       

 

 



www.capitalMDS.com 

 

 

 

Prepared for:  City of Glenwood, Attn: Fire Chief Gray  
 

Prepared by: Vincent France, Major Accounts and State and Local 

Government Sales Specialist, email: vfrance@capitalmds.com 
 

Date: December 11, 2024 
 

 

 

 

The contents of this proposal are confidential trade secret information and are intended for the use of the intended customer only.  The contents herein may not be 

reproduced without the specific written permission of Capital Business Systems, Inc. This is a proposal only and informative in nature.  Actual contract terms and 

conditions, as well as final pricing, will be submitted upon request. 

 

Proposed Pricing is effective for 30 days.  

 



www.capitalMDS.com 

 

Proposed Document Management Solution: NEW Canon iR DX 

Series equipment with standard security features per government 

contract requirements.   

 

Now that we have worked with you from the ground up to assess your current document management and printing system, here are a variety 

of effective document management and printing system solutions that are easy to implement, easy to maintain, and that are just plain 

economically smart. 

 

Equipment 
 

Qty Manufacturer / Model   Description / PPM = pages per minute 

2 imageRUNNER ADVANCE DX C3930i 

for City Hall and Downstairs at Police Office 

Plus the below accessories: 

iR DX C3930i (30 ppm black and color with 270 ppm scanning 

speeds) 

  

2 Inner Finisher L1 Multi-position 50-page staple sorting finisher.  

2 Super G3 FAX Board-BH1 Super G3 FAX Board-BH1  

2 Cassette Feeding Unit-AW1 Cassette Feeding Unit-AW1 

  

1 imageRUNNER ADVANCE DX C259iF 

for Fire Station.   

imageRUNNER ADVANCE DX C259iF (25 ppm black and color with 

270 ppm scanning speeds) Also comes standard with Fax Function 

  

Lease Option:  

63MO- $295.00 Per month plus applicable taxes. 

 

Notes: This Proposal includes Capital Business Systems picking up and shipping your 2- Sharp 

MX3071’s,1- MX B350P and 1-Kyocera Ecosys M3655idn back to the leasing company.   

It also covers the setup of universal send networking software for paperless faxing for all locations 

that will provide the city with inbound and outbound paperless faxing. (to lower output costs!)   

 

Please check with VOIP phone system provider since they may offer this service as well.  

 

Proposed Service & Supply Agreement 
 

Service Plus Agreement includes all parts, labor, service calls, preventative maintenance calls, and all supplies, excluding paper 

and staples.   Base payment of $102.00 per month.  

 

 For Canon iR DX C3930’s: 

All black prints to be billed monthly @$0.0038 per page and color prints to be billed monthly @ $0.035 per page based on 

actual volumes.  This agreement includes 5,000 black prints and a minimum 2,000 color prints billed monthly. 

For Canon iR DX C259iF:  

All black prints to be billed monthly @$0.009 per page and color prints to be billed monthly @ $0.05 per page based on actual 

volumes.  This agreement includes 1,500 black prints and a minimum 0 color prints billed monthly. 

*Included amounts are based on current usage history.  



www.capitalMDS.com 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 
 
 
 

 
 
“At the core of our business philosophy lies our desire to be 
regarded as a service-oriented company. The industry service awards 
we’ve won have proven that we understand clearer than most companies 
how to listen to our clients and address their needs. Many companies 
satisfy themselves simply with completing a sale. We do not. We 
consider our clientele to be associates, not just customers, and 
treat them accordingly.” 
                                    James Kreikemeier, President, Capital Business Systems 

 
 
       
 
 
 
 

Lincoln Office 
2110 Fletcher Avenue, Suite 100 
Lincoln, NE  68521 

Omaha Office 
3850 South 149th Street, Suite 105 
Omaha, NE  68144 

Grand Island Office 
830 North Diers Avenue 
Grand Island, NE  68803 

sales@capitalMDS.com 
Tel: (800) 221-0604 

North Platte Office 
518 North Poplar 
North Platte, NE  69101 







www.capitalmds.com  /  402.332.6605

COST MANAGEMENT
• Track and assess print, copy, scan, and fax 

usage and allocate costs to departments  
or projects.

• Apply print policies and restrict usage by 
user to help reduce unnecessary printing 
and contribute to cost efficiency.

• uniFLOW Online Express, a standard cloud-
based solution, provides a centralized 
dashboard with up-to-the-minute insights 
into printer activity.

• Upgrade to uniFLOW server or cloud-based 
solutions for full accounting and reporting 
for compatible Canon and third-party 
devices, pull printing, job routing, and 
powerful scan workflows.

WORKFLOW EFFICIENCY
• 10.1” intuitive touchscreen with 

smartphone-like usability.

• A unique, customized experience tailored to 
individual preferences with My ADVANCE. 

• Supports mobile solutions and integration 
with many popular cloud services like 
Google Drive™ and Box.1

• Scan and convert documents to searchable 
digital files in a variety of file formats.

• Integration with Canon and various  
third-party software with embedded 
application platform.

SECURITY
• Advanced standard security feature set to 

help safeguard sensitive information and 
assist in regulatory compliance.

• Security policy settings can be controlled 
with a dedicated password, configured 
from a central location, and exported to 
other supported devices.

• Control who has access to the device, and 
to which features, using a host of flexible 
authentication methods – picture login,  
PIN code, user name/password, or  
card access.2

Print up to 75 ppm (BW)

Scan up to 100 ipm (300 dpi) (BW, color, duplex)

Print up to 8-1/2” x 14”

3,200-sheet maximum paper capacity

Canon’s comprehensive portfolio of imageRUNNER ADVANCE 
multifunction printers and integrated solutions can help 
simplify the end user experience and management of 
technology; better control sensitive information and print-
related costs; and help ensure that technology investments 
proactively evolve with changing needs.

imageRUNNER ADVANCE 715iF II Series
Black-and-White  |  Compact  |  Multifunction

3850 South 149th St. Omaha NE 68144



 
 
 
 

 
 
“At the core of our business philosophy lies our desire to be 
regarded as a service-oriented company. The industry service awards 
we’ve won have proven that we understand clearer than most companies 
how to listen to our clients and address their needs. Many companies 
satisfy themselves simply with completing a sale. We do not. We 
consider our clientele to be associates, not just customers, and 
treat them accordingly.” 
                                    James Kreikemeier, President, Capital Business Systems 

 
 
       
 
 
 
 

Lincoln Office 
2110 Fletcher Avenue, Suite 100 
Lincoln, NE  68521 

Omaha Office 
3850 South 149th Street, Suite 105 
Omaha, NE  68144 

Grand Island Office 
830 North Diers Avenue 
Grand Island, NE  68803 

sales@capitalMDS.com 
Tel: (800) 221-0604 

North Platte Office 
518 North Poplar 
North Platte, NE  69101 







www.capitalmds.com / 402.332.6605 

COST MANAGEMENT
• Track and assess print, copy, scan, and fax 

usage and allocate costs to departments  
or projects.

• Apply print policies and restrict usage by 
user to help reduce unnecessary printing 
and contribute to cost efficiency.

• uniFLOW Online Express, a standard cloud-
based solution, provides a centralized 
dashboard with up-to-the-minute insights 
into printer activity.

• Upgrade to uniFLOW server or cloud-based 
solutions for full accounting and reporting 
for compatible Canon and third-party 
devices, pull printing, job routing, and 
powerful scan workflows.

WORKFLOW EFFICIENCY
• 10.1” intuitive touchscreen with 

smartphone-like usability.

• A unique, customized experience tailored to 
individual preferences with My ADVANCE. 

• Supports mobile solutions and integration 
with many popular cloud services like 
Google Drive™ and Box.1

• Scan and convert documents to searchable 
digital files in a variety of file formats.

• Integration with Canon and various  
third-party software with embedded 
application platform.

SECURITY
• Advanced standard security feature set to 

help safeguard sensitive information and 
assist in regulatory compliance.

• Security policy settings can be controlled 
with a dedicated password, configured 
from a central location, and exported to 
other supported devices.

• Control who has access to the device, and 
to which features, using a host of flexible 
authentication methods – picture login,  
PIN code, user name/password, or  
card access.2

Print up to 75 ppm (BW)

Scan up to 100 ipm (300 dpi) (BW, color, duplex)

Print up to 8-1/2” x 14”

3,200-sheet maximum paper capacity

Canon’s comprehensive portfolio of imageRUNNER ADVANCE 
multifunction printers and integrated solutions can help 
simplify the end user experience and management of 
technology; better control sensitive information and print-
related costs; and help ensure that technology investments 
proactively evolve with changing needs.

imageRUNNER ADVANCE 715iF II Series
Black-and-White  |  Compact  |  Multifunction

3850 South 149th St. Omaha NE 68144



www.capitalMDS.com 

Proven Leadership 

 

Capital Business Systems was founded on a cornerstone of quality, integrity, and honesty. Today, as a locally owned and operated office 

technology and document management company, we offer the best document imaging technology from the world's leading companies and 

support their products with a commitment to 100% customer satisfaction. 

 

 

Customer Satisfaction Guarantee 

 

At Capital Business Systems, we do not make promises we cannot keep and the ones we do make, we live up to 100%. In fact, we are so 

confident in the reliability and performance of our products and our people, we put our promises to you in our Customer Satisfaction 

Guarantee. 

 

 

Selection 

 
Services 

 

 

MANAGED NETWORK SERVICES 

 

Capital Business Systems can consolidate, integrate, and manage your network with predictable technology costs, network 

accountability, and improved uptime. Our holistic Managed Network Services solution allows you to transfer the risk and 

accountability of your network to us, so you can continue growing your business - something that typical break/fix service 

models can't offer. 

 

 

 

MANAGED PRINT SERVICES 

 

Capital Business System's Managed Print Services reduce the burden of printing maintenance on your finances, as well as 

on your office staff. We ensure that your software and drivers are proactively updated, we identify potential problems 

before costly repairs are needed, and we provide you with easy access to all the relevant printing supplies. 

 

 

 

MANAGED DOCUMENT SERVICES 

 

Our Managed Document Services provide you with the ability to digitally manage your complete document workflow, 

increasing productivity, enhancing privacy and reducing costs simultaneously. Managed Document Services typically 

include storage, retrieval, access control, remote access, audit control, security, backup and disaster recovery.  

 

 

 

 

  



www.capitalMDS.com 

Acquisition Solutions Program 

 

The Capital Business Systems Acquisition Solutions Program is another component to help improve your document management system while 

keeping expenses under control. We will customize an acquisition program that fits the needs of your organization. Our goal is to provide 

your organization with the technology that is best suited to the dynamics of your business. 

 

 

 

Equipment Service and Support 

 

Capital Business Systems, Inc. is committed to customer satisfaction. Our technicians are measured and compensated under programs that 

align with our client's desire for maximum system uptime. Each system is assigned a primary and secondary technician to meet reliability and 

response time expectations. Our technicians carry smartphones that allow them to search service histories, and parts inventories, clear calls, 

and instantly receive your service request.  

 

Capital Business Systems is a Canon & Ricoh Authorized Training Center. Only the top dealer organizations make the investment to provide 

superior customer service and hold this certification. 

 

 

Computer and Networking Certifications 

 

 
 

Warranty Period 

 

 

The Service and Supply Agreement have calculated the 90-day warranty period offered with all equipment. Please contact us for 

additional details. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



www.capitalMDS.com 

Delivery and Installation 

 

 

Delivery includes set-up, attachment of accessories, quality check of all functions, and physical delivery to your location. This 

is included in the initial investment. 

 

 

 

Installation includes locating system in designated area, connection of hardware accessories, and connection to appropriate 

power source. (It is the responsibility of the customer to provide appropriate power configuration and network connectivity at 

their location). 

 

 

 

Use and Function Training is provided to help you truly leverage the technology. Installation and training staff will provide 

basic training at time of installation. Detailed application training is arranged with you per your request, as long as the 

system is maintained under a service agreement with Capital Business Systems. (We will work with you and your staff's 

schedule. We can provide specific training per your request, i.e. small groups, individual, etc.) 

 

 

Network Connectivity and Support 

 

 

We provide post-installation integration and support services. A vendor-trained Capital Business Systems representative will 

work with your internal staff to integrate your system with your network after installation.  

 

Additional Considerations 

 

All pricing quoted in this proposal is exclusive of sales, use, and/or property taxes, if applicable. Normal delivery time frames are 10-20 

business days from receipt of authorized documents. Capital Business Systems cannot be held responsible for delays resulting from 

manufacturer backorders, erroneous shipments, or other circumstances beyond our control. 

 

Capital Business Systems is committed to performing account reviews to ensure that equipment is meeting expectations and fulfilling the 

needs of the workgroup it supports. This also encompasses the tracking of volume levels to realize maximum efficiencies. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

It is our goal to partner with you to help you reach your business goals. 
 

 

  



www.capitalMDS.com 

 

Company Executives 

 

James Kreikemeier  President & CEO 

Allison Kreikemeier  Vice President of Operations 

Nathan Kreikemeier                                   Vice President of Administration 

Jack Lyman   Chief Financial Officer 

Jeremy Reimers  Vice President of Sales and Marketing     

Cliff Davis   Vice President of Service   

 

To place a service call, request supplies, or discuss accounts payable or receivables, please call 800-221-0604 

 

 

 

Office Locations 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

402-339-5003 

www.jqoffice.com 

 



 

 
 

 

  

 

At the core of our business is an IT foundation that is instrumental in how we operate, service our 

customers, and conduct business. This core is the fundamental way we evaluate, consult, and support 

every phase of our customer's needs. We build custom-tailored business solutions that streamline 

productivity and package all of your technology needs in a "One Stop Shop". Our certified technical staff 

will implement solutions that focus on what really matters, growing your business. Let us put our 

experience to work for you  

We are passionately committed to assist all that comes in contact with our Company, whether it is 

employees, clients, potential clients, vendors, lenders, their families and/or all the communities we serve, 

in achieving or exceeding their personal and professional goals and objectives through the utilization of our 

People, Knowledge, Skills, Systems, Technology, Products and Services. 

We are positioned as the professionals to call for any copying, faxing, imaging, and/or printing hardware, 

whether it is black & white or full color, all supplies related to printing, and all service related to printers, 

copiers, and faxes. Our focus is growing our business through our staff and by providing our customers with 

the best technology support answers that they may need. We lead the industry with the latest in software 

and printing solutions that provide our customers with total solutions. In addition, we also provide Mailing 

Equipment, Finishing Equipment, Wide Format Printers, Digital Display Boards, and Off Site Backups, 

network-related support, service, administration and installation, including hardware. 

Our staff of technicians and business consultants can customize a hardware/software solution to meet your 

most demanding needs. 

 

  



 

 
 

  

JQ Office Equipment was founded in 1965 in Omaha, NE by Joe Quirk. As a local business that provided 

copiers, typewriters, and office supplies, we grew to be a strong member of the Omaha area business 

community. 

In 2000 Greg Quirk purchased JQ Office Equipment and directed the company through the most important 
change the industry had seen. In the 2000's, digital imaging was being introduced as an alternative to 
traditional analog copiers. These "connected" products could not only copy, but print and scan. Early on, 
Greg recognized the benefits this could bring to his clients and JQ Office Equipment became one of the first 
companies in Omaha to introduce the new systems. 

In the 2000's technology continued to explode. It wasn't long before more printing was being done than 
copying. Businesses were fully utilizing IT products and services. Simply, technology became the 
infrastructure of a business. Again, Greg recognized the shift in how businesses operated and introduced 
new products and services. Managed Print Services, IT support, Mailing Equipment, Folders/Inserters, 
Shredders, Off Site Backups, Digital Display Boards, and HDD Security Overwriting and Destruction services.  

In 2017, our current Director of Sales, Jason Coglianese, was introduced to the staff and the clients. Jason 
took over the daily operations of the sales department. His experience in the industry was just what JQ 
Office needed to expand to the next level. Jason focused his attention on developing a strong sales team 
and expanding the company's footprint. In addition, he developed strong vendor relationships that allowed 
JQ Office to support significant and rapid growth. His Managed Print Services background, fresh ideas, and 
overall business acumen was exactly what JQ Office was looking for.   

JQ Office continues to build on the basic principle that if we develop our people, we will develop the 
business. This is reflected in the recognition our people and our company have received. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
 

  

WORK ETHIC: 

We will rise to the challenge through teamwork, motivation, enthusiasm and urgency with mutual respect 

to everyone. Professionalism, dependability and good communication skills are at the core of all our 

employees. 

ACCOUNTABILITY: 

We will take ownership, recognize problems and identify solutions through a series of checks and balances. 

We have an obligation to our staff and clients to hold ourselves to a high standard of accountability. 

CUSTOMER: 

Understanding customer's perceptions helps us to acknowledge their needs and provide professional help. 

By detecting issues early on, we can show empathy and follow through to completion. We understand that 

as a business of people, we must put service before ourselves. 

CULTURE: 

Culture is the character of JQ Office! We believe this is not just a job, but a family. We show it through 

concern for our employees, their families and the communities we serve. We will create an enthusiastic 

and fun Atmosphere that allows balance between work and life, and provide employees with quality 

compensation, and proper development....all with an open door. 

 

 

 

 

 

  
The difference between playing to win and playing not to lose is the 

difference between success and mediocrity. Take risks, make tough 

decisions, live on the edge and make a difference. People who play it 

safe continually miss opportunities and seldom make progress. 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

  

 

Overview 

JQ Office is pleased to submit this proposal for products and services to support City of Glenwood Iowa in 

improved customer and employee satisfaction through our superior solutions, training, and post-sales 

support. We look forward to implementing your new FLEET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM. We have partnered 

with hundreds of the best businesses throughout the Upper Midwest and are anxious to do the same with 

City of Glenwood Iowa. 

The Solution Basics 

• JQ Office All-inclusive Managed Print Program. The most cost-effective way to manage document 

related costs. 

• Provide a seamless implementation with total solution training. 

• Implement ongoing reviews and provide superior post-sales support. 

The Benefits 

• No capital expense.  

• One point of accountability and contact.  

• Automated meter reads and online device management. 

• Simple spreadsheet billing with a combined pool of pages allowed. 

• State-of-the-art systems.  

• Highest priority service and supply response. 

 



 

 
 

  

 

We are positioned as the professionals to call for any copying, faxing, imaging, and or printing hardware 

whether it is black & white or full color, all supplies related to printing, and all service related to printers, 

copiers, and faxes. Our focus is growing our business through our staff and by providing our customers with 

the best technology support that they may need. We lead the industry with the latest in software and 

printing solutions that provide our customers with total solutions. In addition, we also provide network 

related support, service, administration and installation, including hardware. Our staff of technicians and 

business consultants can customize a hardware/software solution to meet your most demanding needs. 

• Document workflow, business applications, and IT integration support 

• Local and global device and software customization capabilities 

• Web-based calls and supply orders. 

• Two-hour response time from technician to evaluate problem.  

• Four hour average on-site response time.  

• Automated meter reads and audit software. 

• Annual account reviews of volumes and account needs. 

• One point of contact for everything. One phone number for service, supplies and customer service. 

• Questions will always be answered by a live person. No impersonal automated systems. 

• Hotline support – Remote Installation, support and diagnostics 

• Field Support – Regionally based across the Americas 

• In-house Quality Assurance 

 

 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

 

  

The following details the cost savings and pricing for delivery of the products and services 
outlined in this proposal. This pricing is valid for 5 business days from the date of this proposal: 

Proposed 63  Month Costs 

2 Kyocera TASKalfa 4054ci 40/40 PPM A3 Color MFP  INCLUDED 

320 DSDP W/ Sensor, Inner Finisher 
4 Drawer- (2) 1500 Sheet 

   

1 Kyocera ECOSYS MA5500ifx 57 PPM A4 B&W MFP (4 in 1: 
P/C/S/F) 

 INCLUDED 

(1) Tray 500 Sheet    

4,600 B/W Prints Per Month (Pool of prints shared) INCLUDED 

B/W Quarterly Overage Rate $0.005 

500 Tier 1 / 500 Tier 2 / 500 Tier 3 Color Prints Per Month INCLUDED 

 Tier 1/Tier 2/Tier 3 Color Quarterly Overage Rate  $0.019/$0.039/$0.059 

eGoldfax- 750 pages per month (shared) 
$99.36 monthly   

INCLUDED 

2 Kyocera ECOSYS P3155 (existing contract through 5/27 for Library $97.02 

Proposed 63  Month Costs $595.18/Month 

Additional Options  

Kyocera P3155 – 57PPM B/W Desktop Printer (Service Billed at $0.01) $30/Month 



 

 
 

 

 

We look forward to working with City of Glenwood Iowa and supporting your efforts to improve your 

processes and costs through our recommended program. We are confident that we can meet the 

challenges ahead, and stand ready to partner with you in delivering an effective solution. 

Your will enjoy the following benefits while immediately recognizing the savings: 

• No capital expense.  

• One point of accountability and contact.  

• Automated meter reads and online device management. 

• Simple spreadsheet billing with a combined pool of pages allowed. 

• State-of-the-art systems. 

• Highest priority service and supply response 

The following is our proposed implementation schedule: 

• 11/25/2024 – Sign paperwork and finalize agreements 

• 12/09/2024 – Installation and training (schedule to be finalized) 

• 12/16/2024 – Account Follow-up and training updates 

• Annual reviews thereafter (To be scheduled) 

 

Thank you! 

 

Ryan Meredith 

Business Solutions Consultant 

(402) 339-5003 



 

 

MINUTES FOR HEARING ON AND 
APPROVAL OF LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

Glenwood, Iowa 

January 14, 2025 

The City Council of the City of Glenwood, Iowa, met on January 14, 2025, at 7 o’clock 
p.m., at the City Hall, in the City. 

The meeting was called to order by the Mayor, and the roll was called showing the following 
members of the Council present and absent: 

Present:    

Absent:   . 

This being the time and place specified for taking action on the proposal to enter into a 
certain lease agreement, the City Clerk announced that no written objections had been placed on 
file.  Whereupon, the Mayor called for any written or oral objections, and there were none.  There 
being no further objections or comments, the Mayor announced that the hearing was closed. 

After due consideration and discussion, Council Member __________________ introduced 
the following resolution and moved its adoption, seconded by Council Member 
__________________.  The Mayor put the question upon the adoption of said resolution, and the 
roll being called, the following Council Members voted: 

Ayes:    

Nays:   . 

Whereupon, the Mayor declared the resolution duly adopted, as follows: 

 



 

RESOLUTION NO. 3699 

Resolution approving and authorizing a General Fund Copier Lease Agreement with 
lease payments thereunder in a principal amount not to exceed $40,000  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Section 364.4 of the Code of Iowa, the City of 
Glenwood (the “City”), in Mills County, State of Iowa heretofore proposed to contract indebtedness 
and enter into a General Fund Copier Lease Agreement (the “Lease Agreement”) with lease 
payments thereunder in an amount not to exceed $40,000, for the purpose of leasing a copier for use 
by the City, and has held a public hearing thereon on January 14, 2025;  

WHEREAS, it is now necessary to authorize and approve the Lease Agreement;  

NOW, THEREFORE, It Is Resolved by the City Council of the City of Glenwood, Iowa, as 
follows: 

Section 1. The Lease Agreement with ________________________________, in 
substantially the form as has been presented to and considered by this Council and containing 
substantially the same terms and provisions set forth therein, is hereby approved.  The Mayor and 
City Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to make such changes thereto as they, with the advice 
of legal counsel, deem necessary and to execute and deliver the Lease Agreement and any and all 
other documents and do any and all things deemed necessary in order to accomplish the purposes of 
the Lease Agreement and this resolution.  All prior action heretofore taken by the Mayor and City 
Clerk to execute the Lease Agreement is hereby ratified and affirmed.   

Section 2. The City Council hereby covenants to appropriate to the General Fund, 
during the term of the Lease Agreement, sufficient funds to pay lease payments due under the Lease 
Agreement as such payments become due in an aggregate amount not to exceed $40,000.  The City 
hereby pledges the General Fund of the City for the full and prompt payment of the Lease 
Agreement.  Lease payments shall be made as set forth in the Lease Agreement.  

Section 3. All resolutions and orders or parts thereof in conflict with the provisions of 
this resolution are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby repealed. 

Section 4. This resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 
adoption and approval, as provided by law. 

Passed and approved January 14, 2025. 

  
Angela Winquist, Mayor 

Attest: 

  
Dannielle Arnold, City Clerk 

 



 

• • • • 

On motion and vote, the meeting adjourned. 

  
Angela Winquist, Mayor 

Attest: 

  
Dannielle Arnold, City Clerk 

 



 

ATTESTATION CERTIFICATE:  

STATE OF IOWA 
COUNTY OF MILLS SS: 
CITY OF GLENWOOD 

I, the undersigned, City Clerk of the aforementioned City, do hereby certify that attached 
hereto is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the City Council relating to the hearing on 
and approval of a certain Lease Agreement. 

I further certify that no appeal has been taken to the District Court from the decision of the 
City Council to enter into the Lease Agreement. 

WITNESS MY HAND this ________ day of _____________________, 2025. 

  
City Clerk 

 

 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 

1 | P a g e  
 

 
CHAPTER 165 

ArƟcle I. ZONING AND SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
SECTION 165: GENERAL PROVISIONS 
165.1 Title 
165.2 Jurisdiction 
165.3 Purpose 
165.4 Consistency with Comprehensive Plan 
165.5 Conflicting Provisions 
165.6 Relief from Officer Provisions 
165.7 City Exemption 
165.8 Severability of Provision 
165.9 Publication 
 
SECTION 166: DEFINITIONS 
166.1 Purpose 
166.2 General Construction of Language 
166.3 Definition of Terms 
 
SECTION 167: USE TYPES 
167.01 Purpose 
167.02 Determinations 
167.03 Agricultural Use Types 
167.04 Residential Use Types 
167.05 Civic Use Types 
167.06 Office Use Types 
167.07 Commercial Use Types 
167.08 Parking Use Types 
167.09 Industrial Use Types 
167.10 Transportation Use Types 
167.11 Miscellaneous Type Uses 
167.12 Accessory and Temporary Uses 
 
SECTION 168: ZONING DISTRICT REGULATIONS 
168.01 Purpose 
168.02 Establishment of Districts 
168.03 Application of Districts 
168.04 Hierarchy 
168.05 Development Regulations 
168.06  Zoning Map 
168.07 Interpretation of District Boundaries 
168.08 Vacation of Streets and Alleys 
168.09 Annexation of Territory 
168.10 Required Conformance 
168.11 Required Frontage 
 Table 168-1 Purpose of Zoning Districts 
168.12 Levels of Permitted Uses 
168.13 Guide to Site Development Regulators 
 Table 168-2 Permitted Uses by Zoning Districts 168-10 
 Table 168-3 Summary of Site Development Regulations 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

 
SECTION 169: PERFORMANCE POINT EVALUATION SYSTEM - REMOVED 
 
SECTION 170: SPECIAL AND OVERLAY DISTRICTS 
170.01 General Purpose 
170.10 MU Mixed Use District 
170.101 Purpose 
170.102 Permitted Uses 
170.103 Site Development Regulations 
170.104 Adoption of District 
170.105 Amendments 
170.20 PD Planned Development District 
170.201 Purpose 
170.202 Permitted Uses 
170.203 Objectives of Planned Development Districts 
170.204  Site Development Regulations 
170.205 Access to Public Streets 
170.206 Application Process 
170.207 Adoption of District 
170.208 Amendment Procedure 
170.209 Building Permits 
170.210 Termination of PUD District 
170.30 NC Historic Neighborhood Conservation District 
170.301 Purpose 
170.302 Application and Use 
170.303 Procedure for Adoption 
170.304 Adoption of District 
170.305 Building Permits 
170.40 RC Conservation Development Overlay District 
170.401 Purpose 
170.402 Process 
170.403 Permitted Uses 
170.404 Permitted Yield 
170.405 Minimum Percentage of Open Space 
170.406 Conservation Areas as Open Space 
170.407 Location Standards for Open Space 
170.408 Special Processes for Conservation Developments 
170.409 Ownership and Maintenance of Common Open Space 
170.410 Maintenance of Standards 
170.411 Evaluation Criteria 
170.50 FP/FW Floodplain/Floodway Overlay District 
170.501 Purpose 
170.502 Findings of Fact 
170.503 Permits and Administration 
170.504 Establishment of Zoning Districts 
170.505 Standards 
170.506 Floodplain Overlay District: Regulations 
170.507 Floodplain Overlay District: Permitted Uses 
170.508 Requests for Variances 
170.509 Zoning Regulations for Nonconforming Uses 
170.510 Definitions 
SECTION 171: SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS   



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

171.01 Purpose 
171.02  Supplemental Use Regulations: Agricultural Uses 
171.03 Supplemental Use Regulations: Residential Uses 
171.04 Supplemental Use Regulations: Civic Uses 
171.05 Supplemental Use Regulations: Commercial Uses 
171.06 Supplemental Design Standards in LC Districts 
171.07 Supplemental Use Regulations: Industrial Uses 
171.08 Performance Standards for Industrial Uses 
171.09 Maximum Permitted Sound Levels Adjacent to Residential Districts 
171.10 Supplemental Use Regulations: Miscellaneous Uses 
171.11 Supplemental Use Regulations: Accessory Uses 
171.12 Supplemental Use Regulations: Outdoor Storage Outside of the LI Zoning District 
171.13 Supplemental Use Regulations: Temporary Uses  
 
SECTION 172: SUPPLEMENTAL SITE DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 
172.01 Purpose 
172.02 Required Street Frontage 
172.03 Lot Size Exceptions 
172.04 Setback Adjustments  
172.05 Height Exceptions 
172.06 Exceptions for Conservation Subdivisions 
172.07 Fence Regulations 
172.08 Appeals 
 
SECTION 173: LANDSCAPING AND SCREENING STANDARDS 
173.01 Purpose 
173.02 Applicability 
173.03 Landscaping Requirements 
173.04 Landscaping Materials and Installation Standards 
 Table 173-1 Required Landscape Depth 
173.05 Bufferyard Provisions 
 Table 173-2 Bufferyard Requirements (in feet) 
173.06 Screening Standards 
173.07 Parking Lot Landscaping 
173.08 Tree Plantings 
173.09 General Provisions 
 
SECTION 174: OFF-STREET PARKING 
174.01 Purpose 
174.02 General Application 
174.03 Schedule of Off-Street Parking Requirements 
 Table 174-1 Minimum Off-Street Parking Requirements 
174.04 Parking Facility Location 
174.05 Parking for People with Disabilities Table 174-2 Accessible Parking Requirements 
174.06 Off-Street Parking Design Standards 
174.07 Bicycle Parking 
174.08 Off-Street Loading 
174.09 Stacking Requirements for Drive-Through Services 
174.10 Parking for Personal and Recreational Vehicles 
174.11 Supplementary Regulations: Storage and Parking of Unlicensed or Other Vehicles 
 
SECTION 175: SIGN REGULATIONS 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

175.01 Purpose 
175.02 Definition of Terms 
175.03 General Sign and Street Graphics Regulations 
175.04 General Regulations: Basic Design Elements for On-Premise Signs 
175.05 General Regulations: Other Design Elements 
175.06 General Permit Procedures 
175.07 Method of Measurement for Regulators 
175.08 Permitted Sign Types by Zoning Districts 
175.09 Auxiliary Design Elements 
175.10 Maximum Permitted Sign Area  
175.11 Permitted Signs by Numbers, Dimensions, and Location 
 Table 175-1 Permitted Signs by Type and Zoning Districts 
 Table 175-2 Permitted Signs by Type and Zoning Districts 
 Table 175-3 Permitted Signs by Maximum Permitted Area and District 
 Table 175-4 Permitted Signs by Numbers, Dimensions, and Location  
 
SECTION 176: NONCONFORMING DEVELOPMENT 
176.01 Purpose 
176.02 Regulations Additive 
176.03 Nonconforming Lots 
176.04 Nonconforming Structures 
176.05 Nonconforming Uses 
 
SECTION 177: ADMINISTRATION AND PROCEDURES   
177.01 Purpose 
177.02 Site Plan Review Procedure 
177.03 Conditional Use Permits 
 Table 177-1 Criteria for Site Plan Review and Conditional Use Permits 
177.04 Amendment Procedure 
177.05 Building Permits and Certificates of Zoning Compliance 
177.06 Schedule of Fees, Charges, and Expenses 
177.07 Board of Adjustment 
177.09  Board of Adjustment: Powers and Duties 
177.10 Appeals from the Board of Adjustment 
177.11 Duties of Zoning Administrator, Board of Adjustment, City Council, and Courts on Matters of Appeal 
177.12 Severability Clause 
177.13 Complaints Regarding Violations 177-13 177.14 Penalties for Violation 
 
SECTION 178: SUBDIVISIONS: BASIC CONDITIONS 
178.01 Purpose 
178.02 Jurisdiction and Applicability 
178.03 Interpretation, Conflict, and Severability 
178.04 Performance of Work by the City 
 
 
SECTION 179: SUBDIVISION APPROVALS AND PROCEDURES 
179.01 Purpose 
179.02 Administrative Subdivisions 
179.03 Minor Subdivisions 
179.04 Major Subdivisions 
 Table 179-1 Application Requirements 
 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

5 | P a g e  
 

SECTION 180: SUBDIVISION DESIGN CRITERIA AND GENERAL STANDARDS 
180.01 Purpose 
180.02 Site Design and Constraints  
180.03 Subdivision and Development Design Categories and Rules  
 Table 180-1 Development Types and Policy Requirements 
 
SECTION 181: CIRCULATION SYSTEM DESIGN 
181.01 Purpose 
181.02 General Standards 
181.03 Street Hierarchy and Design 
181.04 Lighting and Wiring 
181.05 Traditional Neighborhood Developments (TNDs) 
 Table 181-1 Street Hierarchy 
 Table 181-2 Cartway Width, Grade, and Intersection Standards 
 Table 181-3 Curb, Sidewalk, and Right-Of-Way Requirements 
 Table 181-4 Street Design Requirements 
 
SECTION 182: PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
182.01 Purpose 
182.02 Water 
182.03 Sanitary Sewers 
182.04 Storm Water Management 
182.05 Parks and Public Facilities 
182.06 Reservation of Additional Lands 
182.07 Topography and Grading 
182.08 Timing and Conveyance 
182.09 Timing of Payment 
182.10 Developer Agreements 
182.11 Easements 
182.12 Dedications 
 
SECTION 183: IMPROVEMENT FINANCING AND GUARANTEES 
183.01 Purpose 
183.02 Application 
183.03 Responsibility of Subdivider 
183.04 Subdivision Agreement 
183.05 Subdivisions Contiguous with City  
183.06 Performance Guarantees 
183.07 Notification of Completion and Acceptance by City 
  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

6 | P a g e  
 

SECTION 166 
 
DefiniƟons 
 
166.01 Purpose 

ArƟcle Two shall be known as the DefiniƟons. The purpose of these provisions is to promote 
consistency and precision in the interpretaƟon of the Zoning Ordinance. The meaning and 
construcƟon of words as set forth shall apply throughout the Zoning Ordinance, unless where 
modified in a specific secƟon or where the context of such words or phrases clearly indicates a 
different meaning or construcƟon. 

166.02 General ConstrucƟon of Language 

The following general rules of construcƟon apply to the text of the Zoning Ordinance. 

a. Headings 

SecƟon and subsecƟon headings contained herein are provided for illustraƟve purposes only and 
shall not be deemed to limit, govern, modify, or otherwise affect the scope, meaning, or intent of 
any provision of the Zoning Ordinance. 

b. IllustraƟon 

In the case of any real or apparent conflict between the text of the Ordinance and any illustraƟon 
explaining the text, the text shall apply. 

c. Shall and May 

“Shall" is always mandatory. "May" is discreƟonary. 

d. Tenses and Numbers 

Words used in the present tense include the future tense. Words used in the singular include the 
plural, and the plural the singular, unless the context clearly indicates the contrary. 

e. ConjuncƟons 

Unless the context clearly indicates the contrary, the following conjuncƟons shall be interpreted as 
follows: 

1. "And" indicates that all connected items or provisions apply. 

2. “Or" indicates that the connected items or provisions may apply singly or in any combinaƟon. 

3. "Either ... or" indicates that the connected items or provisions shall apply singly but not in 
combinaƟon. 

f. Referenced Agencies 

Unless otherwise indicated, all public officials, bodies, and agencies referred to in this Chapter are 
those of the City of Glenwood. 

166.03 DefiniƟon of Terms 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

7 | P a g e  
 

For the purposes of this Zoning Ordinance, certain terms and words are hereby defined. Certain 
secƟons contain definiƟons which are addiƟonal to those listed here. Where terms are not 
specifically defined, their ordinarily accepted meaning or meanings implied by their context shall 
apply. 

166.04 A 

1. Abuƫng: Having lot lines or district boundaries in common, including property separated by a public street 
or alley. Used interchangeably with adjacent. 

2. Accessory Building:  A detached building or permanent use on the same lot with, and of a nature customarily 
incidental and subordinate to, the principal building or use.  For the purposes of this Ordinance, an external 
wood burning furnace, built to industry requirements, shall be considered an ‘accessory building’. 

3. Accessory Dwelling Unit: An accessory dwelling unit, or ADU, is an addiƟonal residenƟal building that 
occupies the same lot as the principal or primary residence.  ADUs are typically smaller, independent 
residenƟal dwelling units located on the same lot as a standalone single-family home. 

 
4. Accessory Structure: A structure which is incidental to and customarily associated with a specific principal 

use or building on the same site. 

5. Accessory Use: A use which is incidental to and customarily associated with a specific principal use on the 
same site.   
 

6. AddiƟon: Any construcƟon which increases the size of a building or structure in terms of site coverage, 
height, length, width, or gross floor area. 

 
7. Agent of Owner: Any person showing wriƩen verificaƟon that he/ she is acƟng for, and with the knowledge 

and consent of, a property owner. 

8. Agriculture:  The Ɵlling of the soil, raising crops, farm animals, livestock, horƟculture, gardening, beekeeping 
and aquaculture.   

9. Agricultural Sales/Service: Establishments or places of business engaged in sale from the premises of feed, 
grain, fertilizers, farm equipment, pesticides and similar goods or in the provision of agriculturally related 
services with incidental storage on lots other than where the service is rendered.  Typical uses include nurseries, 
farm implement dealerships, feed and grain stores and tree service farms. 

10. Alley: A public right of way, other than a street and twenty feet or less in width which is used as a secondary 
means of access to abuƫng property. 

11. AlteraƟon: Any construcƟon or physical change in the internal arrangement of spaces, the supporƟng 
members, the posiƟoning on a site, or the appearance of a building or structure. 

12. Alternative Energy Production Devices:  The use of a site for the production of energy utilizing methods that 
do not involve the oxidation, combustion or fission of primary materials.  Typical uses include solar collector 
fields, solar energy devices on a residence, geothermal energy installations, wind turbines (vertical or 
horizontal axis) or water-powered mills or generating facilities.   
 

13. AmorƟzaƟon:  A method of eliminaƟng nonconforming uses by requiring the terminaƟon of the 
nonconforming use aŌer a specified period of Ɵme.   



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

8 | P a g e  
 

14. Amusement Center:  An establishment offering five or more amusement devices, including but not limited 
to, coin-operated electronic games, shooƟng galleries, table games and similar recreaƟonal diversions within 
an enclosed building. 

15. Amateur Radio Tower:   A structure(s) for the transmission or reception of electromagnetic signals by FCC 
licensed Amateur Radio operators.   
 

16. Animal Hospital/Veterinary Clinic: Any medical facility for the care, treatment and associated overnight 
boarding of domesticated animals, including those traditionally kept as pets or livestock. 

17. Apartment: A housing unit within a building designed for and suitable for occupancy by only one family. 
Apartments are generally located within mulƟ-family residenƟal buildings. 

18. Appeal:  A request for review of the Zoning Administrator's interpretation of any provision of this Ordinance. 
 

19. Assisted Living: Assisted living means provision of housing with services which may include but are not 
limited to health-related care, personal care, and assistance with instrumental acƟviƟes of daily living to six 
or more tenants in a physical structure which provides a homelike environment. Assisted living also includes 
encouragement of family involvement, tenant self-direcƟon, and tenant parƟcipaƟon in decisions that 
emphasize choice, dignity, privacy, individuality, shared risk, and independence. Assisted living includes the 
provision of housing and assistance with instrumental acƟviƟes of daily living only if personal care or health-
related care is also included. 

20. AƩached: Having one or more walls in common with a principal building or connected to a principal building 
by an integral architectural element, such as a covered passageway; facade wall extension; or archway. 

21. AutomoƟve and Equipment Services:  Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in sales and/or 
services of automobiles, trucks, or heavy equipment.  The following are considered automoƟve and 
equipment use types: 

a. Automobile AucƟon Lots:  Sale of motor vehicles through a process of periodic aucƟons or 
bid procedures.  Automobile aucƟon lots usually include large on-site storage areas of motor 
vehicles and lack showrooms, auto repair faciliƟes and other structures and faciliƟes that are 
typical of new car dealerships.   

b. AutomoƟve Rental and Sales:  Sale or rental of automobiles, non-commercial trucks, 
motorcycles, motor homes, recreaƟonal vehicles or boats, including incidental storage, 
maintenance and servicing.  Typical uses include new and used car dealerships; motorcycle 
dealerships, and boat, trailer and recreaƟonal vehicle dealerships.  

c. Auto Service:  Provision of fuel, lubricants, parts and accessories and incidental services to 
motor vehicles; and noncommercial trucks, motorcycles, motor homes, recreaƟonal vehicles 
or boats, including the sale, installaƟon and servicing of equipment parts.  Typical uses 
include service staƟons, car washes, muffler ships, auto repair garages, Ɵre sales and 
installaƟon, wheel and brake shops and similar repair and service acƟviƟes but exclude 
dismantling, salvage or body and fender repair services. 

d. Body Repair:  Repair, painƟng or refinishing of the body, fender or frame of automobiles, 
trucks, motorcycles, motor equipment, agricultural implements and similar vehicles or 
equipment.  Typical uses include body and fender shops, painƟng shops and other similar 
repair of refinishing garages.   



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

9 | P a g e  
 

e. Equipment Rental and Sales:  Sale or rental of trucks, tractors, construcƟon equipment, 
agricultural implements, mobile homes and similar heavy equipment, including incidental 
storage, maintenance and servicing.  Typical uses include truck dealerships, construcƟon 
equipment dealerships and mobile home sales establishments.   

f. Equipment Repair Services:  Repair of trucks, tractors, construcƟon equipment, agricultural 
implements and similar heavy equipment.  Typical uses include truck repair garages, tractor 
and farm implement repair services and machine ships, but exclude dismantling, salvage or 
body and fender repair services. 

166.05 B 
1. Base Zoning District: A district established by this Ordinance which prescribes basic regulaƟons governing 

land use and site development standards. No more than one Base Zoning District shall apply to any 
individually plaƩed lot or parcel unless the lot or parcel is part of a Planned Unit Development.  For any 
actions taken after the effective date of this Code, no more than one Base Zoning District shall apply to any 
individually platted lot or parcel unless the lot or parcel is part of a Planned Unit Development.     

2. Basement: A level of a building below street level that has at least one-half of its height below the surface 
of adjacent ground. A basement used for independent dwelling or business purposes shall be considered a 
story for the purposes of height measurement.   

3. Battery Energy Storage System (BESS):   A storage system or facility that collects energy from renewable energy 
sources, such as wind and/or solar panels or from the electricity network and stores the energy using battery 
storage technology.  The batteries discharge to release energy when necessary, such as during peak demands, 
power outages, or grid balancing. 

4. Bed and Breakfast:  An owner-occupied dwelling unit that contains no more than three (3) guest rooms where 
lodging, with or without meals, is provided for compensation.   

5. Beginning of ConstrucƟon: The iniƟal incorporaƟon of labor and materials within the foundaƟon of a building 
or structure.   

6. Berm:  A mound of earth or the act of pushing earth into a mound.  

7. Billboard: Any structure or porƟon thereof having an area of one hundred (100) square feet or more on 
which leƩered, figured or pictorial maƩer is displayed for adverƟsing for off premises purposes. 

8. Block: An area of land within a subdivision that is enƟrely bounded by streets, by streets and the exterior 
boundaries of the subdivision, or by a combinaƟon of the above with a watercourse, lake, railroad, or other 
significant natural or man-made barrier, and which has been designated as such on a plat for the purposes 
of legal descripƟon of a property. 

9. Block Face (City): The property abuƫng one side of a street and lying between the two nearest intersecƟon 
streets, or between the one nearest intersecƟng street and a major physical barrier, including, but not to, 
railroads, streams, lakes, or the corporate limits of Glenwood. 

10. Board of Adjustment: A body, established by the City Council to review appeals arising from decisions made 
by the various Boards and staff of the City.  

11. Boarding, Rooming and Lodging House:  A building other than a hotel where, for compensaƟon and by 
arrangement, meals, lodging are capable of being provided for three (3) or more persons on a weekly or 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

10 | P a g e  
 

monthly basis.  Residents are not defined as a family in which occupants are accommodated in rooms, not 
defined as dwelling units.   

12. Borrow Pit:  Any place or premises where dirt, soil, sand, gravel or other material is removed below the grad 
of surrounding land for any purpose other than the necessary and incidental to site grading or building 
construcƟon on the same property or conƟguous property of the same ownership. 

13. Brewery/DisƟllery:  The premises where alcohol or spirits are disƟlled, wine is fermented, or beer is brewed 
or a person owning, represenƟng or in charge of such premises and the operaƟons conducted there, 
including the blending and boƩling or the handling and preparaƟon of alcoholic liquor, wine or beer in any 
form.  On-site sale, tasƟng and/or sampling is conducted.  Typical uses also include Micro-disƟllery, winery, 
or other similar uses.    

14. Bufferyard: A landscaped area intended to separate and parƟally obstruct the view of two adjacent land uses 
or properƟes from one another. 

15. Building: A structure enƟrely separated from any other structure by space or by walls and having a roof and 
built to provide shelter, support, or enclosure for persons or property. 

16. Building Code:  The Uniform Building Code (U.B.C.) promulgated by the InternaƟonal Conference of Building 
Officials.  

17. Building Coverage: The area of a site covered by buildings or roofed areas, excluding allowed projecƟng 
eaves, balconies, and similar features. 

18. Building ElevaƟon:  One-scaled Two-Dimensional representaƟon from the ground level of one side of a 
building showing its exterior features.  

19. Building Envelope: The three-dimensional space within which a structure is permiƩed to be built on a lot 
aŌer all zoning and other applicable municipal requirements have been met. 

20. Building Height:  The verƟcal distance from the grade to the highest point of the coping of a flat roof or to 
the deck line of a mansard roof, or to the mean height level between eaves and ridge of gable, hip and 
gambrel roofs. 

21. Building Line: The outer boundary of a building established by the locaƟon of its exterior walls. 

22. Building Official: The city official, designated by the City Council, who is responsible for the enforcement of 
the applicable building codes and condiƟonal uses. 

23. Building Permit: A document that must be issued by the Building Official prior to erecƟng, construcƟng, 
enlarging, altering, repairing, moving, improving, removing, converƟng, or demolishing any building or 
structure regulated by this Ordinance or by the applicable building codes of the City of Glenwood. Issuance 
of a building permit follows review of plans by the Building Official to determine that the proposed use of 
building or land complies with the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance. 

24. Business: AcƟviƟes that include the exchange or manufacture of goods or services on a site. 

25. Business Center: A building containing more than one commercial business, or any group of non-residenƟal 
buildings within a common development, characterized by shared parking and access. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

11 | P a g e  
 

26. Business Support Services: Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in the sale, rental, or 
repair or equipment, supplies and materials or the provision of services used by offices, professional and 
services establishments to the firms themselves but excluding automoƟve, construcƟon and farm 
equipment.  Typical uses include office equipment and supply firms, small business machine repair shops or 
hotel equipment and supply firms, messenger and delivery services, custodial or maintenance services, and 
convenience prinƟng and copying.   

27. Business/Trade School:  A use providing educaƟon or training in business, commerce, language or other 
similar acƟvity or occupaƟonal pursuit, and not otherwise defined as a home occupaƟon, college or 
university or public or private educaƟonal facility.   

166.06 C 
 

1. Campground:  FaciliƟes providing camping or parking areas and incidental services for travelers in 
recreaƟonal vehicles or tents.  The following are considered campground facility types: 

a. Standard Campground:  FaciliƟes providing camping or parking areas and incidental services 
for travelers in recreaƟonal vehicles or tents which accommodate each guest or visitor for 
no more than seven (7) consecuƟve days during a one (1) month period. 

b. Extended Stay Campground:  These faciliƟes are set up to provide camping or parking sites 
or spaces for recreaƟonal vehicles, recreaƟonal trailers and tents of those individuals using 
the recreaƟonal area for the services intended.  The recreaƟonal vehicles, recreaƟonal 
trailers and tents which accommodate each of the users shall not be allowed to stay for more 
than one hundred eighty (180) consecuƟve days within a one (1) year period.  This is not 
intended to provide any type of temporary or transit housing for any individual use and no 
manufactured or modular housing unit will be allowed.   

2. Canopy:  A roofed structure constructed of fabric or other material supported by the building or by support 
extending to the ground directly under the canopy placed so as to extend outward from the building 
providing a protecƟve shield for doors, windows, and other openings.  

3. Car Wash:  A building or porƟon thereof, containing faciliƟes for washing motor vehicles; using producƟon 
line methods with a chain conveyor, blower, steam cleaning device, or other mechanical devises, or providing 
space, water, equipment, or soap for the complete or parƟal hand-washing of such automobiles, whether 
by operator or by a customer.   

4. Carport:  A roofed structure providing space for the parking of motor vehicles and enclosed on not more 
than three (3) sides.  A carport aƩached to a principal building shall be considered a part of the principal 
building and subject to all yard requirements therein.  

5. Cemetery:  Land used or intended to be used for the burial of the dead and dedicated for cemetery purposes, 
including columbarium, crematoria, mausoleums and mortuaries when operated in conjuncƟon with and 
within the boundary of such cemetery.   

6. CerƟficate of Occupancy (CO):  A document issued by the proper authority allowing the occupancy or use of 
a building and cerƟfying that the structure or use has been constructed or will be used in compliance with 
all the applicable municipal codes and ordinances.   

7. Change of Use: The replacement of an exisƟng use by a new use. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

12 | P a g e  
 

8. Channel:  A natural or human-made open watercourse with definite bed and banks which periodically or 
conƟnuously contains moving water; or which forms a connecƟng link between two (2) bodies of water.   

9. City: The City of Glenwood, Iowa. 

10. City Council: The elected governing body for the City of Glenwood, Iowa. 

11. City Engineer:  The professional registered in the State of Iowa designated as City Engineer by the City Council 
or other hiring authority.   

12. Clinic:  A building or buildings used by physicians, denƟst, veterinarians, osteopaths, chiropractors, and allied 
professions or out-paƟent care of persons requiring such professional services.  

13. Clubs:  Uses providing meeƟng, recreaƟonal or social faciliƟes for a private, nonprofit or noncommercial 
associaƟon, primarily for use by members and guests.  

a. RecreaƟonal Club:  Provides indoor and/or outdoor athleƟc faciliƟes, with or without social 
or meeƟng faciliƟes.  Typical uses include country clubs, private or nonprofit community or 
recreaƟonal centers and private golf courses and driving ranges.  

b. Social Club:  Clubs that provide primarily social or meeƟng faciliƟes.  Typical uses include 
private social clubs and fraternal organizaƟons.   

14. Cocktail Lounge:  A use engaged in the preparaƟon and retail sale of alcoholic beverages for consumpƟon on 
the premises, including taverns, bars, and similar uses other than a restaurant as that term is defined in this 
secƟon.   

15. College and University FaciliƟes:  An educaƟonal insƟtuƟon of higher learning that offers a course of study 
designed to culminate in the issuance of a degree cerƟfied by a generally recognized accrediƟng 
organizaƟon.   

16. Commercial, Heavy:  An establishment or business that generally uses open sales yards, outside equipment 
storage or outside acƟviƟes that generate noise or other impacts considered incompaƟble with less-intense 
uses.  Typical businesses in this definiƟon are lumberyards, construcƟon specialty services, heavy equipment 
suppliers or building contractors.   

17. Commercial, Light:  An establishment or business that generally has retail or wholesale sales, office uses or 
services, which do not generate noise or other impacts considered incompaƟble with less intense use.  
Typical businesses in this definiƟon are retail stores, offices, catering services or restaurants.   

18. Commercial RecreaƟon:  Private businesses, or other organizaƟons which may or may not be commercial by 
structure or by nature, which are primarily engaged in the provision or sponsorship of sports, entertainment, 
or recreaƟon for parƟcipants or spectators.  Typical uses include theaters, private dance halls, billiard or 
bowling centers, game arcades, or private skaƟng faciliƟes. 

19. Common Area: An area held, designed, and designated for common or cooperaƟve use within a 
development. 

20. Common Development: A development proposed and planned as one unified project not separated by a 
public street or alley. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

13 | P a g e  
 

21. Common Open Space: Land within or related to a development that is not individually owned or dedicated 
for public use, designed and generally intended for the common use of the residents of the development. 

22. Common Sewer System:  A central sewer collecƟng system, if available, to each plaƩed lot and discharging 
into a treatment plant, the construcƟon and locaƟon of which is approved by the City and County or State 
Boards of Health.   

23. Common Water System:  A central water supply system, if available, to each plaƩed lot from one single 
source approved by the City and County or State Boards of Health.   

24. CommunicaƟons Tower:  A structure(s) for the transmission or recepƟon of radio, television, radar or 
microwaves, ordinarily exceeding the maximum height permiƩed in its zoning district.  Typical Uses include 
broadcasƟng towers and cellular communicaƟons towers.  

25. CompaƟbility: The degree to which two or more different land use types can exist together in close proximity, 
with no one use having significant negaƟve effects on any other use. 

26. Comprehensive Plan: A plan that was created with community input and provides guidance on how land 
should be uƟlized and developed.  It is designed with the intent for a jurisdicƟon to grow and prosper in the 
future, not only physically, but also in needs, values, and philosophies. 

27. CondiƟonal Use: A use which is allowed in a zoning district which may be subject to specific qualifying criteria 
and condiƟons and which requires a finding, by the Zoning Board of Adjustment, of consistency with certain 
standards set forth in this Ordinance; and to evaluate its consistency with the character of other permiƩed 
uses in or around the proposed site. 

28. Condominium: An ownership regime whereby the Ɵtle to each unit of occupancy is held in separate 
ownership, and the real estate on which the units are located is held in common ownership solely by the 
owners of the units with each owner having an undivided interest in the common real estate. Condominiums 
may include residenƟal, commercial, office, or industrial uses.  

29. ConservaƟon Development: A development design technique that concentrates buildings in specific areas 
on a site to allow remaining land to be used for recreaƟon, common open space, or the preservaƟon of 
historically or environmentally sensiƟve features. 

30. ConservaƟon (or Cluster) Subdivision: Wholly or in majority, a residenƟal subdivision that permits a 
reducƟon in lot area, setback, or other site development regulaƟons, provided 1) there is no increase in the 
overall density permiƩed for a convenƟonal subdivision in a given zoning district, and 2) the remaining land 
area is used for common space. 

31. Consignment and AucƟon Sales OperaƟons:  A business which, on an ongoing basis, stores and sells personal 
property as well as others to the public either indoors or outdoors.   

32. ConstrucƟon Sales/Service:  Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in the retail or wholesale 
sales, from the premises, of materials used in the construcƟon of buildings, or other structures other than 
retail sale of print, fixtures and hardware.  Typical uses include building material sales, or tool and equipment 
rental or sales.   

33. Consumer Service:  Establishments that provide services primarily to individuals and households, but 
excluding AutomoƟve Use Types.  Typical uses include automated banking machines, appliance repair shops, 
watch or jewelry repair shops, gunsmith shops, or musical instrument repair shops.  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

14 | P a g e  
 

34. ConƟguous:  Adjoining or lying next to.  

35. Convenience Store:  A retail store that is designed and stocked to sell primarily food, beverages, and other 
household supplies to customers who purchase only a relaƟvely few items.  It is designed to aƩract and 
depends on a large volume of stop-and-go traffic.   

36. County: Mills County, Iowa. 

37.  Courtyard: An open, unoccupied space, bounded on two or more sides by the walls of the building. 

38. ConvenƟonal Subdivision: A subdivision which literally meets all nominal standards of the Zoning and 
Subdivision Ordinances for lot dimensions, setbacks, street frontage, and other site development 
regulaƟons. 

39. CreaƟve Subdivision: A subdivision which, while complying with the Subdivision Ordinance, diverges from 
nominal compliance with site development regulaƟons in the Land Development Ordinance. CreaƟve 
subdivisions imply a higher level of pre-planning than convenƟonal subdivisions. They may be employed for 
the purpose of environmental protecƟon or the creaƟon of superior community design. Types of CreaƟve 
Subdivisions include ConservaƟon Subdivisions and TradiƟonal Neighborhood Districts. 

40. Cul-de-sac:  A street having one end connecƟng to another street, and the other end terminated by a 
vehicular turn around. 

41. Cultural Services:  A library, museum or similar registered nonprofit organizaƟonal use displaying, preserving 
and exhibiƟng objects of community and cultural interest in one or more of the arts and sciences. 

42. Curb line:  The line at the face of the curb nearest to the street or roadway.  In the absence of a curb, the 
curbline shall be established by the jurisdicƟon’s engineer. 

166.07 D 

1. Daycare, Licensed Center:  These are businesses that typically care for dozens of children.  
Centers are required to be licensed and follow requirements set by the State of Iowa.  Such 
requirements may include: 

a. Approved reports by State of Iowa fire marshal; 
b. Developmentally appropriate curriculum; 
c. Personnel/Employees with staff to child raƟos; 
d. Health and Safety policies; 
e. Food Services.   

2. Daycare, Child Development Home: Any person providing childcare in their home, registered 
with the State of Iowa, and serving more than the following number of children: 

a. Five or fewer children; 
b. Six or fewer children, if at least one is school-aged. 

Said daycare will also follow health and safety standards set by the State of Iowa, including 
meals and required staff to child raƟos. 

3. Daycare, Childcare:  People who provide childcare in their own homes are not required by Iowa 
Code 237A.3 to be registered if they provide care to:  

a. Five or fewer children; 
b. Six or fewer children, if at least one of the children is school-aged. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

15 | P a g e  
 

Requirements set by the State of Iowa must be met and followed.  

4. Deck:  An outdoor structure that is aƩached to a house or accessory building which is generally 
constructed of wood and used for recreaƟonal or relaxaƟon purposes.  A freestanding deck is not 
an accessory building unless it is a minimum of six (6) feet away from other buildings or structures.  
An aƩached deck shall be considered part of the principal building for setback measurement 
purposes.  A deck shall not include a roof that is aƩached to the principal building or use.  

5. DedicaƟon:  Required under some subdivision regulaƟons to transfer part of the developer’s 
private land for public use.   As a condiƟon for the approval of a development by a planning and 
zoning commission, the developer is typically required to build streets and uƟlity lines to 
specificaƟons and then to “dedicate” them including the land to the public.   

6. Deed RestricƟon (Covenant):  A private legal restricƟon on the use of the land, aƩached in the deed 
to the property.  Most commonly used in the establishment of a subdivision to restrict the use of 
all individual lots in the development to a certain type of use.  For example, single-family dwellings.   

7. Density: The amount of development per specific unit of a site. 

8. Design Standards:  Standards that set forth specific improvement requirements, including 
aestheƟcs.   

9. Detached: Fully separated from any other building or jointed to another building in such a manner 
as not to consƟtute an enclosed or covered connecƟon. 

10. DetenƟon FaciliƟes: A publicly operated or contracted use providing housing and care for 
individuals legally confined, designated to isolate those individuals from the community.   

11. Developer:  The Legal or beneficial owner(s) of a lot or of any land included in a proposed 
development including the holder of an opƟon or contract to purchase, or other persons having 
an enforceable proprietary interest in such land.  

12. Development:  The division of a parcel of land into two or more parcels; the construcƟon, 
reconstrucƟon, conversion, structural alteraƟon, relocaƟon, or enlargement of any structure; any 
mining, evacuaƟon, landfill, or land disturbance; and any use or extension of the use of land. 

13. District:  A secƟon or secƟons of the City within which certain uniform regulaƟons and requirements 
governing the use of buildings and premises or the height and areas of buildings and premises are uniform.   

14. Drainage:  The removal of surface of ground water from land by drains, grading, or other means.   

15. Drainage System:  The system through which water flows from the land. 

16. Drive-in, Drive-Through, Services: Uses which involve the sale of products or provision of services to 
occupants in vehicles. 

17. Driveway: A surfaced area, including one which is permanently paved, providing vehicular access between a 
street and an off-street parking or loading area. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

16 | P a g e  
 

18. Dump/Landfill:  A premises used for the disposal of “Clean” type of fill material or refuse, such as dirt, rocks, 
bricks, concrete, rubble, tree branches, and similar materials, but not including organic maƩer of any type, 
such as garbage or dead animals or porƟons thereof.   

19. Duplex:  A building that is divided horizontally or verƟcally into two separate dwelling units, each which has 
an independent entrance either directly from the outside or through a common vesƟbule.  Building is owned 
by one enƟty.  One or both dwelling(s) is rented or leased to a third party.  

20. Dwelling Unit: A space with one or more rooms, designed, occupied or intended for occupancy as a separate 
living quarter, with cooking, sleeping, and sanitary faciliƟes provided within the space for the exclusive use 
of a single family, as defined in this Zoning Ordinance, maintaining a household. 

166.08 E 
 

1. Earth Home:  An earth home is a structure that is built for habitaƟon below the finished or natural grade on 
two (2) or more sides and is constructed with passive solar energy generaƟon in mind.  An earth home is to 
be considered a single-family dwelling for the purposes of this Ordinance.  The definiƟon is not to be 
confused with the definiƟon of a basement or cellar.   

2. Easement: A privilege or right of use granted on, above, under, or across a parƟcular tract of land for a 
specific purpose by one owner to another owner, public or private agency, or uƟlity. 

3. EducaƟon Retreat Center:  A facility for educaƟonal acƟviƟes, training acƟviƟes, conferences, meeƟngs, 
seminars, contemplaƟve acƟviƟes and other similar funcƟons that strives to preserve the natural features 
and the open space character of its seƫng.  

a. Specific Standards for Retreat Center Ownership and Management—At least the owner or 
one full-Ɵme staff member must reside in a residence on the retreat facility premises.  The 
residence may include family quarters and up to eight guest room units.  The retreat facility 
premise may also include housing ameniƟes for addiƟonal staff members.  Property shall be 
situated upon a parcel or group of conƟguous parcels owned by the same enƟty or individual.   

4. Egress:  An exit.  

5. ElevaƟon:  Either a verƟcal distance above or below a fixed reference level; or a flat scale drawing of a 
building’s façade (side, front or rear) showing the exisƟng/proposed external appearance. 

6. Enclosed: A roofed or covered space fully surrounded by walls. 

7. ExisƟng Use:  The use of a lot or structure at the Ɵme of the effecƟve date of these regulaƟons.   

166.09 F 
1. Facia:  A parapet-type wall used as part of the façade of a flat-roofed building and projecƟng no more than 

six (6) feet from the immediately adjacent building face.  Such a wall shall enclose at least three (3) sides of 
the projecƟng flat roof and return to the parapet wall or the building.  

2. Factory-Built Home Park or Subdivision/Mobile Home Park:  A parcel (or conƟguous parcels) of land divided 
into two (2) or more factory-built home lots for rent or sale.   



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

17 | P a g e  
 

3. Family: One or more persons living together and sharing common living, sleeping, cooking, and eaƟng 
faciliƟes within individual housing unit,. The following persons shall be considered related for the purpose 
of this ordinance: 

(a) Persons related by blood, marriage, or adopƟon; 

(b) Persons residing with a family for the purpose of foster care or adopƟon; 

(c) Not more than eight persons under 19 years of age, residing in a foster house licensed or approved by 
the State of Iowa. 

(d) Not more than eight persons 19 years of age or older residing with a family for the purpose of receiving 
foster care licensed or approved by the State of Iowa. 

(e) Person(s) living with a family at the direcƟon of a court. 

4. Family Home:  A community-based residenƟal home which is licensed as a residenƟal care facility under 
Iowa Code Chapter 135C or as a child foster care facility under Iowa Code Chapter 237 to provide room and 
board, personal care, habilitaƟon services, and supervision in a family environment exclusively for not more 
than eight (8) persons with a developmental disability or brain injury and any necessary support personnel.  
However, family home does not mean an individual foster care family licensed with the State of Iowa.   

5. Feasibility Study:  An analysis of a specific project or program to determine if it can be successfully carried 
out.  

6. Federal: Pertaining to the Government of the United States of America. 

7. Fence, ResidenƟal:  A barrier erected in a residenƟal zoning district intended to provide security, mark a 
boundary, or as a means of landscaping.  Such fence shall be constructed of materials commonly used for 
landscaping such as masonry block, lumber, chain link, but shall not include corrugated sheet metal, barbed 
wire, used, or salvage material. 

8. Fence, Non-ResidenƟal:  A barrier erected in a district other than residenƟal intended to provide security, 
mark a boundary or a means of landscaping.  No such fence is constructed of used or salvaged material, nor 
shall any such fence use barbed wire closer than six (6) feet to the ground except a fence used purely for 
agricultural purposes.   

9. Financial Services:  Provision of financial and banking services to consumers or clients.  Walk-in and drive-in 
services to consumers are provided on site.  Typical uses include banks, savings and loan associaƟons, credit 
unions, savings banks and loan companies, an ATM (AutomaƟc Teller Machine) that is not accompanied on-
site by an office of its primary financial insƟtuƟon is considered within the Personal Services Use Type.  The 
Financial Services use type is divided into two categories: 

a. Financial Services A: Includes less than 4,000 square feet of floor area and has no more than 
two (2) drive-up lanes (including ATM lanes). 

b. Financial Services B:  Includes 4,001 square feet or more of floor area and/or has more than 
two (2) drive-up lanes. 

10. Flood or Flooding:  A general and temporary condiƟon of parƟal or complete inundaƟon of normally dry land 
areas from (1) The overflow of inland or Ɵdal waters; (2) The unusual and rapid accumulaƟon or runoff of 
surface waters from any source. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

18 | P a g e  
 

11. Flood Plain:  The channel and the relaƟvely flat area adjoining the channel of a natural stream or river that 
has been or may be covered by floodwater. 

12. Floodway:  The channel of a natural stream or river and porƟons of the flood plain adjoining the channel 
that are reasonably required to carry and discharge the floodwater or flood flow of any natural stream or 
river. 

13. Floor Area: See Gross Floor Area 

14. Floor Area RaƟo: The quoƟent of gross floor area of all buildings on a site divided by gross site area of the 
site. 

15. Food Sales:  Establishments  or places of business primarily engaged in the retail sale of food or household 
products for home consumpƟon.  Food Sales establishments may include the sale of non-food items.  Typical 
uses include groceries, delicatessens, meat markets, retail bakeries and candy shops. 

a. Convenience Food Sales:  Establishments occupying faciliƟes of less than 10,000 square feet; 
and characterized by sales of specialty foods or a limited variety of general items and the 
sales of fuel for motor vehicles.  

b. Limited Food Sales:  Establishments occupying faciliƟes of less than 10,000 square feet; and 
characterized by sales of specialty foods or a limited variety of general items, excluding the 
accessory sale of fuel for motor vehicles.  Typical uses include delicatessens, meat markets, 
retail bakeries, candy shops and small grocery stores.  

c. General Food Sales:  Establishments selling a wide variety of food commodiƟes and related 
items, using faciliƟes larger than 10,000 but less than 40,000 square feet.  Typical uses 
include grocery stores and locker plants. 

d. Supermarket:  Establishments selling a wide variety of food commodiƟes, related items and 
oŌen providing a variety of non-food goods and services, using faciliƟes larger than 40,000 
square feet.  Typical uses include large grocery stores.   

16. Food Trucks:  Food establishment inside a truck or trailer that is self-contained, with the excepƟon of a grill 
or smoker (located outside the unit and used for cooking), and readily movable which is not located at a 
permanent locaƟon.   

17. Frontage: The length of a property line of any premises abuƫng and parallel to a public street, private way, 
or court from which access is permiƩed. 

18. Funeral Servies:  Establishments engaged in undertaking services such as preparing the human dead body 
for burial, arranging and managing funerals.  Typical uses include funeral homes or mortuaries.   

166.10 G 
1. Garage: An accessory building or porƟon of a main building used primarily for storage of motor vehicles. 

2. Gas StaƟon:  Any building, structure or land used for the dispersing, sale or offering for sale any vehicular 
fuels, oils, or accessories and in connecƟon with which is performed general vehicular servicing as 
disƟnguished from automoƟve repairs.   

3. Governing Body:  The City Council of the City of Glenwood, Iowa.  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

19 | P a g e  
 

4. Grade: The horizontal elevaƟon of the finished surface of ground, paving, or sidewalk adjacent to any 
building line. 

(a) For buildings having walls facing one street only, the grade shall be the elevaƟon of the ground at the 
center of the wall facing the street. 

(b) For buildings having walls facing more than one street, the grade shall be the average elevaƟon of the 
grades of all walls facing each street. 

(c) For buildings having no walls facing a street, the grade shall be the average level of the finished surface 
of the ground adjacent to the exterior walls of the building. 

5. Grade Finished:  The final elevaƟon of the ground surface aŌer development.   

6. Grade, Natural:  The elevaƟon of the ground surface in its natural state before human-made alteraƟons. 

7. Green Space:  Land shown on a development plan, master plan or official map for preservaƟon, recreaƟon, 
landscaping or a park. 

8. Gross Floor Area: The total enclosed area of all floors of a building, measured to the inside surfaces of the 
exterior walls. This definiƟon excludes the areas of basements, elevator shaŌs, airspaces above atriums. and 
enclosed off-street parking and loading areas serving a principal use. The floor area of buildings devoted to 
bulk storage of materials including, but not limited to, grain elevators and petroleum storage tanks, shall be 
determined on the basis of height in feet, with each ten feet of height being equivalent to one floor. 

9. Group Care Facility:  A facility, required to be licensed by the State, which provides training, care, supervision, 
treatment and and/or rehabilitaƟon to the aged, disabled, those convicted of crimes, or those suffering the 
effects of drugs or alcohol; this does not include daycares centers, family day care homes, Family Homes as 
defined by Chapters 135C or 237 of the Code of Iowa, foster homes, schools, hospitals, jails or prisons.   

10. Group Home:  A facility licensed by the State of Iowa in which at least three, but no more than eight persons, 
not including resident managers or house parents, who are unrelated by blood, marriage or adopƟon reside 
while receiving therapy, training, living assistance, or counseling for the purpose of adaptaƟon to living with 
or rehabilitaƟon from a physical or mental disability as defined by the relevant provisions of the Code of 
Iowa or by the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

20 | P a g e  
 

11. Guidance Facility:  A use providing counseling, guidance, recuperaƟve, or similar services to persons 
requiring rehabilitaƟon assistance as a result of mental illness, alcoholism, detenƟon, drug addicƟon or 
similar condiƟon on a dayƟme care basis.   

166.11 H 
 

1. Habitable Floor:  Any floor used for living, which includes working, sleeping, eaƟng, cooking or recreaƟon or 
a combinaƟon thereof.  A floor used only for storage purposes is not a “habitable floor.” 

2. Health/Sports Club:  A non-medical service establishment intended to maintain or improve the physical 
condiƟon of persons.  Contains exercise faciliƟes, game equipment, steam baths, saunas, tanning equipment 
and/or similar faciliƟes.  

3. Health Care: A facility providing medical, psychiatric, or surgical service for sick or injured persons exclusively 
on an outpaƟent basis including emergency treatment, diagnosƟc services, training, administraƟon and 
services to outpaƟents, employees or visitors.  

4. Historic PreservaƟon:  The protecƟon, rehabilitaƟon, and restoraƟon of districts, sites, building, structures 
and arƟfacts significant in American History, architecture, archaeology, or culture.  

5. Historic Structure:  Any structure that is: (a) Listed individually in the NaƟonal Register of Historic Places (a 
lisƟng maintained by the Department of Interior)  or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior 
as meeƟng the requirements for individual lisƟng on the NaƟonal Register; (b) CerƟfied or preliminarily 
determined by the Secretary of the Interior as contribuƟng to the historical significance of a registered 
historic district or a district primarily determined by the Secretary to qualify as a registered historic district; 
(c) Individually listed on a state inventory of historic places in states with historic preservaƟon programs 
which have been approved by the Secretary of Interior; (d) Individually listed on a local inventory of historic 
places in communiƟes with historic preservaƟon programs that have been cerƟfied either : (i) By an 
approved state program as determined by the Secretary of the Interior or (ii) Directly by the Secretary of the 
Interior in sates without approved programs.  

6. Height: The verƟcal distance from the established grade to the highest point of the coping of a flat roof, the 
deck line of a mansard roof, or to the average height between eaves and the ridge for gable, hip, shed, or 
gambrel roofs. For other cases, height shall be measured as the verƟcal distance from the established grade 
to the highest point of a structure as herein defined. Where a building or structure is located on a slope, 
height shall be measured from the average grade level adjacent to the building or structure. 

7. Home Based Business/ Home OccupaƟon: An accessory occupaƟonal use conducted enƟrely within a 
dwelling unit by its inhabitants, which is clearly incidental to the residenƟal use of the dwelling unit or 
residenƟal structure and does not change the residenƟal character of its site. 

8. Hospital:  A facility providing medical, psychiatric or surgical service for sick or injured persons primarily on 
an inpaƟent basis, including emergency treatment, diagnosƟc services training, administraƟon and service 
to paƟents, employees or visitors thereof.  

9. Hotel:  A building in which lodging is provided and offered to the public for compensaƟon, and which is open 
to transient guests, in contradisƟncƟon to a boarding house or a rooming house.   

10. Housing Unit: A building or porƟon of a building arranged for and intended for occupancy as an independent 
living facility for one family, including permanent provisions for cooking. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

21 | P a g e  
 

166.12 I 
1. Impervious coverage: The total horizontal area of all buildings, roofed or covered spaces, paved surface 

areas, walkways and driveways, and any other site improvements that decrease the ability of the surface of 
the site to absorb water, expressed as a percent of site area. The surface water area of pools is excluded 
from this definiƟon. 

2. Ingress:  Access or entry. 

3. InsƟtuƟon:  A non-profit or quasi-public use such as church, library, public or private school, hospital, or 
municipally owned or operated building, structure or land used for public purposes.   

166.13 J 
1. Junk or Salvage:  Scrap or used copper, brass, rope, rags, baƩeries, paper trash, Ɵres, and rubber debris, 

waste, appliances, furniture, equipment, building demoliƟons materials, structural steel materials, or similar 
materials.  This definiƟon shall also include junked, dismantled or wrecked used motor vehicles, or parts of 
motor vehicles, and iron, steel or other scrap ferrous or non-ferrous material.   

2. Junk or Salvage Yard:  Any area where junk or salvage is bought, sold exchanged, baled or packed, 
disassembled, kept, stored, or handled.  This definiƟon shall also include auto or other vehicle or machinery 
wrecking or the processing of used, discarded or salvaged materials as part of a manufacturing operaƟon 
located on the same property, and contractor’s storage yards.  The presence on any lot, parcel, or tract of 
land of two (2) or more unlicensed, wrecked, scrapped, ruined, dismantled or inoperaƟve vehicles, including 
implements of husbandry, shall consƟtute prima facie evidence of a junk or salvage yard.  This shall not 
include motor vehicles licensed for the current year as provided by law, or motor vehicles legally placed in 
storage, if kept completely enclosed within  

166.14 K 

1. Kennel Dog (Commercial):  Any parcel of land on which three (3) or more dogs, six (6) months old or 
older are kept for the purposes of breeding, grooming, boarding or other activities associated with 
the care of dogs for commercial purposes. 

 
166.15 L 

1. Laundromat:  An establishment providing washing, drying and/or dry cleaning machines on the premises for 
rental use to the general public for family laundering and/or dry cleaning purposes.   

2. Landscaped Area: The area within the boundaries of a given lot, site or common development consisƟng 
primarily of plant material, including but not limited to grass, trees, shrubs, vines, ground cover, and other 
organic plant materials; or grass paver masonry units installed such that the appearance of the area is 
primarily landscaped. 

(a) Perimeter Landscaped Area: Any required landscaped area that adjoins the exterior boundary of a lot, 
site, or common development. 

(b) Interior Landscaped Area: Any landscaped area within a site exclusive of required perimeter 
landscaping. 

3. Lane: An approved private right-of-way which provides access to residenƟal properƟes and meets at least 
three of the following condiƟons: 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

22 | P a g e  
 

(a) Serves twelve or fewer housing units or plaƩed lots, 

(b) Does not funcƟon as a local street because of its alignment, design, or locaƟon. 

(c) Is completely internal to a development. 

(d) Does not exceed 600 feet in length. 

4. Loading Area: An off-street area used for the loading or unloading of goods from a vehicle in connecƟon with 
the use of the site on which such area is located. 

5. Loading Space: An off-street space or berth used for the loading or unloading of vehicles. 

6. Lot: A parcel of property with a separate and disƟnct number or other idenƟfying designaƟon which has 
been created, assigned and recorded in the Office of the Mills County Recorder. Each individual lot is subject 
to the provisions of each parƟcular base Zoning District. 

(a) Corner Lot: A lot located at the juncƟon of at least two streets, private ways or courts or at least two 
segments of a curved street, private way or court, at which the angle of intersecƟon is no greater than 
135 degrees. 

(b) Double Frontage Lot: A lot, other than a corner lot, having frontage on two streets, private ways or 
courts. Primary access shall be restricted on a double frontage lot to the minor of the two streets or to 
the front line as determined at Ɵme of plaƫng or as defined by this ordinance. (Also known as a Through 
Lot) 

(c) Flag Lot: A lot not fronƟng on or abuƫng a public road and where access to the public road is by a 
narrow, private or public right-of-way. 

(d) Interior Lot: A lot other than a corner lot. 

(e) Common Development Lot: When two or more conƟguous lots are developed as part of a single 
development, these lots may be considered a single lot for purposes of this ordinance. 

7. Lot Area: The total horizontal area within the lot lines of a lot. 

8. Lot Depth: The mean horizontal distance measured between the front and rear lot lines. 

9. Lot Frontage: The length of the front line measured at the street right-of-way line. 

10. Lot Line: A property boundary line(s) of record that divides one lot from another lot or a lot from the public 
or private street right-of-way or easement. Once established, lot lines may not be redefined due to a change 
of address which would result in a new definiƟon of the following defined lot lines. 

(a) Front Lot Line: The lot line separaƟng a lot and a public or private street right-of-way or easement. 

1) For an interior lot, the lot line separaƟng the lot from the right-of-way or easement. 

2) For a corner lot, the shorter lot line abuƫng a public or private street or easement. In instances of 
equal line dimension, the front lot line shall be determined by the Building Official, or as may be 
noted on the final plat. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

23 | P a g e  
 

3) For a double frontage lot, the lot lines separaƟng the lot from the right-of-way or easement of the 
more minor street. In cases where each street has the same classificaƟon, the front lot line shall be 
determined by the Building Official at the Ɵme of applicaƟon for the original building permit for the 
lot, or as may be noted on the final plat. 

(b) Rear Lot Line: The lot line which is opposite and most distant from the front line or in the case of 
triangular or otherwise irregularly shaped lots, a line ten (10) feet in length enƟrely within the lot, 
parallel to and at a maximum distance from the front lot line. 

(c) Side Lot Line: Any lot line that is neither a front nor rear lot line. A side lot line separaƟng a lot from a 
street, private way or court is a street side lot line. A side lot line separaƟng a lot from another lot or 
lots is an interior side lot line. 

 

11. Lot, Minimum Area of: The smallest lot area established by Zoning Ordinance on which a use or structure 
may be located in a parƟcular district. 

12. Lot of Record: A lot which is a part of a subdivision, the plat of which has been recorded in the office of the 
County Recorder of the County in which it is located. 

13. Lot Width: The horizontal distance measured between the side lot lines of a lot, at right angles to its depth 
along a straight line parallel to the front lot line at the minimum required setback line. 

14. Lumber Yard: A premises on which primarily new lumber and related building materials are sold. 

166.16 M 

1. Main: The principal artery of a system of conƟnuous piping which conveys fluids and to which branches may 
be connected. 

2. Main Body: The area included within the surrounding exterior walls of the dwelling. Used for living, sleeping, 
eaƟng, cooking, recreaƟon or a combinaƟon thereof. 

3. Maintenance Facility: A public facility supporƟng maintenance, repairs vehicular or equipment servicing, 
material storage, and similar acƟviƟes including street or sewer yards, equipment service centers, and similar 
uses having characterisƟcs of commercial services or contracƟng or industrial acƟviƟes. 

4. Manufactured Home Dwelling: A factory built single-family dwelling, structure which is to be used as a place 
for human habitaƟon, which is manufactured or constructed under the authority of 42 U.S. 3. Sec. 5403, 
Federal Manufactured Home ConstrucƟon and Safety Standards: 

(a) The home shall have at least 800 square feet of floor area; 

(b) The home shall have an exterior width of at least 20 feet; 

(c) The roof shall be pitched with a minimum verƟcal rise of 3 inches for each 12 inches of horizontal run. 

(d) The exterior material is of a color, material, and scale comparable with those exisƟng in the residenƟal 
site on which the manufactured home dwelling is being permanently installed; 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

24 | P a g e  
 

(e) The home shall have a nonreflecƟve roof material which is or simulates asphalt or wood shingles, Ɵle, 
or rock; 

(f) Permanent uƟlity connecƟons shall be installed in accordance with local regulaƟons; 

(g) The home shall have all wheels, axles, transporƟng lights, and towing apparatus removed; and 

(h) The home shall be installed upon a permanent foundaƟon that is constructed and built in accordance 
with the regulaƟons of the City of Glenwood. 

5. Manufacturing: Establishments engaged in the mechanical or chemical transformaƟon of materials or 
substances into new products including the assembling of component parts, the manufacturing of products, 
and the blending of materials such as lubricaƟng oils, plasƟcs, resins or liquors. 

6. Massage Establishment: Any place of business wherein (as the pracƟce of a profession, scienƟfically applied 
to the paƟent by therapist’s hands) a massage is administered or used. 

7. Medical Office: Use of a site for faciliƟes which provide diagnoses and outpaƟent care on a rouƟne basis, but 
which does not provide prolonged, in-house medical or surgical care. Medical offices are operated by 
doctors, denƟsts or similar medical pracƟƟoners licensed for pracƟce in the State of Iowa. The medical offices 
use type is decided into two (2) categories: 

(a) Medical Offices A includes less than 3,000 square feet of floor area. 
(b) Medical Offices B includes 3,000 square feet or more of office area. 

 
8. Mixed Use Building: A building or structure that incorporates two or more use types within a single building 

or structure, provided that each use type is permiƩed within the individual Base Zoning District in which the 
building or structure is to be located. 

9. Mixed Use Development: A single development which incorporates complementary land use types into a 
single development. 

10. Mobile Homes: A building type designed to be transportable in one or more secƟons, constructed on a 
permanent chassis or undercarriage, and designed to be used as a dwelling unit or other use with or without 
a permanent foundaƟon when connected to the required uƟliƟes, but not bearing a seal aƩesƟng to the 
approval and issuance of the Iowa Department of Health or conformance to the manufactured home 
procedural and enforcement regulaƟons, as adopted by the US Department of Housing and Urban 
Development; or not otherwise saƟsfying the definiƟon of Manufactured Home Dwellings. 

11. Mobile Home Park: A unified development under single ownership, developed, subdivided, planned, and 
improved for the placement of mobile home units for non-transient use. Mobile Home Parks include 
common areas and faciliƟes for management, recreaƟon, laundry, uƟlity services, storage, storm shelter, and 
other services; but do not include mobile home sales lots on which unoccupied mobile homes are parked 
for the purposes of display, inspecƟon, sale, or storage. 

12. Mobile Home Subdivision: A development subdivided, planned, and improved for the placement of mobile 
home units on lots for uses by the individual owners of such lots. Mobile Home Subdivisions may include 
common area and faciliƟes for management, recreaƟon, laundry, uƟlity services, storage, storm shelter, and 
other services; but do not include mobile home sales lots on which unoccupied mobile homes are parked 
for the purpose of display, inspecƟon, sale, or storage. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

25 | P a g e  
 

13. Motor Court or Motel: A building or groups of buildings used primarily for the temporary residence of 
motorists or travelers with parking faciliƟes conveniently located to each unit, and may include a swimming 
pool, restaurant, meeƟng rooms, and other related accessory faciliƟes.  

166.17  N 

1. Nonconforming Development: Any use, acƟvity, building, or land lawfully occupied by use as of the adopƟon 
of said ordinance, revision or amendment with the regulaƟons of the district in which it is situated. 
Improvements or alteraƟons constructed aŌer the adopƟon of a zoning ordinance or amendment thereto 
which do not meet required parking and loading regulaƟons, height regulaƟons, area regulaƟons, sign 
regulaƟons, area regulaƟons and residenƟal flood area regulaƟons for the district in which they are located 
are not nonconforming uses as defined in the aforesaid. The date on which a lot, sign, structure, use of land 
and structure characterisƟcs of use became or becomes nonconforming is referred to in this Ordinance as 
the “date of non-conformity.” No acƟons can be taken which would increase the nonconforming 
characterisƟcs of land use, sign, acƟvity or structure. 

2. Nonconforming Lot: A lot which was lawful prior to the adopƟon, revision, or amendment of this zoning 
ordinance but that fails by reason of such adopƟon, revision, or amendment to conform to the present 
requirements of the zoning ordinance. No acƟon can be taken which would increase the nonconforming 
characterisƟcs of the lot. 

3. Nonconforming Sign: A sign that was legally erected prior to the adopƟon, revision, or amendment of this 
zoning ordinance but that fails by reason of such adopƟon, revision, or amendment to conform. to the 
present requirements of the zoning ordinance. 

4. Nonconforming Structure: A structure which was lawful prior to the adopƟon, revision, or amendment of 
this zoning ordinance but that fails by reason of such adopƟon, revision, or amendment to conform to the 
present requirements of the zoning ordinance. No acƟon can be taken which would increase the 
nonconforming characterisƟcs of the structure. 

5. Nonconforming Use: A land use which was lawful prior to the adopƟon, revision, or amendment of this 
zoning ordinance but that fails by reason of such adopƟon, revision, or amendment to conform to the 
present requirements of the zoning ordinance. No acƟon can be taken which would increase the 
nonconforming characterisƟcs of the land use. 

6. Nuisance: An unreasonable and conƟnuous invasion of the use and enjoyment of a property right which a 
reasonable person would find annoying, unpleasant, obnoxious, or offensive. Can be classified as public, 
private or mixed.   

a. Public:  Affects community, neighborhood, or a large number of people. 

b. Private: Affects one or more people’s enjoyment of their property. 

c. Mixed: ConsƟtutes both private and public individuals.   

Examples include, but are not limited to dangerous buildings, junk vehicles that are disabled, tall 
grass/weeds, snow not shoveled off public sidewalks, graffiƟ, dead trees on private property, and vacant 
buildings.



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

26 | P a g e  
 

166.18 O 

1. Off-Site: Located outside the boundaries of the parcel that is the subject of an applicaƟon. 

2. Open Space: Area included on any site or lot that is open and unobstructed to the sky, except for allowed 
projecƟons of cornices, overhangs, porches, balconies, or plant materials. 

3. Outdoor Storage: The storage of materials, parts or products that are related to the primary use of a site for 
a period exceeding three (3) days. 

4. Overhang: The part of a roof or wall which extends beyond the façade of a lower wall. 

5. Overlay District: A district established by this Ordinance to prescribe special regulaƟons to be applied to a 
site only in combinaƟon with a base district. 

6. Owner: An individual, firm, associaƟon, syndicate, partnership, or corporaƟon. or legal enƟty holding Ɵtle to 
the property being subdivided, or such representaƟve or agent as is fully empowered to act on its behalf. 

166.19 P 

1. Parcel: A parcel (or plot) of land is an area of land with a parƟcular ownership, land use, or other 
characterisƟc.  A parcel is frequently used as the basis for land registraƟon system(s). 

2. Park and RecreaƟon: Publicly owned and operated parks, playgrounds, recreaƟon faciliƟes including publicly 
owned community centers and open spaces. 

3. Parking Facility: An area on a lot and/or within a building, including one or more parking spaces, along with 
provision for access circulaƟon, maneuvering, and landscaping, meeƟng the requirements of this Zoning 
Ordinance. Parking faciliƟes include parking lots, private garages, and parking structures, Vehicle storage is 
disƟnct from parking. 

4. Parking Lot: Open, off-street areas for the parking of vehicles, including areas below or above the surface of 
streets.   

5. Parking Spaces/Stalls: An area on a lot and/or within a building, intended for the use of temporary parking 
of a personal vehicle. Each parking space must have a means of access to a public street. Tandem parking 
stalls in single-family detached, single-family aƩached, and townhome residenƟal uses shall be considered 
to have a means of access to a public street.  A surfaced area, enclosed in the principal building, an accessory 
building, or a unenclosed area of not less that one hundred eighty (180) square feet exclusive of driveways, 
permanently reserved for temporary storage of one (1) automobile and connected with a street or alley by 
a surfaced driveway which affords saƟsfactory ingress and egress for automobiles. 

6. PaƟo: A structure or surface built at ground level from bricks, concrete, or Ɵle. 

7. Paved: Permanently surfaced with poured concrete, concrete pavers, brick pavers, or asphalt. 

8. Permanent Swimming Pools: Swimming pools above ground or in ground which remain erected substanƟally 
year-round or those constructed with durable materials such as wood, metal, and/ or hard plasƟc (excludes 
toddler wading pools). 

9. PermiƩed Use: A land use type allowed as a maƩer of right in a zoning district, subject only to special 
requirements of this Zoning Ordinance. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

27 | P a g e  
 

10. Personal Services: Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in the provision of services of a 
personal nature. Typical uses include beauty and barber shops; seamstress, tailor or shoe repair shops; 
photography studios; television or electronics repair; or dry-cleaning staƟons serving individuals and 
households. Personal services include establishments providing for the administraƟon of massage or 
massage therapy carried out by persons licensed by the State of Iowa under the provisions of chapters 
148,148A, 148B, 150, 150A, 151, 152, 157, or 158  of the Code of Iowa when performing massage services 
as a part of the profession or trade for which licensed or persons performing massage services under the 
direcƟons of a person so licensed; or persons performing massage services or therapy pursuant to the 
wriƩen direcƟons of a licensed physician. 

11. Place: An open unoccupied space, or a public or private thoroughfare other than a street or alley, 
permanently reserved as the principal means of access to abuƫng property. 

12. Planning Commission: The Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Glenwood, as authorized pursuant 
to Chapter 414 of the Iowa Code. The Planning and Zoning Commission is also to be known as the Planning 
and Zoning Board, and such Ɵtles are used interchangeably in the City Code of Ordinances. 

13. Planned Unit Development: A development of land which is under unified control and is planned and 
developed as a whole in a single development operaƟon or programmed series of development stages. The 
development may include streets, circulaƟon ways, uƟliƟes, buildings, open spaces, and other site features 
and improvements. 

14. Porch: An extension of the exterior of a building, either enclosed or unenclosed, and not meeƟng the 
definiƟon of a deck. 

a. Enclosed: A roofed structure projecƟng from an exterior wall of a building and having walls 
or materials which materially impede ingress from outside, with the excepƟon of through a 
doorway. 

b. Unenclosed: A roofed or unroofed open structure projecƟng from an exterior wall of a 
building and having no enclosed features more than thirty inches above its floor other than 
wire screening and a roof with supporƟng structure. 

15. Postal FaciliƟes: Including post offices, bulk mail processing or sorƟng centers operated by the United States 
Postal Service.  

16. Premises: A lot, parcel, tract or plot of land, conƟguous and under common ownership or control, together 
with the buildings and structure thereon. 

17. Prepared Surface: A surface of gravel, pervious paving surfaces, or other paved surfaces as defined by this 
Land Development Ordinance. 

18. Primary EducaƟon: A public, private or parochial school offering instrucƟon at the elementary school level 
in the branches of learning study required to be taught in schools within the State of Iowa. 

19. Principal use: The main use of land or structures as disƟnguished from an accessory use. Also referenced as 
“primary use” and both terms are interchangeable within this document. 

20. Private Garage: A building for the storage of motor vehicles where no repair service faciliƟes are maintained 
and where no motor vehicles are kept for rental or sale. 

21. Property Line: See "Lot Line." 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

28 | P a g e  
 

22. Public Assembly: FaciliƟes owned and operated by a public agency or a charitable non-profit organizaƟon 
accommodaƟng major public assembly for recreaƟon, sports, amusement, or entertainment purposes. 

166.20 Q 

166.21 R 

1. Ramp, Accessibility: An inclined plane structure for accessing a residenƟal or commercial locaƟon. 

2. RecreaƟonal Vehicle: A vehicle towed or self-propelled on its own chassis or aƩached to the chassis of 
another vehicle and designed or used for temporary dwelling, recreaƟonal, or sporƟng purposes. 
RecreaƟonal vehicles include, but are not limited to, travel trailers; campers; motor coach homes; converted 
buses, trucks, boats, and boat trailers RecreaƟonal vehicles will not have permanent connecƟons to uƟlity 
services. 

3. RecreaƟonal Facility: A public or private, commercial or non-commercial building, structure, place, venue, 
field or defined area, indoor or outdoor, used for a specific purpose or funcƟon usually related to a 
compeƟƟve or sporƟng acƟvity, exercise, relaƟon, or athleƟc sport or recreaƟon-based entertainment. 

4. RegulaƟon: A specific requirement set forth by this Zoning Ordinance which must be followed. 

5. Religious Assembly: A use located in a permanent building and providing regular organized religious worship 
and religious educaƟon incidental thereto (excluding private primary or private secondary educaƟonal 
faciliƟes, day care faciliƟes, and incidental parking faciliƟes). A property tax exempƟon pursuant to Property 
Tax Code of the State of Iowa shall consƟtute prima facie evidence of religious assembly use. 

6. Remote Parking: A supply of off-street parking at a locaƟon not on the site of a given development. 

7. Renewable Energy: Energy from a source that is not depleted when used, such as geothermal, water, wind 
and solar.   

8. Restaurant:  A use within an establishment engaged in the preparaƟon of retail sale of food and beverages;  
including the sale of alcoholic beverages when conducted as a secondary feature of the use.  

a. Restaurant (Drive-In or Fast Food): An establishment that principally supplies food and 
beverages in disposable containers and is characterized by high automobile accessibility and 
on-site accommodaƟon, self-service and short stays by customers.  

b. Restaurant (General):  An establishment characterized by table service to customers and/or 
accommodaƟons to walk-in clientele, as opposed to Drive-In or Fast Food Restaurants.  
Typical uses include cafes, coffee shops and dinners.   

9. Retail Services:  Sale or rental with incidental service of commonly used goods and merchandise for personal 
or household use but excludes those classified more specifically by these use type classificaƟons.  Typical 
uses include department stores, apparel stores, furniture stores or establishments providing the following 
products or services.  

a. General Retail Services include household cleaning and maintenance products; drugs, cards, 
staƟonary, noƟons, books, tobacco products, cosmeƟcs and specialty items; flowers, plants, 
hobby materials, toys and handcraŌed items; apparel jewelry, fabrics and like items; 
cameras, photograph services, household electronic equipment, records, sporƟng 
equipment, kitchen utensils, home furnishing and appliances, art supplies and framing, arts 
and anƟques, paint and wallpaper, hardware, carpeƟng and floor covering; interior 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

29 | P a g e  
 

decoraƟng services; office supplies; mail order or catalog sales; bicycles; and automoƟve 
parts and accessories (excluding service and installaƟon). 

b. Limited Retail Services: Establishments providing retail services, occupying faciliƟes of 3,000 
square feet or less.  Typical establishments provide for specialty retailing or retailing oriented 
to the local community. 

10. Right-of-Way: The land area, which is secured or reserved by the contracƟon authority, that is to be used for 
road, rail, or other transportaƟon purposes.  

166.22 S 

1. Safety Services: FaciliƟes for conduct of public safety and emergency services including police and fire 
protecƟon services and emergency medical and ambulance services. 

2. Screening: The method by which a view of one site from another adjacent site is shielded, concealed, or 
hidden. Screening techniques include fences, walls, hedges, berms, or other features as may be permiƩed 
by the landscape provisions of this ordinance. 

3. Secondary EducaƟon: A public, private, or parochial school offering instrucƟon at the junior high or high 
school level in the branches of learning and study required to be taught in the schools of the State of Iowa. 

4. Setback: The distance, as required by applicable district to which a parcel is located, which establishes the 
horizontal component(s) of the building envelope. The minimum distance between the lot line and the 
foundaƟon of building or any projecƟon thereof, excluding the projecƟon of the usual steps, overhanging 
balconies or other ordinary projecƟons. 

5. Shipping Container: Large boxes designed for shipping or storing materials, and can include intermodal 
freight containers, site boxes, pods, and truck trailers.  

6. Short-term Rental: The adverƟsing, offering or otherwise making available use of a dwelling unit for 
overnight lodging for a period of thirty (30) consecuƟve days or less in exchange for money, goods, labor or 
service. Short-Term Rental does not include any hotel or motel facility or Bed and Breakfast Establishment. 

7. Shouse: A Shouse (combining the terms ‘shop’ and ‘house’) is a personal workshop and/or storage space 
connected to a house or living quarters. The house/living quarters can be primary residence or part-Ɵme 
residence (i.e. used for weekends or serve as vacaƟon property) and is oŌen located on land uƟlized for 
hunƟng, fishing, or other recreaƟonal purposes. 

8. Sidewalk: A paved path provided for pedestrian use, usually located at the side of and detached from a road, 
but within the right-of-way.   

9. Sign: A symbolic, visual device fixed upon a building, vehicle, structure, or parcel of land, which is intended 
to convey informaƟon about a product, business, acƟvity, place, person, insƟtuƟon, candidate, or poliƟcal 
idea. 

10. Site: The parcel of land to be developed or built upon. A site may encompass a single lot; or a group of lots 
developed as a common development under the special and overlay districts’ provisions of this ordinance. 

11. Site Plan: A plan, prepared to scale, showing accurately and with complete dimensioning, the boundaries of 
a site and the locaƟon of all buildings, structures, uses, and principal site development features proposed 
for a specific parcel of land; and any other informaƟon that may be reasonably requested by the City in order 
that an informed decision can be made on the associated request. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

30 | P a g e  
 

12. Site Plan Amendment: A change in the site plan of any “planned” or site plan specific zoning district aŌer the 
City AdministraƟon and/or Council has approved the Site Plan. 

13. Stable, Private: An accessory building, incidental to an exisƟng residenƟal, principal use, that shelters horses 
for the exclusive use of the occupants of the premises.  

14. Stable, Public: An accessory building in which horses are kept for commercial use including boarding, hire, 
and sale. 

15. Start of ConstrucƟon: Includes substanƟal improvements, and means the date the development permit was 
issued, provided the actual start of construcƟon, repair, reconstrucƟon, rehabilitaƟon, addiƟon, placement, 
or other improvement, occurs within one hundred-eighty (180) days of the permit date The actual start 
means either the first placement or permanent construcƟon of a structure on a site, such as pouring a slab 
or fooƟngs, the installaƟon of fill, the construcƟon of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavaƟon; 
or the placement of a factory-built home on a foundaƟon. Permanent construcƟon does not include land 
preparaƟon, such as clearing grading or filling;  nor does it include the installaƟon of streets and/or 
walkways; nor does it include excavaƟon for a basement, fooƟngs, piers, or foundaƟon or the erecƟon of 
temporary forms; nor does it include the installaƟon on the property of accessory buildings such as garages 
or sheds not occupied as dwelling units or not part of the main structure. For a substanƟal improvement, 
the actual start of construcƟon means the first alteraƟon of any wall, ceiling, floor or other structural parts 
of the building whether or not that alteraƟon affects the external dimensions of the building. 

16. State: The State of Iowa. 

17. Storage, including Mini-Storage: An area or building where property is stored for a fee. 

18. Story: The porƟon of a building included between the surface of any floor and the surface of the next floor 
above it; if there is no floor above it, the space between such floor and the next ceiling above it. A half story 
is a story under a sloped roof, the wall heights of which on at least two opposite, exterior walls are less than 
four feet. 

a. Story, First: The lowest story in a building, excluding the basement, which qualifies as a story, 
as defined herein, except that a floor level in a building having only one (1) floor level shall 
be classified as a first story, provided such floor level is not more than four (4) feet below 
grade for more than fiŌy (50) percent of the total perimeter, or not more than eight (8) feet 
below grade at any point. 

b. Story, Half: A space under a sloping roof which has the line of intersecƟon of roof decking 
and exterior wall face not more than four (4) feet above the top floor level. 

19. Storm Sewer: A conduit that conducts storm drainage from a subdivision of development, ulƟmately to a 
drainage way or stream.  

20. Street or Road: A right of way, dedicated to public use, which affords a primary means of access to the 
abuƫng property. This definiƟon is intended to be inclusive of the term as defined in Iowa State Statutes. 

21. Steet, Arterial: Street or highways intended to provide for through traffic movement between areas of the 
city or across the city. Major arterials usually imply relaƟvely high speeds and traffic volumes, and are oŌen 
subject to control of access to individual properƟes. Minor arterials are generally intended to provide trips 
of moderate lengths and imply lower operaƟng speeds and more frequent points of local access than major 
arterial streets. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

31 | P a g e  
 

22. Street, Collector: A street connecƟng neighborhoods within the same communiƟes, designed to carry traffic 
from local to arterial streets. 

23. Street, County: Any road or street owned, operated, and maintained by any County. 

24. Street, IntersecƟng and Principal: In regard to a site, the principal street shall be the street to which the 
majority of lots on a block face are oriented; the intersecƟng street shall be a street other than a principal 
street. 

25. Street Line: The right-of-way line of a street. 

26. Street, Local: A street which is used primarily for access to the abuƫng properƟes. 

27. Street, Major: A street carrying traffic between neighborhoods, connecƟng neighborhoods with major 
acƟvity centers, or accommodaƟng major through traffic. Major streets are designated as collectors, 
arterials, or expressways by the Comprehensive Plan. 

28. Street, Private: Any private way, which has not been dedicated to the public or deeded to the city for street 
purposes and approved by Glenwood City Council. 

29. Street, Public: Any thoroughfare or public way which has been dedicated to the public or deeded to the city 
for street purposes and which has been approved by Glenwood City Council. 

30. Strip Development: Commercial or retail development, usually one-store deep, that fronts on a major street. 

31. Structure: Any object constructed or built and aƩached or anchored permanently or semi-permanently to 
the ground in such a way as to prevent rouƟne movement. For the purpose of this ordinance, any building 
mounted on a skid will be considered a structure. 

32. Structural AlteraƟons: Any replacement or changes in the types of construcƟon or in the supporƟng 
members of a building such as load bearing walls or parƟƟons, columns, beams or girders, beyond ordinary 
repairs and maintenance.  

33. Structure, Principal: The main or primary structure on a lot, to which the use of the lot is defined. This shall 
not prohibit more than one principal structure on a lot if all the other requirements of this ordinance are 
met and if the addiƟonal structures are for the same use.  

34. SubstanƟal Damage: Damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the cost of restoring the 
structure to its before damage condiƟon would equate to or exceed 50% of the market value of the structure 
before the damage occurred.  

35. SubstanƟal Improvements: Any improvement to a structure which saƟsfies either of the following criteria: 

a. Any repair, reconstrucƟon, rehabilitaƟon, addiƟon or improvement of a structure, the cost of which 
equals or exceeds 50% of the market value of the structure either before the start of construcƟon of 
the improvement or if the structure has been substanƟally damaged and is being restored before the 
damage occurred. The term does not, however, included either any project for improvement of a 
structure to correct exisƟng violaƟons of state or local health, sanitary or safety code specificaƟons 
which have been idenƟfied by the local health, sanitary or safety code specificaƟons which have been 
idenƟfied by the local code enforcement officer and which are the minimum necessary to assure safe 
living condiƟons or any alteraƟon will not preclude the structure’s conƟnued designaƟon as a “historical 
structure.” 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

32 | P a g e  
 

b. Any addiƟon that increases the original floor area of a building by twenty-five percent (25%) or 
more. 

36. SubstaƟon: An electrical construcƟon designed to collect and modify electrical energy produced by the 
Industrial Renewable Energy. 

37. Surveyor: A licensed land surveyor who engages in the pracƟce of land surveying pursuant to the Code of 
Iowa. 

38. Swimming Pool: A tank of water either above or below grade level that is designed and constructed for 
human occupancy. 

166.23 T 

1. Terrace: A relaƟvely level paved or planted area adjoining a building that may be serving as an outdoor living 
area. A terrace may also be a raised, nearly level, area created by wood, masonry, or turf. 

2. Tiny Home: A dwelling unit that is not less than 200 square feet and not to exceed 799  square feet in floor 
area, excluding loŌs, and meets all other requirements of a residence.  

3. Total Height: The height from grade to the highest verƟcal point. 

4. Towers: Any guyed, monopole or self-supporƟng tower, constructed as a freestanding structure or in 
associaƟon with a building or other permanent structure containing one or more antennas, Most commonly 
used in the capacity for radio, television, telephone, short-wave, cellular telephone, microwave antenna or 
tower. 

5. Tower foundaƟon: The base of the tower usually constructed or reinforced concrete which provides enough 
mass to hold the tower in a stable posiƟon. 

6. Townhouse:  A dwelling unit formed by at least two and not more than twelve conƟguous horizontal 
residenƟal dwelling units; each having a common wall with or abuƫng one or more adjacent dwelling units 
with each dwelling having its own front and rear access to the outside, and neither is above nor below any 
other dwelling unit.  Each unit is individually owned with a zero lot line.   

7. Townhouse Structure: A building formed by at least two and not more than twelve conƟguous townhouses 
with common or abuƫng walls. 

8. Trailer Camp or Tourist Camp: An area providing spaces for two (2) or more recreaƟonal vehicles, or tent 
sites for temporary occupancy, with necessary incidental services, sanitaƟon and recreaƟon faciliƟes to serve 
the traveling public. 

9. Tract: An aliquot part of a secƟon, a lot within an official plat or a governmental lot. 

166.24 U 

1. Use: The conduct of an acƟvity, or the performance of a funcƟon or operaƟon, on a site or in a building or 
facility. 

2. Used Car Lot: A designated locaƟon wherein proper and adequate faciliƟes shall be maintained for 
displaying, recondiƟoning and repairing any motor vehicle of a type subject to registraƟon under the laws of 
the State of Iowa. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

33 | P a g e  
 

3. UƟliƟes: InstallaƟons, either above or below ground, necessary for the producƟon, generaƟon, transmission, 
delivery, collecƟon, treatments, or storage of water, solid or fluid wastes, storm water, energy media, gas, 
electronic or electromagneƟc signals, or other services which are precedent to development and use of land. 

166.25 V 

1. VacaƟon: The official abandonment of public right-of-way or easement by the city in accordance with State 
Law. 

2. Vacant Building:  A building or structure that has not been occupied or used for used for its intended purpose 
without acƟve uƟliƟes for one-hundred eighty (180) days.    

3. Variance:  A deviaƟon from the height, bulk, setback, parking or other dimensional requirements by this 
code.  Permission to deviate from the literal requirements of a zoning ordinance.  Requests heard by the 
Zoning Board of Adjustment.   

4. Vehicle, motor: Any passenger vehicle, motorcycle, recreaƟonal vehicle, or truck that is propelled or drawn 
by mechanical power. 

5. Vehicle Storage, short or long: The locaƟon or intenƟon to keep operaƟve or non-operaƟve motorized 
vehicles for Ɵme periods without regular use. 

6. ViolaƟon: The Failure of a structure or other development to be fully compliant with the provisions of this 
Ordinance. 

166.26 W 

1. Walkability: The condiƟon when an area is highly interconnected to other areas and appeals to pedestrians 
for recreaƟonal walking or for walking to work, transit, schools, shopping or restaurants. 

2. Walkable Neighborhood: Areas that are pedestrian-oriented in nature and safety with a highly 
interconnected network of streets, where bicycling and walking are a viable daily opƟon because services, 
shopping, food uses and schools are within a short walking distance of most dwellings. 

3. Warehouse, Enclosed:  Enclosed space or structure with walls and doors to contain items out of the outside 
elements.  Uses including storage, distribuƟon and handling of goods within enclosed structures.  Typical 
uses include wholesale distributors, storage warehouses, van and storage companies.  

4. Warehouse, Open:  Open area designed and intended for outdoor storage of items.   Uses including open air 
storage, distribuƟon, and handling of goods and materials.  Typical uses include monument yards, grain 
elevators, large machines and equipment. 

5. Wetlands: That classificaƟon of land subject to protecƟon measures as indicated by the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers and/or the Iowa Department of Natural Resources. 

6. Window: An opening in a building for admiƫng light and/or air, having pane or panes of glass. 

166.27 X 

166.28 Y 

1. Yard; Required: That porƟon of a lot which lies between a lot line and the corresponding building setback 
line or the required landscape area. This area shall be unoccupied and unobstructed from the ground upward 
except as may be specifically provided for or required by this ordinance. 

(a) Front Yard: The space extending the full width of a lot, lying between the front lot line and the front 
setback line. For a corner lot, the front yard shall normally be defined as that yard along a street which 
meets one of the following two criteria: 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

34 | P a g e  
 

1) The yard along the blockface to which a greater number of structures are oriented; or 

2) The yard along a street that has the smaller horizontal dimension. 

(b) Rear Yard: The space extending the full width of a lot, lying between the rear lot line and the rear setback 
line. 

(c) Side Yard: The space extending the depth of a lot from the front to rear lot lines, lying between the side 
yard setback line and the interior lot line. 

(d) Street Side Yard: On a corner lot, the space extending from the front yard to the rear yard, between the 
street side yard setback line and the street side lot line. 

166.29 Z 

1. Zoning Administrator: The designee of the City Council responsible for the interpretaƟon, administraƟon, 
and enforcement of the Glenwood Zoning Ordinance. 

2. Zoning District: A designated specified land classificaƟon, within which all sites are subject to a unified group 
of use and site development regulaƟons set forth in this Zoning Ordinance. 

3. Zoning Ordinance: This document. Also referenced as the Land Development Ordinance. 

 

 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

35 | P a g e  
 

 

SECTION 167 

Use Types 

167.01 Purpose 

ArƟcle Three shall be known as the Use Types. The purpose of the Use Types is to establish a classificaƟon 
system for land uses and a consistent set of terms defining uses permiƩed or condiƟonally permiƩed within 
various zoning districts. The Use Types secƟon also provides a procedure for determining the applicable use 
type of any acƟvity not clearly within any defined use type. 

167.02 DeterminaƟons 

a. ClassificaƟon of Uses 

In the event of any quesƟon as to the appropriate use types of any exisƟng or proposed use or acƟvity, the 
Zoning Administrator of the City of Glenwood shall have the authority to determine the appropriate use 
type. A determinaƟon of the Zoning Administrator may be appealed to the Board of Adjustment, in making 
such determinaƟons, the Zoning Administrator and Board of Adjustment shall consider such characterisƟcs 
or specific requirements of the use in common with those included as examples of use types with 
coordinated definiƟons in SecƟon 166. Those examples, when included in use type descripƟons, are 
intended to be illustraƟve, as opposed to exclusive lists.  

b. Records 

The Zoning Administrator shall make all such determinaƟons of appropriate use types in wriƟng. The record 
of the determinaƟon shall contain a report explaining the reasons for the determinaƟon. 

167.03 Agricultural Use Types 

Agricultural use types include the on-site producƟon and sale of plant and animal products by agricultural 
methods. 

a. HorƟculture 

The growing of horƟcultural and floricultural specialƟes, such as flowers, shrubs, or trees intended for 
ornamental or landscaping purposes. This definiƟon may include accessory retail sales under certain 
condiƟons. Typical uses include wholesale plant nurseries and greenhouses. 

b. Crop ProducƟon 

The raising and harvesƟng of tree crops, row crops, or field crops on an agricultural or commercial basis. 
This definiƟon may include accessory retail sales under certain condiƟons. 

c. Animal ProducƟon 

The raising of animals or producƟon of animal products, such as eggs or dairy products on an agricultural 
or commercial basis on a site which is also used for crop producƟon or where grazing of natural vegetaƟon 
is the major feed source; or the raising of animals for recreaƟonal use. Typical uses include grazing, ranching, 
dairy farming, and poultry farming. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

36 | P a g e  
 

d. Commercial Feedlots 

The use of a site for the confined feeding or holding of livestock or poultry within buildings, lots, pens, or 
other close quarters which are not used for crop producƟon or where grazing of natural vegetaƟon is not 
the major feed source. Livestock and poultry shall include any animal or fowl which are used primarily for 
use as food or food products for human consumpƟon, or for laboratory or tesƟng purposes. A Commercial 
Feedlot does not include areas which are used for the raising of crops or other vegetaƟon, and upon which 
livestock are allowed to graze or feed. 

e. Livestock Sales 

The use of a site for the temporary confinement and exchange or sale of livestock. Typical uses include sales 
barns. 

167.04 ResidenƟal Use Types 

ResidenƟal use types include uses providing wholly or primarily non-transient living accommodaƟons. They 
exclude insƟtuƟonal living arrangements providing 24-hour skilled nursing or medical care, forced 
residence, or therapeuƟc seƫngs. 

a. Single-Family ResidenƟal 

The use of a site for one dwelling unit, occupied by one family. Mobile home units are not a single-family 
use type. See below categories for such units. 

1. Single-Family ResidenƟal (Detached): A single-family residenƟal use in which one dwelling unit is 
located on a single lot, with no physical or structural connecƟon to any other dwelling unit. Single-
family detached residenƟal units shall meet the following standards: 

(a) The unit shall have at least 800 square feet of floor area; 

(b) The unit shall have an exterior width of at least 20 feet; 

(c) The structure shall have a nonreflecƟve roof material which, if visible, is or simulates asphalt or 
wood shingles, Ɵle, rock or standing seam metal with concealed fasteners. Any standing seam metal 
roof shall be stamped by a licensed engineer, shall be installed by a cerƟfied installer of standing 
sec m metal roofs in accord with the regulaƟons provided in the InternaƟonal ResidenƟal Code 
Book, as from Ɵme to Ɵme may be amended; 

(d) The unit shall have permanent uƟlity connecƟons installed in accordance with the regulaƟons of 
the City of Glenwood; 

(e) The unit shall be installed upon a permanent foundaƟon that is constructed and built in accordance 
with the regulaƟons of the City of Glenwood. 

2. Single-Family ResidenƟal (AƩached): A single-family residenƟal use in which one dwelling unit is 
located on a single lot and is aƩached by a common verƟcal wall to only one other adjacent dwelling 
unit on another single lot. 

b. Duplex ResidenƟal 

The use of a legally-described lot for two dwelling units, each occupied by one family within a single building, 
excluding manufactured or mobile home units, but including modular housing units. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

37 | P a g e  
 

c. Two-Family ResidenƟal 

The use of a site for two dwelling units, each occupied by one family, each in a separate building, excluding 
a mobile home unit. 

d. Townhouse ResidenƟal 

The use of a site for three or more aƩached dwelling units, each occupied by one family and separated by 
verƟcal side walls extending from foundaƟon through roof without openings. Each townhouse unit must 
have at least two exposed exterior walls. 

e. MulƟple-Family ResidenƟal 

The use of a site for three or more dwelling units within one building not otherwise defined as townhouse 
units. 

f. Downtown ResidenƟal 

The use of upper levels above street level of a building within the Central Business District of the City of 
Glenwood for single- or mulƟple-family residenƟal uses. 

g. Group ResidenƟal 

The use of a site for a residence by more than four unrelated persons, not defined as a family, on a weekly 
or longer basis. 

h. Manufactured Home ResidenƟal 

Use of a site for one or more manufactured home dwellings, which is not constructed or equipped with a 
permanent hitch or other device allowing it to be moved other than to a permanent site; does not have 
permanently aƩached to its body or frame any wheels or axles. A mobile home constructed to the NaƟonal 
Manufactured Home ConstrucƟon and Safety Standards promulgated by the US Department of Housing and 
Urban Development is not a manufactured home unless it has been converted to real property and is taxed 
as a site-built dwelling as is provided in the Code of Iowa secƟon 435.26, and which complies with the 
following architectural and aestheƟc standards listed below, For the purpose of any of these regulaƟons, 
manufactured homes shall be considered the same as a single-family detached dwelling. In common with 
single-family detached dwellings, a manufactured home dwelling unit shall have the following 
characterisƟcs. 

i. Mobile Home Park 

Use of a site under single ownership for one or more mobile home units. Generally, the land on which 
mobile homes are placed in a Mobile Home Park is leased from the owner of the facility. 

j. Mobile Home Subdivision 

Division of a tract of land into lots that meet all the requirements of the City of Glenwood's subdivision 
ordinance for the locaƟon of mobile homes. Generally, a lot within a Mobile Home Subdivision is owned by 
the owner of the mobile home placed upon such lot. 

k. ReƟrement Residence 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

38 | P a g e  
 

A building or group of buildings which provide residenƟal faciliƟes for more than four residents of at least 
sixty-two years of age, or households headed by a householder of at least sixty-two years of age. A 
reƟrement residence may provide a range of residenƟal building types and may also provide support 
services to residents, including but not limited to food service, general health supervision, medicaƟon 
services, housekeeping services, personal services, recreaƟon faciliƟes, and transportaƟon services. The 
reƟrement residence may accommodate food preparaƟon in independent units or meal service in one or 
more common areas. ReƟrement residences may include addiƟonal health care supervision or nursing care. 

 

167.05 Civic Use Types 

Civic use types include the performance of uƟlity, educaƟonal, recreaƟonal, cultural, medical, protecƟve, 
governmental, and other uses which are strongly vested with social importance. 

a. AdministraƟon 

Governmental offices providing administraƟve, clerical or public contact services that deal directly with the 
ciƟzen, together with incidental storage and maintenance of necessary vehicles. Typical uses include federal, 
state, county, and city offices. 

b. Assisted Living 

Assisted living means provision of housing with services which may include, but are not limited to, health-
related care, personal care, and assistance with instrumental acƟviƟes of daily living to six or more tenants 
in a physical structure which provides a homelike environment. Assisted living also includes encouragement 
of family involvement, tenant self-direcƟon, and tenant parƟcipaƟon in decisions that emphasize choice, 
dignity, privacy, individuality, shared risk, and independence. Assisted living includes the provision of 
housing and assistance with instrumental acƟviƟes of daily living only if personal care or health-related care 
is also included. 

c. Cemetery 

Land used or intended to be used for the burial of the dead and dedicated for cemetery purposes, including 
columbarium, crematoria, mausoleums and mortuaries when operated in conjuncƟon with and within the 
boundary of such cemetery. 

d. Clubs 

Uses providing meeƟng, recreaƟonal, or social faciliƟes for a private, non-profit or noncommercial 
associaƟon, primarily for use by members and guests. 

1. Clubs (RecreaƟonal): Clubs which provide indoor and/or outdoor athleƟc faciliƟes, with or without 
social or meeƟng faciliƟes, Typical uses include country clubs, private or nonprofit community or 
recreaƟon centers, and private golf courses and driving ranges. 

2. Clubs (Social): Clubs which provide primarily social or meeƟng faciliƟes. Typical uses include private 
social clubs and fraternal organizaƟons. 

e. College and University FaciliƟes 

An educaƟonal insƟtuƟon of higher learning which offers a course of study designed to culminate in the 
issuance of a degree CerƟfied by a generally recognized accrediƟng organizaƟon. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

39 | P a g e  
 

f. Convalescent Services 

A use providing bed care and inpaƟent services for persons requiring regular medical aƩenƟon but excluding 
a facility providing surgical or emergency medical services and excluding a facility providing care for 
alcoholism, drug addicƟon, mental disease, or communicable disease. Typical uses include nursing homes. 

g. Cultural Services 

A library, museum, or similar registered non-profit organizaƟonal use displaying, preserving and exhibiƟng 
objects of community and cultural interest in one or more of the arts and sciences. 

h. Day Care Services (Limited) 

This Use Type includes all classificaƟons of day care faciliƟes that operate providing care for not more than 
six (6) children. This term includes nursery schools, preschools, day care centers for children or adults, and 
similar uses but excludes public and private primary and secondary educaƟonal faciliƟes. Day Care Services 
must be legally operated per the Code of Iowa. 

i. Day Care Services (General) 

This Use Type includes all classificaƟons of day care faciliƟes that operate providing care for more than six 
(6) children. This term includes nursery schools, preschools, day care centers for children or adults, and 
similar uses but excludes public and private primary and secondary educaƟonal faciliƟes. Day Care Services 
must be legally operated per the Code of Iowa.  

j. DetenƟon FaciliƟes 

A publicly operated or contracted use providing housing and care for individuals legally confined, designed 
to isolate those individuals from the community. 

k. Elder Group Home 

A single-family residence that is the residence of a person who is providing room, board, and personal care 
to three through five elders who are not related to the person providing the service within the third degree 
of consanguinity or affinity. 

l. Emergency ResidenƟal Services 

A facility or use of a building to provide a protecƟve sanctuary for vicƟms of crime or abuse, including 
emergency housing during crisis intervenƟon for vicƟms of rape, abuse, or physical beaƟngs. 

m. Family Home 

A community-based residenƟal home or a child foster care facility to provide room and board, personal 
care, habilitaƟon services, and supervision in a family environment exclusively for not more thannecessa1y 

 eight (8) developmentally disabled persons and any necessary support personnel as permiƩed by and as 
limited by secƟon 41.2.22, Code of Iowa. 

n. Group Care Facility 

A government-licensed or approved facility which provides for resident care and short or long-term, 
conƟnuous mulƟ-day occupancy of more than eight (8) but no more than 30 unrelated persons, not 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

40 | P a g e  
 

including resident staff. Group Care FaciliƟes include faciliƟes which provide services in accordance with 
individual needs for the: 

1. AdaptaƟon to living with, or rehabilitaƟon from, the handicaps of physical disability. 

2. AdaptaƟon to living with, or rehabilitaƟon from, the handicaps of emoƟonal or mental disorder; or 
developmental disabiliƟes. 

3. RehabilitaƟon from the effects of drug or alcohol abuse. 

4. Supervision while under a program alternaƟve to imprisonment, including but not limited to pre-
release, work-release, and probaƟonary programs. 

5. Others who require direct adult supervision. 

o. Group Home 
 
A facility licensed by the State of Iowa in which at least three, but no more than eight (8) persons, not 
including resident managers or house parents, who are unrelated by blood, marriage or adopƟon reside 
while receiving therapy, training, living assistance, or counseling for the purpose of adaptaƟon to living with 
or rehabilitaƟon from a physical or mental disability as defined by the relevant provisions of the Code of 
Iowa or by the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988.Guidance Services 
 

p. Health Care 

A facility providing medical, psychiatric, or surgical service for sick or injured persons exclusively on an 
outpaƟent basis including emergency treatment, diagnosƟc services, training, administraƟon and services 
to outpaƟents, employees, or visitors. 

q. Hospital 

A facility providing medical, psychiatric, or surgical service for sick or injured persons primarily on an 
inpaƟent basis, including emergency Treatment, diagnosƟc services, training, administraƟon, and services 
to paƟents, employees, or visitors. 

r. Maintenance FaciliƟes 

A public facility supporƟng maintenance, repair, vehicular or equipment servicing, material storage, and 
similar acƟviƟes including street or sewer yards, equipment service centers, and similar uses having 
characterisƟcs of commercial services or contracƟng or industrial acƟviƟes. 

s. Park and RecreaƟon Services 

Publicly owned and operated parks, playgrounds, recreaƟon faciliƟes including publicly owned community 
centers, and open spaces. 

t. Postal FaciliƟes 

Postal services, including post offices, bulk mail processing or sorƟng centers operated by the United States 
Postal Service. 

u. Primary EducaƟonal FaciliƟes 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

41 | P a g e  
 

A public, private, or parochial school offering instrucƟon at the elementary school level in the branches of 
learning study required to be taught in schools within the State of Iowa. 

v. Public Assembly 

FaciliƟes owned and operated by a public agency or a charitable non-profit organizaƟon accommodaƟng 
major public assembly for recreaƟon, sports, amusement, or entertainment purposes. Typical uses include 
civic or community auditoriums, sports stadiums, convenƟon faciliƟes, fairgrounds, incidental sales, and 
exhibiƟon faciliƟes. 

w. Religious Assembly 

A use located in a permanent building and providing regular organized religious worship and religious 
educaƟon incidental thereto (excluding private primary or private secondary educaƟonal faciliƟes, 
community recreaƟonal faciliƟes, day care faciliƟes, and incidental parking faciliƟes). A property tax 
exempƟon obtained pursuant to Property Tax Code of the State of Iowa shall consƟtute prima facie evidence 
of religious assembly use. 

x. Safety Services 

FaciliƟes for conduct of public safety and emergency services including police and fire protecƟon services 
and emergency medical and ambulance services. 

y. Secondary. EducaƟonal FaciliƟes 

A public, private, or parochial school offering instrucƟon at the junior high or high school level in the 
branches of learning and study required to be taught in the schools of the State of Iowa. 

z. UƟliƟes 

Any above ground structures or faciliƟes, other than lines, poles, and other incidental faciliƟes, used for the 
producƟon, generaƟon, transmission, delivery, collecƟon, or storage of water, sewage, electricity, delivery, 
collecƟon, or storage of water, sewage, electricity, gas, oil, energy media, communicaƟons, electronic or 
electromagneƟc signals, or other services which are precedent to development and/ or use of land. 

167.06 Office Use Types 

Office use types include uses providing for administraƟon, professional services, and allied acƟviƟes. These 
uses oŌen invite public clientele but are more limited in external effects than commercial uses. 

a. Corporate Offices 

Use of a site for administraƟve, processing, or research offices, which generally does not provide service to 
clientele from Glenwood and the surrounding region. Corporate offices are desƟnaƟons for commuters 
drawn from a relaƟvely wide region around Glenwood, as well as from the community itself. Typical uses 
include corporate headquarters offices, telemarkeƟng, or informaƟon processing offices. 

b. General Offices 

Use of a site for business, professional, or administraƟve offices who may invite clients from both local and 
regional areas . 'Typical uses include real estate, insurance, management, travel, or other business offices; 
organizaƟon and associaƟon offices; or professional offices. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

42 | P a g e  
 

c. Financial Services 

Provision of financial and banking services to consumers or clients. Walk-in and drive-in services to 
consumers are provided on site. Typical uses include banks, savings and loan associaƟons, savings banks, 
and loan companies. An ATM (AutomaƟc Teller Machine) which is not accompanied on-site by an office of 
a its primary financial insƟtuƟon is considered within the Personal Services Use Type. 

d. Medical Offices 

Use of a site for faciliƟes which provide diagnoses and outpaƟent care on a rouƟne basis, but which does 
not provide prolonged, in-house medical or surgical care. Medical offices are operated by doctors, denƟsts, 
or similar medical pracƟƟoners licensed for pracƟce in the State of Iowa. 

167.07 Commercial Use Types 

Commercial uses include the sale, rental, service, and distribuƟon of goods; and the provision of services 
other than those classified under other use types. 

a. Agricultural Sales and Service 

Establishments or places of business engaged in sale from the premises of feed, grain, ferƟlizers, farm 
equipment, pesƟcides and similar goods or in the provision of agriculturally related services with incidental 
storage on lots other than-where the service is rendered. Typical uses include nurseries, hay, farm 
implement dealerships, feed and grain stores, and tree service firms. 

b. AutomoƟve and Equipment Services 

Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in sale and/ or service of automobiles, trucks, or 
heavy equipment. The following are considered automoƟve and equipment use types: 

1. AutomoƟve Rental and Sales: Sale or rental of automobiles, noncommercial trucks, motorcycles, motor 
homes, recreaƟonal vehicles or boats, including incidental storage, maintenance, and servicing, Typical 
uses include new and used car dealerships; motorcycle dealerships; and boat, trailer, and recreaƟonal 
vehicle dealerships. 

2. Auto Services: Provision of fuel, lubricants, parts and accessories, and incidental services to motor 
vehicles; and washing and cleaning and/ or repair of automobiles, noncommercial Trucks, motorcycles, 
motor homes, recreaƟonal vehicles, or boats, including the sale, installaƟon, and servicing of equipment 
and parts, Typical uses include service staƟons, car washes, muffler shops, auto repair garages, Ɵre sales 
and installaƟon, wheel and brake shops, and similar repair and service acƟviƟes but exclude 
dismantling, salvage, or body and fender repair services.  

3. Body Repair: Repair, painƟng, or refinishing of the body, fender, 0T frame of automobiles, trucks, 
motorcycles, motor homes, recreaƟonal vehicles, boats, tractors, construcƟon equipment, agricultural 
implements, and similar vehicles or equipment. Typical uses include body and fender shops, painƟng 
shops, and other similar repair or refinishing garages. 

4. Equipment Rental and Sales: Sale or rental of trucks, tractors, construcƟon equipment, agricultural 
implements, mobile homes, and similar heavy equipment, including incidental storage, maintenance, 
and servicing. Typical uses include truck dealerships, construcƟon equipment dealerships, and mobile 
home sales establishments. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

43 | P a g e  
 

5. Equipment Repair Services: Repair of trucks, tractors, construcƟon equipment, agricultural implements, 
and similar heavy equipment. Typical uses include truck repair garages, tractor and farm implement 
repair services, and machine shops, but exclude dismantling, salvage, or body and fender repair 
services. 

c. Bed and Breakfast 

A lodging service that provides overnight or short-term accommodaƟons to guests or visitors, usually 
including provision of breakfast. Bed and breakfasts are usually located in large residenƟal structures that 
have been adapted for this use. For the purpose of this definiƟon, bed and breakfasts are always owned 
and operated by the resident owner or resident manager of the structure, include no more than eight (8) 
units, and accommodate each guest or visitor for no more than seven (7) consecuƟve days during any one 
(1) month period. 

d. Business Support Services 

Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in the sale, rental or repair of equipment, supplies 
and materials or the provision of services used by office, professional and service establishments to the 
firms themselves but excluding automoƟve, construcƟon and farm equipment. Typical uses include office 
equipment and supply firms, small business machine repair shops or hotel equipment and supply firms, 
messenger and delivery services, custodial or maintenance services, and convenience prinƟng and copying. 

e. Business or Trade Schools 

A use providing educaƟon or training in business, commerce, language, or other similar acƟvity or 
occupaƟonal pursuit, and not otherwise defined as a home occupaƟon, college or university, or public or 
private educaƟonal facility. 

f. Campground 

FaciliƟes providing camping or parking areas and incidental services for travelers in recreaƟonal vehicles or 
tents. 

1. Standard Campground:  FaciliƟes providing camping or parking area and incidental 
services for travelers in recreaƟonal vehicles or tents, which accommodate each guest or 
visitor for more than seven (7) consecuƟve days during any one (1) month period.  

2. Extended Stay Campground:  These faciliƟes are set up to provide a camping or parking 
sites or spaces for recreaƟonal vehicles, recreaƟonal trailers and tents of those individuals 
using the recreaƟonal area for the services intended.  The recreaƟonal vehicles, 
recreaƟonal trailers and tents which accommodate each of the users shall not be allowed 
to stay for more than one hundred eighty (180) days within one (1) year period.  This is 
not intended to provide any type of temporary or transit housing for any individual use 
and no manufactured or modular housing unit will be allowed.  

g. Cocktail Lounge 

A use engaged in the preparaƟon and retail sale of alcoholic beverages for consumpƟon on the premises, 
including taverns, bars, and similar uses other than a restaurant as that term is defined in this secƟon. 

h. Commercial RecreaƟon 

Private businesses, or other organizaƟons which may or may not be commercial by structure or by nature, 
which are primarily engaged in the provision or sponsorship of sports, entertainment, or recreaƟon for 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

44 | P a g e  
 

parƟcipants or spectators. Typical uses include theaters, private dance halls, billiard or bowling centers, 
game arcades, or private skaƟng faciliƟes. 

i. CommunicaƟons Services 

Establishments primarily engaged in the provision of broadcasƟng and other informaƟon relay services 
accomplished through the use of electronic and telephonic mechanisms but excludes those classified as 
UƟliƟes. Typical uses include television. studios, telecommunicaƟon service centers, telegraph service 
offices, or film and sound recording faciliƟes. Broadcast towers, and their minor ancillary ground structures 
are classified as “Miscellaneous Use Types." 

j. ConstrucƟon Sales and Services 

Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in the retail or wholesale sale, from the premises, 
of materials used in the construcƟon of buildings or other structures other than retail sale of paint, fixtures 
and hardware. This use type excludes those uses classified under AutomoƟve and Equipment Services. 
Typical uses include building materials sales, or tool and equipment rental or sales. 

k. Consumer Services 

Establishments which provide services, primarily to individuals and households, but excluding AutomoƟve 
Use Types. Typical uses include automated banking machines, appliance repair shops, watch or jewelry 
repair shops, or musical instrument repair shops. 

l. Convenience Storage 

Storage services primarily for personal effects and household goods within enclosed storage areas having 
individual access but excluding use of such areas as workshops, hobby shops, manufacturing, or commercial 
acƟvity. Typical uses include mini-warehousing. 

m. Food Sales 

Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in the retail sale of food or household products for 
home consumpƟon. Food Sales establishments may include the sale of non-food items. However, the sales 
of non-food items may account for no more than the lesser of 25% of the sales area or 10,000 square feet 
of the Food Sales establishment. Typical uses include groceries, delicatessens, meat markets, retail bakeries, 
and candy shops. 

1. Convenience Food Sales: Establishments occupying faciliƟes of less than 10,000 square feet; and 
characterized by sales of specialty foods or a limited variety of general items, and by the sales of fuel 
for motor vehicles. 

2. Limited Food Sales: Establishments occupying faciliƟes of less than 10,000 square feet; and 
characterized by sales of specialty foods or a limited variety of general items but excluding the accessory 
sale of fuel for motor vehicles. Typical uses include delicatessens, meat markets, retail bakeries, candy 
shops, small grocery stores. 

3. General Food Sales: Establishments selling a wide variety of food commodiƟes and related items, using 
faciliƟes larger than 10,000 but less than 40,000 square feet. Typical uses include grocery stores and 
locker plants. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

45 | P a g e  
 

4. Supermarkets: Establishments selling a wide variety of food commodiƟes, related items, and oŌen 
providing a variety of non-food goods and services, using faciliƟes larger than 40,000 square feet. 
Typical uses include large grocery stores. 

n. Funeral Services 

Establishments engaged in undertaking services such as preparing the human dead for burial, and arranging 
and managing funerals. Typical uses include funeral homes or mortuaries. 

o. Kennels 

Boarding and care services for dogs, cats and similar small mammals; or any premises on which three or 
more animals included under this definiƟon over six (6)  months of age are kept and maintained. Typical 
uses include boarding kennels,; pet motels, or dog training centers. 

p. Laundry Services 

Establishments primarily engaged in the provision of laundering, cleaning or dyeing services other than 
those classified as Personal Services. Typical uses include bulk laundry and cleaning plans, diaper services, 
or linen supply services. 

q. Liquor Sales 

Establishments or places of business engaged in retail sale for off-premise consumpƟon of alcoholic 
beverages. Typical uses include liquor stores, boƩle shops, or any licensed sales of liquor, beer or wine for 
off-site consumpƟon. 

r. Lodging 

Lodging services involving the provision of room and/ or board, but not meeƟng the classificaƟon criteria 
of Bed and Breakfasts, Air BnB or VRBO. Typical uses include hotels, apartment hotels, and motels. 

s. Personal Improvement Services 

Establishments primarily engaged in the provision of informaƟonal, instrucƟonal, personal improvements 
and similar services of a nonprofessional nature, Typical uses include driving schools, health or physical 
fitness studios, music schools, reducing salons, dance studios, handicraŌ and hobby instrucƟon. 

t. Personal Services 

Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in the provision of services of a personal nature. 
Typical uses include beauty and barber shops; seamstress, tailor, or shoe repair shops; photography studios; 
television or electronics repair; or dry-cleaning staƟons serving individuals and households. Personal 
Services include establishments providing for the administraƟon of massage or massage therapy carried out 
by persons licensed by the State of Iowa under the provisions of chapters 148, 148A, 148B, 150, 150A, 151, 
152 157, or 158 of the Code of Iowa when performing massage services as a part of the profession or trade 
for which licensed or persons performing massage services under the direcƟon of person so licensed; or 
persons performing massage services or therapy pursuant to the wriƩen direcƟon of a licensed physician. 

u. Pet Services 

Retail sales, incidental pet health services, and grooming and boarding, when totally within a building, of 
dogs, cats, birds, fish, and similar small animals customarily used as household pets. Typical uses include 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

46 | P a g e  
 

pet stores, small animal clinics, dog bathing and clipping salons, and pet grooming shops, but exclude uses 
for livestock and large animals. 

v. Research Services 

Establishments primarily engaged in research of an industrial or scienƟfic nature. Typical uses include 
electronics research laboratories, space research and development firms, tesƟng laboratories, or 
pharmaceuƟcal research labs. 

w. Restaurants 

A use engaged in the preparaƟon and retail sale of food and beverages; including the sale of alcoholic 
beverages when conducted as a secondary feature of the use, producing less than 50 per cent of the 
establishment's gross income. 

1. Restaurant (Drive-in or Fast Food): An establishment which principally supplies food and beverages in 
disposable containers and is characterized by high automobile accessibility and onsite accommodaƟons 
self-service, and short stays by customers. 

2. Restaurant (General): An establishment characterized by table service to customers and/ or 
accommodaƟon to walk-in clientele, as opposed to Drive-in or Fast-Food Restaurants. Typical uses 
include cafes, coffee shops, and restaurants. 

x. Restricted (or Adult) Businesses 

Any business acƟvity which offers the opportunity to view sexual acƟviƟes; view or touch anatomical areas 
for entertainment purposes; or depicts or describes sexual conduct in a patently offensive way and lacks 
serious literary, arƟsƟc, poliƟcal, or scienƟfic value. This category includes the sale or viewing of visual or 
print materials that meet these criteria. Typical uses include retail services or stores which are disƟnguished 
by an emphasis on acƟviƟes or materials that emphasize sexual content; businesses which offer live 
performances characterized by exposure of specified anatomical areas; and adult theaters. 

y. Retail Services 

Sale or rental with incidental service of commonly used goods and merchandise for personal or household 
use but excludes those classified more specifically by these use type classificaƟons. Typical uses include 
department stores, apparel stores, furniture stores, or establishments providing the following products or 
services: 

Household cleaning and maintenance products; drugs, cards, staƟonery, noƟons, books, tobacco products, 
cosmeƟcs, and specialty items; flowers, plants, hobby materials, toys, and handcraŌed items; apparel 
jewelry, fabrics and like items; cameras, photograph services, household electronic equipment, records, 
sporƟng equipment, kitchen utensils, home furnishing and appliances, art supplies and framing, arts and 
anƟques, paint and wallpaper, hardware, carpeƟng and floor covering; interior decoraƟng services; office 
supplies; mail order or catalog sales; bicycles; and automoƟve parts and accessories (excluding service and 
installaƟon). General Retail Services include: 

1. Limited Retail Services: Establishments providing retail services, occupying faciliƟes of 3,000 square feet 
or less. Typical establishments provide for specialty retailing or retailing oriented to Glenwood and its 
surrounding vicinity, 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

47 | P a g e  
 

2. Medium Retail Services: Establishments providing retail services, occupying faciliƟes between 3,001 and 
1.0,000 square feet in a single establishment or mulƟ-tenant facility. Typical establishments provide for 
specialty retailing or general-purpose retailing oriented to Glenwood and its surrounding vicinity, 

3. Large Retail Services: Establishments providing retail services, occupying faciliƟes between 10,001 and 
40,000 square feet in a single establishment or mulƟ-tenant facility. Typical establishments provide for 
specialty retailing or general-purpose retailing oriented to Glenwood and its surrounding vicinity. 

4. Mass Retail Services: Establishments providing retail services, occupying faciliƟes over 40,000 square 
feet in a single establishment or mulƟ-tenant facility. Typical establishments provide for general purpose 
retailing oriented to Glenwood and the surrounding region. 

z. Stables and/or Riding Academies 

The buildings, pens and pasture areas used for the boarding and feeding of horses, llamas, or other equine 
not owned by the occupants of the premises. This use includes instrucƟon in riding, jumping, and showing 
or the riding of horses/ equine for hire. 

aa. Surplus Sales 

Businesses engaged in the sale, including sale by aucƟon, of used items or new items which are primarily 
composed of factory surplus or disconƟnued items. Surplus sales uses someƟmes include regular outdoor 
display of merchandise. Typical uses include flea markets, aucƟon houses, factory outlets, or merchandise 
liquidators. 

bb. Trade Services 

Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in the provision of services that are not retail or 
primarily dedicated to walk-in clientele. These services oŌen involve services to construcƟon or building 
trades and may involve a small amount of screened, outdoor storage in appropriate zoning districts. Typical 
uses include shops or operaƟng bases for plumbers, electricians, or HVAC (heaƟng venƟlaƟng, and air 
condiƟoning) contractors. 

cc. Vehicle Storage (Short-term) 

Short-term storage of operaƟng or nonoperaƟng vehicles for a period of no more than 21 days. Typical uses 
include storage of private parking tow-aways or impound yards but exclude dismantling or salvage. Long-
term storage beyond t 21 days consƟtutes an Industrial Use Type. 

dd. Veterinary Services 

Veterinary services and hospitals for animals. Typical uses include pet clinics, dog and cat hospitals, pet 
cemeteries and crematoria, and veterinary hospitals for livestock and large animals. 

167.08 Parking Use Types 

a. Off-Street Parking 

Parking use types include surface parking of motor vehicles on a temporary basis within a privately or 
publicly owned off-street parking facility. 

b. Parking Structure 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

48 | P a g e  
 

The use of a site for a mulƟlevel building which provides for the parking of motor vehicles on a temporary 
basis, other than as an accessory to a principal use on the same site. 

167.09 Industrial Use Types 

Industrial use types include the on-site extracƟon or producƟon of goods by nonagricultural methods, and 
the storage and distribuƟon of products. 

a. ConstrucƟon Yards 

Establishments housing faciliƟes of businesses primarily engaged in construcƟon acƟviƟes, including 
incidental storage of materials and equipment on lots other than construcƟon sites. Typical uses are building 
contractor's yards. 

b. Custom Manufacturing 

Establishments primarily engaged in the on-site producƟon of goods by hand manufacturing, within 
enclosed structures, involving: 

1. The use of hand tools, or 

2. The use of domesƟc mechanical equipment not exceeding 2 horsepower, or 

3. A single kiln not exceeding 8 KW or equivalent. 

This category also includes the incidental direct sale to consumers of only those goods produced on site. 
Typical uses include ceramic studios, custom jewelry manufacturing, candle making shops. 

c. Light Industry 

Establishments engaged in the manufacture or processing of finished products from previously prepared 
materials, including processing, fabricaƟon, assembly, treatment, and packaging of such products, and 
incidental storage, sales, and distribuƟon. These establishments shall have no major external environmental 
effects across property lines and include no unscreened or unenclosed outdoor storage. Typical uses include 
commercial bakeries, dressed beef processing plants, soŌ drink boƩling, apparel assembly from fabrics, 
electronics, manufacturing, print shops and publishing houses. 

d. General Industry 

Enterprises engaged in the processing, manufacturing, compounding, assembly, packaging, treatment or 
fabricaƟon of materials and products from prepared materials or from raw materials without noƟceable 
noise, odor, vibraƟon, or air polluƟon effects across property lines. 

e. Heavy Industry 

Enterprises involved in the basic processing and manufacturing of products, predominately from raw 
materials, with noƟceable noise, odor, vibraƟon, or air polluƟon effects across property lines; or a use or 
process engaged in the storage of or processes involving potenƟally or actually hazardous, explosive, 
flammable, radioacƟve, or other commonly recognized hazardous materials. 

f. Recycling CollecƟon 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

49 | P a g e  
 

Any site which is used in whole or part for the receiving or collecƟon of any post-consumer, nondurable 
goods including, but not limited to glass, plasƟc, paper, cardboard, aluminum, Ɵn, or other recyclable 
commodiƟes. 

g. Recycling Processing 

Any site which is used for the processing of any post-consumer, nondurable goods including, but not limited 
to glass, plasƟc, paper, cardboard, aluminum, Ɵn, or other recyclable commodiƟes. 

h. Resource ExtracƟon 

A use involving on-site extracƟon of surface or subsurface mineral products or natural resources, excluding 
the grading and removal of dirt. Typical uses are quarries, borrow pits, sand and gravel operaƟons, or 
mining. 

i. Salvage Services 

Places of business primarily engaged in the storage, sale, dismantling or other processing of used or waste 
materials which are not intended {or reuse in their original forms. Typical uses include automoƟve wrecking 
yards, or junk yards. 

j. Vehicle Storage (Long-term) 

Long-term storage of operaƟng or nonoperaƟng vehicles for a period exceeding 21 days. Typical uses include 
storage of private parking tow-aways or impound yards but exclude dismantling or salvage. Long-term 
storage of 21 days or less consƟtutes a Commercial Use Type. 

k. Warehousing (Enclosed) 

Uses including storage, distribuƟon, and handling of goods and materials within enclosed structures. Typical 
uses include wholesale distributors, storage warehouses, and van and storage companies. 

l. Warehousing (Open) 

Uses including open air storage, distribuƟon, and handling of goods and materials. Typical uses include 
monument yards, grain elevat01s, and open storage. 

167.10 TransportaƟon Use Types 

TransportaƟon use types include the use of land for the purpose of providing faciliƟes supporƟng the 
movement of passengers and freight from one point to another. 

a. AviaƟon FaciliƟes 

Landing fields, aircraŌ parking and service faciliƟes, and related faciliƟes for operaƟon, service, fueling, 
repair, storage, charter, sales, and rental of aircraŌ, and including acƟviƟes directly associated with the 
operaƟon and maintenance of airport faciliƟes and the provision of safety and security. 

b. Railroad Facility 

Railroad yards, equipment servicing faciliƟes, and terminal faciliƟes. 

c. TransportaƟon Terminal 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

50 | P a g e  
 

Facility for loading, unloading, and interchange of passengers, baggage, and incidental freight or package 
express, including bus terminals, railroad staƟons, public transit faciliƟes. 

d. Truck Terminal 

A facility for the receipt, transfer, short term storage, and dispatching of goods transported by truck. 

167.11 Miscellaneous Type Uses 

a. AlternaƟve Energy ProducƟon Devices 

The use of a site for the producƟon of energy uƟlizing methods that do not involve the oxidaƟon, 
combusƟon, or fission of primary materials. Typical uses include solar collector fields, geothermal energy 
installaƟons, or water-powered mills or generaƟng faciliƟes. 

b. Amateur Radio Tower 

A structure(s) for the transmission or broadcasƟng of electromagneƟc signals by FCC licensed Amateur 
Radio operators. 

c. CommunicaƟons Tower 

A tower, pole or similar structure which supports a communicaƟons antenna operated for commercial 
purposes above ground in a fixed locaƟon, whether free standing, guyed or in a building.   

d. ConstrucƟon Batch Plant (Permanent) 

A site where concrete or asphalt is manufactured on site for use and delivery elsewhere.   

e. ConstrucƟon Batch Plant (Temporary) 
A temporary demountable facility used for the manufacturing of cement, concrete, asphalt or other paving 
materials intended for specific construcƟon projects.  Batch plant is temporary and will not be in the same 
locaƟon for a period of longer than eighteen (18) months.  
 

f. Landfill (Non-putrescible Solid Waste Disposal) 

The use of a site as a depository for solid wastes that do not readily undergo chemical or biological 
breakdown under condiƟons normally associated with land disposal operaƟons. Typical disposal material 
would include ashes, concrete, paving wastes, rock, brick, lumber, roofing materials and ceramic Ɵle. 

g. Landfill (Putrescible and Non-putrescible Solid Waste Disposal) 

The use of a site as a depository for any solid waste except hazardous and toxic waste as defined by the 
Federal Environmental ProtecƟon Agency and/ or the State of Iowa. Typical disposal material would include 
non-putrescible wastes; and putrescible wastes such as vegetaƟon, tree parts, agricultural wastes (garbage) 
and manure. 

h. Wind Energy ConservaƟon System (WECS) 

Any device which converts wind energy to a form of usable energy, including wind charges, windmills, or 
wind turbines. 

167.12 Accessory and Temporary Uses 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

51 | P a g e  
 

a. Accessory Structures 
1. In residenƟal districts R-1, R-2 ,R-3, R-4, MH, accessory structures, not intended to be a single-

family residenƟal structure, may be erected on a single parcel with a principal structure.   
2. In agricultural, commercial and industrial districts, accessory structures, not intended to be a 

residenƟal structure, may be erected on a single parcel with a principal structure.   
b. Accessory Buildings 

The purpose of these provisions is to establish the relaƟonship among principal and accessory uses and to 
establish provisions governing the conduct of accessory uses.  

Principal uses specified as permiƩed uses or special excepƟon uses for a district shall be deemed to include 
accessory buildings and uses idenƟfied by these regulaƟons and such other accessory uses that are 
necessary and customarily associated with and are appropriate, incidental, and subordinate to such principal 
or special excepƟon uses. Accessory buildings and uses shall be subject to the same regulaƟons as apply to 
principal uses in each district, except as otherwise provided in these regulaƟons.   Accessory buildings and 
uses customarily incidental to that of the principal building may be erected or established as permiƩed, 
provided they comply with the following limitaƟons:  

1) Accessory buildings that are structurally part of or aƩached to the principal building shall conform 
to the site development regulaƟons of the principal building. 

2) Accessory buildings shall not be erected in any front yard. 
3) Site development regulaƟons for detached accessory buildings in all districts are: 

a. Accessory buildings shall be limited to a maximum of three (3) total buildings, including a 
detached garage, of which all total accessory buildings in any required yard area shall not 
occupy more than thirty percent (30%) of the total lot area or and no one building shall occupy 
more than ten percent (10%) of the total lot area.   

b. No detached accessory building on a corner lot may be placed in any rear or side yard nearer 
to a public street right-of-way than the principal building on the same lot.  

c. Accessory buildings shall not be erected within ten feet (10’) of any main principal building or 
structure, on the same parcel, so as to reduce danger from fire, or within ten feet (10’) of the 
side or rear property line. Accessory buildings may be built up to but not on or over any uƟlity 
or permanent easement.  

d. If a garage door directly faces an alley, there must be a fiŌeen foot (15’) minimum setback from 
the parallel to and defining the alleyway. 

4) Provided that other requirements of this arƟcle are met for each structure as though it were on an 
individual parcel. 

5) All principal buildings or accessory structures on a parcel shall be served by access ways suitable 
for police, fire, and emergency response.  

6) No accessory building shall be constructed, including siding and roofing materials, from galvanized 
metal, in the standard gray or silver appearance.  This shall not exclude the use of standing seam 
metal roofs or other fabricated or painted metal roof shingles, in adherence with all condiƟons of 
this secƟon. Accessory buildings should be built of similar materials and of a similar appearance to 
the principal building on the parcel. 

7) Detached accessory buildings shall not exceed a height of eighteen feet (18’) or one story. 
8) No accessory building shall be constructed upon a parcel or used unƟl construcƟon of the main 

building has been commenced, and no accessory building shall be used unless the main building 
on the parcel is also being used. 

9) Accessory buildings shall not be used for dwelling purposes, except as allowed as part of an 
Accessory Dwelling Unit.  

10) Accessory Dwelling Units are approved in the following forms: 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

52 | P a g e  
 

a. A detached (stand-alone) unit, including Ɵny homes; 
b. A unit that is part of an aƩached or detached accessory structure; or 
c. A unit that is part of a principal dwelling. 

These uses are subject to all applicable secƟons within the Code of the City of Glenwood. 

c. Portable Accessory Buildings and Storage Structures 
1) “Storage Structure” shall mean one of the following definiƟons: 

a. Membrane storage structure: A structure consisƟng of a frame covered with a plasƟc, fabric, 
canvas, aluminum or other non-permanent material, which is used to provide storage for 
vehicles, boats, recreaƟonal vehicles or other personal property. The term also applies to 
structures commonly known as hoop buildings, canopy carports or tent garages; but shall not 
apply to temporary tents or canopies used for special events such as weddings or celebraƟons. 

b. On-demand or on-site storage structure: Any portable or permanent storage container, storage 
pod, storage unit, receptacle or other portable structure that is used for the storage of personal 
property, which is located outside an enclosed building. The term does not include normal 
sheds, garages, outbuildings or membrane storage structures.  

2) The term “storage structure” shall not apply to a truck trailer or semi-trailer while it is acƟvely being 
used for the transportaƟon of materials, inventory or equipment and is temporarily located 
adjacent to a loading dock. A storage structure may be used as a construcƟon site trailer but only 
during construcƟon on the site. 

3) All ResidenƟal Districts: Temporary membrane storage structures are not permiƩed on any 
residenƟal properƟes. A permanent membrane storage structure with a hard roof (such as a 
carport structure) may be permiƩed on any property if the structure is permanently aƩached to 
the ground, concrete driveway or hard surface, or permanently aƩached to a principal or accessory 
structure. A temporary portable on demand or on-site storage structure may be kept within the 
yard areas on any residenƟal property for a maximum of 7 days for purposes of packing, shipping 
or moving materials from a permanent structure. 

4) All Commercial, Industrial and Agricultural Zoning Districts: A permanent storage structure for 
other than residenƟal or commercial purposes is permiƩed but shall be located on the property 
within the permiƩed rear or side yard areas so as not to obstruct any drive access or block required 
parking spaces.  All other requirements associated with primary structures in these districts apply 
to structures considered in this secƟon. 

d. Temporary Uses 

Provisions authorizing temporary uses are intended to permit occasional, temporary uses when consistent 
with the purposes of these zoning regulaƟons and when compaƟble with other nearby uses. 

1) Temporary Use Types: The following types of temporary use may be authorized, subject to 
specific limitaƟons herein and such addiƟonal condiƟons as may be established by the zoning 
administrator. 
a. Contractor's office, storage yard, and equipment parking and servicing on the site of an acƟve 

construcƟon project may be permiƩed in any district during the period that the construcƟon 
work is in progress, but such temporary building(s) shall be removed within thirty (30) days 
aŌer compleƟon or abandonment of the construcƟon work. 

b. Religious, patrioƟc, or historic assemblies, displays, or exhibits.  
c. Circuses, carnivals, rodeos, fairs, or similar transient amusement or recreaƟonal acƟviƟes not 

closer than 200 feet to an exisƟng dwelling.  
d. Outdoor art and craŌ shows and exhibits.  
e. Christmas tree sale lots.  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

53 | P a g e  
 

f. Temporary signs relaƟng to temporary uses.  
g. Outdoor special sales, including swap meets, flea markets, fireworks stands, parking lot sales, 

or similar acƟviƟes, limited to locaƟons in commercial or industrial districts, and when 
operated not more than 3 days in the same week or more than 5 days in the same month.  

h. Temporary use of trailer units or similar portable structures for nonresidenƟal uses and 
limited to a maximum period of 6 months per calendar year.  

i. AddiƟonal similar uses determined to be temporary by the zoning administrator. 
2) Required CondiƟons of Temporary Use:  

a. Each site occupied by a temporary use shall be leŌ free of debris, liƩer, or other evidence of 
temporary use upon compleƟon or removal of the use.  

b. The zoning administrator may establish such addiƟonal condiƟons as deemed necessary to 
ensure land use compaƟbility and to minimize potenƟal impacts on nearby uses, including 
but not limited to Ɵme and frequency of operaƟon, temporary arrangements for parking and 
traffic circulaƟon, requirements for screening or enclosure, and guarantees for site 
restoraƟon and cleanup following temporary use. 

3) DeterminaƟon: The zoning administrator may authorize a temporary use only when, in his 
judgement, the following determinaƟon can be made: 
a. The temporary use will not impair the normal, safe, and effecƟve operaƟon of a permanent 

use on the same site.  
b. The temporary use will be compaƟble with nearby uses in the general vicinity.  
c. The temporary use will not impact public health, safety, or convenience, or create traffic 

hazards or congesƟon or otherwise interrupt or interfere with the normal conduct of uses 
and acƟviƟes in the vicinity. 

4) ApplicaƟon and AuthorizaƟon: 
a. ApplicaƟon to conduct a temporary use shall be made to the zoning administrator and shall 

include a site plan and descripƟon of the use and such addiƟonal informaƟon as the zoning 
administrator may require to evaluate the use and to make the determinaƟon.  

b. AuthorizaƟon of a temporary use shall be by issuance of a zoning permit.   
c. A temporary use authorized pursuant to these provisions shall not be exempt or relieved 

from compliance with any other ordinance, law, permit, or license applicable to such use. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

54 | P a g e  
 

Use Type Matrix 

  

Use Types IR AR RR R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 MH UC CC DC GC HC BP LI GI 

Agricultural Uses     
Horticulture L P P P P P P P   P P P P       
Crop Production L P P                           
Animal Production M P P                           
Commercial 
Feedlots 

I                               

Livestock Sales I                               
  

Residential Uses     
Single-Family 
Detached L P P P P P P P P               

Single-Family 
Attached 

L   C C C P P P P               

Duplex L         P P   P               
Two-Family L   C C   P P   P               
Townhouse (up to 
4 attached units) 

L         P P   P   P           

Townhouse (over 4 
attached units)* 

M         C P   P   P           

MuItiple-FamiIy H           P   C C C C         
Downtown 
Residential 

M                   P           

Group Residential M   C       P     C             
Manufactured 
Housing Residential L P P P P P P P                 

Mobile Home 
Park 

H             C                 

Mobile Home 
Subdivision 

M             P                 

Retirement 
Residential 

M C C C C P P C P C C C         

P=Uses Permitted by Right C=Uses Permitted by Conditional Use Permit Blank=Use Not Permitted 
Intensity Rating (IR): L = Low M = Moderate H = High I = Intensive 

 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

55 | P a g e  
 

Use Types IR AR RR R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 MH UC CC DC GC HC BP LI GI 

Civic Uses     
Administration L   C C C C C C P P P P P P P P 
Assisted Living M       C C P                   
Cemetery L C C P P P C P                 
Clubs (Recreational) M C C C C C P C P   C P P C P P 
Clubs (Social) M C C C C C P C P P P P P P P P 
College/Univ H C C C C C P C P P P P P P P   
Convalescent 
Services 

L C     C C P C P P C           

Cultural Services M C C P P P P P P P P P P P P   
Day Care 
(Limited) 

L P P P P P P P P P P C C C C C 

Day Care (General) M C C C C C P C P P P P P P C C 
Detention Facilities I                     C C   C C 
Elder Home L P P P P P P P P               
Emergency 
Residential 

L P P P P P P P P P P           

Family Home L P P P P P P P P               
Group Care Facility M       C   P   P P P P P       
Group Home L C     C C P   P P P P P       
Guidance 
Services 

L           P   P P P P P P P P 

Health Care M           P   P P P P P P P P 
Hospitals H           C   C C P P P P C C 
Maintenance Facility H C             C C   P P   P P 
Parks and Recreation L P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P 
Postal Facilities M               C P P P P P P P 
Primary Education H P P P P P P P P P P C C       
Public Assembly H               C C P P P C     
Religious Assembly M P P P P P P P P P P P P   C   
Safety Services M P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P 
Secondary Education H C C C C C P C P P C P C       
Utilities H P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P 
P=Uses Permitted by Right C=Uses Permitted by Conditional Use Permit Blank=Use Not Permitted 

Intensity Rating (IR): L = Low M = Moderate H = High I = Intensive 
  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

56 | P a g e  
 

Use Types IR AR RR R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 MH UC CC DC GC HC BP LI GI 

Commercial Uses     
Ag Sales/Service H                 C C P P   P P 
Auto Rental/Sales H               C C P P P   P   
Auto Services H               C P P P P   P P 
Body Repair I                 C C P P   P P 
Equipment Rental/ Sales H                   C P P   P P 
Equipment Repair H                     P P   P P 
Bed and Breakfast L C C C C C C   P P P P P       
Business Support Services M C C C C C C   P P P P P P P P 
Business/Trade School H                 P P P P P P P 
Campground M C               C   C C       
Cocktail Lounge H               C C C P P C P P 
Commercial Rec (indoor) H               C P P P P P P P 
Commercial Rec (Outdoor) H C                   P P   P P 
Communication Service M               P P P P P P P P 
Construction Sale/ Service H               C C C P P   P P 
Consumer Service M               P P P P P P P   
Convenience Storage H                 C   C C   P P 
Food Sales (Convenience) H               P P P P P P P P 
Food Sales (Limited) L               P P P P P P P P 
Food Sales (General) M               C P P P P       
Food Sales (Supermarkets) H                 P P C C       
Funeral Service M           C   P P P P P P P P 
Kennels M C C C C             C C   P P 
Laundry Services H                   C P P   P P 
Liquor Sales H               C P P P P   C   
Lodging H               P P P P P P C   
Personal Improvement M C C C C C C   P P P P P P P P 
Personal Services M C C C C C C   P P P P P P P P 
Pet Services M C C C C C C   P P P P P P P   
Research Services M               P P P P P P P P 
Restaurants (Drive-in) H               C P C P P   C C 
Restaurants (General) H               P P P P P P C C 
Restricted Business I                           C P 
Retail Services (Limited) 
(Medium) M               P P P P P C     

Retail Services (Large) H               C P C P P       
Retail Services (Mass) I                 C C P P       
Stables M C C                           
Surplus Sales I                   C P     P P 
Trade Services M               C C C P P P P P 
Vehicle Storage (Short-
term) M               C     P     P P 

Veterinary Services M C C           P C C P P   P P 
P=Uses Permitted by Right C=Uses Permitted by Conditional Use Permit Blank=Use Not Permitted 

Intensity Rating (IR): L = Low M = Moderate H = High I = Intensive 
 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

57 | P a g e  
 

Use Types IR AR RR R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 MH UC CC DC GC HC BP LI GI 

Parking Uses     
Primary Education H               C C P P P C P P 
Public Assembly H                 C P P C C P P 
Office Uses     
Corporate Offices M           C   P P P P P P P P 
General Offices M           C   P P P P P P P P 
Financial Offices M               P P P P P P P P 
Medical Offices M               P P P P P P P C 

  
Industrial Uses     
Agricultural Industry I C                         C P 
Construction Yards H C                         P P 
Custom Manufacturing M               C C P P P P P P 
Light Industry H                         C P P 
General Industry I                   C       P P 
Heavy Industry I                             C 
Recycling Collection M                 C C P     P P 
Recycling Processing I                           P P 
Resource Extraction I                             C 
Salvage Services I                             P 
Vehicle Storage (Long-
term) H                     C     P P 

Warehousing (Enclosed) H                   C C C P P P 
Warehousing (Open) I                           C P 

  
Transportation Uses     
Aviation I                         C C P 
Railroad Facilities I                   C C   C P P 
Truck Terminal I                     C     C P 
Transportation Terminal H                 P P P P   P P 

  
Miscellaneous Uses     
Alternative Energy 
Production Devices 

M C C C C C C C C   C C C P P P 

Amateur Radio Tower L P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P 
Communication Tower H C C           C   C C C P P P 
Construction Batch Plant I                     P P   C P 
Construction Batch Plant 
(Temporary) 

I C C                 C C   C C 

Landfill (Non-Putrescible) I                             C 
Landfill Putrescible) I                               

P=Uses Permitted by Right C=Uses Permitted by Conditional Use Permit Blank=Use Not Permitted 
Intensity Rating (IR): L = Low M = Moderate H = High I = Intensive 

 

 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

58 | P a g e  
 

Zoning District RegulaƟons 

168.01 Purpose 

ArƟcle Four presents the Zoning District RegulaƟons. Zoning Districts are established in the Zoning 
RegulaƟons to promote compaƟble land use paƩerns and to establish site development regulaƟons 
appropriate to the purposes and specific nature of each district. 

168.02 Establishment of Districts 

The following base districts and overlay districts are hereby established. Table 168-1 displays the purposes 
of these districts. 

BASE ZONING DISTRICTS DISTRICT NAMES 
  
AR Agricultural Reserve District 
RR Rural ResidenƟal District 
R-1 Single Family ResidenƟal District (8,400 square foot lots) 
R-2 Single-Family ResidenƟal District (6,000 square foot lots) 
R-3 Urban Family ResidenƟal District 
R-4 MulƟple-Family ResidenƟal District 
MH Mobile Home ResidenƟal District 
  
UC Mixed Use Urban Corridor District 
CC Community Commercial District 
DC Downtown Commercial District 
GC General Commercial District 
HC Highway Gateway Commercial District 
  
BP Business Park District 
LI Limited Industrial District 
GI General Industrial District 
  
OVERLAY DISTRICTS 
  
MU Mixed Use District 
PD Planned Unit Development District 
NC Neighborhood conservaƟon Overlay District 
RC Rural ConservaƟon Development Overlay District 
FP/FW Floodplain/Floodway Overlay District 

 

168.03 ApplicaƟon of Districts 

A base district designaƟon shall apply to each lot or site within the city and its planning jurisdicƟon. A site 
must be in one base district. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

59 | P a g e  
 

Overlay districts may be applied to any lot or site or any porƟon thereof, in addiƟon to a base district 
designaƟon. The Mixed Use District may stand alone as a base district. 

168.04 Hierarchy 

References in the Zoning Ordinance to less intensive or more intensive districts shall be deemed to refer to 
those agricultural, residenƟal, commercial, and industrial base zoning districts established in SecƟon 168.02, 
and shall represent a progression from the AR Agricultural Reserve District as the least intensive to the GI 
General Industrial District as the most intensive. The Overlay Districts shall not be included in this reference. 

168.05 Development RegulaƟons 

For each Zoning District: Purposes are set forth in Table 168-1; Uses permiƩed are set forth in Table 168-2; 
and Site Development RegulaƟons are presented in Table 168-3. 

Supplemental RegulaƟons may affect specific land uses or development regulaƟons in each zoning district. 
The applicable Supplemental RegulaƟons are noted in Table 168-2. 

168.06 Zoning Map 

a. AdopƟon of Zoning Map 

Boundaries of zoning districts established by this Zoning RegulaƟons shall be shown on the Zoning Map 
maintained by the City Clerk. This map shall bear the signature of the Mayor aƩested by the City Clerk under 
the cerƟficaƟon that this is the Official Zoning Map referred to by this Ordinance. This map, together with 
all legends, references, symbols, boundaries, and other informaƟon, shall be adopted as a part of, and 
concurrent with these RegulaƟons. Said Zoning Map shall be on file with the City Clerk and shall be readily 
accessible to the public at Glenwood City Hall. 

b. Changes to the Zoning Map 

The city council may from Ɵme to Ɵme adopt a new official zoning map which shall supersede the prior 
official zoning map, in the event that the official zoning map becomes damaged or destroyed; or for 
purposes of clarity due to a number of boundary changes, or to correct draŌing errors or omissions; 
provided, however, that any such adopƟon shall not have the effect of amending the original zoning 
ordinance or any subsequent amendment thereof. 

168.07 InterpretaƟon of District Boundaries 

The following rules shall apply in determining the boundaries of any zoning district shown on the Zoning 
Map. 

a. Where district boundaries are indicated as approximately following lot lines, such lot lines shall be 
considered the district boundaries. 

b. Where district boundaries are indicated as within street or alley, railroad, streams or creeks, or other 
idenƟfiable "rights-of-way, the centerline of such rights-of-way shall be deemed the district boundary. 

c. Where a district boundary divides a property, the locaƟon of the boundary shall be determined by the use 
of the scale appearing on the Zoning Map. 

d. Where district boundaries are indicated as approximately following corporate limits, such corporate limits 
shall be considered the district boundaries. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

60 | P a g e  
 

e. Where district boundaries are indicated as approximately following secƟon lines, quarter secƟon lines, or 
quarter-quarter secƟon lines, such lines shall be considered the district boundaries. 

f. Boundaries not capable of being determined as set forth in 168.07a through 168.07e shall be as 
dimensioned on the official Zoning Map or if not dimensioned shall be determined by the scale shown on 
the map. 

 

168.08 VacaƟon of Streets and Alleys 

Whenever a public street or alley is vacated, the zoning district adjoining each side of such right-of-way shall 
be extended out to the former centerline. 

168.09 AnnexaƟon of Territory 

All unimproved or agricultural territory which may hereaŌer be annexed to the City shall be considered as 
lying in the AR Agricultural Reserve District unƟl such classificaƟon shall be changed as provided by this 
ordinance. Any improved property that is annexed into the city shall be zoned according to the zoning 
district that most nearly describes either its present use or the use proposed by Glenwood's Comprehensive 
Plan. This zoning shall be established by the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council at the 
Ɵme of annexaƟon. 

168.10 Required Conformance 

Except as specified in this chapter, no building or structure shall be erected, converted, enlarged, 
reconstructed or structurally altered, nor shall any building or land be used, which does not comply with all 
of the district regulaƟons established by this Ɵtle for the district in which the building or land is located. 

168.11 Required Frontage 

Except as provided in ArƟcle Seven of this Ɵtle, no lot shall contain any building used in whole or in part for 
residence purposes unless such lot abuts for at least twenty feet on at least one public street, or unless it 
has an exclusive unobstructed private easement of access or right-of-way of at least twenty feet wide to a 
street; and there shall be not more than one single-family dwelling for such frontage or easement, except 
that a common easement of access at least fiŌy feet wide may be provided for two or more such single-
family dwellings or for one or more two-family or mulƟple dwellings. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

61 | P a g e  
 

Table 168-1: Purposes of Zoning Districts 

Symbol Title Purpose 

AR Agricultural Reserve The AR District provides for and preserves the agricultural and rural 
use of land, while accommodaƟng very low-density residenƟal 
development generally associated with agricultural uses. This district 
is designed to maintain complete agricultural uses within the 
Glenwood jurisdicƟon. In addiƟon, land included in the Urban Reserve 
in the Comprehensive Plan should be retained in the AR district to 
prevent premature or inappropriate development. 

RR Rural ResidenƟal This district provides for the rural residenƟal use of land, 
accommodaƟng very low- and low-density residenƟal environments. 
The district's regulaƟons ensure that density is developed consistent 
with land use policies of the Glenwood Comprehensive Plan regarding 
rural subdivisions; levels of infrastructure; and environmentally 
sensiƟve development pracƟces. The RR District is appropriate for 
development that is unlikely to receive urban water and sewer 
services. The district also accommodates developments that merge 
urban living with rural life. 

R-1 Single-Family ResidenƟal 
(8,400 SF Lots) 

This district is intended to provide for -residenƟal development, 
characterized by single-family dwellings on lots with an area of 
8,400 square feet and above. Development in this district will generally 
be provided with urban infrastructure services. 

R-2 Single-Family ResidenƟal 
(6,000 SF Lots) 

This district is intended to provide for residenƟal development, 
characterized by single-family dwellings on relaƟvely small lots with 
an area of 6,000 to 8,400 square feet. Development in this district 
will generally be provided with urban infrastructure services. 

R-3 Urban Family ResidenƟal This district is intended to provide for medium density residenƟal 
development, characterized by single-family dwellings on small lots 
along with low-density mulƟ-unit residenƟal structures such as 
duplexes and townhouses. It provides regulaƟons to encourage 
innovaƟve forms of housing development. It adapts to both established 
and developing neighborhoods, as well as transiƟons between single-
family and mulƟ-family areas. Its regulaƟons are intended to minimize 
traffic congesƟon and to ensure that density is consistent with the 
carrying capacity of infrastructure. 

R-4 MulƟple-Family ResidenƟal This district is intended to provide locaƟons primarily for mulƟple-
family housing, with supporƟng and appropriate community 
faciliƟes. It also permits some non-residenƟal uses such as offices 
through a special permit procedure to permit a mixing of uses that 
have relaƟvely similar operaƟng and development effects. 

MH Mobile Home ResidenƟal This district recognizes that mobile home development, properly planned, 
can provide important opportuniƟes for affordable housing. It provides 
opportuniƟes for mobile home development within planned parks or 
subdivisions, along with the supporƟng services necessary to create 
quality residenƟal neighborhoods. 

   



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

62 | P a g e  
 

Symbol Title Purpose 

UC Mixed Use Urban Corridor This district recognizes the mixed-use character of major urban 
corridors, most notably Locust Street. These corridors someƟmes 
accommodate a combinaƟon of residenƟal, commercial, and office 
uses. Design standards maintain their character as important urban 
streets. 

CC Community Commercial This district is intended for commercial faciliƟes which serve the needs 
of markets ranging from several neighborhoods to the overall region. 
PermiƩed commercial and office uses are generally compaƟble with 
nearby residenƟal areas, with development standards designed to 
minimize the effects of traffic and operaƟng characterisƟcs. CC Districts 
are appropriate at major intersecƟons, at the juncƟon of several 
neighborhoods, or at substanƟal commercial subcenters. 

DC Downtown Commercial This district is intended to provide appropriate development 
regulaƟons for Downtown Glenwood. Mixed uses are encouraged 
within the DC District. The grouping of uses is designed to strengthen 
the town center's role as a center for trade, service, and civic life. 

GC General Commercial This district accommodates a variety of commercial uses, some of 
which have significant traffic or visual effect. These districts may 
include commercial uses which are oriented to services, including 
autot110Ɵve services, rather than retail acƟviƟes. These uses may 
create land use conflicts with adjacent residenƟal areas, requiring 
provision of adequate buffering. This district is most appropriately 
located along major arterial streets or in areas that can be adequately 
buffered from residenƟal districts. 

HC Highway Gateway 
Commercial 

This district is designed to provide high quality commercial 
development at major community gateways and highway 
environments, specifically relaƟng to interchanges or intersecƟons of 
major community arterials such as Locust Street and Highway 
34. The design of projects at these gateways should provide a posiƟve 
first impression to Glenwood. 

BP Business Park This district is designed to promote the development of planned 
business parks that accommodate corporate offices, research faciliƟes, 
and structures which can combine office, distribuƟon, and limited 
industrial uses. These faciliƟes serve a more regional audience, but may 
provide services to local residents. They are characterized by extensive 
landscaping, abundant parking faciliƟes, and good visual and pedestrian 
relaƟonships among buildings. 

LI Limited Industrial This district is intended to reserve sites appropriate for the locaƟon of 
industrial uses with relaƟvely limited environmental effects. The district 
is designed to provide appropriate space and regulaƟons to encourage 
good quality industrial development, while assuring that faciliƟes are 
served with adequate parking and loading faciliƟes. 

GI General Industrial This district is intended to accommodate a wide variety of industrial 
uses, some of which may have significant external effects. These uses 
may have operaƟng characterisƟcs that create conflicts with lower-
intensity surrounding land uses. The district provides the reservaƟon of 
land for these acƟviƟes and includes buffering requirements to reduce 
incompaƟbility. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

63 | P a g e  
 

168.12 Use Matrix: Levels of PermiƩed Uses 

Within zoning districts in Glenwood, different uses are permiƩed with different condiƟons. These are 
displayed in Table 168-2, the Matrix of PermiƩed Uses. Levels of permission include: 

a. Uses which are permiƩed by right. These uses are permiƩed subject to the issuance of a building permit 
by the Building Official, subject only to compliance with all regulaƟons of this Ordinance. Uses permiƩed 
by right might be subject to supplemental regulaƟons contained in this Ordinance. These uses are indicated 
in the Use Matrix by a "P" in the applicable cell. 

b. CondiƟonal uses. These uses are subject to approval of a CondiƟonal Use Permit by the Planning 
Commission, following the procedure set forth in SecƟon 177. These uses are indicated in the Use Matrix 
by a "C" in the applicable cell. CondiƟonal uses with intensity raƟngs of M (moderate), H. (high), or I 
(intensive) require addiƟonal scruƟny and consideraƟon of the impacts on the surrounding area, including 
but not limited to pedestrian and vehicular traffic, noise, lighƟng, and affects to uƟliƟes, like water, sewer 
electrical and communicaƟons. 

c. Site plan approval. Some use types require a site plan approval by the Building Official, based on specific 
criteria for review. This procedure is set forth in SecƟon 177. These uses are indicated in the Use Matrix by 
an asterisk (*) following the ciƟng of a specific use type. 

168.13 Guide to Site Development Regulators 

The regulaƟons set forth in Table 168-3 establish the limits and requirements for most development in the 
City of Glenwood. This secƟon is intended to provide guidance for applying the regulators contained in 
these tables. 

a. Site area per housing unit. This indicates the gross land area per unit within a residenƟal development. For 
example, a 40-lot subdivision on a 10 acre (435,600 square foot tract) will have a site area per unit of 10,890 
square feet. Site area per unit, which measures gross density, may differ from minimum lot size. In 
conservaƟon development, the site area per unit will be larger than  minimum lot size, permiƫng the 
clustering of lots in exchange for common open space. In mulƟfamily development, the site area per unit 
will usually be smaller than the minimum lot size, because the lot is the legal parcel on which a mulƟple-
unit building is built. 

b. Minimum lot area. This indicates the minimum size of a legally described and recorded parcel upon which 
development can take place. As noted above, the minimum lot area and site area per unit may not be the 
same. 

c. Minimum lot width. This is the required minimum distance connecƟng at points along opposite side lot 
lines, measured at the required front yard setback. For example, the lot width of an irregular lot in a district 
requiring a 25-foot front yard setback is determined by: 

1. LocaƟng the points along each side lot line at a distance of 25 feet back from the front property line. 

2. Drawing a line connecƟng these two points. 

3. Measuring the length of this line. The length is the lot width. 

d. Minimum yards. These define the required setbacks of buildings from front, side, and rear property lines. 
While the yard requirements apply to a majority of development, the Ordinance provides for a number of 
excepƟons. Some of these include: 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

64 | P a g e  
 

1. Planned Developments. Front-yard setbacks can be varied within Planned Developments, which are 
reviewed and approved by the City Council aŌer a recommendaƟon from the Planning Commission. 

2. Flexibility provided by Supplemental Development RegulaƟons. SecƟon 171 establishes supplemental 
regulaƟons, many of which provide flexibility or variaƟons in setback regulaƟons for specific contexts. 

3. Maximum setbacks. Some specific zoning districts provide maximum as well as minimum setbacks. 
These setbacks establish "build-to" lines which may be necessary to protect the appearance and 
character of special urban districts. 

e. Maximum height. Height normally measures the verƟcal distance from the established grade to the highest 
point of a building. However, as established by the definiƟon of height, the point of measurement may vary 
for different types of buildings and roof slopes. 

f. Maximum building coverage. This measures the percentage of a site that may be covered by the footprint 
of buildings. Thus, a 20,000 square foot building on a 40,000 square foot site has a building coverage of 
50%. This is a method of regulaƟng the scale of buildings in an area. 

g. Maximum Impervious Coverage. This measures the percentage of a site that may be covered by buildings 
and other surfaces and development features which prevent the penetraƟon of water into the ground 
(such as driveways, porches, parking lots, and other features). Limits on impervious coverage help control 
the velocity and quanƟty of stormwater runoff and provide for groundwater recharge. 

h. Floor area raƟo. Just as site area per unit controls the density of residenƟal development, floor area raƟo 
(FAR) controls the density of non-residenƟal development. FAR is the raƟo of gross floor area of a building 
to total site area. Thus, in an area with a maximum permiƩed FAR of 1.0, a 40,000 square foot building may 
be located on a 40,000 square foot site. Naturally, because of coverage raƟos, landscaping, and parking 
requirements, such a building will be mulƟ-story. 

i. Maximum amount of total parking in street yard. This controls the maximum amount of parking that can 
be located in the area between a building facade and the street. When applied in certain zoning districts, 
it is intended to reduce the number of cars seen from the street, encourage site planning which locates 
parking in rear and side yards, and produce a stronger relaƟonship between buildings and streets. For 
example, a project with 100 parking stalls and a 50% limit on the amount of parking located in street yards 
must locate 50 of its stalls in rear or side yards without street exposure. 

j. Minimum Width of ResidenƟal Structures. This controls the minimum width for any residenƟal building 
structure elevaƟon, which shall be not less than twenty (20) feet in width, in all residenƟal zones. 

k. Minimum Floor Area for ResidenƟal Structures. This controls the minimum floor area for each residenƟal 
structure. Any residenƟal structure shall contain not less than seven hundred-fiŌy (750) square feet of 
enclosed living space. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

65 | P a g e  
 

Table 168-3: Site Development RegulaƟons 

 
Regulator AR RR R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4* 
Minimum Lot Area (square feet)       

One-Family 10 acres 1 acre 8,400 6,000 5,000 4,000 
Duplex, Two-Family NA  --- --- 10,000 7,000 
Townhouses NA  --- --- 9,000 7,000 
MulƟ-Family NA  --- --- --- 7,000 
Other PermiƩed Uses NA 1 acre 8,400 6,000 6,000 6,000 

Minimum Lot Width (feet)       
One-Family 150 100 70 60 50 40 
Duplex     80 70 
Townhouses     25 25 
MulƟ-Family      70 
Other PermiƩed Uses 150 100 70 60 60 70 

Minimum Site Area per Housing Unit 
(square feet) by type of residenƟal 

      

One-Family 10 acres 2 acres 8,400 6,000 5,000 5,000 
Two-Family     5,000 4,000 
Duplex     5,000 3,500 
Townhouse     3,000 2,500 
MulƟ-Family      1,250 

Minimum Yards (feet)       
Front Yard 35 35 25 25 25 25 
Street Side Yard 25 25 25 20 15 10 
Interior Side Yard       

1 to 1.5 stories 20 20 > of 7 or 
10% of lot 

width 

5 5 5 
2-3 stories 20 20 10 10 7 

More than 3 stories NA NA NA NA NA 15 
Non-ResidenƟal Uses 30 30 30 20 20 15 

Rear Yard 35 35 25 25 25 10 
Maximum Height (feet) 35 35 35 35 35 75 
Maximum Building Coverage 10% 20% 25% 40% 50% 60% 
Maximum Impervious Coverage 20% 30% 40% 60% 70% 80% 
Floor Area RaƟo NA NA NA NA NA NA 
       
Minimum Width for Any Building 
ElevaƟon 

20 20 20 20 20 20 

Minimum Floor Area 750 750 750 750 750 750 
  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

66 | P a g e  
 

Table 168-3: Site Development RegulaƟons 
 

Regulator MH UC CC* DC GC* HC* 
       
Minimum Lot Area (square feet)    None 5,000 10,000 

One-Family 5,000 5,000     
Duplex, Two-Family  7,000     
Townhouses  8,000 8,000    
MulƟ-Family 2 acres      
Other PermiƩed Uses  5,000 5,000    

Minimum Lot Width (feet)    None 50 100 
One-Family 60 50     
Duplex  70     
Townhouses  25     
MulƟ-Family  80 80    
Other PermiƩed Uses 80 50 50    

Minimum Site Area per Housing Unit 
(square feet) by type of residenƟal 

      

       
Single-Family 5,000 5,000     
Two-Family  4,000     
Duplex  3,500     
Townhouse  2,500  2,000   
MulƟ-Family  1,250 1,250 600   
Mobile Home Park 4,000      

Minimum Yards (feet)       
Front Yard  Note 3     

Mobile Home Park 35      
Other PermiƩed Uses 25  20 0 10 25 

Street Side Yard (Note 2) 15 15 20 0 10 15 
Interior Side Yard (Note 2)       

1 to 1.5 stories 5 5 Note 4 0 0 0 
2-3 stories 7 7 0 0 0 
More than 3 stories  10  0 0 0 

Rear Yard (Note 2) 25 15 10 0 10 20 
       

Maximum Height (feet) 35 45 45 No Limit 55 55 
       
Maximum Building Coverage  50% 60% 100% 70% 60% 
Maximum Impervious Coverage  70% 80% 100% 90% 80% 
Floor Area RaƟo  0.50 1.0 No Limit 1.0 1.0 
Maximum Amount of Total Parking 
Located in Street Yard 

 50% 80% 20% 80% 100% 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

67 | P a g e  
 

Table 168-3: Site Development RegulaƟons 
 

Regulator BP LI* GI* 
    
Minimum Lot Area (square feet) 10,000 5,000 5,000 

    
Minimum Lot Width (feet) 100 50 50 

    
Minimum Yards (feet)    

Front Yard 25 20 20 
Street Side Yard 25 20 20 
Interior Side Yard 10 0 0 
Rear Yard (Note 5) 25 10 10 
    

Maximum Height (feet) 45 45 No Limit 
Maximum Building Coverage 60% 70% 70% 
Maximum Impervious Coverage 80% 90% 90% 
Floor Area RaƟo 2.0 1.0 No Limit 
Maximum Amount of Total Parking 
Located in Street Yard 

50% No Limit No Limit 

    
 

                                                                           

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

68 | P a g e  
 

SecƟon 169 

Performance Point EvaluaƟon System 

Eliminated. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

69 | P a g e  
 

SecƟon 170 

Special and Overlay Districts 

170.01 General Purpose 

Special and Overlay Districts recognize the presence of special community characterisƟcs that tradiƟonal 
zoning districts do not adequately address. Special Districts provide for base districts that allow mulƟple 
land uses and flexible development, with the requirement that a specific plan for the area be submiƩed by 
applicants. Overlay Districts are used in combinaƟon with base districts to modify or expand base district 
regulaƟons. Overlay Districts are adapted to special needs of different parts of the City of Glenwood. 

The Overlay Districts are designed to achieve the following objecƟves: 

a. To recognize special condiƟons in specific parts of the City which require specific regulaƟon. 

b. To provide flexibility in development and to encourage innovaƟve design through comprehensively 
planned projects. 

170.10 MU MIXED USE DISTRICT 

170.101 Purpose 

The MU Mixed Use District is intended to accommodate projects which combine several compaƟble land 
uses into an integrated development. The MU District may also be used to predesignate parts of the city 
which are appropriate for a mixture of residenƟal, commercial, office, and accessory uses. The district 
permits mixing residenƟal areas with workplaces and services. Development in the MU District must 
accommodate transportaƟon systems, pedestrian and bicycle movement, and surrounding environments. 

170.102 PermiƩed Uses 

Each ordinance establishing an MU District establishes the use types permiƩed within its boundaries. 

170.103 Site Development RegulaƟons 

a. The minimum area of any MU District is one acre. 

b. Prior to the issuance of any building permits or other authorizaƟon, all projects in the MU District shall 
receive approval by the City Council, following a recommendaƟon by the Planning Commission. This 
approval may be granted for a specific plan for the development of an MU District in lieu of a plan for 
individual projects, provided that any subsequent developments are consistent with the specific plan. 

c. ApplicaƟons for approval must contain at a minimum the following informaƟon: 

1. A detailed site map, including: 

(a) a boundary survey 

(b) site dimensions 

(c) contour lines at no greater than five-foot intervals 

(d) adjacent public rights of way, transportaƟon routes, and pedestrian or bicycle systems 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

70 | P a g e  
 

(e) descripƟon of adjacent land uses 

(f) uƟlity service to the site and easements through the site 

(g) descripƟon of other site features, including drainage, soils, or other consideraƟons that may 
affect development. 

2. A development plan, including: 

(a) a site layout, including the locaƟon of proposed buildings, parking, open space, and other 
faciliƟes 

(b) locaƟon, capacity, and conceptual design of parking faciliƟes 

(c) descripƟon of the use of individual buildings 

(d) descripƟon of all use types to be included in the project or area, and maximum floor area 
devoted to each general use 

(e) (e) maximum height of buildings 

(f) schemaƟc locaƟon and design of open space on the site, including a landscaping plan 

(g) vehicular and pedestrian circulaƟon plan, including relaƟonship to external transportaƟon 
systems 

(h) schemaƟc building elevaƟons and secƟons if required to describe the project 

(i) grading plans 

(j) proposed sewer and uƟlity improvements 

(k) locaƟon, sizes, and types of all proposed signage. 

3. Specific proposed development regulaƟons for the project, including: 

(a) the specific use types permiƩed within the proposed district 

(b) maximum floor area raƟos 

(c) front, side, and rear yard setbacks 

(d) maximum height 

(e) maximum building and impervious coverage (f) design standards applicable to the project. 

4. A traffic impact analysis, if required by the City. 

170.104 AdopƟon of District 

a. The Planning Commission and City Council shall review and evaluate each Mixed-Use District 
applicaƟon. The City may impose reasonable condiƟons, as deemed necessary to ensure that a Mixed-
Use Development shall be compaƟble with adjacent land uses, will not overburden public services and 
faciliƟes and will not be detrimental to public health, safety and welfare. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

71 | P a g e  
 

b. The Planning Commission, aŌer proper noƟce, shall hold a public hearing and act upon each 
applicaƟon. 

c. The Planning Commission may recommend amendments to MU district applicaƟons. 

d. The recommendaƟon of the Planning Commission shall be transmiƩed to the City Council for final 
acƟon. 

e. The City Council, aŌer proper noƟce, shall hold a public hearing and act upon any Ordinance 
establishing a MU Mixed Use District. Proper noƟce shall mean the same noƟce established for any 
other zoning amendment. 

f. An Ordinance adopƟng a Mixed-Use District shall require a favorable simple majority of the City 
Council for approval. 

g. Upon approval by the City Council, the Development Plan shall become a part of the Ordinance creaƟng 
or amending the MU District. All approved plans shall be filed with the City Clerk. 

170.105 Amendments 

The Zoning Administrator is authorized at his/her discreƟon to approve amendments to an approved 
development plan, provided that: 

a. A wriƩen request is filed with the Zoning Administrator, along with informaƟon specifying the exact 
nature of the proposed amendment. 

b. The amendment is consistent with the provisions of this secƟon. 

c. The amendment does not alter the approved site regulaƟons of the development plan and does not 
materially alter other aspects of the plan, including traffic circulaƟon, mixture of use types, and physical 
design. 

d. Any amendment not conforming to these provisions shall be submiƩed to the Planning Commission 
and City Council for acƟon. 

170.20 PD PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

170.201 Purpose 

The PD Planned Development Overlay District is intended to provide flexibility in the design of planned 
projects; to permit innovaƟon in project design that incorporates open space and other ameniƟes; and to 
insure compaƟbility of developments with the surrounding urban environment. Planned developments 
oŌen involve groupings of buildings or sites that are designed as an integrated unit on land under unified 
control or ownership at the Ɵme of grant of development permission. The requirements of a PD run with 
the land regardless of the subsequent sale or conveyance of property. The PD District may be used in 
combinaƟon with any base district specified in this Ordinance. The PD District, which is adopted by the City 
Council with the recommendaƟon of the Planning Commission, assures specific development standards for 
each designated project. 

 

170.202 PermiƩed Uses 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

72 | P a g e  
 

Uses permiƩed in a PD Overlay District are those permiƩed in the underlying base district. A PD also may 
be combined with an MU Mixed Use District to allow a combinaƟon of use types not anƟcipated by 
convenƟonal base districts. 

170.202 ObjecƟves of Planned Development Districts 

In evaluaƟng applicaƟons for PD Planned Development Overlay Districts, the Planning Commission and 
City Council shall consider the following general objecƟves. 

a. ResidenƟal PD Districts 

ResidenƟal PD Districts should be designed to produce more usable open space, provide beƩer recreaƟon 
opportuniƟes, enhance pedestrian scale, protect or create neighborhood ameniƟes and environmental 
features, and produce more aƩracƟve neighborhoods than those produced by convenƟonal development 
techniques. 

b. Commercial PD Districts 

Commercial PD Districts should be designed to produce more aƩracƟve and funcƟonal clusters and 
commercial centers than the strip development that is frequently produced by the applicaƟon of 
convenƟonal zoning regulaƟons. Techniques encouraged by PD Districts include consolidated access, 
shared parking, consistent architectural quality, improved pedestrian and trail access to commercial 
faciliƟes, public space, and integrated landscaping and signage programs. 

c. Industrial PD Districts 

Industrial PD Districts should promote the establishment of industrial parks and to encourage groups of 
industrial buildings with integrated site design and architectural and landscaping themes. 

d. PD Districts in SensiƟve Contexts 

PD Districts may be uƟlized to provide a high level of detail and define the requirements of project 
approval for developments proposed within seƫngs that are so sensiƟve that normal zoning 
requirements, including landscaping and buffering requirements, do not provide sufficient protecƟon 
for neighboring properƟes. 

170.204 Site Development RegulaƟons 

Site Development RegulaƟons are developed individually for each Planned Development District, but 
must comply with the minimum or maximum standards established for the base district, with the 
following excepƟons: 

a. Lot area and lot width are not restricted, provided that the maximum density allowed for each base 
district is not exceeded. 

b. Maximum building coverage shall be the smaller of the allowed building coverage in the base district, 
or 60 percent. 

c. Setback requirements may be varied according to the specific Planned Development plan. 

 

170,205 Access to Public Streets 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

73 | P a g e  
 

Each PD District must abut a public street for at least 100 feet and gain access from that street. 

170.206 ApplicaƟon Process 

a. Development Plan 

The applicaƟon for a Planned Development District shall include a Development Plan containing the 
following informaƟon: 

b. ApplicaƟon Requirements 

An applicaƟon for approval must contain at a minimum the following informaƟon: 

1. A detailed site map, including: 

(a) a boundary survey 

(b) site dimensions 

(c) contour lines at no greater than two-foot intervals 

(d) adjacent public rights of way, transportaƟon routes, and pedestrian or bicycle systems 

(e) descripƟon of adjacent land uses 

(f) uƟlity service to the site and easements through the site 

(g) descripƟon of other site features, including drainage, soils, or other consideraƟons that may 
affect development. 

2. A development plan, including: 

(a) A land use plan designaƟng specific uses for the site and establishing site development 
regulaƟons, including setback, height, building coverage, impervious coverage, density, and 
floor area raƟo requirements. 

(b) a site layout, including the locaƟon of proposed buildings, parking, open space, and other 
faciliƟes 

(c) locaƟon, capacity, and conceptual design of parking faciliƟes 

(d) descripƟon of the use of individual buildings 

(e) schemaƟc architectural plans and elevaƟons sufficient to indicate a building height, bulk, 
materials, and general architectural design. 

(f) a site development and landscaping plan, showing building locaƟons, or building envelopes; 
site improvements; public or common open spaces; community faciliƟes; significant visual 
features; and typical landscape plans. 

(g) vehicular and pedestrian circulaƟon plan, including relaƟonship to external transportaƟon 
systems 

(h) schemaƟc building elevaƟons and secƟons if required to describe the project 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

74 | P a g e  
 

(i) grading plans 

(j) proposed sewer and uƟlity improvements 

(k) locaƟon, sizes, and types of all proposed signage. 

3. A staƟsƟcal summary of the project, including gross site area, net site area, number of 
housing units by type, gross floor area of other uses, total amount of parking, and building 
and impervious surface percentages. 

170.207 AdopƟon of District 

a. The Planning Commission and City Council shall review and evaluate each Planned Unit Development 
applicaƟon. The City may impose reasonable condiƟons, as deemed necessary to ensure that a PD shall 
be compaƟble with adjacent land uses, will not overburden public services and faciliƟes and will not 
be detrimental to public health, safety and welfare. 

b. The Planning Commission, aŌer proper noƟce, shall hold a public hearing and act upon each 
applicaƟon. 

c. The Planning Commission may recommend amendments to PD district applicaƟons. 

d. The recommendaƟon of the Planning Commission shall be transmiƩed to the City Council for final 
acƟon. 

e. The City Council, aŌer proper noƟce, shall hold a public hearing and act upon any Ordinance 
establishing a PD Planned Unit Development Overlay District. Proper noƟce shall mean the same noƟce 
established for any other zoning amendment. 

f. An Ordinance adopƟng a Planned. Development Overlay Zoning District shall require a favorable simple 
majority of the City Council for approval. 

g. Upon approval by the City Council, the Development Plan shall become a part of the Ordinance creaƟng 
or amending the PD District. Ali approved plans shall be filed with the City Clerk. 

170.208 Amendment Procedure 

Major amendments to the Development Plan must be approved according to the same procedure set 
forth in SecƟon 170.207. 

1770.209 Building Permits 

The City shall not issue a building permit, cerƟficate of occupancy, or other permit for a building, 
structure, or use within a PD District unless it is in compliance with the approved Development 
Plan or any approved amendments. 

170.210 TerminaƟon of PD District 

If no substanƟal development has taken place in a Planned Development District for three years 
following approval of the District, the Planning Commission shall reconsider the zoning of the property 
and may, on its own moƟon, iniƟate an applicaƟon for zoning district amendment of the property. 

170.30 NC HISTORIC NEIGHBORHOOD CONSERVATION OVERLAY DISTRICT 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

75 | P a g e  
 

170.301 Purpose 

The NC Historic Neighborhood ConservaƟon Overlay District enables the adopƟon of special 
performance and development standards in combinaƟon with site development regulaƟons of a base 
district for areas of special historical or architectural significance within the City of Glenwood. The 
District recognizes the importance of historically and architecturally significant districts to the 
character of Glenwood and provides for their conservaƟon. 

170.302 ApplicaƟon and Use 

The NC Overlay District provides an opportunity to establish and apply special development controls 
and standards for areas in Glenwood with special physical or design characterisƟcs. Examples of these 
standards may include but not be limited to:  

a. VariaƟons or subsƟtuƟons of development regulaƟons, including revised minimum and maximum 
setbacks, lot sizes, heights, and other regulaƟons, based on the unique characterisƟcs of the 
neighborhood. 

b. Requirements for building design, materials, features, and orientaƟons. 

c. Special requirements or permissions for signage. 

d. LimitaƟons on maximum size and scale of buildings. 

e. LimitaƟons on locaƟon of parking, driveways, and other features that have an impact on the fabric of 
a tradiƟonal neighborhood. 

170.303 Procedure for AdopƟon 

a. Proposal 

The creaƟon of an NC Overlay District may be iniƟated by the Planning Commission, the City Council, or 
by peƟƟon of the owner or owners of 51% of the property area within the proposed district. 

b. Requirements for ApplicaƟon 

An applicaƟon for the creaƟon of an NC Overlay District must include: 

1. A statement describing the proposed district's special historical or architectural characterisƟcs and 
staƟng the reasons for proposal of the district 

2. A map indicaƟng the boundaries of the proposed NC Overlay District, specifying the base district(s) 
included within these boundaries. 

3. An inventory of the buildings or historically important sites located within the boundaries of the 
proposed district. 

4. Supplemental site development regulaƟons, design criteria, and performance standards that apply 
to the proposed district. 

170.304 AdopƟon of District 

a. The Planning Commission, and City Council shall review and evaluate each NC Overlay District 
applicaƟon. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

76 | P a g e  
 

b. The Planning Commission, aŌer proper noƟce, shall hold public hearings and act upon each applicaƟon. 

c. The Planning Commission may recommend amendments to NC district applicaƟons. 

d. The recommendaƟon of the Planning Commission shall be transmiƩed to the City Council for final 
acƟon. 

e. The City Council, aŌer proper noƟce, shall hold a public hearing and act upon any Ordinance 
establishing an NC Historic Overlay District.  

f. The Ordinance adopƟng the NC District shall include a statement of purpose, a descripƟon of district 
boundaries, and a list of supplemental site development regulaƟons and performance standards. 

g. An Ordinance adopƟng an NC Overlay District shall require a favorable vote of a simple majority of the 
City Council for approval. 

h. Upon approval by the City Council, each NC Overlay District shall be shown on the Zoning Map, 
idenƟfied sequenƟally by order of enactment and referenced to the enacƟng Ordinance. 

i. Any protest against an NC Overlay District shall be made and filed as provided by the Code of Iowa, and 
amendments thereto.  

170.305 Building Permits 

Building or other development permits issued by the City in an NC District shall be consistent with 
the adopted NC District Ordinance and shall follow all procedures for review that are established by 
the City. 

170.40 RC CONSERVATION DEVELOPMENT OVERLAY DISTRICT 

170.401 Purpose 

The RC ConservaƟon Development Overlay District is intended to require development design 
standards and techniques in sensiƟve environmental areas in and around Glenwood that preserve 
unique landforms and the character of land. Glenwood's locaƟon in the Loess Hills produces special 
environments, which include the rolling hills north of the city. The techniques of the RC district require 
that the natural landforms determine the design and character of new residenƟal development in these 
sensiƟve areas. Areas of environmental sensiƟvity and potenƟal applicaƟon of the RC Overlay District 
are established in the city's comprehensive development plan. 

170.402 Process 

Subdivisions in an RC Overlay district generally follow the approval procedures outlined in SecƟon 
179, establishing the process for preliminary and final plat approval. Projects which do not require 
subdivision follow approval procedures appropriate to the specific project, including condiƟonal use 
permits, zoning amendments, site plan review, or other applicable measures. The requirements and 
standards included in this secƟon are in addiƟon to those established procedures. 

170.403 PermiƩed Land Uses 

Land uses permiƩed in an RC District are the same as those permiƩed in the underlying base district. 

170.404 PermiƩed Yield 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

77 | P a g e  
 

Developments in RC Overlay districts are permiƩed the same density on developable area as would 
be allowed to convenƟonal residenƟal development in the underlying zoning district. Yield in 
housing units (Y) is calculated using the formula: 

Y=0.90(TA-UA) 
 SA 

where: 

TA = Total parcel area 

UA = Undevelopable areas, defined as the sum of wetlands designated by the NaƟonal Wetlands Survey, 
Water of the United States, slopes exceeding 20%, floodways, and soils subject to slumping, as 
indicated on the medium intensity maps contained in the county soil survey published be the USDA 
Soil ConservaƟon Service, is subtracted from the total parcel area. 

.90 = an allowance for the typical percentage of land available aŌer deducƟng the area of public streets and 
rights-of-way serving a low-density residenƟal development. 

SA = Minimum site area per unit required by the underlying zoning district. 

170.405 Minimum Percentage of Open Space 

a. The minimum percentage of land that shall be designated as permanent open space, not to be further 
subdivided, and protected through a conservaƟon easement held by the City of Glenwood, Mills 
County, or by a recognized land trust or conservancy, shall be a minimum of 35% of the Net Developable 
Area, defined as .90(TA-UA) 

b. The above areas shall generally be designated as undivided open space, to facilitate easement 
monitoring and enforcement, and to promote appropriate management by a single enƟty according to 
approved land management standards. 

c. All undivided open space and any lot capable of further subdivision shall be restricted from further 
subdivision through a permanent conservaƟon easement, in a form acceptable to the City and duly 
recorded in the Mills County Recorders Office. 

d. The required open space may be used, without restricƟon, for underground drainage fields for 
individual or community sepƟc systems, and for "spray fields" for spray irrigaƟon purposed in a "land 
treatment" sewage disposal system. However, "mound" systems protruding above grade and aerated 
sewage treatment ponds shall be limited to no more than ten percent of the required mini-num open 
space. 

e. Stormwater management ponds or basins may be included as part of the minimum required open 
space, as may land within the rights-of-way for underground pipelines. However, land within the rights-
of-way of high tension power lines shall not be included as comprising part of the minimum required 
open space. 

170.406 ConservaƟon Areas as Open Space 

a. The locaƟon of open space shall be consistent with the policies contained in the City of Glenwood's 
Comprehensive Development Plan, and with the recommendaƟons contained in this secƟon and the 
following secƟon ("EvaluaƟon Criteria"). 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

78 | P a g e  
 

b. Open space shall be comprised of two types of land; "Primary ConservaƟon Areas" and "Secondary 
ConservaƟon Areas." All lands within both Primary and Secondary ConservaƟon Areas shall be 
protected by a permanent conservaƟon easement prohibiƟng future development, and seƫng other 
standards safeguarding the site's special resources from negaƟve changes. 

1. Primary ConservaƟon Areas. This category consists of wetlands designated by the NaƟonal 
Wetlands Survey, Water of the United States, slopes exceeding 20%, floodways, and soils subject 
to slumping, as indicated on the medium intensity maps contained in the county soil survey 
published by the USDA Soil ConservaƟon Service. 

2. Secondary ConservaƟon Areas. Secondary ConservaƟon Areas comprise at least 35 percent of the 
Net Developable Area and shall be designated and permanently protected. Full density credit shall 
be allowed for land in this category that would otherwise be buildable under local, state, and 
federal regulaƟons, so that their development potenƟal is not reduced by this designaƟon. Such 
density credit may be applied to other unconstrained parts of the site. Secondary ConservaƟon 
Areas are determined by specific project design and typically include all or some of the following 
kinds of resources: 

(a) A 100-foot deep greenway buffer along all waterbodies and watercourses, and a 50-foot 
greenway buffer alongside wetlands soils classified as "very poorly drained" in the medium 
intensity county soil survey of the USDA Natural Resources ConservaƟon Service. These areas 
must be conserved as Secondary ConservaƟon Areas but are considered as Developable Areas 
for the purpose of calculaƟng yield. 

(b) 100-year floodplains. 

(c) woodlands, individual specimen trees, or small stands of significant trees 

(d) aquifer recharge areas and areas with highly permeable ("excessively drained") soil 

(e) significant wildlife habitat areas 

(f) Class I and Class Il farmlands 

(g) historic, archaeological or cultural features listed (or eligible to be listed) on the NaƟonal 
Register of Historic Places. 

(h) slopes in excess of 15% 

(i) ridgelines and view corridors 

(j) land with soils that do not support residenƟal development. 

 

 

170.407 LocaƟon Standards for Open Space 

a. Access to ResidenƟal Lots 

Undivided open space shall be directly accessible to the largest pracƟcable number of lots within a 
conservaƟon subdivision. To achieve this, the majority of house lots should abut undivided open space 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

79 | P a g e  
 

in order to provide direct views and access. Safe and convenient pedestrian access to the open space 
from all lots not adjoining the open space shall be provided (except in the case of farmland, or other 
resource areas vulnerable to trampling damage or human disturbance). Where the undivided open 
space is designated as separate, nonconƟguous parcels, no parcel shall consist of less than three (3) 
acres in area nor have a length-to-width raƟo in excess of 4:1, except such areas that are specifically 
designed as village greens, ballfields, upland buffers to wetlands, waterbodies or watercourses, or trail 
links. 

b. InterconnecƟon of Open Spaces 

Protected open spaces in each new subdivision are encouraged to adjoin each other, ulƟmately forming 
an interconnected network of Primary and Secondary ConservaƟon Areas across the county. The only 
elements of the network that would necessarily be open to the public are those lands that have been 
required to be dedicated for public use and typically configured in a linear fashion as an element of 
Glenwood's long-range open space network through the Comprehensive Development Plan. 

170.408 Special Processes for ConservaƟon Developments 

The review and approval process for subdivisions in the RC Overlay District is the same as that for 
convenƟonal subdivisions, as set forth in SecƟon 178. AddiƟonal provisions and approval processes are set 
forth in this secƟon. 

a. ExisƟng Features Plan 

1. Plans analyzing each site's special features are required for all proposed subdivisions. "The ExisƟng 
Features Plan shall include at a minimum(l) a contour map based at least upon topographical maps 
published by the U.S. Geological Survey; (2) the locaƟon of severely constraining elements such as 
steep slops (over 25%),wetlands, watercourses, intermiƩent streams and 100 year floodplains, and 
all rights-of-way and easements; (3) soil boundaries as shown on USDA Natural Resources 
ConservaƟon Service medium- intensity maps; and (4) the locaƟon of significant features such as 
woodlands, tree lines, open fields or meadows, scenic views into or out from property, watershed 
divides and drainage ways, fences or stone walls, rock outcrops, and exisƟng structures, roads, 
tracks and trails. 

2. The ExisƟng Features Plan shall idenƟfy both Primary ConservaƟon Areas and Secondary 
ConservaƟon Areas, as described in SecƟon 170.406.b.1 and 170.406.b.2 of this ordinance. The 
ExisƟng Features Plan shall form the basis for the Conceptual Preliminary Plan, which shall show 
the tentaƟve locaƟon of houses, streets, lot lines, and greenway lands in new subdivisions, 
according to the four-step design process described below.  

b. Conceptual Preliminary Plan 

A sketch plan or a Conceptual Preliminary Plan shall be submiƩed for all proposed subdivisions to 
the Building Official before submission of a formal preliminary plat applicaƟon. A Conceptual 
Preliminary Plan presents a conceptual layout for greenway and open lands, house sites, and 
street alignments. Each Conceptual Preliminary Plan shall follow a four-step design process, as 
described below. Applicants shall be prepared to demonstrate to the City Planner that these four 
design steps were followed in the preparaƟon of the plan. 

1. Step One: DesignaƟng the Open Space. During the first step, all potenƟal conservaƟon areas (both 
primary and secondary as defined above) are idenƟfied, using the ExisƟng Features Plan. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

80 | P a g e  
 

2. Step Two: LocaƟon of House Sites. During the second step, potenƟal house sites are located. 
Subdivision applicants shall idenƟfy tentaƟve house sites on the Conceptual Preliminary Plan and 
proposed house sites on the detailed Final Plan. House sites should generally be located not closer 
than 100 feet from Primary ConservaƟon Areas, but may be situated within 50 feet of Secondary 
ConservaƟon Areas, in order to enjoy views of the laƩer without negaƟvely affecƟng the former. 

3. Step Three: Street and Lot Layout. The third step consists of aligning proposed streets to provide 
vehicular access to each house in the most reasonable and economical way. When lots and access 
streets are laid out, they shall be located in a way that avoids or at least minimizes adverse impacts 
on both the Primary and Secondary ConservaƟon Areas, To the greatest extent pracƟcable, wetland 
crossings and streets traversing exisƟng slopes over 15% shall be strongly discouraged. Street 
connecƟons shall generally be encouraged to minimize the number of new cul-de-sacs to be 
maintained by the city and to facilitate easy access to and from homes in different parts of the 
property (and on adjoining parcels). Where cul-de-sacs are necessary, those serving six or fewer 
homes may be designed with "hammerheads" facilitaƟng three-point turns. 

4. Step Four: Lot Lines. 'Ihe fourth step is to draw in the lot line (where applicable). These are generally 
drawn midway between house locaƟons and may include L-shaped "flag lots" meeƟng the City's 
minimum standards for the same. 

5. Review and Comments. The Building Official and City Engineer shall return wriƩen comments on the 
Conceptual Preliminary Plan to the applicant within 30 days of submiƩal. These comments should 
recommend to be made prior to submiƩal of a Preliminary Plat applicaƟon. 

170.409 Ownership and Maintenance of Common Open Space 

Developments in the RC Overlay District shall provide for ownership and maintenance of common open 
space. Common open space within a development shall be owned, administered, and maintained by any 
of the following methods, either individually or in combinaƟon, and subject to approval by the City. 

a. Offer of DedicaƟon 

The City of Glenwood or Mills County shall have the first and last offer of dedicaƟon of undivided 
open space in the event said land is to be conveyed. DedicaƟon shall take the form of a fee simple 
ownership. The City or other public agency may, but shall not be required to accept undivided open 
space provided: (1) such land is accessible to the residents of the city/county; (2) there is no cost 
of acquisiƟon other than any costs incidental to the transfer of ownership such as Ɵtle insurance; 
and (3) the city/county agrees to and has access to maintain such lands. AlternaƟvely, a public 
agency may accept an easement, subject to the above condiƟons. 

b. Homeowners AssociaƟon 

The undivided open space and associated faciliƟes may be held in common ownership by a 
homeowners' associaƟon. The associaƟon shall be formed and operated under the following 
provisions: 

1. The developer shall provide a descripƟon of the associaƟon, including its bylaws and methods for 
maintaining the open space. 

2. The associaƟon shall be organized by the developer and shall be operated with financial assistance 
from the developer, before the sale of any lots within the development. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

81 | P a g e  
 

3. Membership in the associaƟon is automaƟc (mandatory) for all purchasers of homes therein and 
their successors. The condiƟons and Ɵming of transferring control of the associaƟon from 
developer to homeowners shall be idenƟfied. 

4. The associaƟon shall be responsible for maintenance of insurance and taxes on undivided open 
space, enforceable by liens placed by the city/ county on the associaƟon. 'Ihe associaƟon may place 
liens on the homes or house lots of its members who fail to pay their associaƟon dues in a Ɵmely 
manner. Such liens may require the imposiƟon of penalty interest charges. 

5. The members of the associaƟon shall share equitably the costs of maintaining and developing such 
undivided open space. Shares shall be defined within the associaƟon bylaws. 

6. In the event of a proposed transfer, within the methods here permiƩed, of undivided open space 
land by the homeowners' associaƟon, or of the assumpƟon of maintenance of undivided open 
space land by a public agency, noƟce of such acƟon shall be given to all property owners within the 
development. 

7. The homeowners' associaƟon may lease open space lands to any other qualified person, or 
corporaƟon, for operaƟon and maintenance of open space lands. 

c. Condominiums 

The undivided open space and associated faciliƟes may be controlled through the use of 
condominium agreements. Such agreements shall be in conformance with the state statute. 

All undivided open space land shall be held as a "common element." 

d. Transfer of Easements to a Private ConservaƟon OrganizaƟon. 

An owner may transfer easements to a private, nonprofit organizaƟon, among whose purposes it 
is to conserve open space and / or natural resources, provided that: 

1. The organizaƟon is acceptable to the City, and is a bona fide conservaƟon organizaƟon with 
perpetual existence; 

2. The conveyance contains appropriate provisions for proper reverser or retransfer in the event that 
the organizaƟon becomes unwilling or unable to conƟnue carrying out its funcƟons; and 

3. A maintenance agreement acceptable to the commission is entered into by the developer and the 
organizaƟon. 

170.410 Maintenance Standards 

a. Financial Responsibility 

The ulƟmate owner of the open space (typically a homeowners' associaƟon) shall be responsible for 
raising all monies required for operaƟons, maintenance, or physical improvements to the open space 
through annual dues, special assessments, etc. The homeowners' associaƟon shall be authorized under 
its bylaws to place liens on the property of residents who fall delinquent in payment of such dues or 
assessments. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

82 | P a g e  
 

b. Maintenance Enforcement 

1. In the event that the associaƟon or any successor organizaƟon shall, at any Ɵme aŌer establishment 
of a development containing undivided open space, fail to maintain the undivided open space in 
reasonable order and condiƟon in accordance with the development plan, the City may serve 
wriƩen noƟce upon the owner of record, seƫng forth the manner in which the owner of record 
has failed to maintain the undivided open space in reasonable condiƟon. 

2. Failure to adequately maintain the undivided open space in reasonable order and condiƟon 
consƟtutes a violaƟon of this ordinance. 

3. Should any bill or bills for maintenance of undivided open space by the City or County be unpaid, 
a late fee of fiŌeen percent shall be added to such bills and a lien shall be filed against the premises 
in the same manner as other municipal claims. 

170.411 EvaluaƟon Criteria 

In evaluaƟng the layout of lots and open space, the following criteria will be considered by the Planning 
Commission and City Council as indicaƟng design appropriate to the site's natural, historic, and cultural 
features, and meeƟng the purposed of this ordinance: 

a. ProtecƟon of floodplains, wetlands, and steep slopes from clearing, grading, filling, or construcƟon 
except as may be approved for essenƟal infrastructure or acƟve or passive recreaƟon ameniƟes. 

b. PreservaƟon and maintenance of woodlands, exisƟng fields, pastures, meadows, and orchards, and 
sufficient buffer areas to minimize conflicts between residenƟal and agricultural uses. 

c. Maintenance of buffers at least 100 feet in depth adjacent to wetlands and surface waters, including 
creeks, streams, springs, lakes and ponds. 

d. Design around exisƟng tree lines between fields or meadows, and minimal impacts on large woodlands 
(greater than five acres), especially those containing many mature trees or a significant wildlife habitat. 

e. Maintenance of scenic views. 

f. Avoidance of new construcƟon on prominent hilltops or ridges, by taking advantage of lower 
topographic features. 

g. ProtecƟon of wildlife habitat areas of species listed as endangered, threatened, or of special concern 
by the U.S. Environmental ProtecƟon Agency. 

h. Design around and preserves sites of historic, archaeological, or cultural value, including stone walls, 
barn foundaƟons, cellar holes, earthworks, and burial grounds. 

i. ProtecƟon of rural character and improves public safety and vehicular carrying capacity by avoiding 
development fronƟng directly onto exisƟng public roads. 

j. Landscaping of common areas if appropriate. 

k. Provision of acƟve or passive recreaƟonal areas in suitable locaƟons that offer convenient access by 
residents and adequate screening from nearby house lots. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

83 | P a g e  
 

l. Inclusion of a pedestrian circulaƟon system providing access between properƟes, acƟviƟes, or special 
features within the neighborhood open space system. All roadside footpaths should connect with off-
road trails.  

m. Provision of open space that is reasonably conƟguous, avoiding fragmented open spaces. 

170.50 FP FLOODPLAIN/ FLOODWAY OVERLAY DISTRICT 

170.501 Purpose 

It is the purpose of this ordinance to promote the public health, safety and general welfare and to 
minimize losses to property by applying the provisions of this ordinance to: 

1. Restrict or prohibit uses which are dangerous to health, safety, or property in Ɵmes of flooding or 
cause undue increases in flood heights or velociƟes. 

2. Require that uses vulnerable to floods, including public faciliƟes which serve such uses, be 
provided with flood protecƟon at the Ɵme of iniƟal construcƟon. 

3. Protect individuals from buying lands which are unsuitable for intended purposes because of 
flood hazard. 

4. Assure that eligibility is maintained for property owners in the community to purchase flood 
insurance in the NaƟonal Flood Insurance Program when idenƟfied by the Federal Insurance 
AdministraƟon as a flood prone community. 

170.502 Floodplain and Floodway Overlay Districts: Findings Of Fact 

a. Flood Losses ResulƟng from Periodic InundaƟon 

Flood hazard areas of the City of Glenwood, Iowa, are subject to inundaƟon which results in loss of life 
or property, health and safety hazards, disrupƟon of commerce and governmental services, 
extraordinary public expenditures for flood protecƟon and relief, and impairment of the tax base, all 
of which adversely affect the public health, safety and general welfare. 

1. General Causes of These Flood Losses 

These flood losses are caused by (a) the cumulaƟve effect of obstrucƟon in floodways causing 
increases in flood heights and velociƟes, (b) the occupancy of flood areas by uses vulnerable to 
floods or hazardous to other which are inadequately elevated or otherwise protected from flood 
damages. 

2. Methods Used to Analyze Flood Hazards 

This ordinance uses a reasonable method of analyzing flood hazards which consists of a series of 
interrelated steps. 

(a) SelecƟon of a base flood which is based upon engineering calculaƟons which permit a 
consideraƟon of such flood factors as its expected frequency of occurrence, the area 
inundated and the depth of inundaƟon. The base flood selected for this ordinance is 
representaƟve of large floods which are reasonably characterisƟc of what can be expected to 
occur on the parƟcular streams subject to this ordinance. It is in the general order of a flood 
which could be expected to have a one (1 %) percent chance of occurrence in any one year, as 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

84 | P a g e  
 

delineated by applicable Flood Insurance Studies and the Federal Emergency Management 
AdministraƟon's Flood Insurance Rate Maps and Flood Boundary and Floodway Map, or any 
subsequent effecƟve Flood Insurance Studies, Rate Maps, and Flood Boundary and Floodway 
Maps issued aŌer the effecƟve date of this ordinance and adopted by the City of Glenwood. 

(b) CalculaƟon of water surface profiles based upon a hydraulic engineering analysis of the 
capacity of the stream channel and overbank areas to convey the base flood. 

(c) ComputaƟon of the floodway required to convey this flood without increasing flood heights 
more than 1 foot at any point. 

(d) DelineaƟon of floodway encroachment lines within which no obstrucƟon is permiƩed  which 
would cause any increase in flood height. 

(e) DelineaƟon of floodway fringe, i.e., that area outside the floodway encroachment lines but 
which sƟll is subject to inundaƟon by the base flood. 

b. Land to Which Ordinance Applies 

This ordinance shall apply to all lands within the jurisdicƟon of the City of Glenwood idenƟfied on the 
Flood Insurance Rate map (FIRM) as numbered and unnumbered A zone and/ or within the Overlay 
Districts FP and FW established in this ordinance. In all areas covered by this ordinance, no 
development shall be permiƩed except upon a permit to develop granted by the City Council or its duly 
designated representaƟve under such safeguards and restricƟons as the City Council may reasonably 
impose for the promoƟon and maintenance of the general welfare, health of the inhabitants of the 
community as contained in the City Code. 

c. Enforcement Officer 

The Zoning Administrator of the City of Glenwood is hereby designated as the City Council's duly 
designated Enforcement Officer under this ordinance. 

d. Rules for InterpretaƟon of District Boundaries 

The boundaries of the floodway and floodway fringe overlay districts shall be determined by scaling 
distances on the official zoning map. Where interpretaƟon is needed to the exact locaƟon of the 
boundaries of the districts as shown on the official zoning map, as for example where there appears to 
be a conflict between a mapped boundary and actual field condiƟons, the Enforcement Officer shall 
make the necessary interpretaƟon. 'Ihe base flood elevaƟon for the point in quesƟon shall be the 
governing factor in locaƟng the district boundary on the land. The person contesƟng the locaƟon of 
the district boundary shall be given a reasonable opportunity to present his case to the Board and to 
submit his own technical evidence if he so desires. 

e. Compliance 

No development located within known flood hazard areas of the community shall be located, 
extended, converted or structurally altered without full compliance with the terms of this ordinance 
and other applicable regulaƟons. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

85 | P a g e  
 

f. AbrogaƟon and Greater RestricƟons 

It is not intended by this ordinance to repeal, abrogate or impair any exisƟng easements, covenants or 
deed restricƟons. However, where this ordinance imposes greater restricƟons, the provision of this 
ordinance shall prevail. All other ordinances inconsistent with this ordinance are hereby repealed to 
the extent of the inconsistency only. 

g. InterpretaƟon 

In their interpretaƟon and applicaƟon, the provisions of this ordinance shall be held to be minimum 
requirements and shall be liberally construed in favor of the City of Glenwood and shall not be deemed 
a limitaƟon or repeal of any other powers granted by state statute. 

h. Warning-and-Disclaimer of Liability 

The degree of flood protecƟon required by this ordinance is considered reasonable for regulatory 
purposes and is based on engineering and scienƟfic methods of study. Larger floods may occur on rare 
occasions or the flood height may be increased by man-made or natural causes, such as ice jams and 
bridge openings restricted by debris. This ordinance does not imply that areas outside floodway and 
floodway fringe district boundaries or land uses permiƩed within such districts will be free from 
flooding or flood damages. This ordinance shall not create liability on the part of the City of Glenwood 
or any officer or employee thereof for any flood damages that may result from reliance on this 
ordinance or any administraƟve decision lawfully made thereunder. 

i. Severability 

If any secƟon, clause, provision or porƟon of this ordinance is adjudged unconsƟtuƟonal or invalid by 
a court of competent jurisdicƟon, the remainder of this ordinance shall not be affected thereby. 

j. ApplicaƟon for Appeal 

Where a request for a permit to develop is denied by the Zoning Administrator, the applicant may apply 
for such permit or variance directly to the Board of Adjustment. Procedures for appeals to the Board 
of Adjustment shall proceed as set forth by SecƟon 177.08 of this Ordinance. 

170.503 Floodplain and Floodway Permits and AdministraƟon 

a. Permit Required 

No person, firm, or corporaƟon shall iniƟate any development or substanƟal improvement or cause 
the same to be done without first obtaining a separate permit for development as defined in this 
secƟon. 

b. AdministraƟon 

1. The Zoning Administrator is hereby appointed to administer and implement the provisions of this 
ordinance. 

2. DuƟes of the Zoning Administrator shall include, but not be limited to: 

a) Review of all development permits to assure that sites are reasonable, safe from 
flooding and that the permit requirements of this ordinance have been saƟsfied. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

86 | P a g e  
 

b) Review permits for proposed development to assure that all necessary permits have 
been obtained from those Federal, State or Local Governmental agencies from which prior 
approval is required. 

c) NoƟfy adjacent communiƟes and the Department of Natural Resources prior to any 
alteraƟon or relocaƟon of a watercourse, and shall submit evidence of such noƟficaƟon to the 
Federal Insurance AdministraƟon when parƟcipaƟng in the NaƟonal Flood Insurance Program. 

d) NoƟfy the Department of Natural Resources of any proposed construcƟon and 
development acƟvity in floodplain areas, and/or upon land situated within the Floodplain/ 
Floodway Overlay Zoning District. 

e) When floodproofing is uƟlized for a parƟcular structure, the Zoning Administrator shall 
be presented cerƟficaƟon from a registered professional engineer or architect. 

 c.  ApplicaƟon for Permit 

To obtain a permit, the applicant shall first file an applicaƟon in wriƟng on a form furnished for that 
purpose. Every such applicaƟon shall: 

1. IdenƟfy and describe the work to be covered by the permit. 

2. Describe the land on which the proposed work is to be done by lot, block, tract and house and 
street address, or similar descripƟon that will readily idenƟfy and definitely locate the proposed 
building or work. 

3. Indicate the use or occupancy for which the proposed work is intended. 

4. Be accompanied by detailed plans for the proposed construcƟon. 

5. Be signed by the permiƩee or his authorized agent who may be required to submit evidence to 
indicate such authority. 

6. Give such other informaƟon as reasonably may be required by the Zoning Administrator or City 
Engineer. 

170.504 Establishment of Zoning Districts 

The mapped flood plain area within the jurisdicƟon of this ordinance are hereby divided into the two 
following districts: A Floodway Overlay District (FW) and a Floodplain Overlay District (FP) as idenƟfied in 
the official Flood Plain Study. Within these districts, all uses not meeƟng the standards of this ordinance 
and those standards of the underlying zoning district shall be prohibited. These zones shall be consistent 
with the numbered and unnumbered A Zones as idenƟfied on the official FIRM when idenƟfied in the 
Flood Insurance Study provided by the Federal Insurance AdministraƟon. 

170.505 Standards for Floodway Overlay District and Floodplain Overlay District 

a. No permit for development shall be granted for new construcƟon, substanƟal improvement or other 
improvements including the placement of manufactured homes within the idenƟfied flood plain unless the 
condiƟons of this secƟon are saƟsfied. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

87 | P a g e  
 

b. All areas idenƟfied as unnumbered A Zones by the Federal Insurance AdministraƟon are subject to 
inundaƟon of the 100-year flood; however, the water surface elevaƟon was not provided. The unnumbered A 
Zones shall be subject to all development provisions of this ordinance. If Flood Insurance Study Data is not 
available, the community shall uƟlize any base flood elevaƟon data currently available within its area of 
jurisdicƟon. Further, in cases of proposed development within unnumbered "A" zones, the developer's engineer 
shall be required to conduct the necessary studies to determine the 100-year flood elevaƟon and its extent in 
relaƟon to such development. 

c. New construcƟon, subdivision proposals, substanƟal improvement, prefabricated buildings, placement of 
manufactured homes and other development shall require: 

1. Design or anchorage to prevent flotaƟon, collapse or lateral movement of the structure resulƟng 
from hydrodynamic and hydrostaƟc loads including the effect of buoyancy. 

2. New or replacement water supply systems and/or sanitary sewage systems designed to minimize 
or eliminate infiltraƟon of flood waters into the systems and discharges from the systems into flood 
waters, and on-site waste disposal systems be located so as to avoid impairment or contaminaƟon. 

3. ConstrucƟon with materials resistant to flood damage, uƟlizing methods and pracƟces that 
minimize flood damages, and with electrical, heaƟng, venƟlaƟon that are designed and/or located 
so as to prevent water from entering or accumulaƟng within the components during condiƟons of 
flooding. 

4. All uƟlity and sanitary faciliƟes be elevated or floodproofed one foot above the regulatory flood 
elevaƟon. Such floodproofing is permiƩed only for non-residenƟal properƟes. 

5. That unƟl a floodway has been designated, no development including landfill, may be permiƩed 
within the idenƟfied flood plain unless the applicant for the land use has demonstrated that the 
proposed use, when combined with all other exisƟng and reasonably anƟcipated uses, will not 
increase the water surface elevaƟon of the 100-year flood more than one (1') foot on the average 
cross-secƟon of the reach in which the development or landfill is located as shown in the official 
flood plain study incorporated by reference herein. 

6. Storage of Materials and Equipment 

(a) The storage or processing of materials that are buoyant, flammable, explosive, or could be 
injurious to human, animal or plant life is prohibited. 

(b) Storage of other materials or equipment may be allowed if not subject to major damage by 
floods and firmly anchored to prevent flotaƟon or if readily removable from the area within 
the Ɵme available aŌer flood warning. 

7. Subdivision proposals and other proposed new development, including manufactured home parks 
or subdivisions, be required to assure that: 

(a) All such proposals are consistent with the need to minimize flood damage. 

(b) All public uƟliƟes and faciliƟes, such as sewer, gas, electrical and water systems are located, 
elevated and constructed to minimize or eliminate flood damage.  

(c) Adequate drainage is provided so as to reduce exposure to flood hazards. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

88 | P a g e  
 

(d) Proposals for development (including proposals for manufactured home parks and 
subdivisions) of five (5) acres or fiŌy (50) lots, whichever is less, include within such proposals 
the regulatory flood elevaƟon. 

170.506 Floodplain Overlay District: RegulaƟons 

a. PermiƩed Uses 

Any use permiƩed in the underlying base district shall be permiƩed in the Floodplain Overlay District. No use 
shall be permiƩed in the district unless the standards of this secƟon are met. 

b. Standards for the Floodplain Overlay District 

1. Any new construcƟon or substanƟal improvements of residenƟal structures shall have the lowest 
floor, including basement elevated one foot above the base flood elevaƟon. 

2. Any new construcƟon or substanƟal improvements of non-residenƟal structures shall have the 
lowest floor, including basement, elevated one foot above the base flood elevaƟon, or, together 
with aƩendant uƟlity and sanitary faciliƟes, shall be floodproofed so that below such a level the 
structure is waterƟght with walls substanƟally impermeable to the passage of water and with 
structural components having the capability of resisƟng hydrostaƟc and hydro-dynamic loads and 
effect of buoyancy. A registered professional engineer or architect shall cerƟfy that the standards 
of this subsecƟon are saƟsfied. Such cerƟficaƟon shall be provided to the Enforcement Official. 
Such floodproofing is permiƩed only for non-residenƟal properƟes. 

3. All new construcƟon and substanƟal improvements that fully enclosed areas below the lowest floor 
that are subject to flooding shall be designated to automaƟcally equalize hydro-staƟc flood forces 
or exterior walls by allowing for the entry and exit of floodwaters. Designs for meeƟng this 
requirement must either be cerƟfied by the registered professional engineer or architect or meet 
or exceed the following minimum criteria: A minimum of two openings having a total net area of 
not less than one square inch for every square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding shall be 
provided. The boƩom of all openings shall be not higher than one foot above grade. Openings may 
be equipped with screens, louvers, valves, or other coverings or devices provided that they permit 
the automaƟc entry and exit of floodwaters. 

4. Within AH zones, adequate drainage paths around structures on slopes shall be required in order 
to guide floodwaters around and away from proposed structures. 

5. Manufactured Homes 

(a) All manufactured homes shall be anchored to resist flotaƟon, collapse, or lateral movement. 
Manufactured homes must be anchored in accordance with local building codes or FEMA 
guidelines. In the event that over-the-top frame Ɵes to ground anchors are used, the following 
specific requirements (or their equivalent) shall be met: 

i. Over -the-top Ɵes shall be provided at each of the four corners of the manufactured home 
with two addiƟonal Ɵes per side at intermediate locaƟons, and manufactured homes less than 
50 feet long requiring one addiƟonal Ɵe per side. 

ii. Frame Ɵes shall be provided at each comer of the home with five addiƟonal Ɵes per side 
at intermediate points, and manufactured homes less than 50 feet long requiring four 
addiƟonal Ɵes per side. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

89 | P a g e  
 

iii. All components of the anchoring system shall be capable of carrying a force of 4800 lbs. 

iv. Any addiƟons to manufactured homes shall be similarly anchored. 

(b) All manufactured homes to be placed within Zones AL-30, AH and AE on the community's 
FIRM shall be elevated on a permanent foundaƟon such that the lowest floor of the 
manufactured home is at or above the base flood elevaƟon and be securely anchored to an 
adequately anchored foundaƟon system in accordance with the provisions of the Uniform 
Building Code. 

c. AO Zones: Special RegulaƟons 

Located within the areas of special flood hazard are areas designated as AO Zones. These areas have special flood 
hazards associated with base flood depths of 1 to 3 feet where a clearly defined channel does not exist and 
where the path of flooding is unpredictable and indeterminate. Therefore, the following provisions apply with 
AO Zones: 

1. All new construcƟon and substanƟal improvements of residenƟal structures have the lowest floor 
(including basement) elevated above the highest adjacent grade at least as high as 1 foot above the depth 
number specified in feet on the community's FIRM. 

2. All new construcƟon and substanƟal improvements of nonresidenƟal structures shall: 

(a) Have the lowest floor (including basement) elevated above the highest adjacent grade at least 
as high as 1 foot above the depth number specified in feet on the community's FIRM; or 

(b) Together with aƩendant uƟlity and sanitary faciliƟes be completely floodproofed to or above 
that level so that any space below that level is waterƟght with walls substanƟally impermeable 
to the passage of water and with structural components having the capability of resisƟng 
hydrostaƟc and hydrodynamic loads and effect of buoyancy. Such cerƟficaƟon shall be 
provided to the official as set forth in SecƟon 170.503. 

(c) Adequate drainage paths around structures on slopes shall be required in order to guide 
floodwaters around and away from proposed structures. 

170.507 Floodway Overlay Districts 

a. PermiƩed Uses 

Only uses having a low flood-damage potenƟal and not obstrucƟng flood flows shall be permiƩed within the 
Floodway District to the extent that they are not prohibited by any other ordinance and provided that they do 
not require structures fill or storage of materials or equipment. No use shall increase the flood levels of the base 
flood elevaƟon. These uses are subject to the standards of SecƟons 170.506 and other applicable secƟons. 

1. Agricultural uses such as general farming, pasture, nurseries, forestry. 

2. Accessory residenƟal uses such as lawns, gardens, parking and play areas. 

3. NonresidenƟal areas such as loading areas, parking, and airport landing strips. 

4. Public and private recreaƟonal uses such as golf courses, archery ranges, picnic grounds, parks, 
wildlife and nature preserves. New placement of residenƟal structures including manufactured homes is 
prohibited with the idenƟfied floodway (FW) area. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

90 | P a g e  
 

5. In Zone A unnumbered, obtain, review and reasonably uƟlize any floodway data available through 
Federal, State or Local sources in meeƟng the standards of this secƟon. 

170.508 Request For Variances From District Requirements 

a. The Board of Adjustment, as established by the City of Glenwood, shall hear and decide on appeals and 
requests for variances from the requirements of this ordinance. 

b. The Board of Adjustment shall hear and decide appeals when it is alleged that there is an error in any 
requirement, decision, or determinaƟon made by the Zoning Administrator in the enforcement or administraƟon 
of this ordinance. 

c. Any person aggrieved by the decision of the Board of Adjustment or any taxpayer may appeal such decision 
to the District Court as provided by the Code of Iowa. 

d. In passing upon such applicaƟons, the Board of Adjustment shall consider all technical evaluaƟon, all 
relevant factors, standards specified in other secƟons of this ordinance, and: 

1. The danger that materials may be swept onto other lands to the injury of others.  

2. The danger of life and property due to flooding or erosion damage. 

3. The suscepƟbility of proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and the effect of such 
damage on the individual owner. 

4. The importance of the services provided by the proposed facility to the community. 

5. The necessity to the facility of a waterfront locaƟon, where applicable. 

6. The availability of alternaƟve locaƟons, not subject to flooding or erosion damage, for the 
proposed use. 

7. The compaƟbility of the proposed use with exisƟng and anƟcipated development. 

8. The relaƟonship of the proposed use to the comprehensive plan and flood plain management 
program for that area. 

9. The safety of access to the property in Ɵme of flood for ordinance and emergency vehicles. 

10. The expected heights, velocity, duraƟon, rate of rise and sediment transport of the flood waters 
and the effect of wave acƟon, if applicable, expected at the site. 

11. The costs of providing governmental services during and aŌer flood condiƟons, including 
maintenance and repair of public uƟliƟes and faciliƟes such as sewer, gas, electrical and water systems, and 
streets and bridges. 

e. CondiƟons for Variance 

1. Generally, variances may be issued for new construcƟon and substanƟal improvements to be 
erected on a lot of one-half acre of less in size conƟguous to and surrounded by lots with exisƟng structures 
constructed below the base flood level providing terms 2. through 6. below have been fully considered. As 
the lot size increases beyond the one-half acre, the technical jurisdicƟon required for issuing the variance 
increases. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

91 | P a g e  
 

2. Variances may be issued for the reconstrucƟon, rehabilitaƟon or restoraƟon of structures listed on 
the NaƟonal Register of Historic Places or the State Inventory of Historic Places, without regard to the 
procedures set forth in the remainder of this secƟon. 

3. Variances shall not be issued within any designated floodway if any increase in flood levels during 
the base flood discharge would result. 

4. Variances shall only be issued upon a determinaƟon that the variance is the minimum necessary, 
considering the flood hazard, to afford relief. 

5. In addiƟon to the criteria for variances set forth in SecƟon 177.09 of this Ordinance, variances shall 
only be issued upon (i) a showing of good and sufficient cause, (ii) a determinaƟon that failure to grant the 
variance would result in excepƟonal hardship to the applicant, and (iii) a determinaƟon that the granƟng of 
the variance will not result in increased flood heights, addiƟonal threats to public safety, extraordinary public 
expense, create nuisances, cause fraud on or vicƟmizaƟon of the public, or conflict with exisƟng local laws 
or ordinances. 

6. Any applicant to whom a variance is granted shall be given wriƩen noƟce that the cost of flood 
insurance will be commensurate with the increased risk resulƟng from the reduced lowest floor elevaƟon. 

170.509 Zoning RegulaƟons For Nonconforming Uses 

a. ConƟnuance of Nonconforming Uses 

A structure or the use of a structure or premises which was lawful before the passage or amendment of the 
ordinance but which is not in conformity with the provisions of this ordinance may be conƟnued subject to the 
following condiƟons: 

1. No such use or substanƟal improvement of that use shall be extended, changed, enlarged, or 
altered in a way which increases its nonconformity. 

2. If such use is disconƟnued for twelve (12) consecuƟve months, any future use of the building 
premises shall conform to this ordinance. The Water Department shall noƟfy the Building Inspector in 
wriƟng of instances of nonconforming uses where uƟlity services have been disconƟnued for a period of 
twelve (12) months. 

3. Uses or adjuncts thereof which are or become nuisances shall not be enƟtled to conƟnue a 
nonconforming use. 

b. Replacement of ResidenƟal Uses 

If any nonconforming residenƟal use of structure is destroyed by any means, including flood, it shall not be 
reconstructed if the cost is more than 50 percent of the market value of the structure before the damage 
occurred within those areas idenƟfied as floodway (FW). This limitaƟon does not include the cost of any 
alteraƟon to comply with exisƟng state or local health, sanitary, building, or safety codes or regulaƟons or the 
cost of any alteraƟon of a structure listed on the NaƟonal Register of Historic Places or a State Inventory of 
Historic Places. 

c. Replacement of Non-ResidenƟal Uses 

If any non-residenƟal nonconforming use of structure is destroyed by any means, including flood, it should not 
be reconstructed if the cost is more than 50 percent of the market value of the structure before the damage 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

92 | P a g e  
 

occurred except that if it is reconstructed in conformity with the provisions of this ordinance. This limitaƟon does 
not include the cost of any alteraƟon to comply with exisƟng state or local health, sanitary, building, or safety 
codes or regulaƟons or the cost of any alteraƟon of a structure listed on the NaƟonal Register of Historic Places 
or a State Inventory of Historic Places. 

170.510 DefiniƟons 

Unless specifically defined below, words or phrases used in this ordinance shall be interpreted so as to give them 
the same meaning as they have in common usage and so as to give this ordinance its most reasonable applicaƟon. 

Actuarial Rates. Or "risk premium rates" are those rates established by the Federal Insurance Administrator pursuant 
to individual community studies and invesƟgaƟons which are undertaken to provide flood insurance in accordance 
with 42 U.S.C. 4014 and the accepted actuarial principles. Actuarial rates include provisions for operaƟng costs and 
allowances. 

Appeal. A request for a review of the Zoning Administrator's interpretaƟon of any provision of this ordinance or a 
request for a variance. 

Area of Shallow Flooding. A designated AO or AH zone on a community's Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) with a 
one percent or greater annual chance of flooding to an average depth of one to three feet where a clearly defined 
channel is unpredictable and where velocity flow may be evident. Such flooding is characterized by ponding or 
sheet flow.  

Area of Special Flood Hazard. The land in the flood plain within a community subject to one percent or greater 
chance of flooding in any given year. 

Base Flood ElevaƟon. ElevaƟon indicated in the official flood plain study as the elevaƟon of the 100-year flood. 

Base Flood ProtecƟon ElevaƟon. An elevaƟon one foot higher than the water surface elevaƟon of the base flood. 

Channel. A natural or arƟficial watercourse of percepƟble extent, with a definite bed and banks to confine and 
conduct conƟnuously or periodically flowing water. Channel flow, thus, is that water which is flowing within the 
limits of a defined channel. 

Community. Any state or area or poliƟcal subdivision thereof which has authority to adopt and enforce flood plain 
management regulaƟons for the area within its jurisdicƟon, 

Development. Any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, including but not limited to, 
buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavaƟon or drilling operaƟons. 

ExisƟng ConstrucƟon (For the purposes of determining rates) structures for which the “start of construcƟon” 
commenced before the effecƟve date of the FIRM or before January 1, 1975, for FIRM's effecƟve before that date. 
"ExisƟng ConstrucƟon" may also be referred to as "exisƟng structures". 

Flood or Flooding. A general and temporary condiƟon of parƟal or complete inundaƟon of normally dry land areas 
from (1) the overflow of inland or Ɵdal waters; (2) the unusual and rapid accumulaƟon of runoff of surface waters 
from any source. 

Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM). An official map of a community, on which the Flood Insurance Study has 
delineated the Flood Hazard Boundaries and the zones establishing insurance rates applicable to the community. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

93 | P a g e  
 

Flood Insurance Study. The official report provided by the Federal Emergency Management Agency. The report 
contains flood profiles, as well as the Flood Boundary Floodway Map and the water surface elevaƟon of the base 
flood, 

Flood Plain Management. The operaƟon of an overall program of correcƟve and preventaƟve measures for 
reducing flood damage, including but not limited to, emergency preparedness plan, flood control works, and 
flood plain management regulaƟons. 

Flood ProtecƟon System. Those physical structural works constructed specifically to modify flooding in order to 
reduce the extent of the area within a community subject to a "special flood hazard". Such a system typically 
includes levees or dikes. These specialized modifying works are those constructed in conformance with sound 
engineering standards. 

Floodproofing. Any combinaƟon of structural and non-structural addiƟons, changes, or adjustments to structures, 
including uƟlity and sanitary faciliƟes, which would preclude the entry of water. Structural components shall have 
the capability of resisƟng hydrostaƟc and hydrodynamic loads and effect of buoyancy. 

Floodplain (FP). That area of the flood plain, outside of the floodway, that on an average is likely to be flooded 
once every 100 years (i.e. that has a one percent chance of flood occurrence in any one year.) 

Floodway (FW). The channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent porƟon of the flood plain that must 
be reserved in order to discharge the 100-year flood without cumulaƟvely increasing the water surface elevaƟon 
more than one foot at any point assuming equal conveyance reducƟon outside the channel from the two sides of 
the flood plain, 

Freeboard. A factor of safety usually expressed in feet above a flood level for purposes of flood plain management. 
"Freeboard" tends to compensate for the many unknown factors that could contribute to flood heights greater 
than the heights calculated for a selected size flood and floodway condiƟons, such as wave acƟon, clogged bridge 
openings, and the hydrological effect of urbanizaƟon of the watershed. 

Highest Adjacent Grade, The highest natural elevaƟon of the ground surface prior to construcƟon next to the 
proposed walls of a structure. 

Lowest Floor. The lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area (including basement). An unfinished or flood resistant 
enclosure, usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access or storage, in an area other than a basement area, 
is not considered a building's lowest floor, provided that such enclosure is not built so as to render the structure in 
violaƟon of the applicable non-elevaƟon design requirements of this ordinance. 

Manufactured Home. A structure, transportable in one or more secƟons, which is built on a permanent chassis and 
is designed for use with or without a permanent foundaƟon when connected to the required uƟliƟes. For flood 
plain management purposes, term "manufactured home" also includes park trailers, travel trailers, and other similar 
vehicles placed on a site for greater than 180 consecuƟve days. For insurance purposes, the term "manufactured 
home" does not include park trailers, travel trailers, and other similar vehicles. 

Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision. A parcel (or conƟguous parcels) of land divided into two or more 
manufactured home lots for rent or sale. 

New ConstrucƟon. Structures for which the "start of construcƟon or substanƟal improvement" is commenced on or 
aŌer the effecƟve date of the FIRM. 

100-Year Flood. The base flood having a one percent chance of annual occurrence. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

94 | P a g e  
 

Overlay District. A district which acts in conjuncƟon with the underlying zoning district or districts. 

Start of ConstrucƟon. For other than new construcƟon or substanƟal improvements under the Coastal Barrier 
Resources Act (Pub. Law 97-348) includes substanƟal improvement, and means the date the building permit was 
issued, providing the actual start of construcƟon, repair, reconstrucƟon, placement, or other improvement was 
within 180 days of the permit date. The actual start or other improvement was within 180 days of the permit date. 
The actual start means the first placement of permanent construcƟon of a structure on a site, such as the pouring 
of slab or fooƟngs, the installaƟon of piles, the construcƟon of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavaƟon 
or the placement of a manufactured home on a foundaƟon. Permanent construcƟon does not include land 
preparaƟon, such as clearing, grading and filling, nor does it include the installaƟon of street and/or walkways, nor 
does it include excavaƟon for a basement, fooƟngs, or foundaƟons or the erecƟon of temporary forms, nor does it 
include the installaƟon of the property of accessory buildings, such as garages or sheds not occupied as dwelling 
units or not part of the main structure. 

Structure. A walled and roofed building that is principally above ground, as well as a manufactured home, and a gas 
or liquid storage tank that is principally above ground. 

SubstanƟal Improvement. Any repair, reconstrucƟon, or improvement of a structure, the cost of which equals or 
exceeds 50 percent of the market value of the structure either (1) before the improvement or repair is started, or 
(2) if the structure has been damaged and is being restored, before the damage occurred. For the purpose of this 
definiƟon, "substanƟal improvement" is considered to occur when the first alteraƟon of any wall, ceiling, floor, or 
other structural part of the building commences, whether or not that alteraƟon affects the external dimensions of 
the structure. The term does not, however, include either (1) any project for improvement of a structure to comply 
with exisƟng state or local health, sanitary or safety code specificaƟons which are solely necessary to assure safe 
living condiƟons, or (2) any alteraƟon of a structure listed on the NaƟonal Register of Historic Places or a State 
Inventory of Historic Places. 

Variance. A grant of relief to a person from the requirements of this ordinance which permits construcƟon in a 
manner otherwise prohibited by this ordinance where specific enforcement would result in unnecessary hardship. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

95 | P a g e  
 

SecƟon 171 

Supplemental Use RegulaƟons 

171.01 Purpose 

171.02 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Agricultural Uses 

a. HorƟculture and Crop ProducƟon: Retail Sales 
1. Garden Centers 
2. Roadside Stands 

b. Animal ProducƟon 
c. Commercial Feedlots 

171.03 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: ResidenƟal Uses 

a. Zero-Lot Line Single-Family Detached ResidenƟal 
b. Single-Family AƩached 
c. Townhouse ResidenƟal 
d. Two-Family ResidenƟal 
e. Supplemental Design Standards for ResidenƟal Uses in the RR, RI, R2, R3, and R4 Districts. 
f. Downtown ResidenƟal and Group ResidenƟal Uses in the DC District 
g. Boarders and Non-related Individuals 
h. Mobile Home Parks 
i.  Mobile Home Subdivisions 
j.  Earth-Sheltered Residences 

171.04 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Civic Uses 

a. Community Centers and Clubs 
b. Day Care 
c. Group Care FaciliƟes and Group Homes 

171.05 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Commercial Uses 

a. Auto Repair, Equipment Repair, and Body Repair 
b. Auto Washing FaciliƟes 
c. Automobile and Equipment Rental and Sales 
d. Bed and Breakfasts 
e. Campgrounds 
f. Convenience Storage 
g. Kennels 
h. Restricted Businesses (or adult entertainment businesses) 

171.06 Supplemental Design Standards for Office and Commercial Uses in the UC, CC, GC, HC and DC Districts 

171.07 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Industrial Uses 

a. Resource ExtracƟon 
b. Salvage Services 

 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

96 | P a g e  
 

171.08 Performance Standards for Industrial Uses 

a. Industrial Uses in the LI District: Performance Standards 

171.09 Maximum PermiƩed Sound Levels Adjacent to ResidenƟal Zoning Districts 

171.10 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Miscellaneous Uses 

a. CommunicaƟons Towers 
b. Landfills 
c. Wind Energy ConservaƟon Systems (WECS) 

171.11 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Accessory Uses 

a. Home-Based Businesses/ Home OccupaƟons 
b. PermiƩed Accessory Uses: ResidenƟal Uses 
c. PermiƩed Accessory Uses: Civic Use Types 
d. PermiƩed Accessory Uses: Other Use Types 
e. PermiƩed Accessory Uses: Agricultural Use Types 

171.12 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Outdoor Storage outside of the LI and Gl Zoning Districts 

a. Agricultural Use Types 
b. Civic Use Types 
c. Commercial Use Types 
d. Industrial and Miscellaneous Use Types 

171.13 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Temporary Uses 

a. Purpose 
b. Temporary Use Types 
c. Required CondiƟons of All Temporary Uses 
d. Permit ApplicaƟon and Issuance 

171.01 Purpose 

The Supplemental Use RegulaƟons set forth addiƟonal standards for certain uses located within the various 
zoning districts. These regulaƟons recognize that certain use types have characterisƟcs that require 
addiƟonal controls in order to protect public health, safety, and welfare. These regulaƟons complement the 
use regulaƟons contained in SecƟon 168 of this Ordinance. The regulaƟons contained in this ArƟcle pertain 
both to uses allowed by right within various zoning districts; and to uses that require approval. as 
CondiƟonal Uses by the Zoning Board of Adjustment. Nothing contained in this secƟon shall limit the right 
of the Zoning Board of Adjustment or City Council on appeal to impose addiƟonal condiƟons on 
developments seeking CondiƟonal Use Permit approval. 

171.02 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Agricultural Uses 

Nothing in these provisions shall relieve any property owner or user from saƟsfying any condiƟon or 
requirement associated with a previous approval, special permit, variance, development permit, or other 
permit issued under any local, State, or Federal ordinance or statute. 

a. HorƟculture and Crop ProducƟon: Retail Sales 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

97 | P a g e  
 

Retail operaƟon of garden centers or roadside stands associated with a primary agricultural use may be 
permiƩed in the AR and RR District, subject to the following requirements: 

1. Garden Centers 

(a) A garden center is a building or premises used for the retail sale of plant materials or items 
useful to the growing or display of lawns, gardens, and plants. 

(b) Garden centers must conform to all site development regulaƟons for the zoning district. 

(c) Any garden center adjacent to a residenƟal district must maintain a 20-foot landscaped 
bufferyard, consistent with the standards established in SecƟon 804. 

2. Roadside Stands 

(a) A roadside stand is a facility used on a temporary or seasonal basis for the retail sale of produce 
grown largely on adjacent or surrounding agricultural lands. 

(b) A roadside stand may be located within a required front yard but no closer than 40 feet to the 
edge of a traveled roadway. 

(c) A roadside stand may operate for a maximum of 180 days in any one year. 

b. Animal ProducƟon 

1. No commercial poultry or livestock operaƟon shall be located within 100 feet of any residenƟal or 
commercial zoning district. 

2. Breeding and raising of small animals and fowl, such as birds, rabbits, chinchilla, and hamsters is 
permiƩed in the AR and RR District, provided that any building housing such animals shall be at least 
300 feet from any other residenƟal zoning district, 100 feet from any property line and 25 feet from any 
dwelling unit on the site. Any site accommodaƟng these uses shall be no less than 2.5 acres. No animals 
with measurable odors shall be raised for commercial purposes within the city limits. 

3. Within the RR or AR Districts, any lot of 2 acres and over may maintain one horse, llama, or other 
equine and/or hoofed animal and its immature offspring. Such a lot may have one addiƟonal animal for 
each addiƟonal two acres of lot area, up to a maximum total of three animals. No stable shall be located 
closer than 300 feet from any other residenƟal zoning district, 100 feet from any property line and 50 
feet from any dwelling unit on the site. 

c. Commercial Feedlots 

Commercial Feedlots are not permiƩed within the jurisdicƟon of the City of Glenwood. 

(a) 171.03 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: ResidenƟal 
Uses 

a. Zero-Lot Line Single-Family Detached 
ResidenƟal 

Within a common development, one interior side yard may be equal to zero for single-family detached 
residenƟal use, subject to the following addiƟonal regulaƟons: 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

98 | P a g e  
 

1. The side yard opposite to the zero yard must equal at least twice the normal required minimum 
side yard and must, taken by itself, comply with all side yard requirements for the zoning district. 

2. The normal side yard setback requirement must be maintained adjacent to any lot with an exisƟng 
structure not within the common development; or not otherwise designated for zero lot line use. 

3. An easement for maintenance of the zero lot line facade is filed with the Mills County Recorder 
and the City Clerk at the Ɵme of applicaƟon for a building permit. 

b. Single-Family AƩached 

When permiƩed without requirement for condiƟonal use approval, the minimum side yard opposite the 
common wall shall be equal to twice the normal required side yard. Townhouse ResidenƟal 

Where permiƩed, townhouse residenƟal is subject to the following regulaƟons: 

1. The minimum width for any townhouse lot sold individually shall be 25 feet, except within an 
approved creaƟve subdivision. 

2. Coverage percentages are computed for the site of the enƟre townhouse common 
development. 

c. Two-Family ResidenƟal 

1. The second dwelling unit shall be located to the rear of the site and shall be separated from the 
front dwelling unit by a minimum of 25 feet. 

2. The second dwelling unit shall be served by a driveway at least ten feet in width, leading from 
a public street adjacent to the lot. 

3. A minimum lot size of 5,000 sq. Ft. Per unit must be maintained. 

d. Supplemental Design Standards for ResidenƟal Uses in the RR, R-1, R-2, R-3 and R-4 
Districts. 

Exterior materials shall be non-reflecƟve and shall be of a color, material, and scale comparable to exisƟng 
residenƟal structure. in the immediate area. Permanent siding shall be, or simulate, wood, wood shingles, 
brick, masonry, or Ɵle. Roof construcƟon shall be of non-reflecƟve materials which are or simulate the 
appearance of asphalt, wood shingles, Ɵle, rock or standing metal with concealed fasteners. Any standing 
scam metal roof shall be stamped by a licensed engineer, must be installed by a cerƟfied installer in accord 
with the regulaƟons provided in the InternaƟonal ResidenƟal Code Book, as from Ɵme to Ɵme may be 
amended. 

e. Downtown ResidenƟal and Group ResidenƟal Uses in the DC District 

Downtown ResidenƟal and Group ResidenƟal uses are permiƩed in the DC District subject to the following 
condiƟons: 

1. Downtown and Group ResidenƟal uses are permiƩed in the DC District only on levels above street 
level except that a unit specifically designed for occupancy by disabled residents or senior ciƟzens may 
be developed at street level, subject to approval by the Planning Commission. 

2. Residents of units must be informed by the owner of the building that lawful commercial uses have 
priority over residenƟal uses. 

3. All upper level apartments must have two separate means of egress. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

99 | P a g e  
 

4. One parking space must be provided for each unit. 

f. Boarders and Non-related Individuals 

1. Within the AR, RR, R-1, R-2, R-3, and MH districts, no more than two persons in addiƟon to the 
family of the owner shall be permiƩed to reside in an owner-occupied dwelling unit. No more than five 
persons shall be permiƩed to reside in a non owner-occupied dwelling unit. 

2. Within the R-4 districts, no more than ten persons in addiƟon to the family of the owner shall be 
permiƩed to reside in an owner-occupied dwelling unit. No more than seven persons shall be permiƩed 
to reside in a non owner-occupied dwelling unit. 

3. A minimum of 250 square feet must be provided in the dwelling unit for each resident. 

g. Mobile Home Parks 

In the MH Mobile Home ResidenƟal District, which permits mobile home residenƟal use, such use may 
be configured in a Mobile Home Park or Mobile Home Subdivision. Following the effecƟve date of this 
Ordinance, no mobile home shall be located outside of a Mobile Home Park or Mobile Home 
Subdivision. A Mobile Home Park is subject to approval as a CondiƟonal Use by the Planning 
Commission and compliance with the following regulaƟons: 

1. CerƟficaƟon 

A cerƟficaƟon of compliance with all ordinances and regulaƟons regarding mobile home licensing, 
zoning, health, plumbing, electrical, building, fire protecƟon and any other applicable requirements 
shall be issued by the Zoning Administrator prior to the occupancy of any new Mobile Home Park or 
any expansion of an exisƟng Mobile Home Park. 

2. Minimum and Maximum Area 

A Mobile Home Park shall be considered to be one zoned lot. The conƟguous area of a Mobile Home 
Park shall have a minimum of 2.0 acres and a maximum of 15 acres. 

3. Density Requirements 

(a) The minimum gross site area per dwelling unit shall be 4,000 square feet. 

(b) The minimum size of an individual mobile home space shall be 4,500 square feet for single-
wide mobile home units and 5,000 square feet for double-wide mobile home units. 

(c) Each mobile home space shall have a width of at least 50 feet wide and a length of at least 80 
feet. 

4. Site Development Standards 

(a) Setbacks: Each Mobile Home Park shall have a minimum perimeter setback of 35 feet from 
each property line. No space for a dwelling unit or any other structure shall be permiƩed in 
the required setback. 

(b) Setback landscaping: All area contained within the required setbacks except sidewalks and 
private drives shall be landscaped and screened in conformance with SecƟon 173 of this 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

100 | P a g e  
 

Ordinance. Screening shall be provided in conformance with SecƟon 173 for any common 
property line with another non-residenƟal use. 

(c) Impervious Coverage: Impervious coverage for a Mobile Home Park shall not exceed 50 
percent of the total site area. 

(d) Open Space: Each Mobile Home Park shall provide a minimum of 400 square feet of open 
recreaƟonal space per unit. Such space shall be provided at a central locaƟon accessible from 
all parts of the park by pedestrians. Required perimeter setbacks or buffers shall not be 
credited toward the fulfillment of this requirement. 

(e) SeparaƟon Between Mobile Home Units: The minimum separaƟon between a mobile home 
unit and aƩached accessory structure and any other mobile home units and/or accessory 
structure shall be 15 feet. 

(f) SeparaƟon and Setbacks for Accessory Buildings: An accessory building on a mobile home 
space must maintain a minimum rear and side yard setback of five feet. A minimum distance 
of ten feet shall be provided between any mobile home and an unaƩached accessory building. 

5. Street Access and CirculaƟon Requirements 

(a) Access to Public Sheet: Each Mobile Home Park must abut and have access to a dedicated 
public street with a right-of-way of at least 60 feet. Direct access to a mobile home space from 
a public street is prohibited. 

(b) Vehicular CirculaƟon: The Mobile Home Park must provide interior vehicular circulaƟon. on a 
private internal street system. Interior streets shall have a minimum right-of-way of 60 feet and 
a paved width of 27 feet. The street system shall be conƟnuous and connected with other 
internal and public streets; or shall have a cul-de-sac with a minimum radius of 60 feet. No 
such cul-de-sacs may exceed 300 feet in length. 

(c) SeparaƟon between Units and CirculaƟon Areas: The minimum distance between a mobile 
home unit and any aƩached accessory structure and the pavement of an internal street or 
parking area shall be ten feet. 

(d) Sidewalks: Each Mobile Home Park shall provide a sidewalk system to connect each mobile 
home space to common buildings or community faciliƟes constructed for the use of its 
residents; and to the fronƟng public right of way. Sidewalk width shall be at least four feet. 

(e) Street and Sidewalk Standards: All internal streets and sidewalks shall be hard surfaced. Electric 
street lighƟng is required along all internal streets. 

(f) Parking Requirements: Each Mobile Home Park must provide at least two off-street parking 
stalls for each mobile home space, 

6. Tornado Shelters: 

Tornado shelters shall be provided in the Mobile Home Park. Such shelter or shelters shall be built 
according to the recommendaƟons of the Civil Defense authority and be large enough to meet the 
specific needs of the park and its residents. 

 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

101 | P a g e  
 

7. UƟliƟes 

(a) a) All Mobile Home Parks shall provide individual units and common faciliƟes with an adequate, 
piped supply of water for both drinking and domesƟc purposes; and standard electrical service, 
providing at least one 120-volt and one 240-volt electrical service outlet to each mobile home 
space. 

(b) Complete sanitary and sewer service shall be provided within each Mobile Home Park in 
accordance with the Subdivision Chapter of the Land Development Ordinance. 

(c) Properly spaced and operaƟng fire hydrants shall be provided for proper fire protecƟon within 
each Mobile Home Park in accordance with the Subdivision Chapter of the Land Development 
Ordinance and other applicable city codes and public improvement design standards. 

(d) All electric, telephone, gas, and other uƟlity lines shall be installed underground. 

8. Financial Responsibility: Each applicaƟon for a Mobile Home Park shall include a demonstraƟon by 
the developer of financial capability to complete the project; and a construcƟon schedule. 

9. CompleƟon Schedule: ConstrucƟon must begin on any approved Mobile Home Park within one 
year of the date of approval by the Planning Commission. Such construcƟon shall be completed within 
two years of approval, unless otherwise extended by the Commission. 

10. All other uses and provisions of the Glenwood Mobile Home Park regulaƟons are incorporated 
herein by reference. These provisions include Ɵe-down and other structural requirements included in 
the Glenwood Municipal Codes. 

h. Mobile Home Subdivisions 

1. Mobile Home Subdivisions shall be developed in accordance with all standards and requirements 
set forth in the Subdivision Chapter of the Land Development Ordinance of Glenwood. Site 
development regulaƟons shall be the same as those required in the R-2 Zoning District. Each mobile 
home shall be considered a single-family detached residenƟal unit for the purpose of determining 
applicable development regulaƟons. 

2. Mobile home units within Mobil? Home Subdivisions shall be built in accordance with the 
minimum design standards of the US Department of Housing and Urban Development and display a 
cerƟficaƟon of such compliance. 

3. Mobile Home Subdivisions shall provide tornado shelter faciliƟes as required by SecƟon 171.03.g.6. 

4. The minimum size of a mobile home subdivision shall be ten (10) acres. 

i. Earth-Sheltered Residences 

No subterranean or basement structure shall be occupied for residenƟal purposes, except for those 
that meet the following requirements as earth-sheltered residences: 

1. The living area shall be provided with exterior windows and/or skylights with a total glassed area 
of at least 10% of the gross floor area of the residence. Such windows or skylights shall give direct 
access to natural light and open space. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

102 | P a g e  
 

2. All earth sheltered residences shall conform to the development regulaƟons for their respecƟve 
zoning districts. 

3. An outdoor space shall be provided immediately outside one wall of the residence that has: 

(a) A minimum size of 500 square feet. 

(b) A minimum width of 20 feet. 

(c) An average grade elevaƟon no more than 2 feet above or below the finished floor elevaƟon of 
the residence. 

4. All earth-sheltered residences shall have structural systems designed by a professional structural 
engineer and shall have plans signed and approved by such engineer. 

171.04 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Civic Uses 

a. Community Centers and Clubs 

Clubs located adjacent to residenƟal uses shall maintain a bufferyard of not less than 40 feet along the 
common boundary with such residenƟal. use. 

b. Day Care 

1. Limited Day Care uses are permiƩed on residenƟal lots and may be operated by the occupant of a 
dwelling unit on the site. 

2. Day care faciliƟes are permiƩed by CondiƟonal Use Permit in the GI General Industrial Zoning 
District only if incidental to a permiƩed primary use. 

3. Day care centers accommodaƟng more than four children or adults shall: 

(a) Provide at least 100 square feet of open space per child, enƟrely enclosed by a building, fence, 
or wall with a height of at least six feet. 

(b) Conform with all requirements and licensures of the State of Iowa. 

c.  Group Care FaciliƟes and Group Homes 

1. Each group care facility or group home must be validly licensed by either the State of Iowa or the 
appropriate governmental subdivision. 

2. Group homes are permiƩed in the DC District only on levels above street level except that a facility 
specifically designed for occupancy by disabled residents may be developed at street level, subject to 
approval of a special permit by the City Council with the recommendaƟon of the Planning Commission. 

171.05 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Commercial Uses 

a. Auto Repair, Equipment Repair, ana Body Repair 

1. Where permiƩed in commercial districts, all repair acƟviƟes must take place within a completely 
enclosed building. Outdoor storage is permiƩed only where incidental to Auto Repair and Body Repair, 
provided that such storage is completely screened so as not to be visible from residenƟal areas or public 
rights-of-way. Screening is subject to provisions of SecƟon 173 of this ordinance. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

103 | P a g e  
 

2. Any spray painƟng must take place within structures designed for that purpose and approved by 
the Building Official. 

b. Auto Washing FaciliƟes 

1. Each conveyor operated auto washing facility shall provide 100 feet of stacking capacity per 
washing lane on the approach side of the washing structure and stacking space for two vehicles on the 
exit side. 

2. Each self-service auto washing facility shall provide stacking space for three automobiles per bay 
on the approach side and one space per bay on the exit side of the building. 

c. Automobile and Equipment Rental and Sales 

1. All outdoor display areas for rental and sales faciliƟes shall be hard-surfaced. 

2. Body repair services are permiƩed as an accessory use to automobile rental and sales faciliƟes, 
provided that such repair services shall not exceed 25% of the gross floor area of the building. 

d. Bed and Breakfasts 

Bed and Breakfasts permiƩed in the DC District must provide any sleeping facility only on levels above 
street level except that units specifically designed and reserved for occupancy by handicapped people 
may be located on the street level. 

e. Campgrounds 

1. Minimum Size: Each campground established aŌer the effecƟve date of this Ordinance shall have 
a minimum size of one acre. 

2. Setbacks: All campgrounds shall maintain a 50-foot front yard setback and a 25-foot bufferyard 
from all other property lines. 

3. Each campground must maintain water supply, sewage disposal, and water and toilet faciliƟes in 
compliance with all City ordinances; or, alternately, be limited to use by self-contained campers, 
providing their own on-board water and disposal systems. 

f. Convenience Storage 

When permiƩed in the CC, GC, HC, LI and R4 Districts, convenience storage faciliƟes shall be subject to 
the following addiƟonal requirements: 

1. The minimum size of a convenience storage facility shall be one acre. 

2. AcƟviƟes within the facility shall be limited to the rental of storage cubicles and the administraƟon 
and maintenance of the facility. 

3. All driveways within the facility shall provide a paved surface with a minimum width of twenty-five 
(25) feet. 

4. All storage must be within enclosed buildings and shall not include the storage of hazardous 
materials. 

5. No storage buildings may open into required front yards. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

104 | P a g e  
 

6. FaciliƟes must maintain landscaped bufferyards of thirty-five (35) feet adjacent to any public right-
of-way and twenty (20) feet adjacent to other property lines, unless greater setbacks are required by 
SecƟon 173. 

g. Kennels 

1. The minimum lot size shall be two acres. 

2. No building or dog runs shall be located nearer than 100 feet from any property line and 300 feet 
to the property line of any residenƟal use or district. 

3. All kennel faciliƟes shall be screened around such faciliƟes or at property lines to prevent 
distracƟng or exciƟng animals. Screening shall be of a type provided by SecƟon 173, establishing 
landscape and screening standards. 

h. Restricted Businesses 

Restricted (or adult entertainment businesses) shall be subject to the following restricƟons, and no 
person shall cause or permit the establishment of any adult entertainment business contrary to said 
restricƟons: 

1. No adult entertainment business shall be open for business between the hours of twelve midnight 
and six a.m. 

2. An adult entertainment business shall not be allowed within 1,000 feet of another exisƟng adult 
entertainment business, 

3. An adult entertainment business shall not be located within 1,000 feet of any residenƟally zoned 
district or a preexisƟng school, public park, or place of worship. 

4. The provisions of this chapter shall apply to any adult entertainment businesses in existence at the 
Ɵme the ordinance codified ill this chapter takes effect. All nonconformances shall come into 
compliance on or before January 1, 2005, and no such nonconforming use shall be permiƩed to expand 
in size or scope and the rights granted in this chapter shall terminate upon cessaƟon of business, sale 
or transfer of ownership of the adult entertainment business. 

5. Measurement of distances. For the purpose of this chapter, measurements shall be made in a 
straight line, without regard to intervening structures or objects, from the main entrance of such adult 
entertainment business to the point on the property line of such other business, school, church, public 
park areas zoned for residenƟal use which is closest to the said main entrance of such adult 
entertainment business. 

6. . 

7. No adult entertainment business shall furnish any merchandise or services to any person who is 
considered a minor under State law.  . 

8. No adult entertainment business shall be conducted in any manner that permits the observaƟon 
of models or any material depicƟng, describing or relaƟng to specified sexual acƟviƟes or anatomical 
areas whose exhibiƟon is not normally tolerated in public by display, decoraƟon, sign, show window or 
other opening from any public way or from any property not licensed as an adult use. No operator of 
an adult entertainment business or any officer, associate, member, representaƟve, agent, owner, or 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

105 | P a g e  
 

employee of such business shall engage in any acƟvity or conduct or permit any other person to engage 
in any acƟvity or conduct in or about the premises which is prohibited by this code or any laws of the 
state or the United States. 

9. No part of the interior of the adult entertainment business shall be visible from any pedestrian 
sidewalk, walkway, street, or other public or semipublic area. 

10. An adult entertainment business shall post a sign at the entrance of the premises which shall state 
the nature of the business and shall state that no one considered a minor according to the State of Iowa 
is allowed on the premises. The sign shall comply with the city's sign regulaƟons. This secƟon shall not 
be construed to prohibit the owner from establishing an older age limitaƟon for coming on the 
premises. 

11. Nuisance OperaƟon: Any adult entertainment business operated, conducted or maintained 
contrary to the provisions of this chapter shall be and the same is declared to be unlawful and a public 
nuisance, and the city aƩorney may, in addiƟon to or in lieu of prosecuƟng a criminal acƟon under this 
chapter, commence an acƟon or acƟons, proceeding or proceedings, for the abatement, removal or 
enjoinment thereof, in the manner prescribed by law, and shall take such other steps and shall apply to 
such court or courts as may have jurisdicƟon to grant such relief as will abate or remove such 
establishment and restrain and enjoin any person from operaƟng, conducƟng or maintaining an adult 
entertainment business contrary to the provisions of this chapter. 

171.06 Supplemental Design Standards for Office and Commercial Uses in the UC, CC, GC, HC and DC Districts 

Intent: In the interest of promoƟng the general welfare of the community and to protect the value of 
buildings and property, the image and character of a community is vitally important. The quality of 
architecture and building construcƟon is important to the preservaƟon and enhancement of building 
and property values, prevenƟon of the physical deterioraƟon of buildings and the promoƟon of the 
innage of the community and the general welfare of its ciƟzens. The intent of this secƟon is to promote 
beƩer architectural design and site planning, to create visual interest by requiring minimum design 
treatments for commercial buildings and projects, and to maintain and enhance the aƩracƟveness and 
efficiency of the streetscapes of the community. 

Applicability: The requirements, guidelines, and standards set forth in this secƟon shall apply to all 
new development and redevelopment of property within the GC, UC, CC, and DC zoning districts. 

a. FenestraƟon: A street façade having conƟnuous length of 50 feet more shall have an offset in building 
elevaƟon equal to a dimension of at least three feet or niches and alcoves with significant architectural 
delineaƟon and definiƟon to suggest window and entrance elements. 

b. Façade: The total area of all windows and doors on each primary façade shall be equal to at least 20% 
of the area of that facade. Windows and doors on each primary facade shall have awnings or other 
treatments that provide shade, shelter and a break in the verƟcal plane, All primary façades shall 
architectural style, detail, trim features, and roof treatments that are consistent with each other. 
Secondary façades shall be consistent and architecturally harmonious with the primary façades and 
have similar style, detail and trim features. 

c. Exterior Treatment: Exterior materials shall be brick, stone, masonry, wood clapboard; vinyl siding shall 
simulate the appearance of wood, stone, brick or masonry. Corrugated metal panels, Lised as a finish 
material, shall be prohibited in most zoning districts. Architectural metal panels are acceptable, subject 
to consultaƟon and a determinaƟon by the administraƟve official that the treatment meets the Intent 
of this secƟon. Smooth concrete panels or blocks shall have a decoraƟve finish. A maximum of three 
(3) colors may be used on the exterior of any building, plus one addiƟonal color for trim or cornice 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

106 | P a g e  
 

work. Fluorescent or neon colors are prohibited. These limitaƟons exclude any unpainted natural stone 
or roof material. 

d. Separate Ancillary Structures: Separate ancillary structures (Carwashes, cashier booths, canopies over 
gas pumps, etc.) shall have comparable pitch or parapets for roofs and shall otherwise have the same 
architectural detail, design elements and roof design as the primary structure, including the same 
cornice treatment, the same materials and colors, etcetera. 

e. Roofing: Within the UC and CC districts, the dominant roof form shall be a pitched or gabled roof with 
a minimum slope equal to one foot of verƟcal height to every three feet of horizontal distance. 
PermiƩed roof materials Inay include asphalt shingles, slate or simulated stale shingles or standing 
seam metal with concealed fasteners, which shall be stamped by a licensed engineer, shall be installed 
by a cerƟfied installer in accord with regulaƟons provided in the InternaƟonal ResidenƟal Code Book, 
as from Ɵme to Ɵme may be amended. 

f. OrientaƟon: Mid-block commercial buildings shall be oriented to face the right-of„ way/roadway, 
unless it can be shown that compelling site condiƟons necessitate a different orientaƟon. If compelling 
site condiƟons necessitate that the building not face the right -of-way/roadway, then the building is 
considered to have two (2) primary façades; the facade that faces the right-of-way/roadway and the 
façade that incorporates the primary customer entrance. Corner lot commercial buildings shall be 
oriented to face a right-of-way/roadway, unless it can be shown that there are compelling site 
condiƟons that necessitate a different orientaƟon. If compelling site condiƟons necessitate that the 
building not face such right-of-way/roadway, then the building is considered to have three (3) primary 
façades: the two façades that face the right-of-way/roadway and the façade that incorporates the 
primary customer entrance. 

g. Downtown Commercial (DC) Standards: The Downtown Commercial Zoning District is recognized as a 
unique and historic district within Glenwood that is vital to the image and economic vitality of the 
community. Development in this district should recognize the historic fabric and architectural 
tradiƟons of surrounding structures and aƩempt to complement and be harmonious with adjacent 
buildings. 

In addiƟon to the other standards and requirements set forth in this secƟon, the following 
requirements apply to construcƟon in the DC (Downtown Commercial) zone. (1) Awnings or other 
similar window and door treatments are required on no less than 50% of the total area of all primary 
façades. This requirement applies to ground floor façades only. (2) Display windows a minimum of 6 
feet in height shall exist along at least 50% of the length of all primary façades. (3) Exterior materials, 
for roofs and exterior walls, shall be historically accurate and architecturally harmonious with the 
exisƟng adjacent structures. PermiƩed materials may include or should simulated brick, wood 
clapboard, board and baƩen, or architectural masonry (marble, slate granite) or any other material, 
which in the determinaƟon of the administraƟve official, is consistent with the intent of this regulaƟon. 
VerƟcal corrugated metal is not allowed as an exterior material. Wood is not allowed as a structural 
building material within the DC zone; however, it may be used as facing material if deemed by the 
administraƟve official to be consistent with the intent of this secƟon. For renovaƟons or 
reconstrucƟons the aforemenƟoned permiƩed exterior materials are not allowed to cover exisƟng 
brick, masonry or any other historic exterior architectural elements unless the exisƟng elements can 
be proved to be structurally unsound. 

h. Highway Gateway Commercial (HC) Standards: The Gateway Commercial Zoning District is designed to 
provide high quality commercial development at major community gateways and highway 
environments. The design of projects at these gateways should provide a first impression of Glenwood 
that is pleasant and visually appealing. Specific design standards for this zoning district recognize the 
need for high quality architecture and special site development characterisƟcs due to proximity to 
high-traffic roadway intersecƟons. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

107 | P a g e  
 

In addiƟon to the other standards and requirements set forth in this secƟon, the following 
requirements apply to new construcƟon in the Highway Gateway Commercial Zoning District. (1) 
Awnings or other similar window and door treatments are required on no less than 50% of the enƟre 
length of all primary façades. (2) Windows, including those incorporated into doors, shall exist on at 
least 50% of the area of all primary façades. (3) Exterior materials, for roofs and exterior walls shall be 
of high quality and aestheƟcally appealing. Exposed fasteners on metal buildings are not permiƩed; 
metal roofs shall be constructed of standing seam, concealed fastener, or some other similar roof type. 
VerƟcal corrugated metal shall not be used as a siding material on any structure located in the HC 
zoning district. (3) Traffic circulaƟon for development in the HC zoning district should be directed 
towards frontage roads and shall connect to other the exisƟng and planned street network of the City 
of Glenwood (The Comprehensive Plan of the City of Glenwood further specifies the proposed locaƟon 
of road infrastructure in the HC zoning district.). 

i. Mixed Use Urban Corridor (UC) Standards: The Mixed Use Urban Corridor zoning district is designed 
to recognize the mixed use character of major urban corridors, most notably, Locust Street. These 
corridors support a variety of Lises including commercial, residenƟal and office uses. Design standards 
are meant to maintain this character. Buildings should resemble residenƟal development, 
incorporaƟng elements such as a primary entrance with a porch or awning, windows and doors with 
trim and parking lots in rear or side yards maintaining an aƩracƟve, landscaped front yard. The 
dominant building form should be low-profile, one or two-story buildings with gabled roofs. 

In addiƟon to the other standards and requirements set forth in this secƟon, the following 
requirements apply to construcƟon in the Mixed Use Urban Corridor zoning district. (1) Awnings, 
porches or other similar window and door treatments are required on the primary entrance. (2) 
Windows, including those incorporated into doors, shall exist on at least 30% of the total area of all 
primary façades. (3) Exterior materials, for roofs and exterior walls shall be consistent with other 
surrounding structures in the UC zoning district. Exposed fasteners on metal buildings are not 
permiƩed; metal roofs shall be constructed of standing seam, concealed fastener or some other 
similar roof type. VerƟcal corrugated metal shall not be used as a siding material. Vinyl siding is 
allowed, as are materials which, in the determinaƟon of the administraƟve official, are consistent with 
the intent of this secƟon. 

j. Community Commercial (CC) Standards: The intent of the Community Commercial zoning district is to 
provide areas for the development of businesses serving or operaƟng in neighborhoods. Generally 
located at major intersecƟons or within neighborhoods, the CC zoning district design standards are 
designed to reduce the effect of traffic and operaƟng characterisƟcs on surrounding residenƟal areas. 
Buildings should resemble residenƟal development, incorporaƟng elements such as a primary 
entrance with a porch or awning, windows and doors with trim and parking lots in rear or side yards 
maintaining an aƩracƟve, landscaped front yard. The dominant building form should be low-profile, 
one or two-story buildings with gabled roofs. 

In addiƟon to the standards and requirements set forth in this secƟon the following requirements 
apply to construcƟon within the CC zoning district. (1) Awnings, porches or other similar window and 
door treatments are required on the primary entrance. (2) Windows, including those incorporated into 
doors, shall exist on at least 30% of the total area of all primary façades. (3) Exterior materials, for 
roofs and exterior walls shall be consistent with other surrounding structures in the CC zoning district. 
Exposed fasteners on metal buildings are not permiƩed; metal roofs shall be constructed of standing 
seam, concealed fastener or some other similar roof type. VerƟcal corrugated metal shall not be used 
as a siding material. Vinyl siding is allowed, as are materials which, in the determinaƟon of the 
administraƟve official, are consistent with the intent of this secƟon. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

108 | P a g e  
 

k. General Commercial (GC) Standards: The general commercial zoning district accommodates a variety 
of commercial uses. These districts may include commercial uses that are oriented toward services 
rather than retail acƟviƟes. These uses may create land use conflicts with adjacent residenƟal 
development that require adequate buffering. Design standards in the GC zoning district are intended 
to allow more flexibility and variety. 

In addiƟon to the standards and requirements set forth in this secƟon the following requirements 
apply to construcƟon within the GC zoning district. (1) Windows, including those incorporated into 
doors, shall exist on at least 20% of the total area of all primary façades. (2) PermiƩed exterior 
materials, for roofs and exterior walls include exposed fastened metal, standing seam, concealed 
fastener, vinyl siding and concrete blocks or panels. VerƟcal corrugated metal is allowed as a siding 
material. For renovaƟons or reconstrucƟons the aforemenƟoned permiƩed exterior materials are not 
allowed to cover exisƟng brick, masonry or any other historic exterior architectural elements unless 
the exisƟng elements can be proved to be structurally unsound. 

l. Landscaping and Screening: In addiƟon to the architectural and design standards and requirements 
set forth in this secƟon all new development within the City of Glenwood shall abide by the 
Landscaping and Screening standards set forth in SecƟon 173 of the Land Development Ordinance. 

m. Parking: In addiƟon to the architectural and design standards and requirements set forth in this 
secƟon, all new development within the City of Glenwood shall abide by the off-street parking 
regulaƟons set forth in SecƟon 174 of the Land Development Ordinance. 

n. Signage: In addiƟon to the architectural and design standards and requirements set forth in this 
secƟon, all new development within the City of Glenwood shall abide by the sign regulaƟons set forth 
in SecƟon 175 of the Land Development Ordinance. 

o. Site Development RegulaƟons: In addiƟon to the architectural and design standards and requirements 
set forth in this secƟon, all new development within the City of Glenwood shall abide by the site 
development regulaƟons and supplemental site development regulaƟons set forth in SecƟons 168 and 
172, respecƟvely, of the Land Development Ordinance. 

171.07 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Industrial Uses 

a. Resource ExtracƟon 

(b) Resource extracƟon, where permiƩed, is subject to the following addiƟonal requirements: 

1. Erosion Control: A resource extracƟon use may not increase the amount of storm run-off onto 
adjacent properƟes. Erosion control faciliƟes, including retenƟon and sediment basins, are required of 
each facility, if necessary, to meet this standard. 

2. Surface Drainage: The surface of the use may not result the collecƟon or ponding of water, unless 
specifically permiƩed by the City Council. 

3. Storage of Topsoil: Topsoil shall be collected and stored for redistribuƟon following the end of the 
operaƟon. 

4. EliminaƟon of Hazards: ExcavaƟon shall not result in a hazard to any person or property. The 
following measures are required: 

(a) RestoraƟon of slopes to a gradient not exceeding 33% as soon as possible. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

109 | P a g e  
 

(b) InstallaƟon of perimeter safety screening. 

(c) InstallaƟon of visual screening adjacent to any property within a residenƟal or public use 
district. 

5. RestoraƟon of Landscape: The topography and soil of the resource extracƟon site shall be restored 
and stabilized within nine months of compleƟon of the operaƟon. The site shall be seeded, planted, 
and contoured in a way that prevents erosion. Alternately, the site may be used as a lake or body of 
water, subject to approval by the City Council with the recommendaƟon of the Planning Commission 
and the Department of Natural Resources. 

b. Salvage Services 

1. Screening: 

(a) The perimeter of each new facility shall be fully enclosed by opaque, freestanding fencing or 
screen walls. Minimum height of this enclosure shall be ten feet. Any such enclosure shall be 
constructed behind required landscaped bufferyards. 

(b) Each exisƟng salvage services facility shall be screened as provided above within one year of 
the effecƟve date of this Ordinance. 

(c) All enclosures shall be of uniform height, texture, and color, and shall be maintained by the 
proprietor to ensure maximum public safety and to completely obscure the public view of 
materials stored in the facility. 

2. Storage of materials within any salvage services facility may not be higher than the height of the 
surrounding screen fence or wall. 

3. No loading, unloading, or any other operaƟonal acƟvity involving salvage materials may take place 
outside the boundaries of the enclosure. Burning of any materials shall be prohibited. 

4. No Salvage Services use may be established within 1,000 feet of the nearest property line of a 
residenƟal zoning district or any civic use. 

(c) 171.08 Performance Standards for Industrial Uses 

a. Industrial Uses in the LI District: Performance Standards 

The following performance standards apply to all industrial uses permiƩed within an LI Limited 
Industrial zoning district: 

1. Physical Appearance: All operaƟons shall be carried on within an enclosed building except that new 
materials or equipment in operable condiƟon may be stored outside. Normal daily inorganic wastes 
may be stored outside in containers, provided that such containers are not visible from the street. 

2. Fire Hazard: No operaƟon shall involve the use of highly flammable gases, acid, liquids, or other 
inherent fire hazards. This prohibiƟon shall not apply to the normal use of heaƟng or motor fuels and 
welding gases when handled in accordance with the regulaƟons of Mills County and the City of 
Glenwood. 

3. Maximum PermiƩed Sound Levels Adjacent to ResidenƟal Zoning Districts: No operaƟon in the Ll 
district shall generate sound levels in excess of those specified in Table 6 at the boundary of a residenƟal 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

110 | P a g e  
 

district. All. noises shall be muffled so as not to be objecƟonable because of intermiƩence, beat 
frequency, or shrillness. 

4. Sewage and Wastes: No operaƟon shall discharge into a sewer, drainage way, or the ground any 
material which is radioacƟve, poisonous, detrimental to normal sewer plant operaƟon, or corrosive to 
sewer pipes and installaƟons. 

5. Air Contaminants: No material may be discharged into the air from any source in such quanƟty as 
to cause injury, detriment, nuisance, or annoyance to any considerable number of people or to the 
public in general; or to endanger the health, comfort, or safety of any considerable number of people 
or to the public in general; or to damage other businesses, vegetaƟon, or property. 

6. Odor: The emission of odors determined by the Planning Commission to be obnoxious to most 
people shall be prohibited. Such odors shall be measured at the property line of the operaƟon. As a 
guide to classificaƟon, strong odors associated with putrefacƟon, organic decay, or fermentaƟon will 
generally be considered obnoxious to most people, while odors of equal intensity associated with the 
roasƟng of coffee or nuts are generally considered acceptable. 

7. Gases: No release of noxious or poisonous gases shall be permiƩed except as provided in this 
secƟon. Measurements of sulfur dioxide, hydrogen sulfide, or carbon monoxide shall not exceed 5 parts 
per million taken at the property line of the operaƟon. 

8. VibraƟon: All machines shall be mounted to minimize vibraƟon. No measurable vibraƟon shall 
occur at the property line of the operaƟon which exceeds a displacement of 0.003 inch. 

9. Glare and Heat: All glare generated by a use shall be shielded or directed so as not to be visible at 
the property line of the operaƟon. No heat may be generated from an operaƟon that raises the air 
temperature at the property line of the operaƟon by more than five degrees Fahrenheit above the 
ambient air temperature. 

10. Storage of Chemical Products: If allowed by CondiƟonal Use Permit, any above or below ground 
storage of liquid petroleum products or chemicals of a flammable or noxious nature shall not exceed 
150,000 gallons when stored on one lot less than one acre. Such storage shall not exceed 25,000 gallons 
in any one tank. Storage of liquid petroleum products or chemicals of a flammable or noxious nature in 
excess of 25,000 gallons shall be located at least 50 feet from any structure intended for human 
habitaƟon and at least 200 feet from any ResidenƟal, Office, or Commercial zoning district. 

171.09 Maximum PermiƩed Sound Levels Adjacent to ResidenƟal Zoning Districts 

Table 171-1 displays the maximum permiƩed sound levels that may be generated by uses in the CC, GC, 
I-IC, BP, LI, or Gl zoning districts where adjacent to residenƟal zoning districts. All measurements shall be 
taken at or within the boundary between the originaƟng district and the adjacent residenƟal zoning 
district with a sound level meter meeƟng ANSI specificaƟons for a Type Il or beƩer general purpose sound 
level meter. The A-weighted response shall be used. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

111 | P a g e  
 

Table 171-1: Maximum PermiƩed Sound Levels at ResidenƟal Boundaries 

OriginaƟng Zoning District Time Maximum One Hour Leq* 

(dbA) 

CC, DC, GC, HC, Ll, BP 7:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m. 60 

 10:00 p.m. - 7:00 a.m. 55 

GI 10:00 p.m. - 7:00 a.m. 65 
 
* Leq is the constant sound level that, in a given situaƟon and Ɵme period, conveys the same sound energy 
as the actual Ɵme-varying A-weighted sound. It is the average sound level and accurately portrays the 
sound the human ear actually hears. 

171.10 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Miscellaneous Uses 

a. CommunicaƟons Towers 

CommunicaƟons towers, where permiƩed, are subject to the following addiƟonal requirements: 

1. Co-LocaƟon: It is the policy of the City of Glenwood to encourage the co-locaƟon of new 
communicaƟons towers with exisƟng towers or as part of suitable exisƟng structures. All applicaƟons 
for approval of a communicaƟons tower locaƟon shall include evidence that all potenƟal alternaƟves 
for locaƟon on exisƟng towers or suitable buildings has been explored and exhausted. Applicants may 
not be denied space on an exisƟng tower within the City of Glenwood unless mechanical, structural, or 
regulatory factors prevent co-locaƟon. 

2. Towers shall be located so that the distance from the base of the tower to any adjoining property 
line or the supporƟng structure of another separate tower is a minimum of 110% of the tower height. 

3. The tower facility shall be designed to be aestheƟcally and architecturally compaƟble with the built 
environment of the City of Glenwood. Associated support buildings shall be designed with materials 
that are consistent with those in the surrounding neighborhood. 

4. All tower faciliƟes shall provide landscaped peripheral yards with a minimum depth of 35 feet. One 
tree consistent with the provisions of SecƟon 173 shall be planted for every 500 square feet of required 
peripheral yard area. 

b. Landfills 

1. Compliance with Codes: Each landfill must comply with all relevant city, county, State, or Federal 
codes and statutes. 

2. PrevenƟon of Hazards: No facility shall present a hazard to surrounding residents or properƟes. 

3. Drainage and Water Supply: No landfill may modify or prevent the flow of major natural drainage 
ways within the jurisdicƟon of the City of Glenwood. Landfills shall not produce a measurable increase 
in polluƟon in any public water-based recreaƟonal facility or in any waterway or well that is a part of a 
public or private water supply. 

4. Minimum SeparaƟon from ResidenƟal Uses: No non-putrescible landfill may be established within 
300 feet of a developed residenƟal or public use. No landfill involving the disposal of putrescible or 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

112 | P a g e  
 

sepƟc wastes shall be established within one-fourth mile of any residenƟal, public, or commercial 
zoning district; or any State or Federal Highway. 

5. RestoraƟon of Site: The site of any landfill must be restored, stabilized, planted, and seeded within 
six months aŌer the end of the operaƟon. DissipaƟon of waste products must be accomplished in a 
manner approved by the State of Iowa's Department of Natural Resources. 

6. Toxic Waste: The disposal of hazardous, toxic, or radioacƟve wastes as defined by the Federal 
Environmental ProtecƟon Agency shall be prohibited within the City of Glenwood and its extra-
territorial jurisdicƟon. 

c. Wind Energy ConservaƟon Systems (WECS) 

1. The distance from all lot lines or any building or power line to any tower support base of a WECS 
shall be equal to the sum of the tower height and the diameter of the rotor. A reducƟon of this 
requirement may be granted as part of a CondiƟonal Use Permit approval if the Zoning Board of 
Adjustment finds that the reducƟon is consistent with public health, safety, and welfare. 

2. The distance between the tower support bases of any two WECS shall be the minimum of five rotor 
lengths, determined by the sue of the largest rotor. A reducƟon of this requirement may be granted as 
part of a CondiƟonal Use Permit approval if the Zoning Board of Adjustment  finds that the reducƟon 
does not impede the operaƟon of either WECS. 

3. The WECS operaƟon shall not interfere with radio, television, computer, or other electronic 
operaƟons on adjacent properƟes. 

4. A fence six feet high with a locking gate shall be placed around any WECS tower base; or the tower 
climbing apparatus shall begin no lower than twelve feet above ground. 

5. The WECS is exempt from the height restricƟons of the base district. 

171.11 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Accessory Uses 

a. Home-Based Businesses/ Home OccupaƟons 

Home-based businesses and home occupaƟons are permiƩed as an accessory use in residenƟal units 
subject to the following condiƟons: 

1. External Effects: 

(a) There shall be no change in the exterior appearance of the building or premises housing the 
home occupaƟon other than signage permiƩed within this secƟon. 

(b) No noise, odors, bright lights, electronic interference, storage or other external effects 
aƩributable to the home occupaƟon shall be noƟceable from any adjacent property or public 
right of way. 

(c) The home occupaƟon shall be carried on enƟrely within the principal residenƟal structure 
and/or within a detached accessory building approved by the City in accordance with these 
zoning regulaƟons. All "External Effects" criteria in items a. 1. (a), (b), (d), (e) and (f) of this 
subsecƟon are applicable for the detached accessory building. Signage is not allowed upon the 
detached accessory building. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

113 | P a g e  
 

(d) Mechanical or electrical equipment supporƟng the home occupaƟon shall be limited to that 
which is self-contained within the structure and normally used for office, domesƟc or 
household purposes. 

(e) No outdoor storage of materials or equipment used in the home occupaƟon shall be permiƩed, 
other than motor vehicles used by the owner to conduct the occupaƟon. Parking or storage of 
heavy commercial vehicles to conduct the home occupaƟon is prohibited. 

(f) No home occupaƟon shall discharge into any sewer, drainageway, or the ground any material 
which is radioacƟve, poisonous, detrimental to normal sewer plant operaƟon, or corrosive to 
sewer pipes and installaƟons. 

2. Employees: The home occupaƟon shall employ no more than one full Ɵme or part Ɵme employee 
on site other than the residents of the dwelling unit, provided that one off-street parking space is made 
available and used by that non-resident employee. 

3. Extent of Use: For all residenƟal and agricultural zoning districts, the lesser of 25% of the floor area 
of the dwelling or 400 square feet may be devoted to the home occupaƟon, inclusive of any detached 
accessory buildings used for the home occupaƟon. 

4. Signage: Each home-based business shall be permiƩed to have one wall sign not to exceed four 
square feet in area. 

5. Traffic GeneraƟon and Parking 

(a) Home-based businesses may generate no more than 10 vehicle trips per day, corresponding to 
amount of traffic normally generated by a dwelling unit. 

(b) Deliveries or service by commercial vehicles or trucks rated at ten tons gross empty weight is 
prohibited for any home-based business located on a local street. 

(c) Parking needs generated by a home-based business shall be saƟsfied with off-street parking. 
No more than one vehicle used in connecƟon with any home occupaƟon shall be parked on 
the property. Such parking shall not be located in a required front yard. No more than two on-
street parking spaces shall be used by the home occupaƟon at any one Ɵme. 

6. Prohibited Home-Based Businesses/ Home OccupaƟons: The following acƟviƟes are prohibited as 
home-based businesses, even if they meet the other requirements set forth in this secƟon: 

(a) Animal hospitals. 

(b) General retail sales with a storefront. 

(c) Mortuaries. 

(d) Repair shops or service establishments including major electrical appliance repair, motorized 
vehicle repair, and related uses. 

(e) Repair and service establishments including electronics repair and small engine repair, except 
with a CondiƟonal Use Permit 

(f) Stables or kennels. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

114 | P a g e  
 

(g) Welding, vehicle body repair, or rebuilding or dismantling of vehicles. 

b. PermiƩed Accessory Uses: ResidenƟal Uses 

ResidenƟal uses may include the following accessory uses, acƟviƟes, and structures on the same lot. 

1. Private garages and parking for the residenƟal use. 

2. RecreaƟonal acƟviƟes and uses by residents. 

3. Home occupaƟons, subject to SecƟon 171.11 of these regulaƟons. 

4. ResidenƟal convenience services for mulƟ-family uses or mobile home parks. 

5. Garage sales, provided that the frequency of such sales at any one locaƟon shall not exceed one 
during a conƟnuous, two month period or four sales during any twelve month period. 

6. Maintenance of no more than four household pets over the age of six months. PermiƩed 
household pets do not include animals who present hazards to members of the household or the 
general public, including venomous animals, constrictors, or other exoƟc animals; or animals who have 
an undue impact on their neighborhood environment. 

c. PermiƩed Accessory Uses: Civic Use Types 

Guidance Services and Health Care use types are permiƩed in the LI Limited Industrial zoning districts 
only as accessory uses to a primary industrial use. 

d. PermiƩed Accessory Uses: Other Use Types 

Other use types may include the following accessory uses, acƟviƟes, and structures on the same lot: 

1. Parking for the principal use. 

2. Manufacturing or fabricaƟon of products made for sale in a principal commercial use, provided 
such manufacturing is totally contained within the structure housing the principal use. 

3. Services operated for the sole benefit of employees of the principal use. 

e. PermiƩed Accessory Uses: Agricultural Use Types 

1. Garden centers and roadside stands, subject to the regulaƟons set forth in current zoning 
ordinances.   

2. Other uses and acƟviƟes necessarily and customarily associated with the purpose and funcƟons of 
agricultural uses. 

171.12 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Outdoor Storage outside of the LI and GI Zoning Districts 

Outdoor storage is prohibited in all zoning districts except the GI General Industrial zoning district, except 
as provided in this secƟon. 

a. Agricultural Use Types 

Outdoor storage is permiƩed only where incidental to agricultural uses. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

115 | P a g e  
 

b. Civic Use Types 

Outdoor storage is permiƩed only where incidental to Maintenance FaciliƟes. 

c. Commercial Use Types 

1. Outdoor storage is permiƩed where incidental to Agricultural Sales and Service; Auto Rentals and 
Sales; ConstrucƟon Sales; Equipment Sales and Service; Stables and Kennels; and Surplus Sales. 

2. Outdoor storage is permiƩed where incidental to Auto Services, Equipment Repair, and Body 
Repair, provided that such storage is completely screened at property lines by an opaque barrier, as set 
forth in SecƟon 173. This provision shall apply to any Auto Services, Equipment Repair, or Body Repair 
use established aŌer the effecƟve date of this Ordinance. 

d. Industrial and Miscellaneous Use Types 

1. Outdoor storage is permiƩed where it is incidental to industrial uses within the AR and LI zoning 
districts. Any such outdoor storage is subject to screening requirements set forth in SecƟon 173. 

2. Outdoor storage is permiƩed where incidental to landfills. 

171.13 Supplemental Use RegulaƟons: Temporary Uses 

a. Purpose 

These provisions are intended to permit occasional, temporary uses and acƟviƟes, when consistent with 
the objecƟves of the Zoning Ordinance and compaƟble with surrounding uses. They are further intended to 
prevent temporary uses from assuming the character of permanent uses. 

b. Temporary Use Types 

The following temporary uses are permiƩed, subject to the regulaƟons contained within these secƟons: 

1. Model homes or apartments, if contained within the development to which they pertain. 

2. Development sales offices. Such offices may remain in place unƟl 90% of the lots or units within 
the development are sold and may not be located within a mobile home or manufactured home/ 
structure. 

3. Public assemblies, displays, and exhibits. 

4. Commercial circuses, carnivals, fairs, fesƟvals, or other transient events, provided that events are 
located on property owned by the sponsoring non-profit organizaƟon, or are located within a DC or 
more intensive zoning district. 

5. Outdoor art shows and exhibits, 

6. Christmas tree or other holiday-related merchandise sales lots, provided that such faciliƟes are not 
located in a residenƟal zoning district. 

7. ConstrucƟon site offices, if located on the construcƟon site itself. 

8. Outdoor special sales, provided that such sales operate no more than three days in the same week 
and five days in the same month; and are located in commercial or industrial zoning districts. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

116 | P a g e  
 

9. ConstrucƟon Batch Plants in the LI District, provided that: 

(a) No plant may be located within 600 feet of a developed residenƟal use, park, or school. 

(b) The facility is located no more than one mile from its job site. The Zoning Administrator may 
extend this distance to two miles, if such extension avoids use of local streets by plant-related 
vehicles, 

(c) Hours of operaƟon do not exceed 16 hours per day. 

(d) The duraƟon of the plant’s operaƟon does not exceed 180 days. 

10. AddiƟonal temporary uses that the Zoning Administrator determines to be similar to the previously 
described uses in this secƟon. 

c. Required CondiƟons of All Temporary Uses 

1. Each site shall be leŌ free of debris, liƩer, or other evidence of the use upon its compleƟon or 
removal. 

2. The Zoning Administrator may establish other condiƟons which he/ she deems necessary to ensure 
compaƟbility with surrounding land uses. 

d. Permit ApplicaƟon and Issuance 

1. An applicaƟon to conduct a temporary use shall be made to the Zoning Administrator and shall 
include at a minimum. a descripƟon of the proposed use; a diagram of its locaƟon; informaƟon 
regarding hours and duraƟon of operaƟon; and other informaƟon necessary to evaluate the 
applicaƟon. 

2. The Zoning Administrator may authorize a temporary use only if he/ she determines that: 

(a) The use will not impair the normal operaƟon of a present or future permanent use on the site. 

(b) The use will be compaƟble with surrounding uses and will not adversely affect the public 
health, safety, and welfare. 

3. The duraƟon of the permit shall be explicitly stated on the permit. 

4. Decisions of the Zoning Administrator may be appealed to the Board of Adjustment. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

117 | P a g e  
 

SecƟon 172 

Supplemental Site Development RegulaƟons 

172.01 Purpose 

The Supplemental Site Development RegulaƟons establish basic requirements for all lots, including 
frontage requirements. These regulaƟons recognize the existence of special condiƟons that cannot comply 
literally with the site development regulaƟons set out for each zoning district. Therefore, these regulaƟons 
qualify or modify the district regulaƟons of this Ordinance and provide for specific areas of excepƟon. 

172.02 Required Street Frontage 

Except as permiƩed below, any lot used in whole or part for residenƟal purposes shall provide a minimum 
frontage of 20 feet along at least one public street, or shall possess an exclusive, uninterrupted private 
easement of access or right of way of at least 20 feet wide to a public street. There shall not be more than 
one single-family housing unit for such frontage or easement. A common easement of access at least fiŌy 
feet in width may be provided for two or more single-family units or for one or more duplex, two-family, 
townhouse, or mulƟple-family housing units. 

172.03 Lot Size ExcepƟons-Replacement Housing 

In any district permiƫng residenƟal use types, a single-family or duplex use type which is replacing a 
preexisƟng structure of the same use type may be located on any lot or plot of Official record as of the 
effecƟve date of this Ordinance, regardless of its area or width, but subject to the following requirements: 

a. The sum of the widths of the side yards of such lot shall be the lesser of those required by the district 
regulaƟons or 25% of the width of the lot. No single side yard shall be less than 10% of the width of the 
lot. 

b. The depth of the rear yard of such lot need not exceed 20% of the depth of the lot, but shall not be less 
than 15 feet. 

c. If two or more such adjacent lots are combined under single ownership, the resulƟng combined lots 
shall be treated as a single lot for purposes of applying these setback requirements. 

172.04 Setback Adjustments 

a. Lots Adjoining Alleys 

In calculaƟng the depth of a required side or rear yard setback for a lot adjoining a dedicated public alley, 
one-half of the alley may be credited as a porƟon of the yard. However, no residenƟal structure may be 
nearer than four feet to the near side of the alley and setback requirements for accessory buildings shall 
not be decreased, 

b. Encroachments on Required Yards 

Every part of a required yard shall be open and unobstructed from finished grade upward, except as 
specified herein. 

1. Architectural projecƟons, including roofs which cover porches, enclosed porches, window sills, belt 
courses, cornices, eaves, flues and chimneys, stoops and ornamental features may project four feet into 
a required yard. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

118 | P a g e  
 

2. Terraces, paƟos, uncovered decks, retaining walls, and ornamental features which have no 
structural element more than three feet above or below the adjacent ground level may project ten feet 
into a required yard. However, all such projecƟons must be set back at least three feet from an adjacent 
side lot line or rear lot line; or twenty feet from any street property line. 

3. In ResidenƟal Districts, paved and prepared parking areas must be set back at least two (2) feet 
from an adjacent side lot line. 

4. Fire escapes, outside stairways, and balconies opening to fire towers may project a maximum of 3 
feet into required yards, provided that they do not obstruct the light and venƟlaƟon of adjacent 
buildings. 

5. For buildings constructed upon a front property line, a cornice may project into public right-of-way. 
Maximum projecƟon is the smaller of four feet or five percent of the right-of-way width. 

6. In commercial districts only, a canopy or awning may extend into a required front yard, provided 
that the canopy or awning is set back at least five feet from the front property line, covers less than 
fiŌeen percent of the total area of the required front yard, and has a verƟcal clearance of at least 7.5 
feet. In the DC zone, canopies and awnings may exceed fiŌeen percent of the area of the required front 
yard. Awnings and canopies in the DC zone are subject to the following general regulaƟons: 

(a) Maximum projecƟon of any Awning or Canopy shall be as follows: 

i In the DC zone, an awning may extend from the facade of a building to a distance 
of 6 feet from the inside edge of the curb. Canopies shall not be constructed in the DC 
zone. 

ii In all other commercial zones, exclusive of the DC zone, awnings and canopies 
are subject to the same regulaƟons set forth in secƟon 175.04(e). 

(b) Each awning in the DC zone must maintain a minimum verƟcal clearance of 7.5 feet. 

(c) Awnings must minimize visible support structures and may not expose guy wires, cables, 
turnbuckles, angle iron or any other similar external support structure. 

(d) Awnings may project into and over a public right of way or sidewalk in the DC zone so long 
as no posts or other devices are used to support the awning in such manner as to obstruct the 
sidewalk or hinder or interfere with the free passage of pedestrians. 

7. Accessory buildings are subject to all site development regulaƟons of its zoning district, except as 
provided below: 

(a) Side Yards: An accessory building may be located a minimum of five (5) feet from the side 
lot line of the property if is located between the rear building line of the principal building and the 
rear Property line and is under 15 feet in height. An addiƟonal one foot setback is required for 
every two (2) feet above 15 feet in height, up to the minimum requirements of the zoning district. 

(b) Front Yards: No accessory building may be located between the front building line of the 
principal building and the front property line. 

(c) Rear Yard: The minimum rear yard setback for accessory buildings shall be 5 feet. This 
minimum rear yard setback shall be increased to 15 feet if the accessory building is a garage with 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

119 | P a g e  
 

a vehicular entrance door that is directly oriented toward an alley. Double frontage lots shall 
require front-yard setbacks along both street frontages as set forth in Table 168-3. Easements may 
be incorporated into these required setbacks. No accessory building shall be located within any 
easement or right-of-way along the rear property line. 

(d) Street Yards: No accessory building shall be located within 20 feet from any street right-
of-way line. 

(e) Maximum Size: No accessory building other than a garage shall exceed 150 square feet, 
or 1.5% of total lot area, whichever is larger, within an R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4, or MH residenƟal district, 
providing that the necessary building permit is obtained. The maximum size of a detached garage 
for a single-family detached, single-family aƩached, or duplex residenƟal uses shall not exceed 720 
square feet, or 25% of the building coverage of the main residenƟal structure, whichever is larger. 
ResidenƟal lots with a minimum 12,500 square feet may construct a garage that is 4% of the total 
lot area or 720 square feet, whichever is larger, up to a maximum of 1000 square feet. ResidenƟal 
lots with a minimum of 25,000 square feet may be allowed to construct a garage larger than 1000 
square feet with a condiƟonal use permit. All accessory buildings on a site, taken together, must 
comply with the building coverage requirements for the zoning district and shall not occupy more 
than 30% of any required rear yard. 

(f) Height: In residenƟal districts, the maximum height shall be 16 feet for any accessory 
building. Maximum height for a detached garage and/or other accessory building in an AR District 
shall be 20 feet. 

(g) SeparaƟon from Other Buildings: No accessory building shall be placed within ten feet of 
any other building on its own property or any adjacent properƟes. 

(h) AƩached Accessory Building: Any accessory building physically aƩached to the principal 
building shall be considered part of the principal building and subject to the development 
regulaƟons of its zoning district. 

(i) Effect on Adjacent ProperƟes: If an adjacent lot is built upon, the accessory building must 
be enƟrely to the rear of the front wall of any principal building on such adjacent lot. No accessory 
building shall damage adjacent property by obstrucƟng views, inhibiƟng solar access, or hindering 
venƟlaƟon. 

(j) Hazards: Any accessory use which creates a potenƟal fire hazard shall be located a 
minimum of 10 feet from any residenƟal structure. Such uses include but are not limited to 
detached fireplaces, barbecue ovens, or storage of flammable materials. 

(k) No accessory building shall be built upon any lot unƟl construcƟon of the principal 
building has begun. 

8. Permanent swimming pools shall be subject to the same front yard, Side yard, rear yard, and street 
side yard setback as accessory buildings. 

9. Lamp posts with a maximum height of ten (10) feet, and flag poles up to maximum height of base 
district may be located within required yards, provided they are set back at least five (5) feet from 
property lines. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

120 | P a g e  
 

10. Garage Setbacks: Any garage that fronts on a public street must be set back at least 20 feet from 
such street, regardless of the setback requirement within the zoning district. This shall not be 
interpreted to waive a larger required minimum setback required by the zoning district. 

c. Architectural Requirements for Detached Garages and Carports 

1. Exterior building materials and architectural designs used for detached garages for single-family 
detached, single-family aƩached or duplex residenƟal structures shall be comparable to, or similar to, 
or architecturally harmonious with, the exisƟng main residenƟal structure. 

2. Exterior materials shall be non-reflecƟve and shall be of a color, material, and scale comparable to 
exisƟng residenƟal structures in the immediate area. Permanent siding shall be, or simulate, wood, 
wood shingles, brick, masonry, or Ɵle. The roof shall be pitched with a minimum verƟcal rise of 2.5 
inches for each 12 inches of horizontal run. Roof construcƟon shall be of nonreflecƟve materials which 
are or simulate the appearance of asphalt, wood shingles, Ɵle, rock, or standing seam metal with 
concealed fasteners. A standing seam metal roof shall be stamped by a licensed engineer, shall be 
installed by a cerƟfied installer of standing seam metal roofs in accord with the regulaƟons provided in 
the InternaƟonal ResidenƟal Code Book, as from Ɵme to Ɵme may be amended. 

3. Unless made an integral part of the primary structure or residence, all carports are subject to the 
setback requirements as set forth in this chapter for detached garages. It shall be unlawful for a person 
to erect, uƟlize, or maintain a carport unless: 

(a) It is soundly constructed of lumber, steel, or other suitable materials to be approved by 
the administraƟve officer; 

(b) It is similar to or architecturally harmonious with the exisƟng primary structure in the 
discreƟon of the administraƟve officer; 

(c) It is affixed to the ground by concrete fooƟngs; and 

(d) It has a permanent and impervious ground cover of gravel, concrete, or asphalt for which 
vehicles may be allowed to rest. 

d. Setback Adjustment 

1. Setbacks on Built-Up City Blockfaces 

These provisions apply if thirty percent or more of the buildings on that blockface have front yard 
setbacks different from those required for the specific district. 

(a) If a building is to be built on a parcel of land within 100 feet of exisƟng buildings on both sides, 
the minimum front yard shall be the mean setbacks of the adjacent buildings. 

(b) If a building is to be built on a parcel of land within 100 feet of an exisƟng building on one side 
only, the minimum. front yard shall be the setback of the adjacent building. 

(c) If a building is to be built on a parcel of land not within 100 feet of an exisƟng building on 
either side, then the minimum front yard shall be the mean setback of all exisƟng buildings on 
the blockface. 

(d) No setback adjustment pursuant to this secƟon shall create a required front yard setback more 
than five feet greater than that otherwise required by the applicable zoning district. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

121 | P a g e  
 

2. Corner Lots 

Required setbacks shall not reduce the buildable width of any corner lot to less than 24 feet. 
Appropriate setback adjustments shall be allowed to maintain this minimum width. 

e. Rear Yard ExcepƟons - ResidenƟal Uses 

When an irregular lot is used for residenƟal purposes, the rear yard may be measured as the average 
horizontal distance between the building and rear lot line, provided that the minimum setback shall not be 
less than sixty percent (60%) of the rear yard required by the zoning district. 

f. Double Frontage Lots 

ResidenƟally zoned double frontage lots on a major street, and with no access to that street may have a 25-
foot minimum front yard setback along said street. All other double frontage lots must provide full front 
yard setbacks from each adjacent street. 

g. Satellite Antennas 

1. Each lot shall have no more than one satellite antenna. 

2. Antennas with a surface area over 6.3 square feet which are accessory to a primary use and are 
designed to receive and transmit electromagneƟc signals, or to receive signals from satellites, shall not 
be located within any front yard of the primary use. 

3. Antennas with a surface area of over 6.3 square feet are subject to the following addiƟonal 
regulaƟons: 

(a) Such antennas shall be located no less than ten feet from the property line of a-an adjacent 
property line. 

(b) The maximum height shall be 15 feet and the maximum diameter shall be 11 feet. 

(c) Each antenna shall be screened by a six-foot-high wood or masonry fence, or by natural plants 
or trees of equal minimum height. 

h. Vision Clearance Zones 

Except in the DC District, no structure, including a fence, shall be built to a height of more than three feet 
above the established curb grade on the part of the lot within a vision clearance zone. The vision clearance 
zone shall be a triangle measured from the point of intersecƟon of the centerline of the streets to a point 
90 feet in each direcƟon from. the intersecƟon along such centerlines. At the intersecƟon of major streets, 
the 90-foot distance shall be increased to 120 feet. No landscaping shall be planted in such area which will 
materially obstruct the view of drivers approaching the street intersecƟon. 

172.05 Height ExcepƟons 

These provisions allow excepƟons to the height limit of any zoning district in certain situaƟons. 

a. VerƟcal ProjecƟons 

Chimneys, cooling towers, building mechanical equipment, elevator bulkheads, fire towers, grain elevators, 
non-parabolic receiving antennas, tanks, solariums, steeples, penthouses not exceeding 25 percent of total 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

122 | P a g e  
 

roof area, flag poles, stage towers or scenery loŌs, and water towers may be built to any height in 
accordance with exisƟng and future ordinances. 

b. Amateur Radio Towers and Federal CommunicaƟon Commission Pronouncements 

1. Radio towers, antennas and other appurtenances operated by licensed amateur radio operators, 
where permiƩed and when, may not exceed 75 feet in height. This height has been determined by the 
City to reasonably accommodate amateur service communicaƟons, and further represents the 
minimum pracƟcable regulaƟon to accomplish legiƟmate municipal land use regulaƟon purpose, as 
recognized under published guidelines of the Federal CommunicaƟons Commission. 

2. Special instances may require that amateur radio tower heights exceed 75 feet to achieve effecƟve 
and reliable communicaƟons. In such cases, the Board of Adjustment may grant a CondiƟonal Use 
Permit to a licensed amateur radio operator for a specific tower height that exceeds 75 feet. In 
determining whether to grant such permission, the City Council shall consider the federal guidelines 
contained in PRB-I (Amateur Radio PreempƟon 101 FCC 2d (1985)); codified at C.F.R. SecƟon 97.15(e). 

3. Such radio towers shall not be located within any front yard of the primary use. 

c. Civic Buildings 

Buildings housing civic use types may be built to a maximum height of 60 feet. Such buildings located in 
residenƟal districts shall be set back one foot in addiƟon to required setbacks from each property line for 
each foot of height over the maximum height of the zoning district. 

d. CommunicaƟons Towers 

CommunicaƟons towers, when operated by federally-licensed commercial or non-profit organizaƟon, may 
be built to any height in accordance with exisƟng and future ordinances. This excepƟon does not apply to 
radio towers, antennas and other appurtenances operated by licensed amateur radio operators.. 

e. Wind Energy ConservaƟon Systems (WECS) 

Wind Energy ConservaƟon Systems are exempt from the height restricƟons of the base district but are 
subject to the regulaƟons of SecƟon 171. 

f. CondiƟonal Use Approvals 

The Planning Commission may grant an excepƟon from the height limit for a zoning district for a CondiƟonal 
Use as part of its approval of that use. The limit or extent of this excepƟon shall be a specific part of the 
CondiƟonal Use Permit. 

g. Federal AviaƟon AdministraƟon Rules 

No structure may be built in any zoning district which exceeds the maximum height permiƩed under the 
rules of the Federal AviaƟon AdministraƟon. These rules describe the glide angles and operaƟonal paƩerns 
for any airport within the planning jurisdicƟon of the City of Glenwood. 

172.06 ExcepƟons to Site Development RegulaƟons for ConservaƟon Subdivisions 

a. Purpose 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

123 | P a g e  
 

In the instance that the Subdivision Chapter of the Land Development Ordinance provides for ConservaƟon 
Subdivisions, the city may authorize such subdivisions to allow for greater flexibility in the design and 
development of subdivisions, in order to produce innovaƟve residenƟal environments, to provide for more 
efficient use of land, to protect topographic and to encourage the preservaƟon of common area and open 
space. These special regulaƟons and design excepƟons apply only to ConservaƟon Subdivisions. For the 
purposes of these provisions, ConservaƟon Subdivisions shall include subdivisions developed under the 
standards idenƟfied in SecƟon 170.40 or subdivisions designed according to TradiƟonal Neighborhood 
Development (TND) techniques, set forth in SecƟon 181.05. 

b. Site Area Per Unit 

Unless otherwise provided, the site area per unit for a creaƟve subdivision as a whole shall be that of the 
zoning district in which such subdivision is located. For the purpose of compuƟng site area per unit, the area 
of public streets and private ways within the subdivision must be excluded. ResidenƟal use types may be 
combined within the creaƟve subdivision provided that the subdivision as a whole complies with the 
required maximum density of the zoning district. 

c. Perimeter Yards 

1. Structures must maintain normal street yard setbacks from any public streets that form the 
perimeter of the development. 

2. Structures must maintain a 20 foot minimum side yard setback from any property line that forms 
the boundary of the development. 

d. Area and Yards for Individual Lots 

1. Individual lots within a ConservaƟon Subdivision or TND are exempt from minimum lot area or 
yard setback requirements set forth elsewhere in this Ordinance, unless provided for by the regulaƟons 
for a specific zoning district. Such a subdivision must be planned and developed as a common 
development. A minimum separaƟon of twenty (20) feet shall be established for all residenƟal 
structures not aƩached to one another, unless the City Council grants a specific excepƟon for 
developments proposing unique circumstances, only in as much as said development can be 
demonstrated to avoid detriment to Glenwood's efforts to protect public health, safety, welfare, 
community character, property values and aestheƟcs. 

2. Any private garage oriented to or facing a public sweet or private way internal to the creaƟve 
subdivision must be set back a minimum of 2.5 feet from that public street or private way. 

e. Coverage and Landscaping Requirements 

Individual lots in a creaƟve subdivision are exempt from maximum building and impervious coverage 
limitaƟons and street yard landscaping requirements established for the zoning district. However, the 
subdivision as a whole, including streets, walks, and access ways, must comply with the building and 
impervious coverage regulaƟons for its zoning district. 

172.07 Fence RegulaƟons 

a. LocaƟon RestricƟon 

1. Unless otherwise provided by this Ordinance or other secƟons of the Glenwood Municipal Code, 
no fence shall be built on any lot or tract outside the surveyed lot lines. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

124 | P a g e  
 

2. No fence shall be built by a private party on public land without the specific prior approval of the 
City. Removal of any such fence shall be at the expense of its owner. 

b. Applicability. 

The regulaƟons contained in this secƟon apply to all fences with a height above grade of 30 inches and over. 

c. Required Openings 

Unless otherwise provided by this Ordinance or other secƟons of the Glenwood Municipal Code, any fence 
built on residenƟal property within required front or street side yards shall contain openings consƟtuƟng 
no less than 50 percent of the surface area of the fence. 

d. Sight ObstrucƟon at Street IntersecƟons 

No fence or hedge permiƩed or required by this arƟcle or other secƟons of the Glenwood Municipal Code 
shall be built to a height of more than three feet above the established curb grade on the part of the lot 
within a vision clearance zone. The vision clearance zone shall for fence construcƟon shall include: 

1. At street intersecƟons, a triangle measured from the point of intersecƟon of the centerline of the 
streets to a point 90 feet in each direcƟon from the intersecƟon along such centerlines. At the 
intersecƟon of major streets, the 90-foot distance shall be increased to 120 feet. No landscaping shall 
be planted in such area which will materially obstruct the view of drivers approaching the street 
intersecƟon. 

2. At intersecƟons of a sidewalk and alley or non-residenƟal driveway or parking lot access, a triangle 
whose legs extend 10 feet back from the sidewalk along the alley or driveway, and 20 feet parallel to 
and along the back of the sidewalk back from the intersecƟng alley or driveway. 

e. Facing 

The finished surfaces of any fence shall face toward adjacent properƟes and street frontage. 

f. Effect on Adjacent ProperƟes and Drainage 

1. No accessory building shall damage adjacent property by obstrucƟng views, inhibiƟng solar access, 
or hindering venƟlaƟon. 

2. Fences shall be erected and maintained so as to avoid limiƟng or obstrucƟng the flow of water in 
natural drainage courses, or drainageways created within easements. 

g. Fence ConstrucƟon on UƟlity Easements 

Any fence erected on a tract of land subject to an easement for the construcƟon, maintenance, operaƟons, 
or replacement of any water, sanitary or storm sewer, gas line, electric power, telephone, or other uƟlity 
poles, or other cables or lines be designed and constructed to be readily removable to permit the use of 
the easement. Such fences shall be subject to removal by request of the owner of the easement whenever 
necessary to permit access. The cost of removal or replacement shall be the responsibility of the owner of 
the fence. 

h. ProtecƟve Fences around Swimming Pools (See Permanent Pools 166.19) 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

125 | P a g e  
 

A fence with a minimum height of six feet and compliant with the terms of this secƟon shall be required 
around public or permanent private swimming pools. 

i. ResidenƟal Fences 

Fences constructed within residenƟal districts or on land used for residenƟal purposes are subject to the 
following provisions. 

1. Height: The maximum height of a fence within a required front yard or street side yard setback 
shall be 42 inches. The maximum height for any fence outside of a required front yard shall be six feet. 

2. ExcepƟon for Street Side Yards: On corner lots, a fence built parallel to the street side yard line but 
set back in conformance with the required street yard setback may have a maximum height of six feet. 

3. ExcepƟon to Openness Requirement: Fences built on residenƟal property outside of required front 
or street side yards may exceed of 50 percent closed construcƟon. 

4. ExcepƟon for Front Yards of Double Frontage Lots: A fence built within the required front yard of a 
double frontage lot may be a maximum of six feet in height and may exceed 50 percent closed 
construcƟon if such lot fronts an arterial street or expressway, as defined in the Comprehensive 
Development Plan of the City of Glenwood; and if such frontage does not provide primary access to the 
property. 

5. Materials: Fences shall be constructed of wood, chain-link, PVC/ resin, stone or masonry materials, 
or ornamental metals only. Wood fences shall uƟlize standard building lumber only. Barbed wire and/or 
electrified fences are not permiƩed, and are defined as any fence that includes in its material barbs, 
blades, razors, electric current or other features specifically designed to injure or abrade an individual 
or animal who aƩempts to negoƟate the fence. Wire mesh fences may be permiƩed to enclose tennis 
courts and game and recreaƟon areas on public land and residenƟal lots. 

j. Civic Office Commercial and Industrial Fences 

Fences constructed in commercial and industrial districts are subject to the following special provisions: 

1. The maximum height of a fence for any permiƩed use in any non-residenƟal zoning district shall 
be eight feet. 

2. Civic Uses in ResidenƟal Districts: The maximum height of fences installed as part of Primary and 
Secondary EducaƟonal FaciliƟes, Day Care, and Park and RecreaƟon Use Types, or any other use that 
provides secured outdoor space for the use of children within ResidenƟal Zoning Districts shall be eight 
feet. 

3. The Board of Adjustment may approve greater fence heights on a case-by-case basis if it concludes 
that such permission furthers the health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the City of Glenwood. 

4. Barbed wire shall not be used in the construcƟon of any fence outside of the AR Agricultural 
Reserve and GI General Industrial Zoning Districts. Within GI Districts, the boƩom strand of barbed wire 
shall be at least six feet above ground level. Electrified fences are not permiƩed within the jurisdicƟon 
of the City of Glenwood, except for agricultural uses within the AR District. 

 

                                                                                                                                               



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

126 | P a g e  
 

172.08 Appeals 

Denial, revocaƟons, or cancellaƟons of a building permit based on the provisions of this SecƟon may be 
appealed to the Board of Adjustment, as set forth in SecƟons 177.08 through 177.10. 

Diagram 172-1 

 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

127 | P a g e  
 

SecƟon 173 

Landscaping And Screening Standards 

173.01 Purpose 

The Landscaping and Screening RegulaƟons provide addiƟonal guidance on the development of sites within 
Glenwood by addressing landscaping and screening requirements. They are designed to improve the 
appearance of the community; buffer potenƟally incompaƟble land uses from one another; and conserve 
the value of properƟes within the City of Glenwood. 

173.02 Applicability 

The provisions of this secƟon shall apply to all new development on each lot or site upon applicaƟon for a 
building permit, except for the following: 

a. ReconstrucƟon or replacement of a lawfully exisƟng use or structure following a casualty loss. 
b. Remodeling, rehabilitaƟon, or improvements to exisƟng uses or structures which do not substanƟally 

change the locaƟon of structures, parking, or other site improvements. 
c. AddiƟons or enlargements of exisƟng uses or structures which increase floor area or impervious 

coverage area by less than 20 percent. Where such addiƟons or enlargements are 20 percent or greater, 
these provisions shall apply only to that porƟon where the new development occurs. 

173.03 Landscaping Requirements 

Landscaping shall be required adjacent to each street property line and within street yards as set forth in 
Table 173-1. 

173.04 Landscaping Materials and InstallaƟon Standards 

a. Official List of Recommended and Prohibited Plant Materials  

PlanƟngs shall be used in required landscaped areas or bufferyards consistent with the Official List of 
Recommended and Prohibited Plant Materials, provided through the office of the Zoning Administrator. All 
plant materials shall conform in size, species and spacing with this secƟon of the ordinance. 

b. Use of Inorganic Landscaping Materials 

No arƟficial trees, shrubs, plants or turf shall be used to fulfill the minimum requirements for landscaping. 
Inorganic materials, such as stone or decoraƟve pavers, may be used provided that such material does not 
comprise more than 35% of the minimum required landscaped area. Other concrete and/or asphalt 
pavement surfaces may not be used within the minimum required landscaped area, except for driveways 
and walkways. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

128 | P a g e  
 

Table 173-1: Required Landscape Depth 

Zoning District 
Depth of Landscaping Adjacent to Street 

Property Line 

AR 35 Feet 

RR 25 Feet 

R-1 20 Feet 

R-2 20 Feet 

R-3 15 Feet 

R-4 15 Feet 

MH 35 Feet 

UC 10 Feet 

CC 10 Feet 

DC No Requirement 

GC 10 Feet 

HC 15 Feet 

BP 25 Feet 

LI 10 Feet 

GI No Requirement 

 

173.05 Bufferyard Provisions 

These provisions apply when any use is established in a more intensive zoning district (District A) which is 
adjacent to a less intensive zoning district (District B). The owner, developer, or operator of the use within 
District A shall install and maintain a landscaped bufferyard on his/her lot or site, as set forth in this secƟon. 
Bufferyard requirements apply only to those districts indicated in Table 173-2. Bufferyards are not required 
of single-family, 2-family, duplex, or townhouse use types in the more intensive zoning district, 

a. The bufferyard dimensions set forth in Table 173-2 apply to zoning districts which share a common lot line 
or are adjacent but separated by an intervening alley. 

 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

129 | P a g e  
 

 

District B (Less 
Intensive 
Adjacent 
District) 

   

District A (More 
Intensive 

District) Note 3 
AR, RR (Note 1) 

R-1, R-2, R-3 
(Note 1) 

R-4 (Note 1) MH (Note 1) 

R-4 20 20 --- --- 
MH 35 35 35 --- 

UC 
15 

Note 2 
15 

Note 2 
15 

Note 2 
15 

Note 2 

DC --- --- --- --- 
LC 20 20 20 20 

CC, GC 25 25 20 20 
LI 40 40 30 40 
GI 100 100 100 100 

 
Notes to Table 8-2: 

Note 1: Applies only to residenƟal uses previously established in the zoning district. 

Note 2: Buffering requirement applies to adjacencies between new commercial and office use types and 
pre-exisƟng residenƟal land uses in adjacent districts. Buffering requirement also applies to a commercial 
or office use type established in a UC district and adjacent to a pre-exisƟng residenƟal use in the UC District. 
VerƟcal screening may also be required as set forth in SecƟon 173.06.  

Note 3: Buffer requirements do not apply to single-family, duplex, or townhouse residenƟal uses established 
in District A 

b. When a street separates adjacent zoning districts requiring a bufferyard, the size of the bufferyard shall be 
one-half the required bufferyard set forth in Table 173-2. 

c. Each required bufferyard must be enƟrely landscaped and free of paved areas, access ways, storage, or 
other disturbances. 

173.06 Screening Standards 

a. ApplicaƟon 

Screening is required between adjacent zoning districts indicated in Table 173-2 when one or more of the 
following condiƟons in the more intensive zoning district is directly visible from and faces toward the 
boundary of the less intensive zoning district: 

1. The rear elevaƟon of buildings. 

2. Outdoor storage areas or storage tanks, unless otherwise screened. 

3. Loading docks, refuse collecƟon points, and other service areas. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

130 | P a g e  
 

4. Major machinery or areas housing a manufacturing process. 

5. Major on-site traffic circulaƟon areas or truck and/or trailer parking. 

6. Sources of glare, noise, or other environmental effects. 

b. Opaque Barrier 

A six foot opaque barrier shall be provided which visually screens the condiƟons listed in SecƟon 173.06 (a) 
from less intensive uses as follows: 

1. A solid wood and/or masonry fence or wall at least six feet in height. 

2. A landscaping screen, using evergreen or deciduous materials, capable of providing a substanƟally 
opaque, hedge-like barrier and aƩaining a minimum height of six feet within three years of planƟng. 

3. A landscaped earth berm with a maximum slope of three to one, rising no less than six feet above the 
exisƟng grade of the lot line separaƟng the zoning districts. 

4. Any combinaƟon of these methods that achieves a cumulaƟve height of six feet. 

c. LocaƟon of Screening Wall 

A screening wall or fence shall be installed no closer to the less intensive zoning district than one-half the 
width of the required bufferyard. 

d. Screening: Effect on Drainage 

Screening shall not adversely affect surface water drainage. 

e. PermiƩed InterrupƟons of Screening 

Screening may be interrupted to provide access drives to service areas or for loading purposes to buildings. 
Such breaks or interrupƟons shall not exceed 20% of the length of the required screened area. 

173.07 Parking Lot Landscaping 

a. Landscape and Screening Requirements 

Unless otherwise noted, each unenclosed parking facility of over 6,000 square feet shall comply with the 
following regulaƟons: 

1. Each unenclosed parking facility shall provide a minimum landscaped buffer of ten feet along any street 
property line. 

2. Each parking facility that abuts a residenƟal district shall provide a ten foot landscaped buffer along its 
common property line with the residenƟal district. 

3. Any parking facility which abuts property in a residenƟal district shall provide a fence, wall, landscape 
screen, or earth berm not less than four feet in height for the length of the common boundary. A grade 
change, terrace, or other site feature which blocks the sight line of headlights into a residenƟal property 
may saƟsfy this requirement, subject to the determinaƟon of the Zoning Administrator. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

131 | P a g e  
 

4. Each unenclosed parking facility of over 6,000 square feet within any street yard shall provide interior 
landscaped area equal to no less than 5 percent of the total paved area of the parking facility. Parking 
faciliƟes within the LI and GI Districts shall be exempt from this requirement. 

5. Interior landscaping shall be credited toward the saƟsfacƟon of overall landscaping requirements set 
forth in this secƟon. 

6. Landscaping or screening installed in any required landscaped area shall not obstruct the view from the 
off-street parking facility to any driveway approach, street, alley, or sidewalk. Landscaping shall further 
not obstruct any views among parking spaces and circulaƟon ways, or visibility between vehicles and 
pedestrians. 

173.08 Tree PlanƟngs 

In any landscaped area for commercial uses only required by the Minimum Depth Requirements, the 
Bufferyard Requirements, or the Parking Lot Interior Landscaping Requirements, one tree of an approved 
species with a minimum caliper size of two inches shall be planted and maintained for each 500 square feet 
of required landscaped area. ExisƟng trees approved for preservaƟon shall be counted toward saƟsfacƟon 
of this requirement. 

173.09 General Provisions 

a. Time of ApplicaƟon 

The provisions contained in this SecƟon shall be applied for each individual lot or site when an applicaƟon 
for a building permit on such lot is made. When required, a Landscape Plan shall be submiƩed with each 
applicaƟon for a building permit. Such plan shall be reviewed by the Zoning Administrator for compliance 
with the provisions of this secƟon. 

b. Maintenance of Required Landscaping 

 Upon installaƟon of required landscape materials, each owner shall take appropriate acƟons to ensure their 
conƟnued health and maintenance. Required landscaping that does not remain healthy shall be replaced 
consistent with this ArƟcle. 

c. ObstrucƟon of View 

Landscaping or screening installed in any landscaped area shall not obstruct the view from or to any 
driveway approach, street, alley, or sidewalk. 

d. Earth Berm LocaƟons 

All earth berm locaƟons shall be reviewed by the Zoning Administrator, or his/her designee to determine 
how the berms shall relate to drainage and public uƟliƟes. 

e. ExcepƟons 

A development may conƟnue to comply with the bufferyard and screening requirements in effect at the 
Ɵme of issuance of its original permit, regardless of whether an adjacent lot or site is subsequently rezoned 
to a less intensive district which would otherwise require compliance with bufferyard or screening 
provisions. 

 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

132 | P a g e  
 

SecƟon 174 

Off-Street Parking  

174.01 Purpose 

The Off-Street Parking RegulaƟons require that developments provide parking in proporƟon to the need 
created by each use. The regulaƟons further establish standards for the funcƟonal design of parking 
faciliƟes. These regulaƟons are intended to accommodate vehicles in a funcƟonally saƟsfactory manner and 
to minimize external effects on neighboring properƟes. 

174.02 General ApplicaƟons 

a. Applicability 

Off-street parking shall be provided for any new building constructed; for new uses or conversions of exisƟng 
buildings; or for enlargements of exisƟng structures. 

b. ExempƟons 

1. Any use within the DC Downtown Commercial District, with the excepƟon of permiƩed ground level 
residenƟal uses, is exempt from the off-street parking requirements. Any off-street parking facility 
constructed in the DC District aŌer the effecƟve date of this Ordinance must comply with the design 
standards set forth in this secƟon. 

174.03 Schedule of Off-Street Parking Requirements 

Parking faciliƟes for each use shall be provided in accord with the minimum requirements set forth in Table 

a. ComputaƟon 

1. When a computaƟon of required parking results in a fracƟon of 0.5 or greater, the requirement shall 
be rounded up to the next whole number. 

2. Unless otherwise indicated, parking requirements are based on gross floor area. Gross floor areas for 
the purpose of this calculaƟon exclude any interior space used for the parking or loading of vehicles. 

3. When parking requirements are computed on the basis of capacity, capacity shall be determined by 
the building code or other official determinaƟons of occupancy in effect for the City of Glenwood at the 
Ɵme the use is established. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

133 | P a g e  
 

Table 174-1: Minimum Off-Street Parking Requirements 

 
 

  

Agricultural Use Types  
HorƟculture 1 space per 1,000 square feet of sales area 
Crop / Animal ProducƟon No Requirement. 
ResidenƟal Use Types  
Single-Family ResidenƟal 2 spaces per dwelling unit. 
Duplex ResidenƟal 2 spaces per dwelling unit. 
Two-Family ResidenƟal 2 spaces per dwelling unit. 

MulƟ-Family ResidenƟal 
1.5 spaces per efficiency or 1-BR unit, 2 spaces per 2-BR unit, 2.5 spaces for 3 or 
more BR unit. 

Downtown ResidenƟal No requirement. 
Group ResidenƟal 1 space for each resident. 
Mobile Home ResidenƟal 2 spaces per dwelling unit. 
ReƟrement Residence 1.5 space per independent living unit; 0.5 spaces per assisted living unit. 
Civic Use Types  
AdministraƟon 1 space for 300 square feet of gross floor area. 
Assisted Living 1 space for 4 beds + 1 space per employee of largest shiŌ 
Cemetery No requirement. 
Clubs 1 space per 4 person capacity. 
College/ University 1 space per three students. 
Convalescent Services 1 space for 4 beds. 
Cultural Services 1 space per 500 square feet of gross floor area. 
Day Care Services 1 space per 5 person capacity + space per employee of largest shiŌ. 
Group Care Facility 1 space per 4 person capacity + space per employee of largest shiŌ. 
Group Home 1 space per 4 person capacity + space per employee of largest shiŌ. 
Guidance Services 1 space per 300 square feet. 
Health Care 1 space per 300 square feet + 1 space per employee of largest shiŌ 
Hospitals 1 space per 2 beds + 1 space per employee of the largest shiŌ 
Maintenance FaciliƟes See Schedule A. 
Parks and RecreaƟon Established by an approved site master plan. 
Postal FaciliƟes See Schedule A. 
Primary EducaƟon 1 space per employee of largest shiŌ + 10 stalls for visitors. 
Public Assembly 1 space per 4 person capacity. 
Religious Assembly 1 space per 4 person capacity in the largest assembly area. 
Safety Services 1 space per employee of maximum shiŌ + 1 stall per 1,000 square feet. 
Secondary EducaƟon 1 space per employee of max shiŌ + 1 space for each 3 11th and 12th grade students. 
UƟliƟes 1 space per employee of maximum shiŌ. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

134 | P a g e  
 

Table 174-1: Minimum Off-Street Parking Requirements 

Commercial Use Types  
Agricultural Sales/Service See Schedule A. 
Auto Rental and Sales See Schedule A. 
Auto Service * 4 Ɵmes service capacity. 
Body Repair * 5 spaces per repair stall. 
Business Support Services 1 space per 500 square feet. 
Campground 1 space per camping unit. 
Cocktail Lounge 1 space per 200 square feet. 
Commercial RecreaƟon 1 space per4 person capacity. For bowling alleys, 4 spaces per lane 
CommunicaƟon Services 1 space per 500 square feet. 
ConstrucƟon Sales See Schedule A. 
Consumer Services 1 space per 200 square feet. 
Convenience Stora e 1 space per 20 storage units. * 
Equipment Sales/ Service See Schedule A. 

Food Sales (All Types) 1 space per 200 square feet. 
General Retail Services 1 space per 200 square feet. 
Liquor Sales 1 space per 200 square feet. 
Lodging, Bed and Breakfast 1 space per unit. 
Personal Improvement 1 space per 200 square feet. 
Personal Services 1 space per 300 square feet. 
Pet Services 1 space per 500 square feet. 
Restaurants (Drive-in) 1 space per 50 square feet of customer service area. 
Restaurants (General) 1 space per 3 person capacity in dining area. 
Stables / Kennels 1 space per employee + 1 stall per 5,000 square feet of site area. 
Surplus Sales See Schedule A. 
Trade Services 1 space per 500 square feet. 
Veterinary Services 1 space per 500 square feet. 

* Auto Service and Body Repair subject to other restricƟons applicable under this ordinance: 

See SecƟon 4: Use Types - "Vehicle Storage"; also, 

SecƟon 6: Supplemental Use RegulaƟons, "Outdoor Storage.” 

** This standard may be reduced by up to 20% at the discreƟon of the Building Official if site plan review 
demonstrates that circulaƟon and loading paƩerns accommodate adequate space for queuing and temporary parking 
by users during the peak hours of operaƟon. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

135 | P a g e  
 

Table 174-1: Minimum Off-Street Parking Requirements 

Office Use Types  
Corporate Offices 1 space per 300 square feet. 
General Offices 1 space per 300 square feet. 
Financial Offices 1 space per 300 square feet. 
Medical Offices 5 spaces per staff doctor or denƟst 
  
Miscellaneous Use Types  
BroadcasƟng Tower See Schedule A. 
Non-Putrescible Landfill See Schedule A. 
All Landfills See Schedule A. 
  
Industrial Use Types  
Agricultural Industries See Schedule A. 
Light Industry See Schedule A. 

General Industry See Schedule A. 

Heavy Industry See Schedule A. 

Railroad FaciliƟes See Schedule A. 

Resource ExtracƟon 1 space per employee on largest shiŌ. 
Salvage Services See Schedule A. 

Warehousing See Schedule A. 

ConstrucƟon Yards See Schedule A. 

 

Schedule A 
This schedule sets forth minimum off-street parking requirements for uses 
with elements that have different funcƟons and operaƟng characterisƟcs 

FuncƟon of Element Requirement 
Office or AdministraƟon 1 space per 300 square feet. 
Indoor Sales, Display or Service Area 1 space per 500 square feet. 
Outdoor Sales, Display or Service Area 1 space per 2,000 square feet. 

Equipment Servicing or Manufacturing 1 space per 1,000 square feet. 

Indoor or Outdoor Storage or Warehousing 1 space per 5,000 square feet. 

 

174.04 Parking Facility LocaƟon 

a. ResidenƟal Parking 

1. With the excepƟon of Downtown ResidenƟal uses, off-street parking for residenƟal uses shall be 
located on the same lot or site as the use. 

2. Off-street parking areas for any mulƟ-family residenƟal uses shall be at least six feet from any main 
building; and shall not be located within a required front yard or street side yard. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

136 | P a g e  
 

3. For mulƟ-family residenƟal uses, separately leased, detached garages may not be used to saƟsfy 
parking requirements for such Uses unless terms of the lease prevent their use as private storage. 
Parking incorporated into the design of mulƟ-family buildings, or within parking structures, shall be 
counted toward fulfillment of parking requirements. 

b. Non-residenƟal Parking 

Off-street parking for non-residenƟal uses shall be located on the same lot or site as the use, or within 300 
feet of that use if the parking site is within a zoning district that permits the Off- Street Parking use type. 
Control of ownership or use rights to the remote off.-street parking must be demonstrated as a condiƟon of 
permission. 

174.05 Parking for People with DisabiliƟes 

a. Each off-street parking facility shall provide the number of parking spaces set forth in Table 174-2 designed 
and designated for use by people with disabiliƟes. Every eighth parking space shall be van accessible. Design 
criteria and dimensions shall be in accordance with Federal Register, Volume 56, No 144 . Parking faciliƟes 
for single-family, duplex, two-family, and mobile home residenƟal uses are exempt from this requirement. 

b. Spaces designated for people with disabiliƟes shall have a minimum width of 12 feet. Each handicapped 
space shall provide a barrier free route to an accessible building entrance, which shall not require users to 
walk or wheel behind parked cars. Such spaces shall be designated with an upright sign exhibiƟng the 
universal symbol for accessibility by the handicapped. All such spaces shall be designed in compliance with 
the standards of the Americans with DisabiliƟes Act. 

Table 174-2: Accessible Parking Requirements 

Number of Stalls Number of Required 
Accessible Spaces 

Number of Stalls Number of Required 
Accessible Spaces 

1-25 1 201-300 7 
26-50 2 301-400 8 
51-75 3 401-500 9 
76-100 4 501-1,000 2% of total 
101-150 5 1,001 and over 20, plus 1 for each 100 
151-200 6  stalls over 1,000 

 

174.06 Off-Street Parking Design Standards 

a. Dimensions 

1. Standard parking stalls shall be 9 feet wide and 18 feet long. 

2. Where parking stalls are located adjacent to landscaped areas, the paved depth of such stalls may be 
decreased by two feet to provide for a vehicle overhang area. The vehicle overhang area may not 
encroach into a required landscaped area or public sidewalk. 

b. Pavement and Drainage 

1. Off-street parking faciliƟes shall be surfaced with concrete, asphalt, or brick and shall be maintained 
with materials sufficient to prevent mud, dust, or loose material except as provided below: 

(a) Sites within the AR and RR Districts are exempt from this requirement. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

137 | P a g e  
 

(b) In residenƟal areas, all parking spaces and driveways used for parking shall be paved; however, this 
requirement does not extend to driveways not used under any condiƟons for parking. 

(c) In GI Districts, the paving requirement for certain parking and loading areas more than 50 feet back 
from any public right-of-way may be waived, following review and approval of a specific site plan 
by the Zoning Administrator. 

2. Off-street parking faciliƟes shall be designed and built to prevent the free flow of water onto adjacent 
properƟes. Parking lot design which discharges water onto public right-of-way is subject to review and 
approval by the City Engineer. 

c. Landscape and Screening Requirements 

Landscape requirements for off.-street parking faciliƟes are set forth in SecƟon 173.07 

d. Entrances and Exits 

1. Adequate access to each parking facility shall be provided by means of clearly defined and limited 
driveways or access points, such driveways shall be designed to direct nonresidenƟal traffic away from 
residenƟal areas, 

2. Parking faciliƟes other than driveways for single-family, duplex, two-family, or mobile home residenƟal 
uses must permit vehicles to enter streets in a forward posiƟon. 

3. Ninety-degree head-in parking from any public right-of-way shall be permiƩed only in the DC district, 
or as part of a specific Planned Development design. 

e.  Design and Pedestrian Access 

1. Parking lots providing over 100 stalls should be divided into smaller parking fields not exceeding 50 
stalls to reduce the visual impact of large parking expanses. Divisions should be made with landscape 
strips, peninsulas, or grade changes. 

2. Commercial or office parking lots shall be designed to separate pedestrians from vehicles to the 
maximum degree possible and to provide protected pedestrian paths within parking areas which lead 
to store, building, or shopping center entrances. 

3. Sidewalks and walkways in commercial developments should link to the city's sidewalk and trail system 
where available, and shall provide a safe pedestrian route from adjacent public sidewalks and trails. 

f. Safety Features 

1. Parking faciliƟes shall be designed to provide visibility of and between pedestrians and vehicles when 
circulaƟng within or entering or leaving the facility; and shall not create blind, hidden, or hazardous 
areas. 

2. CirculaƟon paƩerns shall be designed in accord with accepted standards of traffic engineering and 
safety. 

g. Maintenance 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

138 | P a g e  
 

All parking faciliƟes shall be maintained to assure the conƟnued usefulness and compaƟbility of the facility. 
Acceptable maintenance includes keeping the facility free of refuse, debris, and liƩer; maintaining parking 
surfaces in sound condiƟon; and providing proper care of landscaped areas. 

h. Adjustment for CondiƟonal Uses and Planned Mixed Use Projects 

1. For uses subject to a CondiƟonal Use Permit approval, the Planning Commission may adjust the 
minimum requirements of this secƟon, in order to provide design, usability, aƩracƟveness, or 
protecƟon to adjoining uses in a manner equal to or greater than the minimum requirements of this 
secƟon. 

2. In mixed use projects, different uses may have complementary parking requirements. This can result in 
a parking requirement that is less than the sum of parking required for each use and added separately. 
The Planning Commission may authorize an adjustment to the total parking requirement for separate 
uses as part of a common development, or for separate uses located on adjacent sites and served by 
common parking faciliƟes. All parking faciliƟes subject to the mixed use adjustment must be located in 
a common facility, equally accessible and usable to all served uses. 

174.07 Bicycle Parking 

a.  Parking Requirements 

1. Each parking facility providing 50 spaces or more shall provide parking accommodaƟons for bicycles as 
provided by the Table 174-3: 

Table 174-3: Minimum Off-Street Parking Requirements 

Number of Parking Stalls Required Bicycle Spaces 
50-100 5 
101-150 8 
151-200 10 
Over 200 2 addiƟonal spaces for each 50 parking stalls 

 

2. Bicycle parking faciliƟes shall include bicycle racks secured to prevent easy removal, bicycle lockers, or 
bicycle posts or bollards expressly designed for the secure storage. 

3. The locaƟon of bicycle parking faciliƟes shall be at least as convenient to the main entrance of the 
primary use as the most convenient automobile parking not reserved for use by disabled people. 

a. Bicycle parking should be located to prevent hazards or obstrucƟons to the normal flow of pedestrians into 
a use.  

174.08 Off-Street Loading 

a. Loading Requirement 

In any district with every building or part thereof hereaŌer erected, having a gross floor area of ten thousand 
square feet or more, which is to be occupied by manufacturing, storage, warehouse, goods display, retail 
store, wholesale store, market, hotel, hospital, mortuary, laundry, dry cleaning or other uses similarly 
requiring the receipt or distribuƟon by vehicles of material or merchandise, there shall be provided and 
maintained on the same lot with such building, at least one off-street loading space plus one addiƟonal such 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

139 | P a g e  
 

loading space for each twenty thousand square feet or major fracƟon thereof of gross floor area, so used, 
in excess of ten thousand square feet. 

b. Design Standards 

1. Each loading space shall be at least 12 feet wide by 40 feet long, with a verƟcal clearance of at least 14 
feet. 

2. Loading spaces and access areas shall be paved. 

3. Off-street loading areas are subject to the landscaping and buffering requirements for parking faciliƟes 
set forth in this SecƟon 173. 

c. Schedule of Loading Spaces 

Loading spaces for each use requiring them shall be provided in accord with the minimum requirements set 
forth in Table 174-4. 

Table 174-4: Off-Street Loading Requirements 

Gross Floor Area of Use Square Feet Number of Required Loading Spaces 
5,000 or less None 
5,001-25,000 1 
25,001-75,000 2 
Larger than 75,000 3 

 

174.09 Stacking Requirements for Drive-Through Services 

a. Commercial establishments providing drive-in or drive-through services shall provide minimum on-site 
stacking distance as provided by Table 174-5. 

b. The City Engineer may reduce these requirements for specific projects, provided that the applicant can 
present a traffic study prepared by a professional traffic engineer demonstraƟng that such reducƟon is 
appropriate to the funcƟon of the project. A reducƟon must be approved by the Public Works Director. 

Table 174-5: Off-Street Stacking Requirements 

Type of OperaƟon Minimum Stacking Space 
Financial Services with Drive-Up Tellers 3 vehicles per window or kiosk 
Financial Services with Drive-Up ATM 3 vehicles per ATM staƟon 
Self-service or automaƟc car wash Entrance: 3 vehicles per bay 

Exit: 1 vehicle per bay 
Fast food restaurant Behind menu board: 3 vehicles 

Behind fist service window: 3 vehicles 
Photo processing, dry cleaning, or other drive-up personal services 2 vehicles per service window 
Gas staƟons 2 vehicles per pump 
Gated parking lot, community entrance, or overhead door 1 vehicle per gate or door 

Note: Minimum vehicle lane shall be 12 feet. Vehicle length = 20 feet. 

174.10 Parking for Personal and RecreaƟonal Vehicles 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

140 | P a g e  
 

a. Applicability 

This secƟon permits the parking of personal vehicles on a single lot in a residenƟal district subject to specific 
condiƟons. Personal vehicles include: passenger cars; vans; pick-up trucks; camper shells, toppers, and other 
similar appurtenances intended for aƩachment to a personal vehicle; trailers under 25 feet in length, and 
boats under 25 feet in length. Measurement of boats shall include the boat trailer to which it is aƩached. 
The maximum height of any Personal Vehicle shall be eight feet from grade. Trucks, tractor cab units, trailers, 
recreaƟonal vehicles, boats over 25 feet in length and vehicles over ten tons gross empty weight shall be 
defined as heavy commercial vehicles. 

b. LocaƟon of Parking 

1. Parking is permiƩed within any enclosed structure when such structure conforms to the regulaƟons of 
its zoning district. 

2. Parking of personal vehicles is permiƩed on a prepared driveway (outside of an enclosed structure) 
within the front yard setback, but shall in no case encroach upon the public right-of-way. 

3. In ResidenƟal Districts, paved and prepared parking must be set back at least two (2) feet from an 
adjacent side lot line. 

4. Parking of personal vehicles may occur in the rear yard setback (outside of an enclosed structure and 
not on the front yard paved driveway) if the Zoning Administrator determines that such parking 
conforms to the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, meets the following condiƟons: 

(a) The parking space is provided on a prepared surface and connected to a dedicated public right-of-
way and/or alley. 

(b) The paved parking does not exceed the maximum impervious coverage limit for the lot. 

5. 5. Heavy commercial vehicles, including tractor cab units that exceed 10 tons gross vehicle weight shall 
not be parked on any lot within a residenƟal zoning district. RecreaƟonal vehicles shall not be parked 
within a residenƟal zoning district, except as provided below. 

c. Special Provisions for RecreaƟonal Vehicles and Boats 

Parking and storage of recreaƟonal vehicles and boats within residenƟal districts is subject to the following 
addiƟonal condiƟons. These condiƟons are in addiƟon to those requirements for the parking of Personal 
Vehicles. 

1. RecreaƟonal vehicles and boats must be maintained in a clean, well-kept state. 

2. RecreaƟonal vehicles and boats equipped with liquefied petroleum gas containers must ensure that 
such containers must meet the current standards of the Interstate Commerce Commission, the United 
States Department of TransportaƟon, or the American Society of Mechanical Engineers. Any valves 
must be closed at all Ɵmes that the vehicle is not in preparaƟon for immediate use. Leaks in containers 
must be repaired immediately. 

3. RecreaƟonal vehicles Inay be parked temporarily by non-paying guests for a maximum of three 
consecuƟve days or fourteen days total during any calendar year. Cooking in the recreaƟonal vehicle is 
prohibited at all Ɵmes. 

4. RecreaƟonal vehicles and boats may not be permanently connected to uƟlity lines. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

141 | P a g e  
 

5. RecreaƟonal vehicles and boats may not be used for the storage of goods, materials, or equipment 
other than those items which pertain to the use of the vehicle. 

6. If feasible on a lot, recreaƟonal vehicles and boats may be parked outside of required front yard and 
street side yard. setbacks. 

174.11 Supplementary RegulaƟons: Storage and Parking of Unlicensed or Other Vehicles 

The storage or keeping of motor vehicles not having a properly issued current motor vehicle registraƟon and 
current motor vehicle license plate properly displayed is prohibited on any lot, parcel or tract of land or part 
thereof, situated Within the zoning jurisdicƟon of the City of Glenwood, except for motor vehicles stored 
within a fully enclosed building or held for sale by a licensed motor vehicle dealer at his/her place of business 
in a zoning district which permits such use. 

***See Chapter 51, City Code of Ordinances*** 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

142 | P a g e  
 

SecƟon 175 

Sign RegulaƟons 

175.01 Purpose 

The Sign RegulaƟons provide standards for communicaƟng informaƟon in the environment of the City of 
Glenwood and its jurisdicƟon. The regulaƟons recognize the need to protect public health, safety, and 
welfare; to maintain the city’s aƩracƟve appearance; to provide for adequate business idenƟficaƟon, 
adverƟsing, and communicaƟon of informaƟon; and to encourage the fair enforcement of sign regulaƟons. 

175.02 DefiniƟon of Terms 

The following definiƟons shall be used for terms contained in this chapter that are not otherwise defined in 
the Glenwood Municipal Code or in this Zoning Ordinance. 

1. Abandoned Sign: A sign, including sign face and supporƟng structure, which refers to a disconƟnued 
business, profession, commodity, service, or other acƟvity or use formerly occupying the site; or which 
contains no sign copy on all sign faces for a conƟnuous period of six months. 

2. AƩached Sign: A sign which is structurally connected to a building or depends upon that building for 
support. 

3. Auxiliary Design Elements: Terms which describe secondary characterisƟcs of a sign, including its 
method of illuminaƟon and other features within the bounds of its basic shape. 

4. Awning and Awning Sign:  A structure made of cloth type materials or metal with a metal frame aƩached 
to a building and projecƟng over a thoroughfare, when the same is so erected as to permit its being 
raised to a posiƟon flat against the building when not in use.     

5. Banner: Material with a printed message or graphic secured or mounted from a structure in such a fluid 
way as to allow wind movement. 

6. Building Marker: An historic or commemoraƟve plaque, or a building name or cornerstone carved into 
a masonry surface. 

7. Business Center IdenƟficaƟon Sign: A sign which idenƟfies a building or group of commercial buildings 
in single ownership or control, sharing parking and access. 

8. Canopy and Canopy Sign: A temporary or movable shelter, standing alone and not supported by any 
exterior wall of any building, and composed of non-rigid materials, exclusive of a supporƟng framework, 
to be approved by the Planning and Zoning Director. 

9. Clearance: The distance from the boƩom of a sign face elevated above grade and the grade below. 

10. irecƟonal Sign: A sign which serves only to designate the locaƟon or direcƟon of any area or place. 

11. Double-Faced Sign: A sign consisƟng of no more than two parallel faces supported by a single structure. 

12. Frontage: The length of a property line of any one premises abuƫng and parallel to a public street, 
private way, or court. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

143 | P a g e  
 

13. Ground Sign: A detached, permanent sign that is installed on posts or other supports that are placed 

on, or anchored into the ground and is independent and detached from any building or other structure. 
Built on a freestanding frame, mast, or pole(s) no greater than 3 feet above grade and not a banner.    

14. IlluminaƟon: LighƟng sources installed for the primary purpose of lighƟng a specific sign or group of 
signs. 

15. Marquee: A permanent roofed structure aƩached to and supported by a building and extending over 
public right-of-way. 

16. Maximum PermiƩed Sign Area: The maximum permiƩed combined area of all signs allowed on a 
specific property. 

17. Monument Sign: An on-premise freestanding sign mounted on a solid base. 

18. Moving Sign: A sign which conveys its message through rotaƟng, changing, or animated elements. 

19. Murial:  Works of graphic art painted or applied.   

20. Nonconforming Sign: A sign that was legally erected prior to the adopƟon of this chapter but which 
violates the regulaƟons of this chapter. 

21. Off-Premise IdenƟficaƟon Sign: A sign which idenƟfies or adverƟses a name, symbol, operaƟon, 
merchandise sold, services rendered, or other informaƟon relaƟve to the conduct of any enƟty or 
business which is not primarily situated at the premises upon which the sign is located. 

22. Pole Sign: An on-premise sign built on a freestanding frame, mast, or pole(s) with a clearance greater 
than 3 feet. 

23. Portable Sign: Any sign supported by frames or posts rigidly aƩached to bases not permanently aƩached 
to the ground or a building and capable of being moved from place to place. 

24. Premise IdenƟficaƟon Sign: A sign which pertains to the use of a premises and which contains 
informaƟon about the owner or operator of that use; the type of business being conducted or the 
principal brand name of a commodity sold on the premises; other informaƟon relaƟve to the conduct 
of the use; or any other lawful message that the owner or operator of a premise wishes to 
communicate. This ordinance does not disƟnguish between the nature or locaƟon of the product or site 
communicated by signs on a specific site, provided that such sign meets the requirements of this and 
other city ordinances. 

25. Premises: A tract of one or more lots or sites which are conƟguous and under common ownership or 
control. 

26. ProjecƟng Signs: A sign other than a wall sign that is aƩached to and projects from a building face. 

27. ResidenƟal Sign: A small detached or aƩached sign located on a residenƟal premise, conveying a 
message communicated by the owner of the property. 

28. Roof Sign: Any sign or part of sign erected upon, against, or directly above a roof or on top of or above 
the parapet or cornice of a building, 

(a) Integral Roof Sign: A roof sign posiƟoned between an eave line and the peak or highest point on a 
roof, substanƟally parallel to the face of a building. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

144 | P a g e  
 

(b) Above-peak Roof Sign: A roof sign posiƟoned above the peak of a roof or above a parapet or 
cornice. 

29. Sign: A symbolic, visual device fixed upon a building, vehicle, structure, or parcel of land which is 
intended to convey informaƟon about a product, business, acƟvity, place, person, insƟtuƟon, candidate, 
or poliƟcal idea. 

30. Sign Type: A funcƟonal descripƟon of the use of an individual sign. Includes owner idenƟficaƟon, 
adverƟsing, direcƟonal, electronic message, and temporary. 

31. Street Facade: Any separate external face of a building, including parapet walls and omiƩed wall lines, 
oriented to and facing a public street, private way, or court. Separate faces oriented in the same 
direcƟon or within 45 degrees of one another are considered part of the same street facade. 

32. Temporary Signs: A sign, flag, banner, pennant, or valance constructed of lightweight materials which is 
not permanently aƩached to building or land, and which is intended for display for a limited period of 
Ɵme  not to exceed thirty (30) days.   

33. Wall Sign: A sign aƩached to and parallel with the side of a building. 

34. Window Sign: A sign painted on or installed inside a window for the purpose of viewing from outside 
the premises. 

35. Zone Lot: A parcel of land in single ownership that is large enough to meet the minimum zoning 
requirements of its zoning district and can provide such yards and other open spaces that are required 
by the site development regulaƟons. 

175.03 General Sign and Street Graphics RegulaƟons 

a. Compliance 

Each sign or part of a sign erected within the zoning jurisdicƟon of the City of Glenwood must comply with 
the provisions of this chapter, other relevant provisions of the City of Glenwood's Municipal Code, and 
applicable building codes. 

b. ResoluƟon of ConflicƟng RegulaƟons 

This chapter is not meant to repeal or interfere with enforcement of other secƟons of the City of Glenwood's 
Municipal Code. In cases of conflicts between Code secƟons, State or Federal RegulaƟons, the more 
restricƟve regulaƟons shall apply. 

c. Prohibited Signs 

The following signs are prohibited in all zoning districts. 

1. Obsolete Signs. Signs that adverƟse an acƟvity, business, product or service no longer conducted on the 
premises on which the sign is located. 

2. Signs or sign structures which resemble or conflict with traffic control signs or devices, which mislead 
or confuse persons traveling on public streets, or which create a traffic hazard. 

3. Signs which create a safety hazard by obstrucƟng the clear view of pedestrians or vehicles, or which 
obscure official signs or signals. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

145 | P a g e  
 

4. Private Message Signs on Public Property. Signs displaying private adverƟsing or other private messages 
located on public property which is being used for public purposes. 

5. Flashing Signs. No flashing, blinking, or rotaƟon lights shall be permiƩed for either permanent or 
temporary signs. Electronic message boards are not considered flashing signs for the purpose of this 
ordinance. 

6. Moving Signs. No sign shall be permiƩed any part of which moves by any mechanical or electronic 
means. 

7. Painted Wall Signs. Off-premise signs painted on building walls unless located in a DC district as part of 
a program for restoraƟon of historic signs. 

d. Exempt Signs 

The following signs are permiƩed in any zoning district and are exempt from other provisions of this chapter. 

1. Real Estate Signs. Signs adverƟsing the sale, rental, or lease of the premises or part of the premises on 
which the signs are displayed. One non-illuminated sign, not to exceed six square feet, shall be 
permiƩed on each premises. Such signs shall not extend higher than four feet above grade level or 
closer than ten feet to the front property line unless located on the wall of a building. Such signs shall 
be removed within seven days aŌer the disposiƟon of the premises. 

2. ConstrucƟon Signs. Signs idenƟfying the architect, engineer, contractor or other individuals involved in 
the construcƟon of a building and such signs announcing the character of the building enterprise or the 
purpose for which the building is intended but not including product adverƟsing. One non-illuminated 
sign not to exceed fiŌy square feet shall be permiƩed per street frontage. Such sign shall not extend 
higher than ten feet above grade level and meet the front yard requirement for a principal structure 
unless located on the wall of a building on the premises or on a protecƟve barricade surrounding the 
construcƟon. Such signs shall be removed within one week following compleƟon of construcƟon. 

3. PoliƟcal Campaign Signs. Signs announcing candidates seeking public poliƟcal office or perƟnent 
poliƟcal issues to be dealt with at a specific, date-certain elecƟon. Such signs shall be confined to private 
property and shall be removed within one week following the elecƟon to which they pertain. This 
requirement for removal shall not affect the right of a property owner to communicate any other 
message within the requirements or limitaƟons of this ordinance. 

4. Street Banners. Signs adverƟsing a public event, providing that specific approval is granted under 
regulaƟons established by the city council. 

5. Seasonal DecoraƟons. Signs pertaining to recognized naƟonal holidays and naƟonal observances. 

6. Public Signs. Signs of a noncommercial nature and in the public interest, erected by or upon the order 
of a public officer in the performance of his public duty, such as safety signs, danger signs, trespassing 
signs, traffic signs, memorial plaques, signs of historical interest and other similar signs, including signs 
designaƟng hospitals, libraries, schools and other insƟtuƟons or places of public interest or concern. 

7. Signs Integrated into Building Design. Signs for churches or temples, or names of buildings, dates of 
erecƟon, monumental citaƟons, commemoraƟve tablets and other similar signs when carved into 
stone, concrete or other building material or made of bronze, aluminum, or other permanent type of 
construcƟon and made an integral part of the structure to which they are aƩached. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

146 | P a g e  
 

8. Window Signs. Such signs which are displayed inside of a window or within a building, provided, 
however, that neon window signs shall be permiƩed only in those districts where neon signs are 
permiƩed. 

9. Mural.  Works of graphic art painted or applied to building walls which contain no adverƟsing or 
business idenƟficaƟon messages. RestoraƟon of historic adverƟsing signs in the DC District shall be 
included in this exclusion. 

10. ResidenƟal signs under 4 square feet in size. 

11. Neighborhood or subdivision idenƟficaƟon signs under 50 square feet in size. 

12. Signs which are not visible from a public right-of-way, private way, or court or from a property other 
than that on which the sign is installed. 

e. Temporary and Civic Signs 

1. Temporary or portable signs for grand openings, sales, and special  are permiƩed in Commercial and 
Industrial zoning districts, subject to the following requirements: 

(a) Such signs are subject to the permit procedures set forth in this secƟon. 

(b) The size of such signs does not exceed the limitaƟons set forth in Table 175-3. 

(c) No more than one such sign is permiƩed at any single premises. Applicant may apply to Zoning 
Board of Adjustment to obtain a second sign allowance.  

(d) Temporary or portable signs may be present at any single premises for a maximum of thirty (30) 
consecuƟve or non-consecuƟve days per year. 

2. Temporary signs for non-profit civic campaigns or events, poliƟcal campaigns, or other non-commercial 
even6 are permiƩed in any zoning district and are exempt from other provisions of this secƟon, subject 
to the following requirements: 

(a) Such signs are installed no earlier than thirty (30) days before the date of the event or elecƟon and 
removed no later than seven (7) days aŌer the date of the event or elecƟon. 

(b) The maximum size of such signs is thirty-two (32) square feet when located in any residenƟal zoning 
district; and one hundred (100) square feet in any other zoning district. 

f. Vision-Clearance Area 

No sign may project into or be placed within a vision-clearance area defined by a triangle with legs of forty 
feet from the point at which the curbs or edges of two intersecƟng streets, private ways, or alleys, or an 
intersecƟng sheet, private way, alley, or driveway, meet. 

175.04 General RegulaƟons: Basic Design Elements for Signs 

General sign regulaƟons shall be as set forth in this secƟon. 

a. Conformance Required 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

147 | P a g e  
 

Except as may be hereinaŌer specified, no sign shall be erected, placed, maintained, converted, enlarged, 
reconstructed or structurally altered which does not comply with all of the regulaƟons established by this 
Ɵtle. 

b. Maintenance 

All signs shall be maintained in a good state of repair, including, but not limited to, the structural 
components, the lighƟng, if any, the porƟon aƩaching the sign to the ground or structure, and the surface 
features. 

c. Nonconformance and AmorƟzaƟon 

Where a sign exists at the effecƟve date of adopƟon or amendment of the ordinance codified in this Ɵtle 
that could not be built under the terms of this Ɵtle by reason of restricƟons on area, use, height, setback, 
or other characterisƟcs of the sign or its locaƟon on the lot, such sign may be conƟnued so long as it remains 
otherwise lawful, subject to the following provisions: 

1. No such sign may be enlarged or altered in a way which increases its nonconformity; however, 
reasonable repairs and alteraƟons may be permiƩed. 

2. Should such a sign be destroyed by any means to an extent of sixty percent or more of its replacement 
cost at Ɵme of destrucƟon, it shall not be reconstructed except in conformity with the provisions of this 
Ɵtle. 

3. Within any zoning district, all new or repaired signage shall comply fully with the provisions of this 
Ordinance, unless otherwise provided. 

d. Wall Signs and Graphics 

Wall signs and graphics are subject to the following general regulaƟons. 

1. A wall sign shall not extend more than 30 inches from the wall to which it is aƩached. 

2. A wall sign must be parallel to the wall to which it is aƩached. 

3. A wall sign may not extend beyond the corner of the wall to which it is aƩached, except where aƩached 
to another wall sign, it may extend to provide for the aƩachment. 

4. A wall sign may not extend beyond building’s roof line. 

5. A wall sign aƩached to a building on its front property line may encroach upon public right-of-way by 
no more than eighteen inches (18”). Such a wall sign shall provide verƟcal clearance of eight feet, six 
inches (8’6”). 

6. For the purpose of calculaƟng permiƩed sign areas pursuant to this chapter, signs painted on the walls 
of buildings shall be considered wall signs. 

7.  Where permiƩed, canopy signs are counted as wall signs when calculaƟng total permiƩed sign area. 

 

e. ProjecƟng Signs and Graphics 

ProjecƟng signs and graphics are subject to the following general regulaƟons. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

148 | P a g e  
 

1. The maximum projecƟon of any projecƟng sign shall be as follows: 

(a) Three feet (3’) when over public sidewalks less than twelve feet (12’) wide; 

(b) Five feet (5’) when over public sidewalks twelve feet (12’) wide or more, or over private property. 

2. A projecƟng sign may be no closer than two feet (2’) from the verƟcal plane of the inside curb line. 

3. Each projecƟng sign must maintain at least the following verƟcal clearances: 

(a) Twelve feet (12) over sidewalks; except that a canopy may reduce its verƟcal clearance to seven 
feet, six inches (7’6”); 

(b) FiŌeen feet (15’) from parking areas or driveways, but within three feet of such areas; or within 
fiŌy feet (50’) of the right-of-way lines formed by a street intersecƟon; 

(c) FiŌeen feet (15’)  in and adjacent to parking lots; 

(d) Eighteen feet (18’) over alleys or driveways. 

4. No projecƟng sign extending three feet (3’) or more from a property line may be located within Twenty-
five feet (25’) of any other projecƟng sign extending three feet (3’) or more from a property line. 

5. ProjecƟng signs must minimize visible support structure and may not expose guy wires, cables, 
turnbuckles, angle iron, or other similar external support structure. 

f. Pole Signs 

All pole signs shall be constructed of metal or masonry, unless a condiƟonal use is granted for any other 
material. Pole signs, where permiƩed, are subject to the following general regulaƟons: 

1. Each pole sign must maintain at least the following verƟcal clearances: 

(a) Eight feet, Six inches (8’ 6”) over sidewalks; 

(b) Ten feet (10’) outside of parking areas or driveways, but within three feet (3’) of such areas; or 
within fiŌy feet (50’) of the right-of-way lines formed by a street intersecƟon. 

(c) Fourteen feet (14’) in and adjacent to parking lots; 

(d) Eighteen feet (18’) over alleys or driveways. 

2. PermiƩed pole signs may revolve at a rate not to exceed six revoluƟons per minute. 

g. Roof Signs 

Roof signs are subject to the following regulaƟons: 

1. Where permiƩed, integral roof signs may be used interchangeably with wall signs. 

2. Integral roof signs may not exceed the permiƩed height for pole signs. 

3. An integral roof sign must be mounted parallel to the wall of the building to which it is aƩached. 

h. Detached Signs 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

149 | P a g e  
 

Any wooden detached signs are by condiƟonal use only. 

175.05  General RegulaƟons: Other Design Elements 

a. IlluminaƟon 

LighƟng, when installed, must be posiƟoned in such a manner that light is not directed on to an adjoining 
property or onto a public street or highway. 

b. Marquees and Marquee Signs 

Signs placed on, aƩached to, or constructed on a marquee are subject to the maximum projecƟon and 
clearance regulaƟons projecƟng signs. 

c. Banners 

1. A banner sign projecƟng from a building may not exceed the wall height of the building. 

2. Maximum projecƟon for any banner is five feet with a minimum clearance of ten feet. 

3. Maximum size of a banner is twice the permiƩed size of a projecƟng sign or one-hundred-twenty  
square feet (120’), whichever is less. 

d. Clocks 

For the purposes of this chapter, clocks are not considered a moving sign.  

175.06 General Permit Procedures 

a. Applicability 

1. A sign permit, approved by the zoning administrator, shall be required before the erecƟon, construcƟon, 
alteraƟon, placing, or locaƟng of all signs conforming with this Ɵtle. 

2. A permit shall not be required for repainƟng without changing permanent wording, composiƟon, or 
colors; or nonstructural repairs. 

b. Plans SubmiƩal 

A copy of plans and specificaƟons shall be submiƩed to the zoning administrator for each sign regulated by 
this Ɵtle. Such plans shall show sufficient details about size of the sign, locaƟon and   materials to be used 
and such other data as may be required for the zoning administrator to determine compliance with this Ɵtle. 

c. Appeals   

Any person or persons aggrieved by the decision of the zoning administrator to approve or disapprove a sign 
permit, as provided by this Ɵtle, may appeal such decision to the Board of Adjustment. 

 

d. ApplicaƟon Fees 

Each applicaƟon for a sign permit shall be accompanied by any applicable fees, which shall be established 
by the City Council from Ɵme to Ɵme by resoluƟon. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

150 | P a g e  
 

175.07 Method of Measurement for Regulators 

a. Maximum PermiƩed Sign Area 

Maximum permiƩed sign area for a premises is set forth as a numerical limit or as a funcƟon of the frontage 
of the premises on a street or private way. For properƟes with frontage on more than one street or private 
way, the total frontage shall be calculated as the longest frontage plus one-half the length of all addiƟonal 
frontages. 

b. Sign Area 

1. Sign area includes the enƟre area within the perimeter enclosing the extreme limits of the sign, 
excluding any structure essenƟal for support or service of the sign, or architectural elements of the 
building.   

2. The area of double-faced signs is calculated on the largest face only. 

3. The sign area for ground signs, monument signs, and architectural sign bands is calculated as the area 
enclosing the extreme limits of the copy only. 

4. When a sign is "individual leƩers" mounted to a wall, the area will be calculated by using 50% of the 
area within the perimeter enclosing the leƩers. 

c. Height 

The height of a sign is measured from the average grade level below the sign to the topmost point of the 
sign or sign structure. 

d. Setback 

The setback of a sign is measured from the property line to the line projected to the ground plane of the 
nearest porƟon of the sign. 

175.08 PermiƩed Sign Types by Zoning Districts 

Table 175-1 sets forth the sign types permiƩed within each zoning district of the City of Glenwood. 

175.09 Auxiliary Design Elements 

Table 175-2 sets forth auxiliary design elements permiƩed within each zoning district of the City of 
Glenwood. 

175.10 Maximum PermiƩed Sign Area 

Table 175-3 sets forth the maximum sign area permiƩed within each zoning district of the City of Glenwood. 

175.11 PermiƩed Signs by Numbers, Dimensions, and LocaƟon 

Table 175-4 sets forth the maximum permiƩed numbers of signs per premise; the maximum permiƩed 
dimensions of each sign; and the required setbacks for detached signs. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

151 | P a g e  
 

Table 175-1 PermiƩed Signs by Type and Zoning Districts 

Sign Types AR RR R-1 R-2 
R-3 

R-4 MH UC CC DC GC HC BP LI GI 

Detached Signs                
ResidenƟal P P P P P P P P N N N N N N 
Premise 
IdenƟficaƟon P C (C) (C) (C) P P P P P P P P P 
Incidental C (C) (C) (C) (C) P P P P P P P P P 
Ground P (C) (C) (C) P P P P P P P P P P 
Pole N N N N N N P P N P P N P P 
               
AƩached Signs               
Awning N N N N N N P P P P P P P P 
Banner N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 
Building Marker P P P P P P P P P P P P P P 
Canopy N N N N N P P P P P P P P P 
Incidental (C) (C) (C) (C) (C) P P P P P P P P P 
Marquee N N N N N P P P P P P P P P 
ProjecƟng N N N N N N P P P P P P P P 
Roof, Integral N N N N N N P P P P P P P P 
Roof, Above Peak N N N N N N N N N N N N P P 
Wall P P P P P P P P P P P P P P 
Window N N N N N N P P P P P P P P 
               
Miscellaneous               
Flag P P P P P P  P P P P P P P 
Portable P P P P P P 

N 

P P P P P P P 
Billboard P P N N N N N N N N N N N 
Off-Premise 
IdenƟficaƟon Sign P N N N N N N N N N N P P 

 

P: PermiƩed for All Uses   (C): PermiƩed for Civic Uses  N: Not PermiƩed 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

152 | P a g e  
 

Table 175-2 PermiƩed Signs by Type and Zoning Districts 

Sign Types AR RR R-1 R-2 
R-3 

R-4 MH UC CC DC GC HC BP LI GI 

Design Element               
IlluminaƟon               
Indirect (C) (C) (C) (C) (C) P P P P P P P P P 
Direct N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 
Internal (C) (C) (C) (C) (C) P P P P P P P P P 
Neon N N N N N N P P P P P N P P 
Flashing N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 
Flame N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 
Bare Bulb N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 
               
Other               
Electronic 
InformaƟon N N N N N N P P P P P P P P 
Moving N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 
RotaƟng N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 
               
               
               

 

P: PermiƩed for All Uses   (C): PermiƩed for Civic Uses  N: Not PermiƩed 

Table 175-3 PermiƩed Signs by Maximum PermiƩed Area and District 

Zoning District AR RR 
R-1 
R-2 

 

R-3 
R-4 
MH 

UC CC DC GC 
HC 

BP LI 
GI 

Square Feet of Signage per 
Linear Foot of Frontage 

NA NA NA 0.75 1.50 1.50 2.00 1.50 2.00 

Maximum Total Square Feet Note 1 Note 2 Note 3 300 
Note 4 

500 
Note 5 

200 700 500 700 

Note 1: 
200 square feet for civic or commercial uses, 4 square feet for residenƟal uses, including home occupaƟons. 
 
Note 2: 
50 square feet for project idenƟficaƟon signs; 32 square feet for civic uses, 2 square feet for residenƟal uses, including 
home occupaƟons, billboards - max square feet. 
 
Note 3: 
32 square feet for civic uses, 50 square feet for project idenƟficaƟon signs for mulƟ-family or mobile home 
developments and for non-residenƟal uses when permiƩed, 2 square feet for residenƟal uses, including home 
occupaƟons. 
 
Note 4:  
Maximum limits apply to non-residenƟal premises only. On premises with primary residenƟal use, 50 square feet for 
project idenƟficaƟon signs for mulƟ-family developments, 4 square feet for residenƟal uses, including home 
occupaƟons. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

153 | P a g e  
 

 
Note 5: 
One Business Center IdenƟficaƟon Sign with a maximum area of 150 square feet is permiƩed in addiƟon to the 
Maximum Total Square Feet established here, subject to the regulaƟons set forth by Table 175-4. 
 
General Note: Developments within MU Mixed Use and PD Planned Development Overlay District shall submit 
individual sign plans as part of the applicaƟon process for approval of the district. Developments in a PD Planned 
Development Overlay District shall comply with the size and distribuƟon requirements for their underlying zoning 
district. 
 

Table 175-4 PermiƩed Signs by Number Dimensions, and LocaƟon 

Zoning District AR RR 
R-1 
R-2 

R-3 
R-4 
MH 

UC CC DC GC 
HC 

BP LI 
GI 

Detached Signs          
Number PermiƩed Per 
Premise 

1 1 1 1 NA 1 NA NA NA 

  Per Feet of Frontage of 
Property 

NA NA NA NA 1 per 
300 

NA 1 per 
300 

1 per 
300 

1 per 
300 

Maximum Size* (sq. Ō.) 100* X X 100 300 100 300 200 300 
          
Maximum Height (feet) of 
Structure Above Ground 

25 10 10 20 25 25 35 20 35 

          
Front Yard Setback (feet) 25 5 10 10 10 0 5 5 0 
Side Yard Setback (feet) 10 10 10 10 5 0 5 5 0 
          
AƩached Signs          
Maximum Size* (sq.Ō.) 100 X X 50 NA NA 300 300 300 
% of Street Façade NA   20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 

* See Table 175-3 for maximum sign sizes 
Note 1: 
In addiƟon to its total permiƩed sign area, each premises used for a business center may have one detached center 
idenƟficaƟon sign, subject to the following condiƟons: 
 

1. The maximum area for a center idenƟficaƟon sign shall be 150 square feet. 
2. No center idenƟficaƟon sign shall be within 300 feet of any other center idenƟficaƟon sign or within 150 

feet of any other detached sign on the same or adjacent premises. 
3. The sign shall display no more than the name and locaƟon of the business center. 
4. Each sign shall be subject to all other regulaƟons for detached signs or graphics set forth in this secƟon. 

General Note: Developments within MU Mixed Use and PD Planned Development Overlay District shall submit 
individual sign plans as part of the applicaƟon process for approval of the district. Developments in a PD Planned 
Development Overlay District shall comply with the size and distribuƟon requirements for their underlying zoning 
district. 
  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

154 | P a g e  
 

SecƟon 176 

Nonconforming Development and Uses 

176.01 Purpose 

The purposes of the Nonconforming Development regulaƟons are: 

a. To allow for reasonable use of legally created lots of record which do not meet current minimum 
requirements for their respecƟve zoning districts. 

b. To provide for reasonable use of legally constructed structures which do not meet current site development 
regulaƟons for their respecƟve zoning districts. 

c. To allow for the reasonable conƟnuaƟon of legally established uses which do not meet current use 
regulaƟons for their respecƟve zoning districts. 

d. To limit the conƟnuaƟon and provide for the gradual replacement of nonconforming uses. 

176.02 RegulaƟons AddiƟve 

RegulaƟons for nonconforming uses are in addiƟon to regulaƟons for nonconforming structures. In the event 
of a conflict, the most restricƟve regulaƟon shall apply. 

176.03 Nonconforming Lots 

a. Pre-ExisƟng Lots of Record 

Nonconforming lots of record exisƟng at the Ɵme of the adopƟon of this chapter shall be exempt, unless 
otherwise provided, from the minimum lot area and lot width requirements of each zoning district. Such 
lots may be developed with any use allowed by the regulaƟons for the district and must comply with all 
other site development regulaƟons set forth by the Zoning RegulaƟons. 

b. ReducƟons Due to Public AcquisiƟon 

If a porƟon of a legally exisƟng lot in any district is acquired for public use, the remainder of this lot shall be 
considered a conforming lot. 

176.04 Nonconforming Structures 

These regulaƟons apply to buildings and structures which were constructed legally under regulaƟons in 
effect before the effecƟve date of these RegulaƟons. 

a. ConƟnuaƟon 

A lawful nonconforming structure exisƟng on the effecƟve date of this secƟon may be conƟnued, repaired, 
maintained, or altered, subject to the provisions of this SecƟon. 

b. AddiƟons or Enlargements to Nonconforming Structures 

1. A lawful nonconforming structure may be added to or enlarged if the addiƟon saƟsfies one or more of 
the following condiƟons: 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

155 | P a g e  
 

(a) The enlargement or addiƟon, when considered independently of the exisƟng building, complies 
with all applicable setback, height, off-street parking, and landscaping requirements. 

(b) The nonconforming building and impervious surface coverages on the site are not increased and 
the building, aŌer the addiƟon, conforms to height and off-street parking regulaƟons applicable to 
its zoning district. 

(c) The addiƟon projects no further into a required side yard setback than the exisƟng building; the 
length of the side wall of the addiƟon is the smaller of 25 feet or 50 percent of the length of the 
exisƟng nonconforming side wall; and the enlarged building complies with building and impervious 
coverage, front and rear yard setbacks, and height regulaƟons applicable to its zoning district. 

2. No permiƩed addiƟon to a nonconforming structure may place a wall within ten feet of a window of an 
adjacent pre-exisƟng residenƟal structure. 

3. Nonconforming buildings shall be limited to one addiƟon or enlargement pursuant to these regulaƟons. 

c. Moving of Nonconforming Structures 

A lawful nonconforming building or structure shall not be moved in whole or in part to another locaƟon on 
its lot unless every part of the structure conforms to all site development regulaƟons applicable to its zoning 
district. 

d. Repair of Nonconforming Structures 

A lawful nonconforming building damaged by fire, explosion, storm or other calamity, except flood damages, 
may be repaired and reconstructed provided there is no increase in the degree of nonconformity and that 
the cost of the reconstrucƟon does not exceed 50% of the value of the building prior to the damage. 

e. Conversion of a Conforming Building 

A conforming building shall not be changed in any way that will result in a nonconforming development. 

f. Applicability of Landscaping and Screening RegulaƟons 

A pre-exisƟng structure, building, or development shall be exempt from SecƟon 173, Landscaping and 
Screening RegulaƟons. However, any expansion of such structure, building, or development or any adjacent 
new development onto property that is or becomes vacant on or aŌer the effecƟve date of these RegulaƟons 
shall be subject to SecƟon 173. 

g. AmorƟzaƟon Of Nonconforming Development 

The following nonconformances must be brought into compliance with the provisions of this ordinance 
within specified periods. 

1. Fences, walls, and foliage which violate the vision clearance provisions of this ordinance shall be made 
conforming within one year of the effecƟve date of the ordinance. 

2. Any fences or screens that are inconsistent with the provisions of SecƟon 172.07 shall be made 
conforming within one year of the effecƟve date of the ordinance. 

3. Nonconforming storage operaƟons, including vehicle storage, salvage services, or similar uses made 
conforming within two years of the effecƟve date of the ordinance. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

156 | P a g e  
 

176.05 Nonconforming Uses 

a. ConƟnuaƟon of Nonconforming Uses 

1. Any nonconforming use lawfully exisƟng on the effecƟve date of these regulaƟons may conƟnue, 
subject to the limitaƟons of this SecƟon. 

2. Whenever the use of a premise becomes nonconforming through a subsequent change in the zoning 
ordinance or zoning district boundaries, such use may be conƟnued or changed to another 
nonconforming use of the same or lesser intensity with the approval of the City Council, following a 
public hearing and recommendaƟon of the Planning Commission. 

b. Change and AmorƟzaƟon of Nonconforming Uses 

A nonconforming use may be changed to another nonconforming use of the same or lesser intensity, as 
measured by the Intensity RaƟng in the Use Matrix and by the category of use type. For the purpose of 
measuring nonconforming use rights, the hierarchy of Intensity RaƟngs ascends from low to moderate to 
high to intensive. The hierarchy of uses ascends from agricultural to residenƟal to office to commercial to 
industrial and transportaƟon. For example, a nonconforming commercial use in a residenƟal district with an 
Intensity RaƟng (IR) of H may be converted to another commercial use with an provided an IR of H, M, or L. 
However, such a use may not be converted to an industrial use type regardless of its IR. 

c. Enlargement of Nonconforming Uses 

A building or structure housing a lawful nonconforming use may not be added to or enlarged. 

d. Abandonment of Nonconforming Use 

1. If any structure or property used as a lawful nonconforming use becomes vacant or unused for a 
conƟnuous period of twelve months, any subsequent use must conform to all use regulaƟons applicable 
to the property's zoning district. 

2. If a structure housing a nonconforming use converts to a conforming use, it forfeits any further claim to 
nonconforming use rights. 

e. Allowance for Repairs 

Repairs and maintenance of a structure occupied by a nonconforming use may be made, provided that no 
structural alteraƟons are made other than those required by law. 

f. Damage or DestrucƟon of Structures 

Should a structure occupied by a lawful nonconforming use be damaged to the extent that the cost of 
restoraƟon exceeds 60 percent of the replacement cost of the structure, the nonconforming use shall no 
longer be permiƩed. 

g. Nonconforming Uses and CondiƟonal Use Permits 

A lawful pre-exisƟng use which would require a CondiƟonal Use Permit in its zoning district shall be 
presumed to have the appropriate Permit and shall be considered a conforming use. The use shall be subject 
to the regulaƟons governing lapses or revocaƟon of Permits, set forth in SecƟon 177. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

157 | P a g e  
 

SecƟon 177 

AdministraƟon and Procedures 

177.01 Purpose 

The AdministraƟon and Procedures Provisions establish the methods for implementaƟon of the Zoning 
RegulaƟons. These provisions include procedures for reviewing specific uses within certain zoning districts; 
amending the Zoning RegulaƟons; and granƟng variances. 

177.02 Site Plan Review Procedure 

a. Purpose 

The Site Plan Review Procedure provides for the administraƟve review in addiƟon to plan review required 
by other secƟons of the Glenwood Municipal Code of projects that have potenƟally significant effects on 
traffic circulaƟon or a significant effect on land uses in adjacent neighborhoods. The procedure provides for 
review and evaluaƟon of site development features and possible miƟgaƟon of unfavorable effects on 
surrounding property. 

b. AdministraƟon 

The Zoning Administrator, or his/her designee shall review, evaluate, and act on all site plans submiƩed 
pursuant to this procedure. An applicant may appeal a denial of any applicaƟon to the Board of Adjustment. 

c. Uses Requiring Site Plan Review 

All uses indicated as subject to Site Plan Review in Table 177-1 are subject to the provisions of this secƟon, 
unless otherwise subject to a CondiƟonal Use Permit procedure for specific zoning districts. 

d. ApplicaƟon Requirements 

An applicaƟon for a Site Plan Review may be filed by the owner(s) of a property or the owners' authorized 
agent with the Zoning Administrator. The applicaƟon shall include the following informaƟon: 

1. Name and address of the applicant. 

2. Owner, address, and legal descripƟon of the property. 

3. A descripƟon of the nature and operaƟng characterisƟcs of the proposed use. 

4. A site plan, drawn to a scale sufficient to permit adequate review and dimensioned as necessary, 
showing the following informaƟon: 

(a) The date, scale, north poult, Ɵtle, name of owner, and name of person preparing the site plan. 

(b) The locaƟon and dimensions of boundary lines, easements, and required yards and setbacks of 
exisƟng and proposed buildings and site improvements. 

(c) The locaƟon, size, and use of proposed and exisƟng structures on the site. 

(d) The locaƟon of all proposed site improvements, including parking and loading areas, pedestrian 
and vehicular access, sewers, sidewalks, uƟliƟes, service areas, fencing, screening, landscaping, and 
lighƟng. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

158 | P a g e  
 

(e) LocaƟon of any major site feature, including drainage and contours at no greater than five-foot 
intervals. 

(f) Any other informaƟon that may be required for review by the Zoning Administrator, or his/her 
designee. 

e. AdministraƟve AcƟon and Appeal 

The Zoning Administrator, or his/her designee must act upon each complete applicaƟon within ten working 
days of filing. An applicant may appeal a denial to the Board of Adjustment within ten days of the acƟon. 
The Board of Adjustment shall consider the appeal at the first available meeƟng aŌer the filing of the appeal.  

f. Review and EvaluaƟon 

1. The Zoning Administrator, or his/her designee (or the Board of Adjustment in cases of appeal), shall 
review and approve the site plan based on the criteria established in Table 177-1 and conformance with 
applicable regulaƟons in these Zoning RegulaƟons. 

2. The Zoning Administrator, or his/her designee (or the Board of Adjustment in cases of appeal), shall 
make the following findings before approval of the site plan: 

(a) The proposed development, together with any necessary modificaƟons, is compaƟble with the 
criteria established in Table 177-1. 

(b) Any required modificaƟons to the site plan are reasonable and are the minimum necessary to 
minimize potenƟally unfavorable effects. 

(c) The site plan conforms to the Zoning RegulaƟons. 

g. ModificaƟon of Site Plan 

The Zoning Administrator, or his/her designee (or the Board of Adjustment in cases of appeal), may require 
modificaƟon of a site plan as a prerequisite for approval. Required modificaƟons may be more restricƟve 
than base district regulaƟons and may include, but not be limited to, addiƟonal landscaping or screening; 
installaƟon of erosion control measures; improvement of access or circulaƟon; rearrangement of structures 
on the site; or other modificaƟons deemed necessary to protect the public health, safety, welfare, 
community character, property values, and/ or aestheƟcs. 

h. Term and ModificaƟon of Approval 

1. A Site Plan Approval shall become void one year aŌer the date of approval, unless the applicant receives 
a Building Permit and diligently carries out development prior to the expiraƟon of this period. 

2. The Zoning Administrator, or his/her designee, may approve an applicaƟon to modify a previously 
approved site plan if he/she determines that the modificaƟon does not affect findings related to the 
criteria set forth in Table 177-1. 

3.  The Zoning Administrator, or his/her designee may revoke a Site Plan Approval if he/she determines 
that the development is not complying with the terms and condiƟons of the approval. Such revocaƟon 
may be appealed to the Board of Adjustment. 

i. Approval to Run With Land 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

159 | P a g e  
 

An approval pursuant to this secƟon shall run with the land unƟl the expiraƟon date of such approval. 

177.03 CondiƟonal Use Permit Procedure 

a. Purpose 

The CondiƟonal Use Permit Procedure provides for public review and discreƟonary Zoning Board of 
Adjustment approval for uses within zoning districts which have unusual site development or operaƟng 
characterisƟcs that could adversely affect surrounding properƟes. 

b. AdministraƟon 

The Zoning Administrator shall be responsible for the administraƟon of the CondiƟonal Use Permit 
Procedure. The Zoning Board of Adjustment shall review, evaluate, and approve of each applicaƟon. Appeal 
of any decision by the Zoning Board of Adjustment of any applicaƟon pursuant to this secƟon may be made 
to the to the Iowa District Court ApplicaƟon Requirements 

An applicaƟon for a CondiƟonal Use Permit may be filed with the Zoning Administrator by the owner(s) of a 
property or the owners' authorized agent. The applicaƟon shall include the following informaƟon: 

1. Name and address of the applicant. 

2. Owner, address and legal descripƟon of the property. 

3. A descripƟon of the nature and operaƟng characterisƟcs of the proposed use. 

4. Any graphic informaƟon, including site plans, elevaƟons, other drawings, or other materials determined 
by the Zoning Administrator to be necessary to describe the proposed use to approving agencies. 

5. Provide informaƟon pertaining to twelve (12) performance standards. 

c. Approval Process 

The, Zoning Board of Adjustment  following proper noƟce, shall hold a public hearing on each  CondiƟonal 
Use Permit and such public hearing, shall act on the applicaƟon. 

d. Appeal Process 

Per Iowa Code 414, appeals to the board of adjustment may be taken by any person aggrieved or by 
any officer, department, board, or bureau of the municipality affected by any decision of the 
administraƟve officer. Such appeal shall be taken within a reasonable Ɵme as provided by the rules of 
the board by filing with the officer from whom the appeal is taken and with the board of adjustment a 
noƟce of appeal specifying the grounds thereof. The officer from whom the appeal is taken shall 
forthwith transmit to the board all the papers consƟtuƟng the record upon which the acƟon appealed 
from was taken. 

e. Criteria for Review 

The Zoning Board of Adjustment shall review and approve the site plan based on the criteria established in 
Table 177-1 and conformance with applicable regulaƟons in these Zoning RegulaƟons. 

f. Scope of Approval 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

160 | P a g e  
 

1. The, Zoning Board of Adjustment may, at their discreƟon, apply a CondiƟonal Use Permit to a specific 
owner or applicant. The Zoning Board of Adjustment may establish special site development or 
operaƟonal regulaƟons as a condiƟon for approval of a CondiƟonal Use Permit. 

g. Lapse and RevocaƟon of Permit 

1. A CondiƟonal Use Permit shall become void two years aŌer its effecƟve date if the applicant has not 
carried out development or occupancy during that period. 

2. The Zoning Board of Adjustment may revoke a CondiƟonal Use Permit should the operaƟon of the use 
subject to such permit violate the condiƟons under which the permit was granted. 

h.  Previously Approved Permits 

Any special use approved under regulaƟons in effect before the effecƟve date -of-these RegulaƟons shall be 
considered to have a valid CondiƟonal Use Permit, subject to requirements imposed at the Ɵme of its 
approval. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

161 | P a g e  
 

Table 177-1 Criteria For Site Plan Review And CondiƟonal Use Permits 

 Criteria Applies 
To 

 

Land Use CompaƟbility  Site Plan 
Review 

CondiƟonal 
Use Permit 

Development Density Site area per unit or floor area raƟo should be similar 
to surrounding uses if not separated by major natural 
or arƟficial features. 

 x 

Height and Scale  
Height and Bulk 

 
Development should minimize differences in height 
and building size from surrounding structures. 
Differences should be jusƟfied by urban design 
consideraƟons. 

 
x 

 
x 

Setbacks Development should respect pre-exisƟng setbacks in 
surrounding area. VariaƟons should be jusƟfied by 
site or operaƟng characterisƟcs. 

x x 

Building Coverage Building coverage should be similar to that of 
surrounding development of possible. Higher 
coverage should be miƟgated by landscaping or site 
ameniƟes. 

x x 

Site Development 
Frontage 
 

 
Project frontage along a street should be similar to lot 
width.  

 
x 

 
x 

Parking and Internal 
CirculaƟon 
 

Parking should serve all structures with minimal 
conflicts between pedestrians and vehicles. 
 
All structures must be accessible to public safety 
vehicles. 
 
Development must have access to adjacent public 
sheets and ways. Internal circulaƟon should minimize 
conflicts and congesƟon at public access points. 
 

x 
 
 
x 
 
x 

x 
 
 
x 
 
x 

Landscaping Landscaping should be integral to the development, 
providing street landscaping, breaks in uninterrupted 
paved areas, and buffering where required by 
surrounding land uses. Parts of site with sensiƟve 
environmental features or natural drainageways 
should be preserved. 

x x 

 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

162 | P a g e  
 

Table 177-1 Criteria For Site Plan Review And CondiƟonal Use Permits 

 Criteria Applies To  
Building Design Architectural design and building materials should be 

compaƟble with surrounding areas or highly visible 
locaƟons 

 x 

OperaƟng CharacterisƟcs    
Traffic Capacity Project should not obstruct traffic on adjacent streets. 

CompensaƟng improvements will be required to miƟgate 
impact on street system operaƟons. 

x x 

External Traffic Effects Project design should direct non-residenƟal traffic away 
from residenƟal areas. 

x x 

OperaƟng Hours Projects with long operaƟng hours must minimize effects 
on surrounding residenƟal areas. 

x x 

Outside Storage Outside storage areas must be screened from 
surrounding streets and less intensive land uses. 

x x 

Public FaciliƟes    
Sanitary Waste Disposal Developments within 300 feet of a public sanitary sewer 

must connect to sewer system. Individual disposal 
systems, if permiƩed, shall not adversely affect public 
health, safety, or welfare. 

x x 

 Sanitary sewer must have adequate capacity to serve 
development. 

x x 

Storm Water Management Development should handle storm water adequately to 
prevent overloading of public storm water management 
system. 
 

x x 

 Development should not inhibit development of other 
properƟes. 
 

x x 

 Development should not increase probability of erosion, 
flooding, landslides, or other run-off related effects. 

x x 

UƟliƟes Project must be served by uƟliƟes. 
 

x x 

 Rural estate subdivisions should be located in designated 
areas which can accommodate uƟlity and infrastructure 
installaƟon consistent with the need to protect the 
environment and public health. 

x x 

Comprehensive Plan Projects should be consistent with the City of Glenwood's 
Comprehensive Development Plan. 

x x 

 

177.04 Amendment Procedure 

a. Purpose 

The Amendment Procedures describe the methods by which changes may be made in the text of the Zoning 
RegulaƟons (text amendment) and/ or the official boundaries of zoning districts (zoning district 
amendment). 

b. IniƟaƟon of Amendments 

1. Text amendments may be iniƟated by the Planning Commission or City Council. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

163 | P a g e  
 

2. Zoning district amendment  may be iniƟated by a property owner or authorized agent; the Planning 
Commission; or the City Council. 

c. Zoning District Amendment ApplicaƟon Requirements 

An applicaƟon for a zoning district amendment may be filed with the Zoning Administrator, or his/her 
designee. The applicaƟon shall include the following informaƟon: 

1. Name and address of the applicant. 

2. Owner, address and legal descripƟon of the property. 

3. A descripƟon of the reason for the zoning district amendment applicaƟon and the nature and operaƟng 
characterisƟcs of the proposed use. 

4. Any graphic informaƟon, including site plans, elevaƟons, other drawings, or other materials determined 
by the Zoning Administrator to be necessary to describe the proposed use to approving agencies. 

d. Amendment Process 

Per Iowa Code, the council of the city shall provide for the manner in which the regulaƟons and 
restricƟons and the boundaries of the districts shall be determined, established, and enforced, and from 
Ɵme to Ɵme amended, supplemented, or changed. However, the regulaƟon, restricƟon, or boundary 
shall not become effecƟve unƟl aŌer a public hearing at which parƟes in interest and ciƟzens shall have 
an opportunity to be heard. The noƟce of the Ɵme and place of the hearing shall be published as 
provided in secƟon 362.3, except that at least seven days’ noƟce must be given and in no case shall the 
public hearing be held earlier than the next regularly scheduled city council meeƟng following the 
published noƟce.   

177.05 Building Permits and CerƟficates of Zoning Compliance 

a. AdministraƟon and Enforcement 

The Zoning Administrator shall administer and enforce these regulaƟons. The City Council may direct other 
persons to assist him/her. 

If the Zoning Administrator, or his/her designee shall find that any of the provisions of these regulaƟons are 
being violated, he/ she shall noƟfy in wriƟng the person responsible for such violaƟons, indicaƟng the nature 
of the violaƟon and ordering the acƟon necessary to correct it. He/ she shall order disconƟnuance of illegal 
use of land, buildings, or structures; removal of illegal buildings or structures or of illegal addiƟons, 
alteraƟons, or structural changes; disconƟnuance of any illegal work being done; or shall take any other 
acƟon authorized by these regulaƟons to ensure compliance with or to prevent violaƟon of its provisions. 

b. Building Permits Required 

No sign, retaining wall, paved or prepared surfaces, building or other structure shall be erected, moved, 
added to, or structurally altered without a permit therefore, issued by the administraƟve official. No building 
permit shall be issued by the administraƟve official except in conformity with the provisions of these 
regulaƟons, unless he/ she receives a wriƩen order from the Board of Adjustment in the form of an 
administraƟve review, special excepƟon, or variance as provided by these regulaƟons. 

c. ApplicaƟon for Building Permit 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

164 | P a g e  
 

All applicaƟons for building permits shall include plans if applicable in duplicate drawn to scale, showing the 
actual dimensions and shape of the lot to be built upon; the exact sizes and locaƟons on the lot of buildings 
already exisƟng, if any; and the locaƟon and dimensions of the proposed building or alteraƟon. 

The applicaƟon shall include such other informaƟon as lawfully may be required by the administraƟve 
official, including exisƟng or proposed building or alteraƟons; exisƟng or proposed uses of the building and 
land; the number of families, housekeeping units, or rental units the building is designed to accommodate; 
condiƟons exisƟng on the lot; and such other maƩers as may be necessary to determine conformance with, 
and provide for the enforcement of these regulaƟons. One copy of the plans shall be returned to the 
applicant by the administraƟve official, aŌer he/ she shall have marked such copy either as approved or 
disapproved and aƩested to same by his signature on such copy. One copy of the plans, similarly marked, 
shall be retained by the administraƟve official. 

d. CerƟficates of Zoning Compliance for New, Altered or Nonconforming Uses 

It shall be unlawful to use or occupy or permit the use or occupancy of any building or premises, or both, or 
part thereof hereaŌer created, erected, changed, converted, or wholly or partly altered or enlarged in its 
use or structure unƟl a cerƟficate of zoning compliance shall have been issued therefore by the 
administraƟve official staƟng that the proposed use of the building or land conforms to the requirements of 
these regulaƟons. 

e. ExpiraƟon of Building Permit 

1. If the work described in any building permit has not begun within 90 days from the date of issuance 
thereof, said permit shall expire; it shall be canceled by the administraƟve official; and wriƩen noƟce 
thereof shall be given to the persons affected. 

2. The project contemplated by such building permit must be substanƟally completed, as determined in 
the sole discreƟon of the Zoning Administrator within twelve (12) months of date of issuance. Failure 
to meet substanƟal compleƟon by such date shall result in the revocaƟon of the building permit unless 
an extension of the substanƟal compleƟon date is granted by the Glenwood City Council for good cause 
shown. 

f. ConstrucƟon and Use to be as Provided in ApplicaƟons, Plans, Permits, and CerƟficates of Zoning 
Compliance 

Building permits or cerƟficates of zoning compliance issued on the basis of plans and applicaƟons approved 
by the administraƟve official authorize only the use, arrangement, and construcƟon set forth in such 
approved plans and applicaƟons, and no other use, arrangement or construcƟon. Use, arrangement, or 
construcƟon at variance with that authorized shall be deemed violaƟon of these regulaƟons, and punishable 
as provided by SecƟon hereof. 

177.06  Schedule of Fees, Charges and Expenses 

a. The City Council shall establish a schedule of fees, charges, and expenses and a collecƟon procedure for 
building permits, cerƟficates of zoning compliance, appeals, and other maƩers pertaining to these 
regulaƟons. 

b. The schedule of fees shall be posted in the office of the administraƟve official, and may be altered or 
amended only by the City Council. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

165 | P a g e  
 

c. UnƟl all applicable fees, charges, and expenses have been paid in full, no acƟon shall be taken on any 
applicaƟon or appeal. 

177.08 Board of Adjustment 

a. Establishment 

1. A Board of Adjustment is hereby established to provide relief in situaƟons of hardship or to hear appeals 
as provided by this SecƟon. The Board shall consist of seven (7) regular members. 

2. Five members shall be appointed by the Mayor with the approval of the City Council. Two members 
shall be appointed by the Mills County Board of Supervisors and shall be residents of the area outside 
the city limits over which the zoning jurisdicƟon of the City of Glenwood is extended beyond its 
corporate limits under 5414.23 of the Iowa Code, as from Ɵme to Ɵme amended. A majority of the 
members of the board of adjustment shall be persons represenƟng the public at large and shall not be 
involved in the business of purchasing or selling real estate. Members shall be removable for cause by 
the appoinƟng authority upon wriƩen charges and aŌer public hearing. Vacancies shall be filled for the 
unexpired term of any member whose term becomes vacant. All members should be appointed for five-
year overlapping terms and are removable for cause by the City Council aŌer public hearing. Vacancies 
shall be filled for the unexpired term of any member whose term becomes vacant. 

3. The Board of Adjustment shall adopt rules and regulaƟons in accordance with these regulaƟons and the 
laws of the State of Iowa pursuant to SecƟons 414.7 through 414.14 of the Code of Iowa. MeeƟngs shall 
be held at the call of the Chairman and at such other Ɵmes as the Board may determine. Such chairman, 
or, in his absence, the acƟng chairman, may administer oaths and compel the aƩendance of witnesses. 
All meeƟngs and records shall be open to the public. The Board shall keep minutes of its proceedings, 
showing the vote of each member upon each quesƟon, or, if absent or failing to vote, indicaƟng such 
fact. The Board shall keep a record of its examinaƟons and other official acƟons, all of which shall be 
immediately filed in the office of the Board and shall be a public record. A majority of the Board shall 
consƟtute a quorum for the transacƟon of business. 

b. Procedure for Appeals 

1. Appeals shall be made to the Board of Adjustment through the office of the Zoning Administrator in 
wriƩen form as determined by the Zoning Administrator. The Board shall fix a reasonable Ɵme for the 
hearing of the appeal and shall decide the appeal within 30 days of the date of the public hearing. An 
appeal stays all proceedings in furtherance of the acƟon, unless the Zoning Administrator cerƟfies to 
the Board that by reason of the facts stated in the cerƟficate, a stay would, in his/her opinion, cause 
imminent peril to life or property. 

2. The Board shall provide a minimum of ten days noƟce of a public hearing on any quesƟon before it. 
NoƟce of the hearing shall be posted in a conspicuous place on or near the property on which the 
applicaƟon has been made; by publicaƟon in a newspaper of general circulaƟon in the City of Glenwood; 
and by wriƩen noƟce to the appealing party. 

3. Upon the public hearing, any party may appear in person or by agent or aƩorney. A concurring vote of 
four out of seven members of such Board as so composed shall be necessary to reverse any order, 
requirement, decision or determinaƟon of any administraƟve official, or to decide in favor of the 
appellant on any maƩer upon which it is required to pass under any zoning ordinance, or to effect any 
variaƟon in such regulaƟons. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

166 | P a g e  
 

4. No order or finding of the Board shall become effecƟve unƟl the eighth day following the posƟng of a 
copy of such ruling or finding, duly aƩested by the secretary of the Board upon a readily visible public 
bulleƟn board in the City Hall and transmiƩal of duplicate copies to the Clerk and to the Zoning 
Administrator. 

177.09 Powers and DuƟes of the Board of Adjustment 

The Board of Adjustment shall have only the following powers and duƟes: 

a. AdministraƟve Review: To hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there is error in any order, 
requirement, decisions or determinaƟon made by the Zoning Administrator, or his/her designee in the 
enforcement of the Zoning Ordinance. 

b. InterpretaƟon of Zoning Map: To hear and decide, in accordance with the provisions of any zoning 
regulaƟon, requests for interpretaƟon of any map. 

c. Variances to Relieve Hardships RelaƟng to Property: To authorize, upon appeal, variances from the strict 
applicaƟon of these regulaƟons where by reason of excepƟonal narrowness, shallowness, or shape of a 
specific piece of property at the Ɵme of enactment of the zoning regulaƟons; or by reason of excepƟonal 
topographic condiƟons or other extraordinary and excepƟonal situaƟon or condiƟon of such piece of 
property, such strict applicaƟon would result in peculiar and excepƟonal pracƟcal difficulƟes to or 
excepƟonal and undue hardships upon the owner of such property, 

1. Requirements for Grant of a Variance. No such variance shall be authorized by the Board unless it finds 
that: 

(a) The appeal falls within the jurisdicƟon of the Board. 

(b) All parƟes directly in interest have been noƟfied of the proceedings. 

(c) The grant of the variance would not have the effect of changing the zoning of the property. 

(d) Strict applicaƟon of the zoning regulaƟons will produce undue hardship and prevent the reasonable 
use of the property. 

(e) The alleged hardship producing the variance request was not the result of a willful act of the 
applicant or other person maintaining an interest in the property or immediate predecessors in 
interest. 

(f) Such hardship is not shared generally by other properƟes in the same zoning district and in the 
same vicinity. 

(g) The authorizaƟon of such variance will not be of substanƟal detriment to adjacent property and 
the character of the district will not be changed by the granƟng of the variance. 

(h) The granƟng of such variance is based upon reason of demonstrable hardship as disƟnguished from 
variaƟons for purposes of convenience, profit, or caprice. 

(i) The condiƟon or situaƟon of the property concerned is not of so general or recurring a nature as 
to make reasonably pracƟcable a general regulaƟon to be adopted as an amendment to these 
Zoning RegulaƟons. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

167 | P a g e  
 

(j) The granƟng of the variance will not cause substanƟal detriment to the public good and will not 
substanƟally impair the intent and purpose of any Ordinance or ResoluƟon. 

2. Findings by Board. The Board of Adjustment shall make findings that the requirements of SecƟon 177.09 
have been met by the applicant for a variance. 

3. CondiƟons for Grant of Variance.   

(a) In granƟng any variance, the Board of Adjustment may prescribe appropriate condiƟons and 
safeguards in conformity with these regulaƟons. ViolaƟon of such condiƟons and safeguards, when 
made a part of the terms under which the variance is granted, shall be deemed a violaƟon of these 
regulaƟons and punishable under SecƟon 177.14 of these regulaƟons. 

(b) Under no circumstances shall the Board of Adjustment grant a variance to allow a use not 
permissible under the terms of these regulaƟons in the district involved, or any use expressly or by 
implicaƟon prohibited by the terms of these regulaƟons in said district. 

(c) No nonconforming use of neighboring lands, structures, or buildings in the same district and no 
permiƩed or nonconforming use of lands, structures, or buildings in other districts shall be 
considered grounds for the issuance of a variance. 

d. Board has Powers of Zoning Administrator on Appeals: Reversing Decisions of Zoning Administrator 

In exercising the above menƟoned powers, the Board of Adjustment may, so- long as such acƟon is in 
conformity with the terms of these regulaƟons, reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may modify the order, 
requirement, decisions, or determinaƟon as ought to be made, and to that end shall have the powers of the 
Zoning Administrator from whom the appeal is taken. 

The concurring vote of four members of the Board shall be necessary to reverse any order, requirements, 
decision, or determinaƟon of the administraƟve official, or to decide in favor of the applicant on any maƩer 
upon which it is required to pass under these regulaƟons, or to effect any variaƟon in the applicaƟon of 
these regulaƟons. 

177.10 Appeals from the Board of Adjustment. 

Any person or persons, or any board, taxpayer, officer, department, board or bureau of the city aggrieved 
by any decision of the Board of Adjustment may seek review of such decision by the District Court for the 
County in the manner provided by the laws of the State of Iowa. 

177.11 DuƟes of Zoning Administrator, Board of Adjustment, City Council, and Courts on MaƩers of Appeal, 

a. It is the intent of these regulaƟons that all quesƟons of interpretaƟon and enforcement shall be first 
presented to the Zoning Administrator, and that such quesƟons shall be presented to the Board of 
Adjustment only on appeal fl'01ü the decision of the Zoning Administrator, and that recourse from the 
decisions of Board of Adjustment shall be to the courts as provided by law. 

b. Under these regulaƟons the City Council shall have only the duƟes (1) of considering and adopƟng or 
rejecƟng proposed amendments, or the repeal of these regulaƟons as provided by law, (2) of establishing a 
schedule of fees and charges as stated in SecƟon 177 of these regulaƟons, and (3) of direcƟng a city officer 
to appeal a decision of the Board of Adjustment. 

177.12 Severability Clause. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

168 | P a g e  
 

Should any secƟon or provision of this resoluƟon be declared by the courts to be unconsƟtuƟonal or invalid, 
such decision shall not affect the validity of the resoluƟon as a whole, or any part thereof other than the 
part so declared to be unconsƟtuƟonal or invalid. 

177.13 Complaints Regarding ViolaƟons. 

Whenever a violaƟon of this ordinance occurs, or is allowed to have occurred, any person may file a wriƩen 
complaint. Such complaints staƟng fully the causes and basis thereof shall be filed with the Zoning 
Administrator. He/she shall record properly such complaint immediately, invesƟgate, and take acƟon 
thereon as provided by this resoluƟon. 

177.14 PenalƟes for ViolaƟon. 

a. Any person, firm, or corporaƟon violaƟng any provision of the Zoning RegulaƟons of the City of Glenwood, 
Iowa, is hereby declared to be a common nuisance and subject to penalƟes and abatement measures 
authorized under present and future laws. 

b. The owner or tenant of any building, structure, premises, or part thereof, any architect, builder, contractor, 
agent, or other person who commits, parƟcipates in, assists in, or maintains such violaƟon may each be 
found guilty of a separate offense and suffer the penalƟes herein provided. 

c. Nothing herein contained shall prevent the City from taking such other lawful acƟon as is necessary to 
prevent or remedy any violaƟon. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

169 | P a g e  
 

SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS 

SECTION 178 Subdivisions: Basic CondiƟons 

178.01 Purpose 

178.02 JurisdicƟon and Applicability 

178.03 InterpretaƟon, Conflict, and Severability 

178.04 Performance of Work by the City 

SECTION 179 Subdivision Approvals and Procedures 

179.01 Purpose  

179.02 AdministraƟve Subdivisions 

a. Scope 
b. ApplicaƟon and Approval Procedure 

179.03 Minor Subdivisions 

a. Scope 
b. ApplicaƟon and Approval Procedure 

179.04 Major Subdivisions 

a. Applicability 
b. Stages in the Approval Process 
c. Pre-applicaƟon Procedures 
d. Preliminary Plat ApplicaƟon 
e. Final Plat ApplicaƟon Process 
f. Filing the Final Plat 

Table 179-1: ApplicaƟon Requirements 

SECTION 180 Subdivision Design Criteria and General Standards 

180.01 Purpose 

180.02 Site Design and Constraints 

a. ConsideraƟon of Plans 
b. Grading Permit Required 
c. PreservaƟon of Natural Features and Drainage PaƩerns 
d. General Guidelines for Subdivision Layout 
e. Site Design ObjecƟves and Approval 

180.03 Subdivision and Development Design Categories and Rules 

a. Purpose 
b. Subdivision and Development Design Categories 

Table 180-2: Development Types and Policy Requirements 

SECTION 181 CirculaƟon System Design 

181.01 Purpose 

181.02 General Standards 

a. Roadway System Design 
b. Pedestrian and Bicycle systems  

181.03 Street Hierarchy and Design 

a. CharacterisƟcs of the Hierarchy 
b. Cartway Width 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

170 | P a g e  
 

c. Curbs, GuƩers, and Shoulders 
d. Sidewalks 
e. Bikeways and RecreaƟonal Trails 
f. Right-of-Way 
g. Street Design Standards 

181.04 LighƟng and Wiring 

a. Underground Wiring 

181.05 TradiƟonal Neighborhood Developments (TNDs) 

a. Purpose 
b. Size 
c. ApplicaƟon and Approval 
d. PermiƩed Land Uses 
e. Density 
f. Lot Dimensions and Setbacks 
g. Street System Design 

Table 181-1: Street Hierarchy   

Table 181-2: Cartway Width, Grade, and IntersecƟon Standards 

Table 181-3: Curb, Sidewalk, and Right-Of-Way Requirements 

Table 181-4: Street Design Requirements 

SECTION 182 Public Improvements and Infrastructure 

182.01 Purpose 

182.02 Water 

182.03 Sanitary Sewers 

a. ConnecƟon 
b. Sanitary Sewer System Design Standards 
c. CerƟficaƟons 
d. Private Wastewater Disposal Systems 

182.04 Storm Water Management 

a. Design 

b. Erosion Control 

182.05 Parks and Public FaciliƟes 

a. Purpose 
b. Park ReservaƟons: General Requirements 
c. Park DonaƟon SubsƟtutes 
d. Criteria for Requiring a ContribuƟon of Cash in Lieu of Park and RecreaƟon Land 

182.06 ReservaƟon of AddiƟonal Lands 

182.07 Topography and Grading 

182.08 Timing and Conveyance 

182.09 Timing of Payment 

a. Fees Paid Prior to Finai Plat 
b. Procedures for Fee CollecƟon and AdministraƟon 

182.10 Developer Agreements 

a. Developer Agreements May Establish Time and Manner of Compliance 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

171 | P a g e  
 

b. Prior Development Agreements 

182.11 Easements 

a. UƟlity Easements 
b. Drainage Easements 
c. Setback Requirements for Structures Adjacent to Creeks and Drainageways 
d. Other Easements 

182.12 DedicaƟons 

SECTION 183 Improvement Financing and Guarantees 

183.01 Purpose 

183.02 ApplicaƟon 

183.03 Responsibility of Subdivider 

183.04 Subdivision Agreement 

a. CondiƟon for Approval of Plat 
b. Components of the Agreement 
c. Rules for DistribuƟng Improvement Costs 

183.05 Subdivisions ConƟguous with City 

183.06 Performance Guarantees 

183.07 NoƟficaƟon of CompleƟon and Acceptance by City 

a. NoƟficaƟon 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

172 | P a g e  
 

SecƟon 178 

Subdivisions: Basic CondiƟons 

178.01 Purpose 

The purposes of this secƟon are to: 

a. Serve the public health, safety, and general welfare of the city and residents of Glenwood and its surrounding 
jurisdicƟon. 

b. Provide for the orderly development and growth of the city by prescribing rules and standards insuring the 
funcƟonal arrangement of streets, public improvements, open spaces, community faciliƟes, and uƟliƟes. 

c. Promote the creaƟon of well-planned and aƩracƟve residenƟal, commercial, and industrial developments 
within the city and its jurisdicƟon. 

d. Avoid excessive costs to the taxpayers of Glenwood or the residents of the jurisdicƟon of the city for the 
provision of public services and uƟliƟes, while maintaining high standards for these services. 

e. Protect the unique environment of the City of Glenwood by avoiding environmental damage whenever 
feasible and appropriate; and by encouraging flexibility in the design of subdivisions.   

f. Provide the City of Glenwood with the ability to grow incrementally through the eventual annexaƟon of new 
developments. 

178.02 JurisdicƟon and Applicability 

a. The provisions of this secƟon shall be applicable to all property within the corporate limits of the City of 
Glenwood and extraterritorial jurisdicƟon, as defined in the City of Glenwood Code of Ordinances. 

b. No owner of real property within the City of Glenwood and its jurisdicƟon may subdivide such property 
without gaining approval pursuant to this ordinance. In addiƟon, no individual may sell or offer to sell any 
lots or parts of real property that are not subdivided as required by state law or this secƟon. 

c. The provisions of this secƟon apply to all zoning districts. However, specific standards and requirements may 
be modified for Planned Development Overlay Districts. 

178.03 InterpretaƟon, Conflict, and Severability 

a. These regulaƟons shall be held to provide the minimum requirements necessary for the promoƟon of the 
public health, safety, and welfare. If any provision conflicts with any other provision of the Land 
Development Ordinance, any other Ordinance of the City of Glenwood, or any applicable State or Federal 
law, the more restricƟve provision shall apply. 

b. Nothing in these provisions shall relieve any property owner or user from saƟsfying any condiƟon or 
requirement associated with a previous approval, special permit, variance, development permit, or other 
permit issued under any local, State, or Federal ordinance or statute. 

178.04 Performance of Work by the City 

No officer or employee of the City shall perform or cause to be performed any work upon any street or in 
any addiƟon or subdivision of the city unless all requirements of these regulaƟons have been complied with 
by the owner of the subdivision. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

173 | P a g e  
 

SECTION 179 

Subdivision Approvals And Procedures 

179.01 Purpose 

The purpose of this ArƟcle is to establish procedures for subdivision applicaƟons and for review and acƟon 
on applicaƟons by the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council. The procedures are designed 
to assure adequate review and consideraƟon of subdivision applicaƟons, while providing for an orderly and 
expediƟous approval process. The ArƟcle provides procedures for the approval of three types of 
subdivisions: AdministraƟve Subdivisions, Minor Subdivisions, and Major Subdivisions. 

179.02 AdministraƟve Subdivisions 

a. Scope 

The AdministraƟve Subdivision procedure may be used to adjust an interior property line or combine two 
or more lots without replaƫng providing the following condiƟons are met: 

4. In the case of an AdministraƟve Property Line Adjustment: 

(a) The lots involved must be designated within the same zoning district and the proposed adjustment 
will not create or result in a violaƟon of the zoning ordinance. 

(b) The lots involved must be exisƟng plaƩed lots. 

(c) The adjustment alters property lines of no more than four lots without creaƟng addiƟonal lots. 

5. In the case of an AdministraƟve Plaƫng or Lot ConsolidaƟon: 

(a) The lots involved must be designated within the same zoning district and the proposed plaƫng or 
lot consolidaƟon will not create or result in a violaƟon of the zoning ordinance. 

(b) The lots involved must be exisƟng plaƩed lots. 

(c) The lots must be under unified ownership. 

(d) The proposed plaƫng creates no more than four lots, or the proposed consolidaƟon consolidates 
no more than four lots into a lesser number of lots. 

6. A lot is limited to only one instance an administraƟve adjustment, plaƫng and/or consolidaƟon. 

7. The subdivision is served by exisƟng uƟliƟes and does not require the extension of streets, uƟliƟes, 
or public improvements. 

8. Each lot resulƟng from the subdivision procedure will conform fully to all requirements of the zoning 
district that pertain to the lots; and each lot is developable according to the site development 
regulaƟons of the zoning ordinance. 

b. ApplicaƟon and Approval Procedure 

An applicaƟon for an AdministraƟve Subdivision may be approved under the following procedure: 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

174 | P a g e  
 

1. The applicant submits an applicaƟon on a form established by the Planning Commission and including 
the supporƟng documents required for AdministraƟve Subdivisions in Table 179-1. These documents 
shall include a plat of all lots and parcels that are affected by the acƟon, prepared by a Licensed 
Surveyor. 

2. Following submission, the Zoning Administrator and Public Works Director shall review each applicaƟon 
according to the following criteria: 

(a) Compliance with the condiƟons for contained in SecƟon 179.02(a) above. 

(b) Consistency with the Comprehensive Development Plan of the City of Glenwood. 

(c) PotenƟal adverse environmental effects or effects on neighboring properƟes. 

3. Following such review, the Zoning Administrator may approve the AdministraƟve Subdivision. Such 
approval shall be denoted by signed cerƟficate of approval which must be filed along with the plat with 
the Mills County Recorder. 

4. The Zoning Administrator retains the right to disapprove the AdministraƟve Subdivision applicaƟon. In 
the event of such acƟon, the applicaƟon may proceed through the Minor or Major Subdivision process. 
If the subdivision complies with the condiƟons of a Minor Subdivision applicaƟon, it may be directed to 
that approval process. Otherwise, the proposed subdivision shall be deemed a Major Subdivision and 
proceed through the appropriate review and acƟon process. 

5. Following approval of an AdministraƟve Subdivision, the subdivider must file the plat and cerƟficate of 
approval with the Mills County Recorder. If the approved plat is not filed within 90 days of approval by 
the Zoning Administrator, such approval shall be null and void. 

6.  The Zoning Administrator shall keep a complete and accurate record of all administraƟve subdivision 
approvals. 

179.03 Minor Subdivisions 

a. Scope 

The Minor Subdivision procedure may be used when a proposed subdivision meets all of the following 
condiƟons: 

1. The subdivision adjusts the lot lines of no more than four lots without creaƟng addiƟonal lots; or creates 
no more than four lots from any single parcel, tract, or lot. 

2. The subdivision is served by exisƟng uƟliƟes and does not require the extension of streets, uƟliƟes, or 
public improvements. 

3. Each lot resulƟng from the subdivision procedure will conform fully to all requirements of the zoning 
district that pertain to the lots; and each lot is developable according to the site development 
regulaƟons of the zoning ordinance. 

4. No part of the parcel has been the subject of a previous Minor Subdivision or Minor Subdivision 
approval. 

b. ApplicaƟon and Approval Procedure 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

175 | P a g e  
 

An applicaƟon for a Minor Subdivision may be approved under the following procedure: 

1. The applicant submits an applicaƟon on a form established by the Zoning Administrator and including 
the supporƟng documents required for AdministraƟve Subdivisions in Table 179-1. These documents 
shall include a plat of all lots and parcels that are affected by the acƟon, prepared by a Licensed 
Surveyor. 

2. Following submission, the Zoning Administrator and City Engineer shall review each applicaƟon 
according to the following criteria: 

(a) Compliance with the condiƟons for contained in SecƟon 179.03(a) above. 

(b) Consistency with the Comprehensive Development Plan of the City of Glenwood. 

(c) PotenƟal adverse environmental effects or effects on neighboring properƟes. 

(d) Effects of the subdivision on public services. In order to determine this effect, the Zoning 
Administrator may submit the applicaƟon to relevant school districts, uƟliƟes, and public safety 
agencies as required. 

3. Following such review, the Zoning Administrator shall forward the applicaƟon along with his/her 
recommendaƟon, to the Planning Commission. 

4. The Planning Commission, following proper noƟce, shall hold a public hearing on each Minor 
Subdivision and, following such public hearing, shall make a recommendaƟon to the City Council. If the 
subdivision is approved by the City Council, the approval shall be documented by a cerƟficate of 
approval. This cerƟficate shall be filed along with the approved plat with the Mills County Recorder. A 
record of all subdivisions and cerƟficates of approval shall also be maintained by the City Clerk, 

5. The Planning Commission retains the right to disapprove or not act on the. Minor Subdivision 
applicaƟon. In the event of such acƟon, the applicaƟon may proceed through the Major Subdivision 
process. 

6. Following approval of a Minor Subdivision, the subdivider must file the plat and cerƟficate of approval 
with the Mills County Recorder. If the approved plat is not filed within 180 days of approval by the City 
Council, such approval shall be null and void. 

7. The Zoning Administrator shall keep a complete and accurate record of all Minor Subdivision approvals. 

179.03 Major Subdivisions 

a. Applicability 

The Major Subdivision procedures apply to all subdivisions which are not approved or eligible for approval 
under the AdministraƟve or Minor Subdivision procedures. In general, these include subdivisions that: 1) 
are not approved under the AdministraƟve or Minor Subdivision procedure; 2) create more than four lots; 
3) require development or extension of public improvements. 

b. Stages the Approval Process 

The approval process for Major Subdivisions consists of three stages: the pre-applicaƟon stage, the 
preliminary plat approval stage, and the final plat approval stage. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

176 | P a g e  
 

c. Pre-applicaƟon Procedures 

1. Before filing an applicaƟon for preliminary plat with the Zoning Administrator or his /her designee, 
regarding general requirements and issues  

2. At the pre-applicaƟon conference, the applicant shall submit a concept plan. The concept plan shall 
include: 

(a) A locaƟon map showing the relaƟonship of the proposed subdivision to exisƟng and proposed 
streets and public faciliƟes. 

(b) A schemaƟc plan illustraƟng the proposed layout of streets, lots, and other features and their 
relaƟonship to exisƟng and proposed site topography. 

3. Within fiŌeen working days, the Zoning Administrator shall inform the applicant about the consistency 
of the concept plan with the objecƟves and policies of the City’s Comprehensive Plan and Land 
Development Ordinance. 

4. The pre-applicaƟon conference does not require a formal applicaƟon or payment of a fee. 

5. Following the pre-applicaƟon meeƟng, the Zoning Administrator shall refer the schemaƟc plan to the 
Planning Commission for review. The Commission must approve the subdivision's general land use and 
schemaƟc plan prior to preparaƟon of the preliminary 

d. Preliminary Plat ApplicaƟon 

1. ApplicaƟon Requirements 

AŌer the pre-applicaƟon conference, the applicant shall prepare and submit an applicaƟon for preliminary 
plat approval. The applicant shall prepare and file 8 copies of the preliminary plat. The applicaƟon for 
preliminary plat approval shall be submiƩed to the City Clerk at 'least 21 calendar days before the Planning 
Commission meeƟng at which the applicaƟon will be considered. The applicaƟon shall consist of a form 
established by the Zoning Administrator; the supporƟng documents required for Major Subdivisions in Table 
1791; and payment of a fee, the amount of which shall be determined by the City Council. 

2. DraŌ Subdivision Agreement 

The preliminary plat applicaƟon shall include a draŌ of a subdivision agreement, following a format 
established by the Planning Commission. The subdivision agreement establishes the mutual responsibiliƟes 
of city and subdivider, including financing of public improvements; the nature of performance bonds and 
guarantees that the developer will offer; and the financing arrangements proposed for the subdivision. 

3. Preliminary Plat Approval Procedure 

(a) AŌer submission of a complete applicaƟon for a preliminary plat, the Zoning Administrator and 
his/her staff shall review the applicaƟon. As part of the review, the Zoning Administrator will 
circulate the applicaƟon to the City Engineer, local uƟliƟes, the school district in which the 
subdivision is located, public safety agencies, and any other applicable provider of public services 
deemed necessary. Each reviewing agency shall submit wriƩen comments to the Zoning 
Administrator within a period which he/ she establishes. 

(b) Following the comment period, the Zoning Administrator shall submit a wriƩen recommendaƟon 
for acƟon to the Planning Commission. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

177 | P a g e  
 

(c) The Planning Commission, following proper noƟce, shall hold a public hearing on each Major 
Subdivision and, following such public hearing, shall take acƟon on the applicaƟon. The Planning 
Commission may recommend approval, condiƟonal approval, or denial of the preliminary plat to 
the City Council. In addiƟon, the Commission may delay acƟon on the applicaƟon in order to resolve 
outstanding issues. 

(d) Following acƟon by the Planning and Zoning Commission, the Chairman of the Commission shall 
transmit a wriƩen recommendaƟon summarizing the Commission's acƟon to the City Council 

(e) The City Council, following proper noƟce, shall hold a public hearing on each Major Subdivision 
and, following such public hearing, shall take acƟon on the applicaƟon. 

(f) Approval of a preliminary plat by the City Council shall not consƟtute approval of a final plat. The 
approval shall be considered an expression of condiƟonal approval to guide the preparaƟon of a 
final plat, to be considered subsequently by approving authoriƟes. The preliminary approval shall 
confer upon the applicant the following rights: 

1) The general terms and condiƟons under which the plat was approved will not change. 

2) The applicant may submit for approval a final plat for the whole or a part of the preliminary 
plat on or before the expiraƟon date of the preliminary approval. 

3) The preliminary plat approval shall stay in force for a period of one year from the date of 
approval by the City Council. The City Council may, at its discreƟon, establish a longer effecƟve 
date for the preliminary plat approval. The City Council also may grant extensions to the 
effecƟve period of a preliminary plat. 

4) Phased Subdivisions: The final plat may be submiƩed in phases, provided that no phase 
represents the lesser of 10 lots or 20% of the total number of lots in the enƟre approved 
preliminary plat. The iniƟal phase of the final plat must be submiƩed according to the effecƟve 
dates established in SecƟon (3) above. In the event of a phased subdivision, the iniƟal 
preliminary plat approval remains effecƟve for a period not to exceed five years, unless 
otherwise extended by the City Council. 

e.  Final Plat ApplicaƟon Process 

1. ApplicaƟon Requirements 

The applicant shall prepare and submit an applicaƟon for final plat approval within   one year of the 
preliminary plat approval, unless an extension has been granted by the City Council. The applicaƟon for final 
plat approval shall be submiƩed to the City Clerk at least 21 calendar days before the Planning Commission 
meeƟng at which the applicaƟon will be considered. The applicaƟon shall consist of a form established by 
the Zoning Administrator; the supporƟng documents required for Final Plat Approval of Major Subdivisions 
in Table 179-1; and payment of a fee, the amount of which shall be determined by the City Council. 

2. Final Subdivision Agreement 

The final plat applicaƟon shall include the final subdivision agreement to be executed between the City and 
the applicant. The terms of this agreement shall be acted upon along with acƟon on the Final Plat. 

3. Performance Bond 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

178 | P a g e  
 

The subdivision agreement shall specify the amount of the performance bond for public improvements to 
be filed prior to receiving final plat approval or, alternately, shall contain a statement that required 
improvements have been saƟsfactorily completed. The performance bond, if required, must be presented 
in a form saƟsfactory to the City AƩorney prior to final approval of the subdivision. 

4. Final Plat Approval 

(a) The Zoning Administrator and Planning Commission shall review the final plat for consistency with 
the approved preliminary plat and for compliance with the Land Development Ordinance and other 
applicable local, state, or federal statutes and regulaƟons. If the final plat meets all condiƟons of 
the ordinance and is substanƟally consistent with the terms of the preliminary plat approval, the 
Commission shall have no recourse but to approve the final plat. 

(b) If the Planning Commission finds in its review that the submiƩed final plat is inconsistent with the 
preliminary plat, does not comply with the condiƟons of relevant ordinances and statutes, or 
requires a waiver of any secƟon of the LDO, it shall hold a public hearing on the final plat. Following 
such public hearing, the Commission shall transmit its recommendaƟon on the final plat to the City 
Council. 

(c) The City Council, following proper noƟce, shall hold a public hearing on each final plat and 
subdivision agreement and, following such public hearing shall take final acƟon on the applicaƟon. 
The City Council is further empowered to grant waivers of a secƟon of the Subdivision RegulaƟons 
aŌer a waiver request has received a recommendaƟon from the Planning Commission. 

f.  Filing the Final Plat 

1. Following City Council approval of a final plat, the Chairman of the Planning Commission and the Mayor 
of the City of Glenwood shall sign a cerƟficate of approval, which shall be a part of the reproducible 
documents of the subdivision plat required with submission of the final plat. 

2. The passage of a resoluƟon by the City Council accepƟng the plat shall consƟtute final approval of the 
plaƫng of the area shown on the final plat. The applicant shall record the plat in the office of the 
Recorder of Mills County and shall file saƟsfactory evidence of such recording in the office of the City 
Clerk before the City shall recognize the plat as being in force. 

3. The subdivider must file the final plat along with all applicable covenants and other documentaƟon 
within 180 days of the execuƟon of the preliminary plat by the Chairman of the Planning Commission 
and the Mayor. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

179 | P a g e  
 

Table 179-1 ApplicaƟon Requirements 

 AdministraƟve 
Subdivision 

Minor 
Subdivision 

Major Subdivision 

   Preliminary Final 
PLAT INFORMATION     

Name, address of owner and applicant. X X X X 

Name, signature, license number, seal 
and address of engineer, land surveyor, 
architect, planner, and/or landscape 
architect, as applicable, involved in 
preparaƟon of plat. 

X X X X 

Title block, denoƟng type of applicaƟon, 
tax map sheet, legal descripƟon, and 
general locaƟon. 

X X X X 

Key map, showing locaƟon with 
reference to surrounding property, 
streets, current street names, city limits, 
and other features within 1/4 mile of 
the subdivision boundary. 

X X X X 

Present and proposed zoning   X X 

North arrow, date, and graphic scale X X X X 

Proof that taxes are current. X X X  

Signature blocks for Planning and 

Zoning Commission Chairman, 
AdministraƟve Official, and Mayor. 

X X X X 

Appropriate cerƟficaƟon blocks. X X X X 

MonumentaƟon. X X  X 

Metes and bounds descripƟon, 
including dimensions, bearings, curve 
data, tangent length, radii, arcs, chords, 
and central angles for all centerlines 
and ROW's, and centerline curves on 
streets. 

   X 

Acreage of tract. X X X X 

Date of original and all revisions. X X X X 

Dimensioning of setbacks. X X X X 

LocaƟon, dimensions, and names of 
exisƟng and proposed streets. 

X X X X 

All proposed lot lines, lot dimensions, 
and lot areas in square feet. 

X X X X 

 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

180 | P a g e  
 

Table 179-1 ApplicaƟon Requirements 

 AdministraƟve 
Subdivision 

Minor 
Subdivision 

Major Subdivision 

   Preliminary Final 
PLAT INFORMATION (cont.)     

Copy of any exisƟng or proposed deed 
restricƟon or covenants. 

 X Concept X 

ExisƟng and proposed easements or 
land reserved for or dedicated to public 
use. 

X X X X 

Phasing Plan   X X 

Payment of applicaƟon fees X X X X 

ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION     

Property owners and lines within 200 
feet. 

 X X  

All exisƟng water courses, floodplains, 
wetlands, habitat areas or other 
environmentally sensiƟve features 
within 200 feet. 

X X X X 

survey of trees and wooded areas, 
(noƟng size and locaƟon of trees) and 
mature or environmentally sensiƟve 
vegetaƟon. 

 X X  

ExisƟng ROW's and easements within 
200 feet. 

X X X X 

Topography at five-foot contours 
including areas up to 200 feet of the 
plat boundaries. 

 X X  

ExisƟng site drainage system. X X X X 

Comprehensive drainage study and oil 
percolaƟon tests. 

  X X 

 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

181 | P a g e  
 

Table 179-1 ApplicaƟon Requirements 

 AdministraƟve 
Subdivision 

Minor 
Subdivision 

Major Subdivision 

   Preliminary Final 
IMPROVEMENTS AND CONSTRUCTION 
INFORMATION 

    

Proposed uƟlity infrastructure plans 
including water, sanitary sewer, and 
storm water management. 

  General Detailed 

Sediment/Soil Erosion Control Plan.   X X 

ExisƟng and proposed contours.    X 

ConstrucƟon details as required.    X 

Road and paving cross-secƟons.   X X 

Proposed street names.   X X 

New block and lot numbers. X X X X 

LighƟng plan and details.   Concept X 

Pedestrian circulaƟon paƩerns and 
sidewalk or trail locaƟons. 

  X X 

CerƟficaƟons and seals from licensed 
Professional Engineer, as required by 
Ordinance. 

 X  X 

Improvement financing plan, including 
sources of funding (Private, 
assessments, public, and other 
sources). 

  X X 

 

DraŌ subdivision agreement.   X  

Final subdivision agreement.    X 

Required Number of Copies of Plat 
Document 

8 8 8 8 

Required Minimum Scale of Plat 
Documents 

1”=100 feet 1”=100 feet 1”=100 feet 1”=100 Ō 

Required Number of Copies of Plat at 
11”x17” size 

1 1 1 1 

 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

182 | P a g e  
 

SECTION 180 

Subdivision Design Criteria And General Standards 

180.01 Purpose 

The purpose of this secƟon is to provide flexible design alternaƟves in order to assure that subdivisions in 
the Glenwood area create funcƟonal and aƩracƟve environments, minimize adverse effects, become assets 
to the city's urban and natural seƫng, and adapt to their specific situaƟon. The secƟon defines specific types 
of subdivisions that have varying design characterisƟcs, applicable to various seƫngs within the City of 
Glenwood and jurisdicƟon. It outlines specific design criteria that should be incorporated into the concepts 
of various types of subdivisions. 

180.02 Site Design and Constraints 

a. ConsideraƟon of Plans 

The design of developments shall consider all exisƟng local and regional plans for Glenwood and its 
JurisdicƟon. These include the Comprehensive Development Plan for the City of Glenwood. 

b. Grading Permit Required 

1. A Grading Permit is required for erosion and sediment control on all construcƟon sites. For all sites 
greater than 5 acres in size the developer shall apply to the Iowa Department of Natural Resources for 
a Stormwater PolluƟon Control permit and a copy of that applicaƟon must be provided to the Zoning 
Administrator. An approved permit from the IDNR shall be submiƩed to the Zoning Administrator prior 
to any grading or site disturbing acƟvity. For sites less than 5 acres in size, the applicaƟon for a grading 
permit shall include:  

(a) A locaƟon map showing the locaƟon and extent of grading acƟvity. 

(b) A Sediment and Erosion Control Plan. 

2. AŌer submission of a complete applicaƟon for a grading permit for sites less than 5 acres, the Zoning 
Administrator and his/her staff shall review the applicaƟon. As part of the review, the Zoning 
Administrator may circulate the peƟƟon to any agency with statutory authority for the management of 
drainageways and stormwater management. 

3. For sites less than 5 acres, a grading permit shall be issued within twenty working days if the Zoning 
Administrator has determined or received assurances from applicable state agencies that the Sediment 
and Erosion Control Plan is compaƟble with statute, and further that it is compaƟble with the objecƟves 
and policies of the City's Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Ordinance. regulaƟons regarding 
soil and sediment erosion, and environmental water quality. 

c. PreservaƟon of Natural Features and Drainage PaƩerns 

1. To the maximum extent possible, development shall be located to preserve natural features of the site, 
to avoid areas of environmental sensiƟvity, and to minimize negaƟve impact and alteraƟon of natural 
features and drainage paƩerns. 

2. The subdivider shall give maximum consideraƟon to the preservaƟon of the following areas as open 
space, to the extent consistent with reasonable uƟlizaƟon of land: 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

183 | P a g e  
 

(a) Wetlands and other unique environmental areas, as defined in SecƟon 404, Federal Water PolluƟon 
Control Act of 1972 and delineated on wetlands maps prepared by the US Fish and Wildlife Service. 
ConstrucƟon and fill -acƟvity shall be prohibited on wetlands as regulated by state and federal 
agencies. 

(b) Significant stands or mature specimens of trees shall be designated by required tree surveys. 

1) Non-ResidenƟal and AƩached ResidenƟal: No tree taller than 20 feet or larger than 4 inches in 
diameter (measured six inches above the ground) shall be removed except when approved by 
the Zoning Administrator or his/her designee. Trees removed subject to City approval shall be 
replaced as recommended by the City Tree Board. The owner of a site with natural landscaping 
that is unhealthful (e.g. spaced too closely) may be permiƩed to. plant replacement trees in the 
parkway or elsewhere in the City, if approved by the Zoning Administrator. 

2) Single-Family ResidenƟal: Placement of the building must avoid trees taller than 20 feet or larger 
than four inches in diameter, measured six inches above the ground. Any such tree removed or 
damaged should be replaced by a species compaƟble with exisƟng trees, on a one-to-one basis. 
The number of replacement trees will be limited by what can be reasonably accommodated 
within the available lot area. 

(c) Flood plain lands, other than areas that have already experienced substanƟal development. 

(d) Slopes in excess of 15% as measured over a 50-foot interval. Development on slopes over 15% may 
be permiƩed only if an erosion and slope stabilizaƟon plan is submiƩed and approved with the 
development and if appropriate measures are taken in compliance with this approved plan. The 
City may, at its discreƟon, require the review and cerƟficaƟon of such a plan by a licensed 
Professional Engineer. 

(e) Habitats of endangered species. Development shall avoid fill or disturbance of habitat sites as 
idenƟfied on federal or state lists administered by the US Fish and Wildlife Service of the US 
Department of the Interior, and applicable state environmental regulatory agencies. Developers are 
encouraged to preserve habitat areas as a connected open space consistent with the parks and 
greenways system designated in the Glenwood Comprehensive Development Plan. 

d. General Guidelines for Subdivision Layout 

Subdivisions shall be designed to comply with the following overall performance objecƟves: 

1. Avoidance of adverse effects on ground water and aquifer recharge. 

2. ReducƟon and minimizing of cut and fill. 

3. Avoidance or reducƟon of unnecessary impervious surfaces. 

4. PrevenƟon of flooding and encroachment of water onto other properƟes. 

5. Provision of adequate access to lots, including alternaƟve routes to lots and sites within the subdivision 
and minimizing of cul-de-sacs over 500 feet. 

6. MiƟgaƟon of negaƟve environmental effects on surrounding properƟes, including effects of shadow, 
noise, odor, traffic, drainage, and uƟliƟes. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

184 | P a g e  
 

7. Respect for the urban character and tradiƟonal layout of Glenwood, including providing conƟnuity to 
established street and community facility networks; establishing linkages and connecƟons between 
new development and exisƟng parts of the city; and preserving historically and architecturally 
significant sites and buildings, determined as those sites or districts either listed on or determined to 
be eligible for lisƟng on the NaƟonal Register of Historic Places, as determined by the State Historic 
PreservaƟon Officer. 

8. DedicaƟon of arterial, collector, and key local streets on the general alignments specified in the 
Comprehensive Development Plan. 

e. Site Design ObjecƟves and Approval 

The Planning Commission and City Council shall take the above Site Design objecƟves into account during 
their review and approval of subdivision applicaƟons. 

180.03 Subdivision and Development Design Categories and Rules 

a. Purpose 

The purpose of this secƟon is to establish special design criteria for various types of subdivisions and 
developments. These categories reflect various policy contexts in the Glenwood jurisdicƟon. 

b. Subdivision and Development Design Categories 

Subdivision and development categories, policy implicaƟons, contexts, and special applicaƟon and 
regulatory requirements are set forth in Table 180-2. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

185 | P a g e  
 

Table 180-1: Development Types and Policy Requirements 

Subdivision or 
Development Type 
 

Desirable Context Typical 
Zoning 

CharacterisƟcs Submission Requirements 

ConvenƟonal Rural •Areas in the ETJ that 
will develop to low 
densiƟes and unlikely 
to be annexed or 
receive urban 
services. 
•Areas with relaƟvely 
liƩle environmental 
sensiƟvity. 

RR •Rural standards, including service 
by well and sepƟc or other 
individual wastewater system. 
•Gravel street surface, although 
streets may be hard-surfaced. 
•Surface drainage 

Normal submission 
requirements outlined in 
Table 179-1 

ConservaƟon Rural Areas in the ETJ that 
will develop to low 
densiƟes and unlikely 
to be annexed or 
receive urban 
services, but include 
significant 
environmental 
resources and 
constraints. 

RR with RC 
Overlay 

•Rural standards, including service 
by well and sepƟc or other 
individual wastewater system. 
May be designed to accommodate 
community wastewater systems. 
•Gravel street surface, although 
streets may be hard-surfaced. 
•Surface drainage. 
•Significant reservaƟons of open 
space, conserving environmentally 
sensiƟve areas. 

•Normal submission 
requirements outlined in 
Table 179-1 
•Special submission 
requirements and 
demonstraƟon of design 
techniques, set forth in 
SecƟon 170.40. 

ConvenƟonal Urban •Areas that are 
feasibly provided 
with city services. 
These areas are likely 
to be annexed if 
located outside the 
corporate limits. 

R-1 and 
higher 

•Urban standards, including city 
water and sewer. 
•May consider alternaƟve 
stormwater management 
mechanisms, including surface 
drainage and retenƟon/detenƟon. 
•May include nonresidenƟal 
subdivisions. 

Normal submission 
requirements outlined in 
Table 179-1. 

ConservaƟon Urban •Areas that are 
feasibly provided 
with city services. but 
include significant 
environmental 
resources and 
constraints. Examples 
are sites in the Loess 
Hills environments 
north of the city. 

R-1 and 
higher 
with RC 
Overlay 

•Urban standards including city 
water and sewer. 
•May use storm drainage 
alternaƟves, including retenƟon/ 
detenƟon or managed wetlands. 
•Significant reservaƟons of open 
space, conserving environmentally 
sensiƟve areas. 

•Normal submission 
requirements outlined in 
Table 179-1 
•Special submission 
requirements and 
demonstraƟon of design 
techniques, set forth in 
SecƟon 170.40. 

TradiƟonal 
Neighborhood 
Developments 

Areas within the city 
limits or to be 
annexed where 
innovaƟve planning 
following TND 
principles is 
appropriate. 

R-1 and 
higher 
districts 
with PD 
Overlay 

• Urban standards including 
city water and sewer. 

•Narrower streets and 
modified street system design 
from convenƟonal 
development, 

•Small lots, closer spacing of 
houses, reduced setbacks, and 
mixing of uses. 

•Normal submission 
requirements outlined in 
Table 179-1 
•PD applicaƟon incorporaƟng 
TradiƟonal Neighborhood 
Development standards. 

 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

186 | P a g e  
 

Table 180-1 (conƟnued): Development Types and Policy Requirements 

Subdivision or 
Development Type 
 

Desirable Context Typical 
Zoning 

CharacterisƟcs Submission Requirements 

Planned 
Development 
(Preliminary) 

•In-city areas that 
require special 
flexibility, including 
modificaƟons of 
normal use and 
setback standards. 
• Large projects with 
substanƟal urban 
impacts. 
•Projects which may 
develop over a long 
period of Ɵme 
following a master 
plan. 

Any 
district 
with PD 
Overlay 

•Urban standards, including 
city water and sewer. 
•May include mixed uses and 
master planned development 
that modifies normal zoning 
standards. 

Submission requirements for 
PD districts, set forth in 
SecƟon 170.20. 

Planned 
Development (Final) 

•In-city areas that 
require special 
flexibility, including 
modificaƟons of 
normal use and 
setback standards. 
•Large projects with 
substanƟal urban 
impacts. 
•MulƟ-building site 
developments where 
architecture is 
determined, such as 
large apartment 
complexes or 
commercial centers. 

Any 
district 
with PD 
Overlay 

•Urban standards including 
city water and sewer. 

Submission requirements for 
PD districts, set forth in 
SecƟon 170.20. 

 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

187 | P a g e  
 

SECTION 181 

CirculaƟon System Design 

181.01 Purpose 

The purpose of this SecƟon is to assure the development of funcƟonal and safe circulaƟon paƩerns within 
new subdivisions, in order to encourage economical and effecƟve movement of motor vehicles, bicycles, 
and pedestrians; provide access for public safety vehicles; and encourage the development of circulaƟon 
systems that enhance the quality of life within new and exisƟng neighborhoods in the City of Glenwood and 
its planning jurisdicƟon. 

181.02 General Standards 

The design of circulaƟon systems should conform to the following general standards and requirements: 

a. Roadway System Design 

1. The road system shall be designed to permit safe and orderly movement of traffic, to meet but not 
exceed needs of the present and future served populaƟon; to be simple and logical; to respect natural 
features, topography, and landscape, and to present an aƩracƟve streetscape. 

2. The system shall conform with the City's Comprehensive Development Plan. For streets not shown on 
the Comprehensive Development Plan, the arrangement of streets shall provide for the logical 
extension of exisƟng streets. 

3. 'The street network of a subdivision should provide for logical, conƟnuous extensions of streets to 
subsequent later developments. Such extensions shall make provision when necessary with a 
temporary turnaround with a radius of at least 60 feet. Temporary turnaround will require a temporary 
easement if it extends beyond the reserved street right-of-way. 

4. The system shall provide adequate traffic flow through a subdivision and provide at least two routes 
from each lot within the subdivision to the rest of the City, except as explicitly permiƩed by the 
approving authoriƟes. AddiƟonally, the system should be designed to discourage through traffic from 
using local streets. 

5. The system should provide good internal street network connecƟvity. Internal connecƟvity shall be 
measured by a ConnecƟvity Index, calculated as: 

CI = L/N 

where N = the number of nodes (including intersecƟons and cul-de-sac heads) in a subdivision and L = the 
number of street links defined by those nodes. A desirable target for street connecƟvity is an index of 1.30 
to 1.40. 

b. Pedestrian and Bicycle Systems 

1. A conƟnuous pedestrian system shall be provided within each non-industrial subdivision, designed to 
conduct pedestrians between every point in the subdivision in a safe manner. 

2. In convenƟonal subdivisions, the pedestrian system will ordinarily be provided by sidewalks placed 
parallel to and on both sides of each street, with excepƟons permiƩed to preserve natural features, 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

188 | P a g e  
 

create visual interest, or maintain greenways and pedestrian ways proposed in the Glenwood 
Comprehensive Development Plan. 

3. In innovaƟve developments, the pedestrian system may be an independent network diverging from 
streets but providing conƟnuous pedestrian access between all points. 

4. The pedestrian system, including sidewalks and intersecƟon crossings, shall be designed to comply with 
the Americans with DisabiliƟes Act. 

5. Bikeways or recreaƟonal trails shall be required only if specifically indicated by the Comprehensive 
Development Plan. Any land dedicated for trail development shall be credited toward the saƟsfacƟon 
of pedestrian system and open space standards set forth by this ordinance. 

181.03 Street Hierarchy and Design 

a. CharacterisƟcs of the Hierarchy. 

1. Streets shall be classified according to a street hierarchy with design tailored to funcƟon. 

2. The street hierarchy shall be defined by road funcƟon and projected average daily traffic (ADT), as 
calculated by trip generaƟon rates prepared by the InsƟtute of TransportaƟon Engineers or other 
generally accepted standards. 

3. Each residenƟal street shall be classified and designed to meet appropriate standards for its enƟre 
length. 

4. The applicant shall demonstrate to the saƟsfacƟon of the approving agencies that the distribuƟon of 
traffic created by the subdivision will not exceed the design capacity of the proposed street system and 
its individual segments. 

5. The categories, funcƟons, and projected traffic loads of the street hierarchy are set forth in Table 181-
1. 

b. Cartway Width 

1. Cartway width for each street classificaƟon is determined by parking and curbing requirements based 
on form or intensity of adjacent development. 

2. To promote economical development of streets, minimum cartway width should generally be used. 
Minimum cartway widths are set forth in Table 181-2. 

c. Curbs, GuƩers, and Shoulders 

1. Curbing shall be required for the purposes of safety, drainage, and protecƟon of the pavement edge, as 
set forth in Table 181-3. 

2. Requirements for curbs vary according to street funcƟon and the nature of adjacent development. 
Adjacent development is defined as urban or rural as follows: 

(a) Rural: ResidenƟal or predominately agricultural land use where average lot frontage exceeds 200 
feet, generally within an RR district. 

(b) Intermediate: ResidenƟal: ResidenƟal land use where average lot frontage may range from 150 to 
250 feet within areas in the city's growth path, but unlikely to receive short-term urban services. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

189 | P a g e  
 

(c) Urban: ResidenƟal land use where average lot frontage is less than or equal to 150 feet; or adjacent 
land uses include commercial, office, industrial, or civic use types. 

3. Where curbing is required, shoulders and drainage swales may be used only if soils or topography make 
the provision of shoulders preferable to curbs; or where the character of an area is preserved by the 
use of shoulders and drainage swales. 

4. Shoulders, when developed, shall be constructed in accordance with the standards defined in Table 
181-3 for all streets; and located within right-of-way. Swale width is site-specific. Shoulders shall consist 
of stabilized turf or other acceptable material. 

5. All curbs shall provide ramps for accessibility by handicapped people consistent with the requirements 
of the Americans with DisabiliƟes Act. 

6. Curb construcƟon shall follow standards established by the City of Glenwood.   

d. Sidewalks 

1. Sidewalk requirements are determined by road classificaƟon and intensity of development, as set forth 
in Table 181-3. 

2. Where sidewalks are not otherwise required by Table 181-3, the City may require their installaƟon if 
necessary to provide access to generators of pedestrian traffic or major community features; to 
conƟnue a walk on an adjacent street; to link parts of the city; or to accommodate future development. 

3. In convenƟonal development, sidewalks shall be placed generally parallel to streets within right-of-way. 
ExcepƟons are possible to preserve important natural features or to accommodate topography or 
vegetaƟon; when applicant shows an alternaƟve for a safe and convenient pedestrian system; or in 
creaƟve subdivisions. 

4. In commercial areas, sidewalks may abut curb. 

5. Pedestrian rights-of-way at least 15 feet in width may be required through the center of blocks over 660 
feet in length if deemed necessary by the approving authoriƟes to provide access to schools or 
community faciliƟes; or to maintain a conƟnuous pedestrian network within and between subdivisions 
and districts of the City of Glenwood and its jurisdicƟon , Such rights-of-way shall be dedicated to the 
public in the same manner as streets. 

6. Sidewalks shall provide a clear path of at least four feet in width, free of any obstrucƟons. 

7. All sidewalks shall be constructed according to current standards in use by the City of Glenwood. 
Sidewalks shall be of concrete construcƟon four inches thick except at points of vehicular crossing 
where they shall be six inches thick. 

8. All sidewalks, crossings, and other segments of a conƟnuous pedestrian system must comply with 
standards of the Americans with DisabiliƟes Act. 

e. Bikeways and RecreaƟonal trails 

1. Bikeways and recreaƟonal trails shall be required in subdivisions only when specified as part of the 
comprehensive development plan. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

190 | P a g e  
 

2. Off-street recreaƟonal trails shall be a minimum of ten feet in width for two-way traffic and comply with 
the Americans with DisabiliƟes Act. Surfacing of trails shall be acceptable to the City of Glenwood. 
Gradients for bikeways and recreaƟonal trails should not exceed five percent, except for short distances. 

3. RecreaƟonal trails may saƟsfy part of the requirements of this ordinance for sidewalks or open space. 

4. All residenƟal streets shall uƟlize bicycle safe drainage grates at storm sewer inlets. 

f. Right-of-Way 

1. Measurement: The right-of-way of a street shall be measured from lot line to lot line, and shall be wide 
enough to contain the cartway, curbs or shoulder, sidewalks and sidewalk setbacks, other necessary 
graded areas, and uƟliƟes. 

2. Any right-of-way that conƟnues an exisƟng street shall be no less than that of exisƟng street. 

3. The requirements for rights-of-way for funcƟonal categories of roads is set forth in Table 181-3. 

4. DedicaƟons: DedicaƟons of right-of-way for collector, subcollector, community, or arterial streets shall 
be made consistent with the comprehensive development plan. 

g.  Street Design Standards 

1.  Pavement standards shall be per recommendaƟon of the City Engineer with the following minimum 
standards: 

(a) Minimum acceptable pavement shall be: 

1) Seven (7") inch reinforced concrete pavement (3,500 PSI) with six (6) inch integral concrete 
curbs. 

2) Nine (9) inch asphalƟc concrete pavement with seven inches of coarse graded binder course 
and two inches of fine graded surface course with a six (6) inch concrete curb and 24-inch 
guƩer. 

(b) All streets shall be paved to current standards uƟlized in the City of Glenwood except: 

1) Local streets in intermediate subdivisions. Intermediate subdivisions may uƟlize 6-inch P.C.C. 
non-reinforced paving or 7-inch hot mix asphalƟc paving. 

(c) Street pavement thickness shall relate to the role of the street in the hierarchy, subgrade 
condiƟons, and pavement type. 

2. ConƟnuity of Arterial or Collector Streets 

No subdivision shall prevent the extension of arterial or collector streets through and beyond the 
subdivision. The subdivider may plan and design collector streets not designated in the Comprehensive 
Development Plan subject to the approval of the City Council. 

3. Cul-de-sacs 

(a) Cul-de-sac streets designed to have one end permanently closed generally should not exceed 500 
feet in length and shall be designed so that vision from entrance to end is not restricted. A longer 
length is permissible within conservaƟon developments or in the case of unconvenƟonal 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

191 | P a g e  
 

developments, such as golf course subdivisions or where topography or environmental limitaƟons 
significantly restrict the ability to provide alternate street access. 

(b) The closed end of a cul-de-sac within a convenƟonal subdivision shall have a turnaround with a 
street property line diameter of at least 120 feet in residenƟal subdivisions. This diameter may be 
increased by the Planning Commission if deemed necessary in the case of a commercial or 
industrial subdivision. The pavement diameter shall be 42.5 feet and may be increased if deemed 
necessary by the Planning Commission. 

4. Street Grades 

Maximum permiƩed street grades are set forth in Table 181-2. In typical circumstances, the minimum 
permiƩed street gradient shall be 1.0%. In excepƟonal circumstances, the City Engineer may permit street 
gradients of less than 1.0%; however, under no circumstances may the gradient be less than 0.5%. 

5. Street IntersecƟons 

(a) Streets shall intersect as nearly at right angles as possible, unless limited by topography, exisƟng 
street alignments, or other clearly defined constraints. 

(b) In most cases, no more than two streets should intersect at a single intersecƟon. ExcepƟons may 
be made within TND or Planned Developments. 

(c) Local streets shall minimize intersecƟons with major arterials. 

(d) New intersecƟons along one side of an exisƟng or proposed street shall, if possible, align with 
intersecƟons on the other side of the street. Offsets between adjacent intersecƟons shall measure 
at least 150 feet between centerlines. The use of T-intersecƟons is encouraged on local streets 
within the interior of a subdivision. 

(e) IntersecƟon design standards are set forth in Table 181-2. 

6. Block Size 

(a) The length, widths, and shapes of blocks shall be suited to the proposed land use and design of the 
proposed subdivision. Blocks within urban subdivisions shall not exceed 660 feet in length, unless 
necessitated by excepƟonal topography or other demonstrable constraints. 

7. Other design standards shall be as set forth in Table 181-4. 

181.04 LighƟng and Wiring 

a. Underground-Wiring 

1. All electric, telephone, television, cable TV, and other communicaƟon lines shall be provided by 
underground wiring within easements or public right-of-way, except where in the opinion of the 
approving authoriƟes, such locaƟon is not feasible. Poles for permiƩed overhead lines shall be placed 
in rear lot line easements; or in other locaƟons designed to lessen their visual impact. 

2. New lots adjacent to exisƟng overhead service may uƟlize that service; however, new local service 
connecƟons shall be underground. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

192 | P a g e  
 

3. Year-round screening of any above ground uƟlity apparatus is required. Screening shall be consistent 
with the Landscape and Screening Standards set forth in SecƟon 173 of the Zoning Chapter of the Land 
Development Ordinance. 

181.05 TradiƟonal Neighborhood Developments (TNDs) 

a. Purpose 

TradiƟonal Neighborhood Developments provide innovaƟve mixed use environments that reflect the planning and 
development paƩerns in place when Glenwood and other tradiƟonal communiƟes were iniƟally developed. TNDs 
manage automobiles but maintain a scale and set of linkages that promote pedestrian travel and civic space. These 
theories of urban design have been classified as "New Urbanism" although they transport the paƩerns of 
development of tradiƟonal Glenwood into new seƫngs. The TND regulaƟons included in this secƟon are intended to 
capture the essence of this design technique, while avoiding excessive requirements that will discourage the use of 
the concept. The Glenwood regulaƟons are intended to capture the general concept and vision of tradiƟonal 
neighborhood design and to provide flexibility and incenƟves to encourage TNDs without being so prescripƟve as to 
inhibit the use of the concept. 

b. Size 

  The minimum size of a TND shall be 10 acres. 

c. ApplicaƟon and Approval  

1. TNDs shall require approval of a PD Planned Development District. 

2. All applicaƟons for a TND Subdivision must be accompanied by a TNI) Development Plan, in addiƟon to 
other documents required by these regulaƟons. This plan shall illustrate the distribuƟon of land uses 
throughout the subdivision; the locaƟon and design of public spaces, streets, and alleys; the locaƟon 
and nature of special design features; architectural controls; and other informaƟon necessary to 
communicate the concept of the TND subdivision. The TNI) Subdivision Plan shall be a part of the 
approved subdivision. Subsequent building and development permits shall be issued by the City only in 
consistency with the TND Development Plan. 

3. ArƟcles of incorporaƟon and/or covenants for a homeowners' associaƟon or other provision assuring 
maintenance or operaƟon of all common spaces shall be submiƩed with the TND applicaƟon. 

d. PermiƩed Land Uses 

1. Mixed Land Uses. 

Retail, service, civic, office, and various types of residenƟal land uses may be combined within a 'IND 
development, notwithstanding the use regulaƟons of the underlying zoning district. The distribuƟon and 
locaƟon of land uses shall be consistent with the TND Plan submiƩed for the subdivision. 

2. Commercial and ResidenƟal Mix 

The gross floor area of commercial area permiƩed within a TNI) shall not exceed 10,000 square feet per 100 
people projected to live in the development. For the purpose of calculaƟng projected populaƟon, the 
following factors shall be used: 

Single-Family Detached: 3.5 people per unit 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

193 | P a g e  
 

Single-Family AƩached: 2.75 people per unit 

Townhouses:  2.5 people per unit 

MulƟ-family:  2.0 people per unit 

3. Parks and Open Space 

Parks and public open spaces shall make up at least 10% of the total area of the TND development. 

e. Density 

1. The average site area per unit of a TND shall be established by the underlying zoning district. However, 
the density of individual parts of the TND may exceed the average density. 

2. Overall density permiƩed by the underlying zoning district of the TND may be increased as follows for 
specific ameniƟes: 10% for the provision of a centrally located town square of at least one acre for each 
25 acres of developed area; 10% for the provision of approved ornamental lighƟng throughout the TND 
Subdivision; and 10% for the development of a central community boulevard. CumulaƟve density 
bonuses shall not exceed 25% of the density permiƩed by the underlying zoning district. 

f. Lot Dimensions and Setbacks 

1. Lot Dimensions. 

Individual lot size dimensions, including minimum width, may be reduced to 80% of the requirement of the 
underlying zoning district. Any savings on lot size shall be devoted to public space, including but not limited 
to town squares, small parks, greenways, and community faciliƟes. 

2. Lot Setbacks 

(a) Lot setbacks may be varied from those otherwise specified for the zoning district. Typically, the 
front-yard setback should respect a build-to line that is not less than 5 feet nor greater than 20 feet. 
Different setbacks may be incorporated as part of the TND district approval. Setback limits must be 
established on the preliminary and final plat. 

(b) The distance across a street from building face to building face shall not exceed 100 feet except 
along a community street or boulevard. 

(c) The setback from any garage entrance to any circulaƟon way, including an alley, must be at least 20 
feet unless the project design makes other specific provisions for dedicated off-street parking. 
Garage access from the rear of lots by way of an alley is encouraged. 

g. Street System Design 

1. Street ConƟnuity. 

All streets within a TND District connect to other streets within the district, forming a conƟnuous network. 
All streets and alleys shall terminate at other streets within the TND District and shall connect to other 
streets on the edge of the district. 

2. Street and Block CharacterisƟcs 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

194 | P a g e  
 

(a) design of the street system shall create an open network that creates blocks with a length of no 
more than 660 feet. 

(b) Street loops and cul-de-sacs may be included as part of the street system design. However, no street 
with a single point of access onto a connecƟng street should be longer than 500 feet. 

(c) Street or right-of-way widths may be varied for local streets within TND Subdivisions as provided in 
SecƟon 181.05, TransportaƟon and Parking Standards. 

3. Community Streets and Boulevards. 

Community streets and boulevards are streets that are designed as central open space features within a 
TND development. The incorporaƟon of these faciliƟes within a TND is strongly encouraged and receives a 
density bonus, as provided in SecƟon 28.4. CharacterisƟcs of such a street include: 

(a) Alignment that generally runs more than 50% of the longest dimension of the development. 

(b) OrientaƟon to a main acƟvity center in the development, including parks and neighborhood greens, 
civic faciliƟes, commercial acƟvity centers, or designed landmarks. 

(c) Extensive street landscaping and parallel sidewalks and trails. 

(d) ThemaƟc lighƟng and street furniture. 

(e) A street secƟon which incorporates a median or wide sidewalk setbacks. A median's width should 
be equal to 1.00 Ɵmes the width of either individual street channel 20 feet or over in width. If the 
road channel is undivided, the distance between sidewalk and curb should be equal to at least 50% 
of the curb-to-curb width. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

195 | P a g e  
 

Table 181-1: Street Hierarchy 

ResidenƟal Street 
Type 

FuncƟon Guideline Maximum 
ADT 

Lane, Court, or 
Cul-de-sac 

Street providing private or controlled access to no more than 12 
housing units. 

120-150 

Local Provides frontage to lots and carries traffic with origin or 
desƟnaƟon on street itself. Carries least traffic at lowest speed. 
East-west orientaƟon provides best solar access. Local residenƟal 
streets usually do not interconnect with adjoining neighborhoods 
or subdivisions. 

120-1,000 

Collector Conducts and distributes traffic between local streets and major 
streets in the community. Carries larger volume of traffic. 
ResidenƟal collectors interconnect and provide through access 
between residenƟal neighborhoods. Collector streets should 
preserve one through traffic lane in each direcƟon, without 
encroachment by parking. Collectors may be included in the city's 
Surface TransportaƟon Program system for federal aid. 

1,000-2,500 

Minor Arterials Provides community wide access between residenƟal 
neighborhoods and to other acƟvity centers in Glenwood, 
including downtown and major commercial faciliƟes. Direct 
access may be provided to other arterial streets. Parking should 
generally be prohibited on other arterials. Other arterials should 
be excluded from residenƟal areas. These streets are part of the 
Surface TransportaƟon Program system for federal aid. 

2,500-7,500 

Major Arterials Inter-regional road in the street hierarchy. Conveys traffic 
between acƟvity centers, oŌen at high speeds and with limited 
access. Should be excluded from residenƟal areas. These streets 
are part of the Surface TransportaƟon Program system for federal 
aid. 

7,500+ 

 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

196 | P a g e  
 

Table 181-2: Cartway Width, Grade, and IntersecƟon Standards 

ResidenƟal Street 
Type 

Moving Lanes Parking 
RestricƟons 

Maximum 
Grade 

Back of Curb Minimum Curb 
Radii 

Lane or Court Two 11-foot No RestricƟon 10% (5%*) 22 feet 20 feet (Note 1) 

Cul-de-sac Two 11-foot No RestricƟon 10% (5%*) 26 feet 20 feet (Note 1) 

Urban Local Two 11-foot No RestricƟon 10% (5%*) 26 feet 20 feet (Note 1) 

TND or PD Local Two 10-foot No RestricƟon 10% 22 feet  

Intermediate 
Local 

Two 11-foot No RestricƟon 10% 26 feet 20 feet (Note 1) 

Rural Local 
Collector 

Two 11-foot No RestricƟon 10% (5%*) 26 feet 20 feet (Note 1) 

No Parking Two 12-foot No Parking 10% (5%*) 28 feet 25 feet (Note 1) 

One-side Parking Two 12-foot One side only 10% (5%*) 32 feet 25 feet (Note 1) 

Two-side Parking Two 12-foot No RestricƟon 10% (5%*) 36 feet 25 feet (Note 1) 

Arterials Note 2 Note 2 6% Note 2 Note 2 

*Denotes Maximum Street Grade Within 50 Feet of an IntersecƟon 

Note 1: IntersecƟons shall be rounded at the curb line, with the street having the highest radius requirement as 
shown in Table 181-2 determining the minimum standard for all curb lines. 

Note 2: Arterial street width, grade, and curb radii are determined by state standards and the designaƟon of 
individual street or roadway segments. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

197 | P a g e  
 

Table 181-3: Curb, Sidewalk, and Right-Of-Way Requirements 

Street Type Back of Curb 
Width 

Curb/Shoulder Sidewalk Sidewalk 
Setback 

Total ROW 

Lane or Court 22 feet Not Required Required NA 50 feet 

Cul-de-sac 26 feet at 
approach, 42.5 
Ō. radius 

Required Required Note 1 60 feet at 
approach, 120 
feet diameter 

Local      

Rural 26 feet Not Required Not Required NA 60 feet 

Intermediate 26 feet Not Required One side 6 feet 60 feet 

Urban 26 feet Curb Both sides 6 feet 60 feet 

TND 22 feet Curb Both sides Curb to 6 feet 50 feet 

Community 
Boulevard 
(divided) 

18 feet, 20-
foot median 

Project specific Both sides 8 feet 85 feet 

Community 
Boulevard 
(undivided) 

32 feet Project specific Both sides 8 feet 66 feet 

Collector      

Rural 28 feet Not Required Not Required NA 66 feet 

Urban      

   No parking 28 feet Curb Both sides 8 feet 70 feet ** 

   One-side parking 32 feet Curb Both sides 8 feet 70 feet ** 

   Two-side parking 36 feet Curb Both sides 8 feet 70 feet ** 

Arterials      

Urban and Rural 36-48 feet 
(Note 2) 

Note 2 Note 2 8 feet 66-80 feet 
minimum 

* Minimum, where no parking is permiƩed and radius is measured from center to back of curb. 

** Right-of-way widths for these classes of street may be modified within ConservaƟon Subdivisions, Planned 
Developments, or TNDs. 

Note 1: Sidewalks to be located within the street right-of-way at property line where possible, otherwise 6 Ō. 
Minimum will apply. 

Note 2: Arterial street width, grade, and curb radii are determined by state standards and the designaƟon of 
individual street or roadway segments. 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

198 | P a g e  
 

Table 181-4: Street Design Requirements 

Street Type Minimum radius of 
horizontal curves 

Minimum sight 
distance on verƟcal 
curves 

Maximum slope PCC Pavement Thickness 

Lane or Court 100 feet 150 feet 10% 6 inches 

Local     

Rural 200 feet 200 feet 10% Determined by road 
design 

Intermediate 200 feet 200 feet 10% 7 inches 

Urban 200 feet 200 feet 10% 7 inches 

TND/PD 100 feet 150 feet 10% Determined by road 
design 

Collector 200 feet 200 feet 8% Determined by road 
design 

    Determined by road 
design 

Arterials 300 feet 250 feet 6% Determined by road 
design 

 

  



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

199 | P a g e  
 

SECTION 182 

Public Improvements and Infrastructure 

182.01 Purpose 

The purpose of this ArƟcle is to assure that all subdivisions developed in the City of Glenwood and its 
jurisdicƟon are adequately furnished with necessary public services. These services include adequate water, 
waste management, and storm water drainage uƟliƟes, and park and open green space resources. 

182.02 Water 

InstallaƟon of water services shall be regulated by the Glenwood Water Board of Trustees. RegulaƟons 
regarding water uƟliƟes can be found in the Glenwood Water RegulaƟons and well installaƟon regulaƟons 
are located in the Glenwood Code of Ordinances. 

182.03 Sanitary Sewers 

a. ConnecƟon 

1. All installaƟons shall be properly connected to an approved and funcƟoning sanitary sewer system prior 
to issuance of a cerƟficate of occupancy. 

2. Depending on the number of units, residenƟal subdivisions shall be connected to an exisƟng public 
sanitary sewer system if such a system is available, by gravity service, within the following distances: 

 Size of Development Distance 

1 unit 200 feet 

2 units 400 feet 

3 units 600 feet 

4 units 800 feet 

5-15 units 1,000 feet 

15 units and over 0.5 mile 

 

Developments with more than 15 units and located within 0.5 mile of an exisƟng public sanitary sewer 
system must provide adequate jusƟficaƟon as to why they are unable to connect to such a system. For 
developments with more than 15 units and located more than 0.5 mile from a public sanitary sewer system, 
the waste disposal strategy shall be considered by the approving authoriƟes on a case-by-case basis. 

3. If the City creates a benefit fund for the purpose of financing public extensions of sanitary interceptor 
sewers to newly developing areas, each subdivision to be benefiƩed by such extensions shall contribute 
to such a fund. Subdivisions within the city limits of Glenwood at the Ɵme of plaƫng; or subdivisions 
currently served by exisƟng sanitary sewer service shall be exempt from this requirement. ContribuƟons 
to the fund shall be computed on the basis of proporƟonate costs and benefits of necessary extensions. 
Assessments shall be made on a per lot basis for single-family development; a per-unit basis for mulƟ-
family residenƟal development; and a site area basis for non-residenƟal development. 

4. All proposals for new public sanitary sewer systems or extensions of exisƟng systems shall be approved 
by appropriate public agencies. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

200 | P a g e  
 

5. All state requirements shall be met and approvals from the Department of Natural Resources or other 
appropriate state agencies shall be obtained for all waste disposal systems.   

b. Sanitary Sewer System Design Standards 

Sanitary sewer faciliƟes shall be provided to provide adequate service to the subdivision and conform to the 
city's sewer plan. 

1. Materials: Sewer pipe material shall meet the standards set forth in the Glenwood City Code. 

2. All sewers shall have a minimum diameter of eight (8) inches.  

3. LocaƟon: Wherever possible, sewers shall be located in the streets or alley rights of way and easements. 

4. Stub-Outs: All sanitary sewer stub-outs shall be carried to a property line. 

c. CerƟficaƟons 

A cerƟficaƟon from a registered Professional Engineer shall be filed with the City of Glenwood cerƟfying 
that the sanitary sewer system of the subdivision is designed and constructed in accordance with the 
requirements of this SecƟon; and all applicable standards of the State of Iowa. This cerƟficaƟon shall be 
affixed to an accurate set of "as-built" system plans. 

d. Private Wastewater Disposal Systems 

If the development does not meet the required criteria for connecƟon to a public sanitary sewer system and 
gravity sewer service connecƟons, or if for reasons of topography, economic feasibility, or other special 
condiƟons, the developer proposes service by a private wastewater disposal system, the developer shall 
request a variance according the following provisions: 

1. Subsurface or sepƟc systems are not permissible on any lot created aŌer the effecƟve date of this 
Ordinance if the gross density of the subdivision is higher than one unit per 1.5 acres; if individual lots 
are smaller than one acre; or in any urban subdivision. 

2. The developer shall submit with the preliminary plat applicaƟon an Economic Feasibility Study Report 
and an Environmental Impact Study report, prepared by a Professional Engineer, which documents the 
cost of providing city sewer service to the subdivision versus the cost of the proposed private disposal 
system. The preliminary plat applicaƟon shall also show the proposed system for each lot and shall 
submit percolaƟon tests for each lot, taken at the proposed adsorpƟon field sites to determine the size 
of the field required for each lot. 

3. The City shall consider all these submiƩals in determining whether to permit installaƟon of private 
wastewater disposal systems for the subdivision. 

4. If a private wastewater disposal system is approved by the City with the preliminary plat approval, the 
system shall be designed and built in accordance with regulaƟons of the Iowa Department of Natural 
Resources. The developer's Professional Engineer shall furnish the City with three cerƟfied copies of as-
built plans showing service line locaƟons and final sewer and maintenance access locaƟons, lengths, 
elevaƟons, and grades. 

5. If a sanitary sewer system is to be provided to an area within a ten-year period, as indicated in an 
officially adopted document of the City the County, or other authorized agency, the City may require 
installaƟon of a capped system or dry lines. Alternately, the City may require a payment in lieu of the 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

201 | P a g e  
 

improvement, to be credited toward the extension and extension of the subdivision of a future sanitary 
sewer system. 

6. City approval to install a community and/or private wastewater disposal system shall be allowed subject 
to the following addiƟonal provisions: 

(a) The developer and all successive lot owners shall agree to connect to the City sanitary sewer system 
if installed to the corner of their lot. Such connecƟon shall not be required for ten years aŌer the 
date of construcƟon of the iniƟal wastewater disposal system. 

(b) With connecƟon to the City sanitary sewer system, all exisƟng lot owners shall be required to 
disconnect from and abandon the pre-exisƟng wastewater disposal system in conformance with all 
local and State standards and shall share equally in the Cost of such disconnecƟon. DisconnecƟon 
and abandonment shall be completed within six months aŌer connecƟon to the City sanitary sewer 
system. 

182.04 Storm Water Management 

a. Design 

1. All subdivisions shall have a storm water management system that is adequate to prevent the undue or 
unplanned retenƟon of storm water on the site. Undue retenƟon does not include: 

(a) RetenƟon through planned faciliƟes. 

(b) RetenƟon not substanƟally different from pre-exisƟng condiƟons. 

2. The design of the storm water management system shall be consistent with general and specific 
concerns and standards of the Comprehensive Development Plan and the drainage control programs of 
applicable public agencies. Design shall be based on environmentally sound site planning and 
engineering techniques. 

3.  To maximum degree possible, drainage from subdivisions shall conform to natural contours of land and 
not disturb pre-exisƟng drainageways. 

4. Adjacent properƟes shall not be unduly burdened with surface water from the subdivision. Specifically: 

(a) There may be no unreasonable impediment of water from higher adjacent properƟes across the 
subdivision, causing damage to lower properƟes. 

(b) No acƟon shall unreasonably collect and channel storm water onto lower properƟes. The volume 
or rate of post-development runoff shall not exceed the amount of pre-development runoff, and is 
to be managed in a manner consistent with Iowa statutes and exisƟng case law regarding such 
flows. 

5. Design shall use the best available technology to minimize off-site runoff, encourage natural filtraƟon, 
simulate natural drainage, and minimize discharge of pollutants. Best available technology shall include 
retenƟon basins, swales, porous paving, and terracing, 

6. No surface water shall be discharged into a sanitary sewer system. 

7. Where possible, a subdivision's drainage system shall coordinate with that of surrounding properƟes or 
streets. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

202 | P a g e  
 

8. All storm water design shall be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer. 'Ihe preliminary plat 
submission must include preliminary drainage computaƟons and demonstraƟons that the proposed 
storm water management system meets the requirements of this SecƟon. A cerƟficaƟon from a 
registered Professional Engineer shall be filed with the City of Glenwood cerƟfying that the storm water 
management system of the subdivision is designed and constructed in accordance with the 
requirements of this SecƟon; and all applicable standards of the State of Iowa. This cerƟficaƟon shall 
be affixed to an accurate set of "as-built" system plans. 

b. Erosion Control 

With the submission of the preliminary plat, the subdivider shall submit an erosion control plan, prepared 
and cerƟfied by a licensed Professional Engineer, for any land disturbing acƟvity. All grading acƟviƟes must 
be carried out consistent with this approved erosion control plan. 

182.05 Parks and Public FaciliƟes 

a. Purpose 

In order to serve the educaƟonal and recreaƟonal needs of new residents within the subdivision and 
promote the public health, welfare, community character and property values, residenƟal subdividers are 
required to donate resources to make improvements to the City of Glenwood's parks system as a condiƟon 
of subdivision approval. 

b. Park ReservaƟons: General Requirements 

The amount of park faciliƟes for new residents is partly based on data and policy in the adopted City of 
Glenwood Comprehensive Plan. The Plans reflect a local adaptaƟon of standards of the NaƟonal RecreaƟon 
and Park AssociaƟon (NRPA). The Comprehensive Plan is the result of a system-wide technical analysis and 
ciƟzen parƟcipatory planning process, which idenƟfied near-term and long-range needs for the local parks 
system. 

Given these findings, the City of Glenwood has determined the following: 

1. Park DedicaƟon. If required by the city and consistent with the comprehensive development plan, a 
subdivision shall dedicate up to 0.04 acres per plaƩed lot for parkland. Alternately, the subdivider shall 
pay a fee equivalent to the fair market value of 0.04 acres per plaƩed lot, to be used specifically by the 
City for the acquisiƟon and development of park and recreaƟonal faciliƟes which directly benefit the 
subdivision. 

2. LocaƟon. Land donated for new parks shall be located based generally on the City's Comprehensive Plan 
and official map and shall specifically consider the design of each development and natural features 
present. The amount of land required shall not include wetlands, floodway, floodplain or storm water 
detenƟon faciliƟes. 

3. Combining Parks and Schools Lands. Whenever possible, and whenever in the best interests of the City 
and the affected school district, land dedicated for park and recreaƟon sites shall be conƟguous to land 
dedicate for a school site. Where the subdivision is less than forty (40) acres, park and recreaƟon land 
to be donated should, where possible, and in the best interests of the City and the affected school 
district, be combined with donaƟons from adjoining developments in order to promote usable park and 
recreaƟon lands, and thereby minimize hardship on a parƟcular subdivider. 

c. Park DonaƟon SubsƟtutes 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

203 | P a g e  
 

If park land would be more appropriately located off-site, the City Council may agree to accept cash in lieu 
of land from a residenƟal subdivider. 'Ihe amount of land required from a residenƟal subdivider may be 
reduced depending on the amount of the improved land, up to two (2) acres established as a private park 
by the subdivider, provided that such land is determined to be of equivalent value and available by right to 
all residents of the development. The subdivider shall present evidence, through physical design and legal 
documentaƟon that the private facility shall be equally available to all residents of the development. 

d. Criteria for Requiring a ContribuƟon of Cash in Lieu of Park and RecreaƟon Land 

1. General Requirements. Where the subdivision is small and the resulƟng site is too small to be pracƟcal 
or when the available land is inappropriate for parks and recreaƟon land use, or when land for a park 
and recreaƟon use cannot be made conƟguous to land dedicaƟon for a school site, the City Council shall 
determine whether the subdivider shall be required to pay a cash contribuƟon in lieu of the required 
land donaƟon. 

2. Park AccounƟng Trust and Use of Fees  

The cash contribuƟons in lieu of land for parks and recreaƟon use shall be held   in trust by the City of 
Glenwood for expenditure by the City as determined by the City Council. Such cash contribuƟons shall be 
used solely for the acquisiƟon of land for parks and recreaƟon which will be available to serve the immediate 
or future needs of the residents of the subdivision or development, or for the improvement of recreaƟon 
faciliƟes and other parks already exisƟng which will benefit the subdivision. 

182.06 ReservaƟon of AddiƟonal Lands 

The City Council may require reservaƟon of sites to be purchased for schools and other civic faciliƟes as a 
condiƟon for approval of the subdivision. Where the Comprehensive Plan or the designaƟon of the City calls 
for a larger amount of land in a parƟcular subdivision or planned development for park and recreaƟon use, 
or as addiƟonal public land that the subdivider is required to dedicate, the land needed beyond the 
subdivider’s contribuƟon shall be reserved for subsequent acquisiƟon by the City. ReservaƟon of land for 
public acquisiƟon shall be for a period not to exceed three years from the date that the plat is officially 
recorded. 

182.07 Topography and Grading 

The slope, topography and geology of the dedicated site and its surroundings must be suitable for its 
intended purposes. A subdivider shall allow the City to have access to the proposed sites for the purpose of 
conducƟng soil boring tests. 

182.08 Timing and Conveyance 

Unless otherwise determined through a Subdivision Agreement, a subdivider shall convey to   the City (or 
such other governmental body, corporaƟon or such owner as determined by the City) the land required 
under this SecƟon at the Ɵme of final approval by the City Council of the subdivision or re-subdivision plat 
or final development plan, by the delivery of the following documents: 

a. A good and sufficient Trustee's or Warranty Deed conveying fee simple Ɵtle free and clear of all liens and 
encumbrances (except liens or encumbrances dischargeable by cash accompanying said deed) except for 
current real estate taxes; 

b. A deposit of money equal to 100% of the most ascertainable taxes for the year, pro-rated to the date that 
the deed is delivered; 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

204 | P a g e  
 

c. A plat of survey containing thereon the legal descripƟon of the property to be conveyed and any other 
maƩers which may be required by the City Administrator, under as advised by the Zoning Administrator, City 
AƩorney, and the consulƟng City Engineer. 

182.09 Timing of Payment 

Cash contribuƟons required under this SecƟon shall be paid as follows: 

a. Fees Paid Prior to Final Plat 

Unless otherwise provided by the terms of a developer agreement entered into between the City and the 
subdivider, all fees required pursuant to this SecƟon, including fees arising from the development of land 
located in the City's two-mile planning jurisdicƟon that may be subject of an intergovernmental agreement, 
shall be due and owing prior to the final plat approval by the City Council. 

However, if the subdivider's lands are the subject of an annexaƟon agreement, payment shall be made at 
the Ɵmes and in the manner provided in said annexaƟon agreement. 

b. Procedures for Fee CollecƟon and AdministraƟon 

It shall be the duty of the Finance Director, or other official designated by the City Council to establish 
regulaƟons and procedures for the collecƟon and administraƟon of the cash contribuƟons required under 
this SecƟon. 

182.10 Developer Agreements 

a. Developer Agreements May Establish Time and Manner of Compliance 

The City may enter into a Developer Agreement with any subdivider which sets forth the Ɵme and manner 
of compliance with the terms of this SecƟon and implementaƟon of any other provisions of these 
regulaƟons. 

b. Prior Development Agreements 

If any developer agreement has previously been entered into between the City and a subdivider, and that 
Agreement remains in full force and effect, the provisions of that   agreement shall control, and this SecƟon 
shall have no force and effect, provided that the subdivider complies with the terms of such Agreement. 
However, if such subdivider is not complying with the terms of that Agreement then the provisions of this 
SecƟon shall apply and the City shall uƟlize the criteria set forth herein to determine the appropriate 
exacƟon amount, less credits, if any. 

Further, if the development contemplated by a subdivider has either increased in number of units or has 
otherwise increased the demand for park and recreaƟon faciliƟes, then the developer Agreement previously 
entered into between the subdivider and the City shall be amended and the subdivider shall provide 
addiƟonal land, or a pro-rata fee, based on the provisions of this SecƟon, less credits, if any. 

182.11 Easements 

a. UƟlity. Easements 

1. Urban Subdivisions: Easements for uƟliƟes shall be provided for in the subdivision dedicaƟon allowing 
for the construcƟon, maintenance, repair, and replacement of uƟliƟes. Such easements shall be at least 
10 feet in width. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

205 | P a g e  
 

2. Easements of greater width may be required along lot lines or across lots. Easements of lesser width 
may be approved if accepted by uƟlity providers. Easements shall connect with easements on adjoining 
properƟes. 

3. Easements shall be approved in wriƟng by any appropriate public or private uƟlity provider intending 
to use such easement for their faciliƟes. Such approval shall be submiƩed prior to final plat approval. 

4. Rural Subdivisions: Easements for uƟliƟes shall be placed within street rights-of-way, without 
requirements for addiƟonal uƟlity easements. 

b. Drainage Easements 

Where a subdivision is crossed by a watercourse, drainageway, channel, or stream, a storm water easement 
or drainage right-of-way shall be provided. It shall correspond generally with the extent of such watercourse, 
together with any addiƟonal construcƟon or expansion necessary to allow it to conduct storm water 
adequately. The total width of any easement shall be sufficient to cover the 100-year flood plain calculated 
for a fully developed upstream drainage basin. Parallel streets or parkways may be uƟlized to preserve such 
drainageways. 

c. Setback Requirements for Structures Adjacent to Creeks and Drainageways 

1. In addiƟon to other applicable provisions of city ordinances, no persons shall be granted a permit for 
the construcƟon of any structure, exclusive of fences, bank stabilizaƟon structures, poles signs, and non-
related parking areas adjacent to any creek or stream unless such structure is located so that no porƟon 
whereof is any closer to the stream than will allow a maximum 3:1 slope between the water's edge 
(during normal flow condiƟons) of the stream and the closest point of the structure at-grade. 

2. An exempƟon from the provisions of Sub-secƟon (1) above may be granted if all of the following 
condiƟons are met and required cerƟficaƟon is filed with the City of Glenwood: 

(a) CerƟficaƟon by a registered professional engineer that adequate bank stabilizaƟon structures or 
slope protecƟon will be installed in the construcƟon of said structure, having an esƟmated useful 
life equal to that of the structure, which will provide adequate lateral support so that no porƟon of 
the structure adjacent to the stream will be endangered by erosion or lack of lateral support. 

(b) CerƟficaƟon shall be affixed to an accurate set of "as-built" construcƟon plans for the structure, as 
well as "as- built" plans of depicƟng any bank stabilizaƟon or slope protecƟon measures or 
structures. 

(c) In the event that the structure is adjacent to any stream that has been channelized or otherwise 
improved by any agency of government, then such cerƟficaƟon providing this exempƟon must take 
the form of a cerƟficaƟon as to the adequacy and protecƟon of the improvements installed by such 
governmental unit. 

d. Other Easements 

The subdivision shall provide easements for other public uƟliƟes that cross through it, in a form acceptable 
to the City or appropriate public agency. 

182.12 DedicaƟons 

Before final plat approval is granted to the subdivision, dedicaƟons to public use of all streets, alleys, other 
public rights-of-way, or other parks and public lands shall be completed as required by this Ordinance. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

206 | P a g e  
 

SECTION 183 

Improvement Financing And Guarantees 

183.01 Purpose 

The purpose of this ArƟcle is to ensure the equitable financing and proper installaƟon and maintenance of required 
streets, uƟliƟes, and other improvements. The guarantee shall be structured to provide adequate assurances to the 
City while not adding unnecessary costs to the developer. 

183.02 ApplicaƟon 

This arƟcle applies to subdivisions which require the installaƟon of streets, uƟliƟes, or other public 
improvements by the City or developer. 

183.03 Responsibility of Subdivider 

The subdivider shall be responsible for the installaƟon and/or construcƟon of all improvements required by 
this Ordinance and shall warrant the design, materials, workmanship, construcƟon, and performance of 
such improvements for two years aŌer the date of compleƟon. 

183.04 Subdivision Agreement 

a. CondiƟon for Approval of Plat 

As condiƟon for final approval, each subdivision plat must include a subdivision agreement entered into 
between the City of Glenwood and the subdivider. AddiƟonally, no contract for the construcƟon of public 
improvements involving a subdivision within the extraterritorial jurisdicƟon but outside the corporate limits 
of Glenwood shall be awarded without the approval of such an agreement. 

b. Components of the Agreement 

The agreement shall include provisions for the financing and distribuƟon of responsibiliƟes among the City 
and the subdivider for land acquisiƟon, design, and installaƟon of public improvements. The agreement 
shall also state specifically how public services will be provided in the subdivision prior to annexaƟon by the 
City. 

c. Rules for DistribuƟng Improvement Costs 

Generally, the following rules shall be followed in distribuƟng costs for public improvements: 

1. Public Costs 

Allowable public costs will be those items that have demonstrable benefit to the general public. These items 
may include: 

(a) Pavement width in excess of 26 feet for streets designated as collector or arterial streets in the 
Glenwood Comprehensive Development Plan or any subsequent amendment thereof. On collector 
and arterial streets requiring a higher standard of paving than normal, the addiƟonal cost shall be 
borne by the City or other public agency. 

(b) The incremental cost of water mains over six inches. 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

207 | P a g e  
 

(c) Oversized storm sewers or drainage structures required to serve other areas in the watershed. Such 
expenses may also be assessed on an area basis to properƟes served by the improvement. 

(d) Sanitary ouƞall sewers or water lines outside of the limits of a subdivision that serve areas larger 
than that of the subdivision, provided that such extension is consistent with the sequencing of 
development specified in the Comprehensive Development Plan. 

(e) The addiƟonal costs of sanitary sewers over 8 inches in diameter, when such sewers are required 
by the City. 

(f) Park and recreaƟon faciliƟes consistent with the Comprehensive Development Plan. 

(g) Those costs required to be paid by the City for extension of water and sewer lines, pursuant to the 
Glenwood Municipal Code. 

2. Private Costs 

Allowable special assessment costs will be those items that have direct benefit primarily to adjacent 
properƟes. These items may include: 

a. The enƟre cost of grading street rights-of-way, including intersecƟons. 

b. All sanitary sewer lines serving the subdivision up to 8 inches and water lines serving the 
subdivision up to 6 inches. 

c. All paving and street construcƟon, including curbs and guƩers, up to a cartway width of 26 feet. 

d. A stormwater management system adequate to provide for the collecƟon, retenƟon, and removal 
of surface runoff, extending to the boundaries of the subdivision. 

e. Sidewalks as required by this Ordinance. ConstrucƟon of sidewalks may be delayed unƟl aŌer 
compleƟon of site grading and construcƟon, but must be completed prior to occupancy of the 
structure. 

f. The contract charge for underground electrical and gas service. 

g. An iron rod not less than one-half inch in diameter and 24 inches in length as follows: 

1) Set in concrete three feet deep at the intersecƟon of all lines forming angles in the boundary 
of the subdivision and at all street intersecƟons. 

2) At lot comers and changes in direcƟon of block and lot boundaries. 

h. Those costs required to be paid by the developer for extension of water and sewer lines, pursuant 
to the Glenwood Municipal Code. 

3. The subdivider in lieu of installing and construcƟng said improvements at his/her expense, may, along 
with all owners of property to be affected by such improvements and all perfected lienholders, peƟƟon 
the Council to cause the construcƟon of such improvements. This peƟƟon shall waive any applicable 
limitaƟons of the amount that could be assessed against subdivision property owners including 
intersecƟon costs, and other costs normally paid by the City in special assessment projects. 

183.05 Subdivisions ConƟguous With City 



City of Glenwood Land Development Ordinance 
 

208 | P a g e  
 

Unless otherwise provided as a specific part of the subdivision approval by the city, all subdivisions now or 
hereaŌer laid out adjoining or conƟguous to the corporate limits of the city shall be included within such 
corporate limits and become a part of the City of Glenwood. The residents of the subdivision shall be enƟtled 
to all the rights and privileges and subject to all laws, ordinances, rules, and regulaƟons of the City of 
Glenwood. 

183.06 Performance Guarantees 

As a condiƟon of the final approval of the plat and prior to its recording with the Mills County Recorder, the 
City Council shall require and accept the following: 

a. The furnishing of a performance bond, leƩer of credit, cash escrow, or other guarantee in a form 
acceptable to the City, in an amount not to exceed 100% of the esƟmated cost of the improvement 
installaƟon. 

b. A specificaƟon of the Ɵme allowed for the installaƟon of improvements. This period may be extended 
by the City Council. 

c. The performance guarantee amount and requirement, along with the permiƩed Ɵme for installaƟon, 
shall be included within the Subdivision Agreement negoƟated between the City and the Developer and 
approved with the Final Plat. 

183.07 NoƟficaƟon of CompleƟon and Acceptance by City 

Upon substanƟal compleƟon of all required improvements, the developer shall noƟfy the City Engineer in wriƟng, 
as well as submiƫng a cerƟficaƟon from a registered Professional Engineer, aƩesƟng to the conformance of 
construcƟon to the plans and specificaƟons as approved by the City Council. 

 





RESOLUTION NO. 3700 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING OAK RIDGE PARK PHASE II SUBDIVISION FINAL 
PLAT 

 
 WHEREAS, a Final Plat has been submitted to the City of Glenwood for the approval of 
Oak Ridge Park Phase II Subdivision, a subdivision located within the corporate limits of City of 
Glenwood, Iowa.  Said Final Plat is marked as Exhibit “A”, attached hereto, and by this 
reference made a part hereof; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a public hearing concerning the approval of said Final Plat was held before 
the Glenwood City Council on January 14, 2025, at 7:00 p.m. pursuant to published notice of 
said public hearing; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Glenwood City Council desires to approve said Final Plat for 
Oak Ridge Park Phase II Subdivision. 
 
 IT IS THEREFORE RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF GLENWOOD CITY 
COUNCIL AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 1. The Final Plat for Oak Ridge Park Phase II Subdivision, a major subdivision, as 

attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, is hereby adopted and approved by the City of 
Glenwood. 

 
 Adopted and Approved this 14th day of January, 2025. 
 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Angela Winquist, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Dannielle Arnold, City Clerk 
 
 



City of Glenwood

TITLE

PO SHIP INSTR

LINE FUND ORG SUB 

ORG

ACTV I/D I/D P/F

01 0001 5000

02

03

04

05

06

07

WARRANT #      PAID DATEGAX AUDITED BY   

DOCUMENT TOTAL   75,181.92$               

QUANTITY / UNITS DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

269 4125

AGCY FUNC OBJT SUB 

OBJT

JOB NUMBER REP CAT

75,181.92$      

GS CONTRACTREF DOC TYPE REF DOC NUMBER REF DOC LINE COM LN VEND INVOICE # COMMODITY CODE

3052881 Y

VENDOR CODE ADDR OVERRIDE F/A INDICATOR EFT IND TEXT -po's only (Y/N) TEXT (po's only)

GAX 49 25

THE FOLLOWING FIELDS ARE FOR STATE ACCOUNTING USE ONLY

DOC TYPE   

(GAX)

DOC NUMBER DOC DATE ACCTG PRD BUDGET                

FY

ACTION           

NEW/MOD

GAX    

TYPE

INT                                         

IND

INT SELLER             

FUND

INT SELLER   

AGCY

  CLAIMANT'S SIGNATURE   AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE

  BUSINESS UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF THE LAW AND THAT THE CHARGES ARE REASONABLE,   CORRECT AND SHOUD BE PAID FROM THE FUNDS APPROPRIATED BY:

  PROPER, AND CORRECT, AND NO PART OF THIS CLAIM HAS BEEN PAID.  CODE OR CHAPTER SECTION(S)

 DATE

DOCUMENT TOTAL  75,181.92$           
CLAIMANT'S CERTIFICATION AGENCY CERTIFICATION

  I CERTIFY THAT THE ITEMS FOR WHICH PAYMENT IS CLAIMED WERE FURNISHED FOR STATE   I CERTIFY THAT THE ABOVE EXPENSE WERE INCURRED AND THE AMOUNTS ARE

Report Number: 49

Contract Number:    19-DRH-018     Arbor Hills

Request for Payment under 2019 CDBG-DR

ORDERED RECEIVED UNIT OF 

MEASURE

UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

PERFORMED  

QUANTITY

VENDOR'S INVOICE NUMBER

TERMS FOB ORDER APPROVED BY GOODS RECEIVED/SERVICES

Glenwood, Iowa 51534 Des Moines, Iowa 50315

VENDOR NAME AND ADDRESS BILL TO ADDRESS (ORDERING AGENCY) SHIP TO ADDRESS

Iowa Economic Development Authority

5 North Vine Street 1963 Bell Avenue, Suite 200

ACCTG PERIOD (mm/yy)

1/8/2025 12/18/2024
VENDOR CODE AGENCY NAME

2132981

Attach supporting documentation                                                

to the back of this form STATE OF IOWA GAX

BUDGET FY
General Accounting Expenditure

DOCUMENT NUMBER

2025 49DATE

DATE                  INITITALS



City of Glenwood

TITLE

PO SHIP INSTR

LINE FUND ORG SUB 

ORG

ACTV I/D I/D P/F

01 0001 5000

02

03

04

05

06

07

WARRANT #      PAID DATEGAX AUDITED BY   

DOCUMENT TOTAL   384,001.36$             

QUANTITY / UNITS DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

269 4125

AGCY FUNC OBJT SUB 

OBJT

JOB NUMBER REP CAT

384,001.36$    

GS CONTRACTREF DOC TYPE REF DOC NUMBER REF DOC LINE COM LN VEND INVOICE # COMMODITY CODE

3052881 Y

VENDOR CODE ADDR OVERRIDE F/A INDICATOR EFT IND TEXT -po's only (Y/N) TEXT (po's only)

GAX 50 25

THE FOLLOWING FIELDS ARE FOR STATE ACCOUNTING USE ONLY

DOC TYPE   

(GAX)

DOC NUMBER DOC DATE ACCTG PRD BUDGET                

FY

ACTION           

NEW/MOD

GAX    

TYPE

INT                                         

IND

INT SELLER             

FUND

INT SELLER   

AGCY

  CLAIMANT'S SIGNATURE   AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE

  BUSINESS UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF THE LAW AND THAT THE CHARGES ARE REASONABLE,   CORRECT AND SHOUD BE PAID FROM THE FUNDS APPROPRIATED BY:

  PROPER, AND CORRECT, AND NO PART OF THIS CLAIM HAS BEEN PAID.  CODE OR CHAPTER SECTION(S)

 DATE

DOCUMENT TOTAL  384,001.36$         
CLAIMANT'S CERTIFICATION AGENCY CERTIFICATION

  I CERTIFY THAT THE ITEMS FOR WHICH PAYMENT IS CLAIMED WERE FURNISHED FOR STATE   I CERTIFY THAT THE ABOVE EXPENSE WERE INCURRED AND THE AMOUNTS ARE

Report Number: 50

Contract Number:    19-DRH-018     Arbor Hills

Request for Payment under 2019 CDBG-DR

ORDERED RECEIVED UNIT OF 

MEASURE

UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

PERFORMED  

QUANTITY

VENDOR'S INVOICE NUMBER

TERMS FOB ORDER APPROVED BY GOODS RECEIVED/SERVICES

Glenwood, Iowa 51534 Des Moines, Iowa 50315

VENDOR NAME AND ADDRESS BILL TO ADDRESS (ORDERING AGENCY) SHIP TO ADDRESS

Iowa Economic Development Authority

5 North Vine Street 1963 Bell Avenue, Suite 200

ACCTG PERIOD (mm/yy)

1/8/2025 12/18/2024
VENDOR CODE AGENCY NAME

2132981

Attach supporting documentation                                                

to the back of this form STATE OF IOWA GAX

BUDGET FY
General Accounting Expenditure

DOCUMENT NUMBER

2025 50DATE

DATE                  INITITALS



City of Glenwood

TITLE

PO SHIP INSTR

LINE FUND ORG SUB 

ORG

ACTV I/D I/D P/F

01 0001 5000

02

03

04

05

06

07

WARRANT #      PAID DATEGAX AUDITED BY   

DOCUMENT TOTAL   113,093.35$             

QUANTITY / UNITS DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

269 4125

AGCY FUNC OBJT SUB 

OBJT

JOB NUMBER REP CAT

113,093.35$    

GS CONTRACTREF DOC TYPE REF DOC NUMBER REF DOC LINE COM LN VEND INVOICE # COMMODITY CODE

3052881 Y

VENDOR CODE ADDR OVERRIDE F/A INDICATOR EFT IND TEXT -po's only (Y/N) TEXT (po's only)

GAX 51 25

THE FOLLOWING FIELDS ARE FOR STATE ACCOUNTING USE ONLY

DOC TYPE   

(GAX)

DOC NUMBER DOC DATE ACCTG PRD BUDGET                

FY

ACTION           

NEW/MOD

GAX    

TYPE

INT                                         

IND

INT SELLER             

FUND

INT SELLER   

AGCY

  CLAIMANT'S SIGNATURE   AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE

  BUSINESS UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF THE LAW AND THAT THE CHARGES ARE REASONABLE,   CORRECT AND SHOUD BE PAID FROM THE FUNDS APPROPRIATED BY:

  PROPER, AND CORRECT, AND NO PART OF THIS CLAIM HAS BEEN PAID.  CODE OR CHAPTER SECTION(S)

 DATE

DOCUMENT TOTAL  113,093.35$         
CLAIMANT'S CERTIFICATION AGENCY CERTIFICATION

  I CERTIFY THAT THE ITEMS FOR WHICH PAYMENT IS CLAIMED WERE FURNISHED FOR STATE   I CERTIFY THAT THE ABOVE EXPENSE WERE INCURRED AND THE AMOUNTS ARE

Report Number: 51

Contract Number:    19-DRH-018     Arbor Hills

Request for Payment under 2019 CDBG-DR

ORDERED RECEIVED UNIT OF 

MEASURE

UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

PERFORMED  

QUANTITY

VENDOR'S INVOICE NUMBER

TERMS FOB ORDER APPROVED BY GOODS RECEIVED/SERVICES

Glenwood, Iowa 51534 Des Moines, Iowa 50315

VENDOR NAME AND ADDRESS BILL TO ADDRESS (ORDERING AGENCY) SHIP TO ADDRESS

Iowa Economic Development Authority

5 North Vine Street 1963 Bell Avenue, Suite 200

ACCTG PERIOD (mm/yy)

1/8/2025 1/7/2025
VENDOR CODE AGENCY NAME

2132981

Attach supporting documentation                                                

to the back of this form STATE OF IOWA GAX

BUDGET FY
General Accounting Expenditure

DOCUMENT NUMBER

2025 51DATE

DATE                  INITITALS



   

 
IOWA 2022 CDBG MANAGEMENT GUIDE – APPENDIX 1 PAGE: 23 

SIGNATURE AUTHORIZATION FOR ALTERNATE SIGNATORS 
 
 
 
Upload a scanned copy of the completed document to the Electronic Documents form in 
IowaGrants.  Retain the original, signed copy in your files. 
 
 
RE: Contract Number:     
 Recipient:      
 
In the event that the Chief Elected Official (CEO) is unable to sign project related correspondence 
for the Recipient’s above referenced contract, the following alternates are designated below.  The 
signatures attested below are effective as of:    . 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
 CEO Signature     Type or Print Name of CEO Signature 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
 Signatory # 1     Type or Print Name of Signatory #1  
 
 
       ________________________________ 
 Signatory # 2     Type or Print Name of Signatory #2  
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
 Signatory # 3     Type or Print Name of Signatory #3 
 
 
 
       
 Witness



INVOICE

Invoice No. 1455-16

Customer

Name Date 12/20/2024
Address

City Glenwood State IA ZIP 51534  

TOTAL

November 2024

Salaries & Benefits  630.18$              

Grant Expense/Direct Charge 23.42$                

Mileage/Direct Charge -$                    

Postage/Direct Charge  -$                    

Printing/Direct Charge -$                    

Overhead/Indirect Charge 57.40$                

 

 

SubTotal  711.00$              

    

 Other  

 

 TOTAL  711.00$              

 
 
 

Southwest Iowa Planning Council
1501 SW 7th Street
Atlantic IA  50022

712-243-4196

City of Glenwood
5 N Vine St

Description

City of Glenwood
Downtown Revitalization

23-DTR-006

 Thank you for your business!   
If you have questions call Tammy Debord,  712-243-4196.

Due upon receipt

Southwest Iowa Planning Council
1501 SW 7th Street
Atlantic IA  50022

712-243-4196
Invoice



SWIPCO is an equal opportunity provider, employer, and lender.



2025 APPOINTMENTS  
MAYOR’S COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

 
Mayor 
Angela Winquist 
 
Mayor Pro Tem  
Laurie Smithers 
 
Public Works 
Donnie Kates* 
Laurie Smithers 
Michael Lines  
 
Public Admin 
Christina Duran* 
Natalie McEwen 
Laurie Smithers 
 
Finance & Budget 
Natalie McEwen* 
Michael Lines 
Christina Duran 
 
Public Safety 
Laurie Smithers* 
Christina Duran 
Donnie Kates 
 
Parks & Recreation 
Michael Lines* 
Donnie Kates 
Natalie McEwen 
 
*DENOTES CHAIR OF COMMITTEE  
 
SECOND NAME LISTED IS VICE-CHAIR AND WILL ACT AS COMMITTEE CHAIR 
WHEN CHAIR IS NOT AVAILABLE AT TIME OF MEETINGS 




	1. 01.14.2025  Meeting Template
	3.b.01.14.2025 CLAIMS REPORT
	3.c.December 17th, 2024 Minutes.docx
	3.d.01.14.2025 ABD
	7. d. I. DOT Highway 34 Access - 2024-16-094_Glenwood_Final2024-16-094_Glenwood_Final
	7. e. ii. 3701 Resolution Honoring the Service of Max Hammer-1
	7. e. iii. Officer Promotion
	8.01.14.2025 TOBACCO & VAPE
	11. 2024 Proposal (3) access
	11. Equipment Proposal for City of Glenwood given Dec 11 2024 capital systems
	11. Proposal -- City of Glenwood Iowa (11-25) (2) jq
	11. RES. 3699 - Copier Lease.docx
	12. 12.09 Final LDO
	13. Oak Ridge Park Phase II Subdivision Final Plat
	14. 3700 Res. Approving Oak Ridge Park Phase II Sub Final Plat 1-14-2025.docx
	15.a.i. 19-DRH-018 Arbor Hills Claim 49 GAX usigned (1)
	15.a.ii. 19-DRH-018 Arbor Hills Claim 50 GAX unsigned (1)
	15.a.iii 19-DRH-018 Arbor Hills Claim 51 GAX unsigned (1)
	15.b Signature Authorization for Alternate Signatures
	16. SWIPCO 16
	17. b. 2025 Mayoral Appointments.docx
	17.a.Fire Fighter Cancer Awareness Month

